A theory-based investigation of patient and healthcare professional behaviours linked to optimal removal of short-term urinary catheters

Rashmi Bhardwaj-Gosling

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Health & Society, Faculty of Medical Sciences

Newcastle University

October 2019

Abstract

Catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) are among the most prevalent healthcare-acquired infections. Prolonged catheter duration increases CAUTI risk by 5% per day. The average duration of postoperative short-term urinary catheterisation in the UK remains higher than recommended standards. Implementation of early catheter removal guidance is likely influenced by patient and healthcare professional (HCP) factors. This research investigates behavioural determinants (barriers and enablers) of prolonged catheter duration using the theoretical domains framework (TDF).

Study 1 (literature review) highlighted that existing interventions and current guidance on catheter removal focus on either limiting the use of urinary catheters or on early catheter removal. A combination of strategies appears more effective than a singular strategy, but sustained improvement over time remains unclear. Current UK guidelines on the timing of catheter removal were non-specific. Two TDF-based interview studies explored barriers and enablers to prolonged catheter duration with hospital-based HCPs (doctors, nurses and ancillary staff) (Study 2) and with hospitalised/catheterised patients (Study 3).

For HCPs, several key barriers to catheter removal practice were identified, for example, low motivation to remove catheters promptly due to competing demands; poor knowledge of removal guidance and evidence-based practice. Key enablers for HCPs included being highly skilled at removing catheters; the use of handover notes, reminders and daily task lists; and having senior and specialised colleagues as role models. Patient barriers to engaging with HCPs were, for example, perceived inability to manage without a catheter/dependence on the catheter, environmental and resource factors such as the lack of accessible toilets and staff assistance with toileting, staff attitudes, and ward culture. Patient enablers were: motivation to engage to speed-up hospital discharge and social support from the family.

A range of modifiable barriers linked to HCP and patient-related behaviours were identified which may help explain the prolonged duration of short-term urinary catheters. A behaviour change intervention targeting these barriers whilst strengthening the enablers may reduce catheter duration and subsequently CAUTIs.

i

Dedications

In memory of my dad who always encouraged me to do my best and persevere. I have done my best dad and I hope I have made you proud. Memories of you will always be in my heart.

For my mentor and supervisor the Late Professor Rob Pickard; in recognition of the constant support and encouragement you provided me for years and inspired me to embark on this research journey. You may be gone, but you will never be forgotten.

Acknowledgements

Funding

The research comprised in this thesis was undertaken as an independent project during a Clinical Doctoral Research Fellowship awarded to Rashmi Bhardwaj-Gosling by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views expressed are those of the author and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

Patient and public involvement

The members of the patient and public involvement (PPI) group provided vital input on this research. Specifically, in the patient study, their lay expertise and personal experience with a urinary catheter provided valuable insights and played a key role in the oversight of this research. The PPI members gave feedback on the research proposal, provided insights and advice on developing study materials for participants such as developing and presenting information in a user-friendly manner, and in the dissemination of findings in the wider context. I would like to thank members of my PPI group for their time and commitment throughout this research.

Personal acknowledgments

This research would not have been possible without the involvement of all the participants who generously provided their time to take part in this research to whom I am very grateful.

I would like to thank the NIHR who awarded me the doctoral fellowship, funded my research and saw potential in my original research proposal. The fellowship provided me with an opportunity to explore my research interests whilst allowing me to develop further towards becoming an independent researcher.

I am immensely thankful to my supervisors who embarked on this PhD journey with me from the beginning: the late Professor Rob Pickard, Professor Debbie Carrick-Sen, and Dr Justin Presseau. Furthermore, the supervisors who joined the team subsequently: Dr Susan Hrisos, Dr Clare Abley, Mr Chris Harding and Professor Falko Sniehotta. You have given me boundless time, energy and wise advice while working together fantastically and complementing each other's expertise. I would like to extend my special thanks to Dr Justin Presseau (Ottawa Health Research Institute Canada, formerly Newcastle University) whose support and commitment did not falter from the start to the finish of this research, despite the geographic distance between the two continents.

I would like to extend a huge thanks to my mentor Professor Luke Vale, whose advice and guidance I have greatly benefitted from, and thank you for making the difficult times lighter with your sense of humour.

I would like to thank my research collaborators, Mrs Erika Gavilett, Mrs Fiona Beyer, Dr Suzanne McDonald and Dr Samuel Ginja, who contributed with a range of skills to make this research a more rigorous and high-quality programme. I would also like to thank my PhD assessors Professor Elaine McColl and Mr Rakesh Heer, who provided their wisdom and advice over the course of this research and helped to keep me on track.

I am grateful to my friends Donna and Rani for their friendship and companionship in the ups and downs of life and offering much-needed respites from work. I would also like to thank my friends and colleagues from the office who I have been fortunate enough to work with especially Sarah for the camaraderie and providing support in different forms, from trying new recipes to sharing the love of food.

And finally, I would like to thank my family: Shelly, Grandad Bill, George and Julia, who have been my constant source of encouragement. I thank both my parents for everything they have done to get me where I am today. Thank you mom, for your unconditional love; without your generous support and encouragement, this PhD would not have been possible. A big thanks to my son Leo for his patience and understanding for mammy working long hours and working at the weekends. I hope it is not too long before I can spend my evenings and weekend with my family again. Finally, thank you Brad- because you love me for who I am and for what I was striving to become. You are my strength through life's many tribulations, give me a sense of protection and courage to endure.

Table of Contents

Abstracti
Dedicationsii
Acknowledgementsiii
Table of Contentsv
List of Tablesx
List of Figuresxi
Statement of contributions xii
Thesis Outputs xiii
Abbreviationsxv
Chapter 1. Introduction1
1.1 Research context2
1.2 Research rationale3
1.3 Aims and objectives4
1.4 Outline of the thesis4
Chapter 2. Background
2.1 CAUTI: a complex, multidimensional clinical problem9
2.2 Definitions of UTI and CAUTI9
2.3 Prevalence and impact10
2.4 CAUTI and antimicrobial resistance11
2.5 Work to date11
2.6 The UK MRC Framework13
2.7 Local NHS hospitals structure and ward layout14
2.8 Summary15
Chapter 3. Literature review16
3.1 Overview of chapter17
3.2 Focus of the literature review18
3.2.1 Search strategy

	3.2.2 Selection criteria	18
3.3	3 Clinical Context	19
	3.3.1 Indwelling urinary catheters	19
	3.3.2 Catheter-associated urinary tract infections	20
	3.3.3 Management of CAUTIs	21
	3.3.4 Initiatives to prevent CAUTIs	21
	3.3.5 Review of UK, European and international guidance documents	24
	3.3.6 Interventions to date	29
	3.3.7 Summary of existing interventions	51
3.4	4 Theoretical, behaviour change and implementation research context	51
	3.4.1 Evidence-practice gap	51
	3.4.2 Advantages of a theory-informed approach	53
	3.4.3 The Theoretical Domains Framework	55
	3.4.4 Rationale and critique of the Theoretical Domains Framework	56
	3.4.5 TDF application in other clinical contexts	59
3.5	5 Targeted behaviour change interventions	62
3.6	6 Situating the present research and research rationale	63
3.7	7 Conclusion	64
	3.7.1 Selection of a theory or theoretical framework	66
3.8	8 Link to other chapters	66
urina	oter 4. Barriers and enablers to healthcare professional behaviours to prompt removal ary catheters: A Theoretical Domains Framework-based interview study with medical, ing and ancillary hospital staff	
4.1	1 Abstract	69
4.2	2 Introduction	71
4.3	3 Methods	75
	4.3.1 Specifying the target behaviour	75
	4.3.2 Development and piloting of interview schedule	76

4.3.3 Sample size and data saturation	77
4.3.4 Setting and participants	77
4.3.5 Recruitment procedures and data collection	77
4.3.6 Data management and analysis	79
4.3.7 Ethical and institutional approvals	80
4.4 Results	80
4.4.1 Sample characteristics	80
4.4.2 Data capture and saturation	83
4.4.3 Key sub-themes identified within relevant TDF domains	83
4.5 Discussion	08
4.5.1 Summary of main findings10	08
4.5.2 Strengths and limitations10	09
4.5.3 Findings in relation to previous research11	10
4.5.4 Implications12	20
4.6 Conclusion	21
4.7 Link to other chapters	23
Chapter 5. Barriers and enablers to patient engagement behaviours for the prompt remova of urinary catheters: A Theoretical Domains Framework-based interview study with hospitalised patients	
5.1 Abstract12	25
5.2 Introduction12	27
5.3 Methods13	30
5.3.1 Target behaviour and development/piloting of the interview schedule13	30
5.3.2 Setting, participants and recruitment procedures13	30
5.3.3 Data collection, sample size and saturation13	31
5.3.4 Data analysis13	31
5.3.5 Patient and public involvement (PPI)13	32
5.3.6 Ethical and institutional approvals13	33

5.4 Results1	133
5.4.1 Sample characteristics 1	L33
5.4.2 Research objective one: prevalence of the target behaviour	L43
5.4.3 Research objective two: Barriers to patient engagement1	L44
5.4.4 Research objective three: Enablers to patient engagement 1	156
5.5 Discussion1	158
5.5.1 Key findings1	158
5.5.2 Strengths and limitations1	158
5.5.3 Findings in relation to previous studies1	159
5.6 Conclusion1	168
Chapter 6. General discussion1	170
6.1 Chapter overview1	171
6.2 Summary of key findings1	171
6.2.1 Study one: literature review (chapter three)1	L71
6.2.2 Study two: healthcare professional interviews (chapter four)1	L73
6.2.3 Study three: patient interviews (chapter five)1	L74
6.3 Overall discussion of identified barriers in relation to existing interventions and	
guidelines1	L76
6.3.1 Knowledge gaps and education/training interventions 1	176
6.3.2 Adaptation and changes to the low staffing levels1	L78
6.3.3 Environmental barriers and use of alternative methods to catheterisation 1	179
6.3.4 Variations in ward level practice concerning the existing guidance1	180
6.3.5 Forgetfulness and reminder interventions1	180
6.3.6 Hierarchy around catheter removal decision making and nurse-driven proto interventions	
6.3.7 Overall Summary of identified barriers1	L81
6.4 Research findings in local healthcare setting context1	182
6.5 Future research1	183

6.6 Strengths of current work	
6.7 Limitations of this research	
6.8 Potential impact	
6.8.1 Impact on the local practice	
6.8.2 Estimated impact on reducing catheter duration and CAUTI rates	
6.8.3 Potential impact on the UK and European guidelines	
6.9 Conclusion	
Appendix A: Theoretical Domains Framework construct definitions	
Appendix B: TDF domains, constructs and sample questions *	
Appendix C: Healthcare professional- interview schedule for Chapter 4	
Appendix D: Healthcare professional- recruitment poster for Chapter 4	
Appendix E: Healthcare professional- participant information sheet for Chapter 4	l213
Appendix F: Healthcare professional- consent form for Chapter 4	216
Appendix G: Healthcare professional- double coding summary for Chapter 4	217
Appendix H: Patient- interview schedule for Chapter 5	
Appendix I: Patient- recruitment poster for Chapter 5	224
Appendix J: Patient- participant information sheet for Chapter 5	225
Appendix K: Patient- participant consent form for Chapter 5	228
Appendix L: Patient- double coding summary for Chapter 5	229
Appendix M: HOUDINI catheter care plan for Chapter 6	231
References	235

List of Tables

Table 3.1: An overview of UK, European and international guidance on catheter removal	25
Table 3.2: US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention criteria for appropriate and inappropriate indications for indwelling urinary catheters (Centers for Disease Prevention and Control, 2009)	28
Table 3.3: Summary of interventions	30
Table 3.4: TDF domains and respective definitions	55
Table 4.1: Characteristics of healthcare professional participants	.82
Table 5.1: Characteristics of patient participants1	135
Table 5.2: Summary of key theoretical domains, subthemes and relationships with other domains1	139

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Developing and Evaluating Complex Interventions (Craig <i>et al.</i> , 2008)14
Figure 3.1: Overview of the literature review chapter17
Figure 3.2: Stages of bacterial biofilm formation20
Figure 4.1: Conceptual map of healthcare professional barriers to prompt catheter removal practice
Figure 4.2: Conceptual map of healthcare professional enablers to prompt catheter removal practice
Figure 5.1: Conceptual map- the prevalence of, and barriers to, patient engagement behaviour
Figure 5.2: Conceptual map of enablers to patient engagement

Statement of contributions

PhD candidate: RBG, Rashmi Bhardwaj-Gosling

PhD supervision team: RP, Rob Pickard; DCS, Debbie Carrick-Sen; JP, Justin Presseau; CA, Clare Abley; SH, Susan Hrisos; CH, Chris Harding; FS, Falko Sniehotta

Additional collaborators: EG, Erika Gavilett; FB, Fiona Beyer; SMc, Suzanne McDonald; SG, Samuel Ginja;

Chapter one: RBG undertook the work for this chapter, and JP, SH, CH and FS provided comments.

Chapter two: RBG undertook the work for this chapter, and JP, SH, CH and FS provided comments.

Chapter three: RBG, RP, JP and DCS devised the study. EG and FB provided expert advice on composing literature review search strategy. RBG led the database searches, literature screening, quality appraisal and collation of results. RBG drafted the chapter and JP, SH, CH and FS provided comments.

Chapter four: RBG, RP and JP designed the study. RBG conducted the interviews and led the analysis, supported by SMc and SG. RBG produced the draft and JP, SH, CH and FS provided comments.

Chapter five: RBG, RP and JP designed the study. RBG conducted the interviews and led the analysis, supported by SMc and SG. RBG produced the draft and JP, SH, CH and FS provided comments.

Chapter six: RBG wrote thesis discussion chapter, and JP, SH, CH and FS provided comments.

xii

Thesis Outputs

Throughout the course of this research I have produced a number of related outputs to date. These are summarised below.

Published abstracts

- Bhardwaj-Gosling, R., Sniehotta, F.F., Hrisos, S., Harding, C., Potthoff, S, Abley, C., Presseau, J., (2018) Barriers/enablers to implementing guidance: a theory-based study, investigating healthcare-professional behaviours around prompt urinary catheter removal: 32nd European Healthy Psychology Society Conference, podium presentation, Galway, Ireland.
- Bhardwaj-Gosling, R., Sniehotta, F.F., Hrisos, S., Harding, C., Potthoff, S, Abley, C., Presseau, J., (2018) Patient engagement and communication behaviours around prompt urinary catheter removal: a prospective theory-based correlational study: 32nd European Healthy Psychology Society Conference, interactive poster presentation, Galway, Ireland.
- **Bhardwaj, R**. Pickard, R., Carrick-Sen. D., Presseau, J. (2013) *Reducing the duration of urinary catheters: A protocol for interview study with patients and healthcare professionals using theoretical domains framework*. Interactive poster presentation at the 9th UK Society of Behavioural Medicine, Oxford, UK.

Conference presentations

- Bhardwaj-Gosling, R., Michell, P. (Co-presentation with REDUCE project PPIE panel member), (2017) "Innovative ways of involving PPI on research projects". Winner: Best Oral Presentation. NIHR School for Primary Care Research, PPI Themed Conference 'Developing Skills in PPI', Royal Station Hotel, Newcastle, UK.
- Bhardwaj-Gosling, R. (2017) *REDUCE: Reducing the duration of urinary catheters and associated infections*. North East Postgraduate Research Conference, oral presentation, Newcastle, UK.

• **Bhardwaj, R**. Pickard, R., Presseau, J. (2014) *Mixed methods study of reducing the duration of short-term urinary catheters: preliminary findings of the qualitative phase*. Canadian Knowledge Translation Annual Scientific Meeting, Interactive poster presentation, Quebec City, Canada.

Invited presentations

- Bhardwaj-Gosling, R. (Jan 2018): Urological Morbidity Associated with Catheter Infections. Invited speaker at Regional Urology Research Collaborative with Ageing Focus, Newcastle.
- Bhardwaj-Gosling, R. (Mar 2018): *The impact of Catheter Infections on Elderly Patients*. Invited speaker at Academic Geriatrics Annual Meeting, Newcastle.
- Bhardwaj, R. (Oct 2016): *REDUCE Project: Preliminary findings of qualitative interviews*, City University, London.
- Bhardwaj, R. (June 2014): Challenges to Patient Engagement in Reducing Urinary Catheter Duration and Associated Infections. Invited speaker at Laval University, hosted by Professor France Légaré (Canada Research Chair in the Implementation of Shared Decision Making), Quebec City, Canada.

Abbreviations

AMR: Antimicrobial Resistance ANTT: Aseptic Non-Touch Technique **BCTs: Behaviour Change Techniques** BMC: BioMed Central CAUTIS: Catheter Associated Urinary Tract Infections CCP: Catheter Care Plan CCSG: Catheter Care Sub Group CDC: Centers for Disease Prevention and Control **CFU: Colony-Forming Unit** CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature CMO: Chief Medical Officer COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research DMOC: Decision Making and Organisation of Care DoH: Department of Health EAU: European Association of Urology E.Coli: Escherichia Coli **EPIC: Evidence-based Practice in Infection Control** EPOC: Effective Practice and Organisation of Care ERAS: Enhanced Recovery Programme after Surgery **GCP: Good Clinical Practice GPs: General Practitioners** HAIs: Healthcare Acquired Infections HAPA: Health Action Process Approach HCP: Healthcare Professional HICPAC: Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee **HPV: Human Papillomavirus HSR: Health Service Research** IMRaD: Introduction, Methods, Results and Discussion IMB: Information Motivation and Behavioural skills model **IPC: Infection Prevention and Control** MRC: Medical Research Council

NHS: National Health Service NICE: National Institute for Care and Excellence NIHR: National Institute for Health Research NSR: National Surveillance Report NuTH: Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust PDSA: Plan, Do, Study, Act PHE: Public Health England **PIS: Participant Information Sheet** PTFE: Polytetrafluoroethylene catheter QOL: Quality of Life **RCT: Randomised Controlled Trial** SCT: Social Cognitive Theory SHEA: Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America SPC: Supra Pubic Catheter SPCR: School of Primary Care Research TACT-A: Target, Action, Context, Time, Actor **TDF:** Theoretical Domains Framework **TPB:** Theory of Planned Behaviour **TURP: Transurethral Resection of Prostate** TWOC: Trial without a Catheter **UTI: Urinary Tract Infection** WOC: Wound, Ostomy and Continence

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Research context

Healthcare Acquired Infections (HAIs), also known as nosocomial infections, are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality and pose a high burden on healthcare systems worldwide (Centers for Disease Prevention and Control, 2015). HAIs can be caused by different types of pathogens of fungal, viral or bacterial origin (Klevens *et al.*, 2007). The common types of HAIs are bloodstream infections, ventilator-associated pneumonia, surgical site wound infections and Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infections (CAUTIs) (Khan *et al.*, 2017).

Over 2 million people admitted to UK National Health Service (NHS) hospitals are catheterised each year, making urinary catheters one of the most common sites of HAIs (Bjerklund Johansen *et al.*, 2007). As a result, there has been a recent upsurge of national and international initiatives to prevent and reduce CAUTI and avoid this preventable harm to patients. National surveillance reports (NSR) in England, conducted between 2010-2016, have shown bacteraemia rates to be on the rise by 24.3% due to *Escherichia Coli* (*E.coli*), a Gramnegative bacteria, which is responsible for 46.9% of symptomatic CAUTI/UTIs and asymptomatic bacteriuria, contributing to HAIs (Bou-Antoun *et al.*, 2016; Public Health England, 2015).

Commensurate with the rise in CAUTI/UTI incidence, the NSR noted an increase in antibiotic use as well as an increase in antimicrobial resistance (AMR); these two factors are likely related (Public Health England, 2015). In response, NHS England charged clinical commissioning groups with reducing the number of Gram-negative infections by half by 2021 with an initial focus on reducing *E. coli* bacteraemia through the implementation of care quality improvement initiatives nationally (UK AMR Strategy High Level Steering Group, 2015). Despite the government's efforts, Gram-negative infections continue to rise. From 43,200 cases overall, there was a 5% increase in *E. coli* infections compared between 2018 and 2019 figures and 7% in community-onset infections (Serle, 2019).

Prolonged catheter duration is one of the main factors contributing to the increased risk of developing bacteria in urine (bacteriuria) by 5% per day (Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Loveday *et al.*, 2014; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). Over time, with the presence of bacteriuria, a bacterial biofilm starts to form on the surface of the catheter tube which is responsible for symptomatic and

2

asymptomatic bacteriuria (Trautner and Darouiche, 2004; Sabir *et al.*, 2017). Minimising duration of catheterisation is an effective method of reducing CAUTI but early catheter removal requires a change in the standard practice.

Despite current initiatives and abundant existing interventions (described in the literature review in chapter three), catheter duration remains longer than the recommended international standard. CAUTI continues to be one of the main HAIs posing disease and financial burden on patients and healthcare systems (Saint *et al.*, 2009). The findings of a large national randomised controlled trial (RCT) and a cross-sectional audit conducted locally at the Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals Foundation Trust (NuTH) showed a median duration of postoperative urinary catheterisation of 3 days compared with the recommended standard of 1-day (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010; Gould *et al.*, 2010). Successful implementation of a policy of early catheter removal is likely to be affected by several factors related to both healthcare professionals (HCPs) and patient-related behavioural factors (Saint *et al.*, 2016; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). Any initiative to reduce catheter duration, therefore, requires patient and HCP behaviour change to alter current practice.

1.2 Research rationale

Two effective ways to combat CAUTI are, firstly, to avoid the entry of bacteria at the time of catheter insertion by following a strict Aseptic Non-Touch Technique (ANTT) (Rowley *et al.*, 2012) and, secondly, to ensure prompt removal of the catheter (Meddings *et al.*, 2014). Training and monitoring aspects of aseptic catheter insertion have helped reduce the risk of CAUTI (Lo *et al.*, 2014) but the reduction in catheter duration has proved harder to implement and involves a change in standard practice (Niël-Weise and van den Broek, 2005). To date, existing research and interventions do not provide sufficient insight into factors that may be driving delayed catheter removal. There is a lack of a detailed and comprehensive investigation in the literature on reasons for delays in catheter removal from a healthcare provider (i.e. an HCP) and receiver's (i.e. a patient) perspectives. This evidence gap has also been highlighted in a recent Public Health England (PHE) report on a strategic behavioural analysis of interventions on reducing CAUTI (Atkins *et al.*, 2019 (In preparation)).

The purpose of the research conducted and reported in this thesis was to identify which important factors affect catheter duration from the perspective of key stakeholders (patients and HCPs) by examination of the catheter removal process (Wald *et al.*, 2008). This thesis follows the early phases of the UK Medical Research Council (MRC) guidance on the development and evaluation of complex interventions (described in chapter two) and used theory-based qualitative methods with the application of the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF; described in chapter three) (Michie *et al.*, 2005).

1.3 Aims and objectives

The overarching aim of this research was to develop an improved understanding of existing interventions, guidance documents, current catheter removal practices; and patient/ HCP related factors affecting the duration of short-term urinary catheters. The specific research objectives were to:

- Review current guidance documents on the timing of catheter removal (chapter 3)
- Conduct a detailed review of the literature on current initiatives and existing interventions designed to reduce catheter duration and CAUTI (chapter 3)
- Explore current catheter removal practices (chapter 4)
- Investigate HCP related barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal practice (chapter 4)
- Explore current engagement behaviour of patients with HCPs regarding catheter removal (chapter 5)
- Investigate patient-related barriers and enablers to engagement regarding prompt catheter removal (chapter 5)
- Summarise findings to inform the development of a behaviour change intervention (chapter 6)

1.4 Outline of the thesis

To meet the aims and objectives, three main studies were conducted in this thesis.

• Study one: Literature review including review of the current guidance documents on catheter removal (chapter 3)

- Study two: HCP interview study exploring barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal (chapter 4)
- Study three: Patient interview study exploring barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal (chapter 5)

The above studies are described further in the chapter synopses below. The empirical chapters in this thesis are organised in a manuscript IMRaD (introduction, methods, results and discussion) format (Sollaci and Pereira, 2004). Thus, chapters four and five are presented in a standalone manner with separate abstract, introduction, methods, results and discussion sections to facilitate the planned dissemination of findings.

Chapter one provides an overall introduction to the thesis, research context, rationale for the research, aim and objectives, outline and brief summary by way of introducing each chapter.

Chapter two presents a background on the clinical context of CAUTIS. Firstly, it provides a definition of urinary tract infection (UTI) and CAUTI, the difference between the two, the clinical presentation and brief notes on its management. It then provides a background to CAUTI including the prevalence of indwelling urinary catheters and the burden attributable to these infections on patients and the healthcare system. The background to CAUTI is presented in the wider context of antimicrobial resistance, a national risk and threat to the UK. It describes my previous audit and research work to date that contributed to the inception of the current research. Next, the UK MRC framework for the development of complex interventions is explained, underpinning this body of research to identify overall barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal. The chapter finally concludes with a brief description of the local NuTH NHS hospitals structure and ward layout in relation to the empirical findings described in chapters four and five and to help situate this research in the local context.

Chapter three describes a comprehensive review of the literature from both a clinical and theoretical perspective. The clinical context is considered as it pertains to urinary catheters and appraises existing intervention studies on the prevention and management of CAUTI. Current clinical guidance statements on catheter removal and national initiatives to prevent and reduce CAUTI are further considered. This is followed by an exploration of the role of theory in understanding barriers and enablers and to define specific target behaviours. The

chapter presents the rationale for the proposed work in study two, study population and the TDF used as a basis for the empirical studies presented in the thesis. Studies that have applied the TDF to identify barriers and facilitators in other clinical settings are also appraised.

Chapter four describes a TDF-based interview study undertaken with HCPs, including doctors, nurses and healthcare assistants, to explore current catheter removal practices in a local NHS hospital Trust and to identify barriers and enablers to prompt removal of short-term catheters. The chapter defines a specific target behaviour for HCP participants related to catheter removal as defined by the TACT-A (target, action, context, time and actors) principle (Francis and Presseau, 2019). It then describes the recruitment procedures, demographic characteristics, professional background and experience, and clinical specialties from which the participants were recruited. It then presents findings from the interviews, analysed with a deductive approach for the initial coding using the TDF as an analysis framework, followed by an inductive approach to generate sub-themes within the TDF domains to identify barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal. This chapter concludes with a discussion of the strengths and limitations of this study and potential implications for future research, practice and policy.

Chapter five presents a TDF-based interview study conducted with hospitalised patients requiring a short-term urinary catheter (less than 14 days) during their hospital stay. The chapter describes the patients' specific target behaviour as per the TACT-A principle (Francis and Presseau, 2019) in the context of engaging with their HCPs for catheter removal, participants' demographic characteristics, inclusion/exclusion criteria, and recruitment procedures. The chapter continues with the presentation of interview findings, analysed using the same approach as the HCP interviews to draw out barriers and enablers to patient engagement for the prompt removal of their urinary catheter. It then provides a discussion of the strengths and limitations of the study and finishes with a brief conclusion.

Chapter six presents an overall discussion of the integrated research findings from studies 1-3, summarising and discussing key results described in chapters three, four and five respectively, in relation to the original aims and objectives of the thesis. Identified barriers concerning existing interventions, guidelines, and in the local healthcare setting context are discussed. The chapter then considers the overall strengths and limitations to this body of research and steps for future research. The chapter describes the potential impact of findings on local practice, the estimated impact of a subsequent intervention on reducing catheter duration and CAUTI rates, and the potential impact on national and international healthcare policy and guidelines. Finally, the chapter concludes this thesis with a list of key summary points.

The overall key deliverable output of this thesis is an understanding of the relative importance of barriers and enablers that determine catheter duration from key stakeholders' perspectives, using TDF-based interviews with HCPs and patients. This will allow further work regarding the design of specific behaviour change intervention/s that can be used to achieve a reduction in catheter duration to agreed care standards in the hospital settings and thereby prevent associated infections. Chapter 2. Background

2.1 CAUTI: a complex, multidimensional clinical problem

Prompt catheter removal to prevent catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) is a complex healthcare problem involving a multitude of reasons, a variety of individuals, and implicates inconsistencies in practice. Reducing and preventing CAUTI has been the focus of attention and ascribed global importance in an attempt to lessen the incidence of healthcare-acquired infections (HAIs). Despite the raised awareness and national/international initiatives, successful implementation of early catheter removal policy in practice has not been achieved which is likely to be associated both with patient and healthcare professional (HCP) related factors. This chapter provides a high-level background to CAUTI, related issues and previous research conducted locally that sets the scene for the empirical work presented in subsequent chapters.

2.2 Definitions of UTI and CAUTI

A urinary tract infection (UTI) is defined as a collective term for clinically detectable conditions associated with an invasion of the urinary tract by microorganisms which can affect the urethra, bladder, ureters, and kidneys (Centers for Disease Prevention and Control, 2017). A CAUTI is an infection of the urinary tract in the presence of an indwelling urethral catheter. Presentation of bacteriuria (bacteria in urine/pyuria) can be asymptomatic or symptomatic. Asymptomatic cases denote the presence of pyuria without symptoms. Patients are diagnosed with CAUTI if they present with symptoms such as acute haematuria (blood in urine), suprapubic tenderness or pain, and/or fever (Nicolle, 2014) and a positive microbiology urine test ($\geq 10^4$ CFU/ml) (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a). In microbiology terms, a colony-forming unit (CFU) is a unit to measure the number of viable (able to multiply) pathogens in a given sample (Goldman and Green, 2015). Although the treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria should be avoided, symptomatic CAUTIs necessitate treatment with antimicrobial agents for its management. This bring its own global challenges in terms of antimicrobial resistance which calls for cutting down on the antibiotic prescriptions and antimicrobial stewardship (Bonkat et al., 2017). In the CAUTI context, this can be achieved by reducing infections via removing catheters earlier.

2.3 Prevalence and impact

Approximately 15% of the 14.5 million patients admitted to UK NHS hospitals each year (over 2 million people) will require an indwelling urinary catheter at some time during their hospital stay (Nicolle, 2005; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010). In community settings, indwelling urinary catheter prevalence in elderly care facilities such as nursing homes is approximately 10% (McNulty, 2009). The presence of a catheter results in bacterial colonisation of the bladder at a rate of approximately 5% per day (Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). This can lead to symptomatic CAUTI, which accounts for 20% of HAIs in UK hospitals (Bou-Antoun *et al.*, 2016; Smyth, 2006), over 6% of infections in community care homes (Roberts *et al.*, 2010), and causes death from sepsis in severe cases (Nicolle, 2005).

In older patients, these infections can cause delirium which instigates distress not only to the patients but also to the relatives and healthcare staff (Trautner, 2010). Delirium can be misdiagnosed as symptoms of dementia/cognitive impairment (Laurila et al., 2008), leading to unnecessary further treatment and care burden on patients and their families. Delirium significantly increases comorbidities e.g. loss of bladder control due to loss of cognitive inhibition of voiding, increased risk of falls with subsequent complications such as fractures and cerebral bleeding (Lajiness, 2016; Folbert et al., 2017). Taken together, these experiences can reduce older patients' overall confidence in returning to baseline activities, increase functional dependence on discharge, which can result in an altered discharge destination, and increased mortality (Muzzi-Bjornson and Macera, 2011; Davies, 2013). The latest figures on HAI from Field Epidemiology Service North East (Public Health England) shows that E.coli bacteraemia are reported at a rate of approximately 320 cases per month and around 2750 cases every year in the North East of England alone. Around 50% of these HAIs are associated with urinary catheters (Public Health England, 2017), the treatment of which is a risk factor for antimicrobial resistance development (Public Health England, 2015). Thus, what can begin as a seemingly 'minor' issue has the potential to escalate into significant issues for patients, their families, the health system, and the population health more generally.

2.4 CAUTI and antimicrobial resistance

The UK's Chief Medical Officer (CMO) highlighted the threat posed by the overuse of antimicrobial agents to cause a national risk and their link to antimicrobial resistance in the UK and worldwide (Davies, 2013). The impact of the antimicrobial resistance problem is serious, to the point of being compared to climate change, and was added to the Cabinet Office's National Risk Register of Civil Emergencies (Torjesen, 2013). CAUTI is one of the most common nosocomial infections, contributes substantially to antimicrobial resistance due to the necessary use of antibiotics for treating symptomatic and recurrent CAUTIs (Köves *et al.*, 2017b). To overcome the risk of antimicrobial resistance, it is necessary to prevent CAUTI in the first place, which would lower the requirement for antibiotic use for this indication (Bonkat *et al.*, 2017).

2.5 Work to date

Prior to the research presented in this thesis, I conducted a large cross-sectional audit (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010) and two studies on urinary catheter use within the local NHS Trust (NuTH) (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012; Pickard *et al.*, 2012a). These provided a background to my doctoral research and recognised prolonged catheter duration as a clinical problem and its impact on the quality of catheter care provided locally (described below).

The CATHETER Trial: I began working on the topic of urinary catheters and associated CAUTIS in 2008 as the Regional Lead Research Co-ordinator on a large UK multi-centre the CATHETER Trial (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a) funded by the UK National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment Programme. The trial involved a randomised comparison (1:1:1) of two antimicrobial urinary catheters (silver alloy-coated and nitrofural-impregnated) with a standard polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) catheter for use in the NHS. The trial was conducted in 24 centres in the UK and included 7102 randomly allocated in-patient participants requiring planned short-term (less than 14 days) urinary catheterisation. I led the trial set up and conduct at six different sites in the North East of England. The trial found that the silver alloy-coated catheters were not effective in reducing the incidence of symptomatic CAUTI. There was some reduction noted in CAUTI incidence with nitrofural-impregnated catheters but this was not regarded as clinically significant. Therefore, routine use of

11

antimicrobial-impregnated catheters was not recommended in practice by this trial. While working on this trial, I noticed that fully mobile post-operative patients in neurosurgery (where I was based at the time) continued to be catheterised without an appropriate clinical indication, prolonging their catheter duration. This was the inception point of my research idea.

Cross-sectional audit: To investigate this further, in collaboration with the Catheter Care Sub Group (CCSG) at NuTH, I conducted a large audit of catheter prevalence, duration and CAUTI rates across the entire Trust. The findings showed post-operative catheter duration was longer than 3 days in 81% of patients (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010), compared with the recommended standard of 1 day (Gould *et al.*, 2010), highlighting a clear evidence-practice gap. My further work with the CCSG led to the development of the Catheter Care Plan (CCP) which was implemented within all hospitals of the Newcastle NHS Trust, and is well embedded into routine clinical practice now.

Pilot study: Following this audit, I designed and carried out a qualitative study with patients in the neurosurgical department on patients' perspectives of the timing of urinary catheter removal after surgery (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). I gained a competitive national fellowship from the Medical Research Council (MRC Grant reference: C0209), obtained a master degree in Clinical Research with Distinction, and published the study findings (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012).

The pilot study explored factors of importance to patients undergoing elective surgery concerning the process of urinary catheterisation, with the use of semi-structured interviews. The results highlighted the patients' lack of knowledge about catheters which caused concerns and anxiety (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). The study also identified that patients were not routinely consented for perioperative catheter insertion. Other factors of importance to patients were loss of dignity, lack of involvement in the decision-making process for catheter removal, and lack of awareness of the association between catheter duration and CAUTI. Environmental factors such as a lack of easily accessible toilet facilities were also important to patients and this contributed to prolonged catheterisation. Most patients felt that their catheter could have been removed earlier and they were keen to be empowered to contribute to that decision.

12

Current project: Collectively, my previous work suggested that with input from patients and HCPs, there is a potential to change patterns of care to reduce unnecessarily prolonged catheterisation. Subsequently, I planned to further expand this research (via the research presented in this doctoral thesis), as the pilot study was conducted on a small scale and participants were only recruited from a single clinical area (the neurosurgical unit). Also, this work only included patient views; the views of HCPs were not sought. To allow transferability and explore speciality-based factors it was necessary to undertake a detailed investigation by expanding the study to other clinical areas, covering both medical and surgical specialities. The research purpose was to investigate HCPs' beliefs and further explore patients' beliefs in terms of defined targeted behaviours to identify overall barriers to prompt catheter removal.

To conduct this research, I was awarded a competitive personal fellowship from the NIHR (Clinical Doctoral Research Fellowship; Grant Reference: CDRF-2012-03-006) and produced multiple outputs from this research (reported in the thesis outputs section).

2.6 The UK MRC Framework

The research design aligns with the UK MRC framework for the development of complex interventions (Craig *et al.*, 2008). The MRC guidance highlights the importance of identifying the evidence base of a complex problem with the use of theory, modelling processes and identification of factors that influence outcomes (barriers and enablers) in the early stages of intervention development. The focus of this thesis was on the development phase as highlighted in Figure 2.1. This framework also emphasises the need for a strong theoretical understanding to identify weak links which can be identified and strengthened. The framework, therefore, supports the aim and objectives of the thesis and the need to conduct a thorough investigation to identify barriers and enablers using a systematic theory-informed approach.



Figure 2.1: Developing and Evaluating Complex Interventions (Craig et al., 2008)

This project employed theory-informed qualitative methods by using the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) to identify the most important factors that determine catheter duration from both patient and clinician perspectives (Michie *et al.*, 2005). The TDF is described in the literature review (chapter three). Any subsequent intervention is expected to be tailored to local contexts, developed using the insights provided by the theoretical underpinning of complex behaviours in complex adaptive systems, and likely to have multiple interacting behavioural components (Shiell *et al.*, 2008). It is, therefore, important to understand a range of factors and perspectives associated with behaviours of catheterised patients and HCPs who are responsible for the timely removal of catheters. Identified deficiencies can then be used to design the intervention by mapping key findings to relevant theories and behaviour change techniques (Wood *et al.*, 2015).

2.7 Local NHS hospitals structure and ward layout

This section describes the structure of the local NHS Trust hospitals (NuTH) relevant to the context and findings described in the empirical chapters four and five. NuTH is one of the busiest and largest teaching trusts in the UK, with an 1800-bed capacity and over 14,000 employed staff, and spread over seven sites in Newcastle and the surrounding areas (The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust: NUTH, 2019). Over the last decade, there has been major expansion work carried out to modernise and host some of the specialist services provided in Newcastle such as the regional Cardiothoracic Centre at the Freeman Hospital, the Great North Children's Hospital, the Great North Trauma and Emergency Centre,

the Newcastle Centre for Cancer Care and the Institute of Transplantation where Europe's first successful paediatric heart transplant was carried out.

The pilot study described above (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012) was carried out at the Neurosurgical Department at the Newcastle General Hospital, the second oldest hospital in the city, founded in 1870. Due to the traditional physical layout of wards, in the hospital, patients had to share toilet facilities. Toilets were located in the corridor leading to the ward, approximately 50 yards (45 meters) away from a patient's bedside. Depending on the type of surgery patients had undergone, this affected patients' ability to use the toilet in the 24-72 hour post-operative period which was identified as one of the barriers to prompt removal of catheters. Since then, the clinical facilities at the General Hospital have been moved to a new site. The modern ward layout now has a provision of one toilet in each bay (room) shared by six patients with an additional toilet at each end of the corridor. This design is much improved compared to the traditional layout at the General Hospital site where the pilot study was carried out. However, limitations related to location and accessibility of the toilets persist, as reported by patient participants described in chapter five. In the patients' environment, there is a call-bell system in operation which patients can use to engage with staff or get assistance as and when required.

2.8 Summary

This chapter has provided an overall clinical background to the research programme, related research work conducted to date, setting the scene for the next chapter (the literature review) and the overall thesis. The UK MRC framework underpinning this research has been described and a brief description of the local NHS Trust structure and ward layout concluded the chapter to contextualize the empirical findings in the local environment.

Chapter 3. Literature review (Study one)

3.1 Overview of chapter

In this chapter, a comprehensive review of the literature is presented. The literature review explored the most important aspects of the available evidence on indwelling urinary catheters and catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) in clinical, theoretical and implementation research contexts (Derish and Annesley, 2011; Grant and Booth, 2009; Cronin *et al.*, 2008). This chapter also includes a review of the national and international guidance documents on the timing of catheter removal, current initiatives, and previous interventions designed to reduce CAUTIs thus far. The review synthesised evidence on patterns and trends of previous CAUTI interventions; identified gaps in the body of evidence; and justified the research objectives, population, and methods outlined in this thesis (chapters three, four and five). Figure 3.1 illustrates different facets of the literature search and current chapter structure.



Figure 3.1: Overview of the literature review chapter

3.2 Focus of the literature review

3.2.1 Search strategy

The search strategy was developed in collaboration with two information scientists (Erika Gavilett and Fiona Beyer) who assisted in the development of search terms and the identification of relevant research sources and databases. The search terms and search strings were iteratively expanded to create key words for searching individual databases and appropriate mesh terms. The initial literature searches were carried out in July 2013. The databases searched were: Medline, Embase, Web of Science, PubMed, PsycINFO, Scopus, the Cochrane Library, the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), and the BioMed Central (BMC) online library of articles on the Theoretical Domains Framework for Behaviour Change Research. Simultaneously, supplementary literature was identified via websites, Google scholar, and online published reports. In addition, the UK, European and American guidance documents on urinary catheters were also reviewed. Where possible, searches were restricted to studies that used urinary catheters in humans. Subsequent automatic search alerts provided up-to-date literature, included until the production of this thesis. The main focus of this literature review was to synthesise a body of knowledge from a clinical and implementation science perspective, by collating a broad range of evidence from various different sources to develop a further understanding and by addressing the following objectives:

- Appraising the UK national, European and American guidance documents on catheter removal.
- Identifying and summarising previously published interventions attempted to reduce catheter duration and subsequent CAUTIS.
- Appraising the implementation science literature comprising of studies that utilised theoretical frameworks and theory-based behaviour change interventions to identify and address barriers to improve clinical practice.

3.2.2 Selection criteria

Population, setting and context: studies of adults and elderly participants with urethral catheters, the prevention and management of CAUTIs, and the microbiology of CAUTI development were included. Clinical studies conducted in a primary or secondary care setting
with heterogeneous catheter indications were included. Studies focusing solely on long-term chronic catheters were excluded to increase the relevance of the findings to a short-term catheterised population.

Study design: quantitative, qualitative, mixed-methods, exploratory and interventional studies published in English were included. No limits were placed on the type of evaluation employed as the aim was to assess the interventions used.

Study selection: searches were imported and managed in EndNote version X7 with duplicate articles removed. In the initial phase, the titles and abstracts of the retrieved articles were screened, followed by a full text screening of retained articles.

Data synthesis: due to the divergent nature of research questions and populations, the evidence was synthesised in a clinical, theoretical, and implementation science context. Various sources of literature were used to develop an understanding of CAUTI related behaviours and existing interventions.

3.3 Clinical Context

3.3.1 Indwelling urinary catheters

An indwelling urinary catheter is a thin long tube made from either latex, polyurethane or silicone inserted into the bladder through the external urethral meatus. A catheter allows the urine to flow passively from the bladder into a collection bag without the need for patient to actively urinate. Catheters are used for a longer duration for incontinence, neurogenic bladder and chronic medical conditions where a patient is unable to urinate independently. Indications for short term catheterisation are generally: acute retention, urine output monitoring in acute conditions, the necessity to drain the bladder while the patient is under anaesthetic for surgical procedures and a catheter left in situ post-operatively for a patient's comfort (Nicolle, 2012). However, the appropriateness of the indication and routine use of urinary catheters has been examined since the late fifties (Beeson, 1958). Catheters intended for short-term placement are often left in situ for longer than needed (Adams *et al.*, 2012) putting patients at high risk of acquiring catheter-associated infections (Clarke *et al.*, 2012) and causing considerable burden on patients in terms of discomfort, pain, morbidity and even death

(Pickard *et al.*, 2012a). Furthermore, this can impact the healthcare system due to increased treatment costs (Danchaivijitr *et al.*, 2005). Despite clear evidence of its detrimental effects, unjustified and prolonged use of catheters persist (Saint *et al.*, 2002; Meddings *et al.*, 2019).

3.3.2 Catheter-associated urinary tract infections

A CAUTI is an infection of the urinary tract in the presence of a urinary catheter. Pathogens gain entry through the catheter invading the inner and outer surfaces, and provide a favourable environment for bacterial growth and subsequent colonisation (Barford and Coates, 2009). Catheters provide a suitable surface for pathogens to create a biofilm which protects colonising bacteria from antimicrobials (Holenarasipur *et al.*, 2013). The presence and longer duration of a urinary catheter are the most important risk factors for biofilm formation and developing bacteriuria at a rate of approximately 5% per day (Vergidis and Patel, 2012; Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). The biofilm is formed in five stages: 1) initial bacterial attachment to a surface, 2) irreversible attachment, 3) maturation phase one, 4) maturation phase two and finally 5) dispersion (as shown in Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Stages of bacterial biofilm formation

(Image: Freely licenced: D. Davis - From: D. Monroe. "Looking for Chinks in the Armor of Bacterial Biofilms". PLoS Biology 5 (11, e307) DOI:10.1371/journal.pbio.0050307)(O'Toole *et al.*, 2000).

Dispersion of bacteria in urine then leads to asymptomatic and symptomatic bacteriuria and subsequent CAUTI (Trautner and Darouiche, 2004; Sabir *et al.*, 2017). However, a CAUTI may be prevented if a catheter is removed before the biofilm is formed.

The impact of CAUTIs is substantial due to the high prevalence of urinary catheter use (Saint *et al.*, 2009). About 300,000 of 2 million catheterised patients in the UK National Health Service (NHS) hospitals suffer from CAUTIs every year, making it one of the most common

sites of healthcare-acquired infections (HAIs) in acute and extended healthcare facilities (Bjerklund Johansen *et al.*, 2007). CAUTIs cost the UK NHS alone around £164 million annually for managing the infection and associated additional treatment (Pickard *et al.*, 2012b).

3.3.3 Management of CAUTIs

A CAUTI is mostly caused by Gram-negative bacteria and needs to be treated with effective antimicrobial therapy alongside removing or replacing the catheter, which is the prime source of infection (Ksycki and Namias, 2009). However, asymptomatic catheter-related bacteriuria is often inappropriately treated with antibiotics (Köves *et al.*, 2017a). A systematic review and meta-analysis including seven controlled studies (six RCTs and one non-randomised controlled intervention study), reported that prophylactic antibiotics at the time of catheter removal were effective at preventing a CAUTI (Marschall *et al.*, 2013). However, making it a routine practice may have implications in terms of potential side-effects, development of antimicrobial resistance and the cost of antibiotics (Health Protection Agency: Public Health England, 2012). This approach should be selective and used only on patients who are most likely to benefit from prophylactic antibiotics, for example, clean intermittent self-catheterised patients (Vallée *et al.*, 2019).

3.3.4 Initiatives to prevent CAUTIs

Clinical initiatives: possible ways to avoid CAUTIs include limiting the use of catheters (Rothfeld and Stickley, 2010) or to reduce catheter duration (Fernandez and Griffiths, 2006). The burden of CAUTIs on patients and the healthcare system has led to national and international initiatives for their prevention. As part of this strategy, a commissioned review including 37,111 patients overall from 157 centres (Emmerson, 1996), identified the two main risk factors for CAUTIs as 1) contamination during catheter insertion and 2) duration of catheterisation (Emmerson, 1996; EPIC, 2001; Loveday *et al.*, 2014; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). Training, surveillance and monitoring of urinary catheter insertion have helped to reduce catheter prevalence and the risk of CAUTIs (Marigliano *et al.*, 2012), but the reduction in duration of catheterisation has proved harder to implement because it requires a change in standard practice (Wald *et al.*, 2008; Niël-Weise and van den Broek, 2005). Additional factors which may assist in preventing CAUTIs are: restricted catheter use (which can be applicable in certain clinical situations), strict adherence to the preservation of a closed drainage system (for maintaining a sterile track), and appropriate indication for insertion

(Hustinx and Verbrugh, 1994). Inappropriate and prolonged use of catheters has been reported to range from 20% (Caramujo et al., 2011) to more than 43% (Mikolajczak et al., 2013) in catheter prevalence studies, which leads to subsequent yet avoidable CAUTI. For example, it is routine practice for patients undergoing spinal or epidural anaesthesia to have a catheter inserted due to high risk of urinary retention (inability to pass urine). However, results from a randomised prospective study by Miller and colleagues (2013) with 200 patients who received spinal anaesthesia for undergoing total hip arthroplasty showed that such patients are not at high risk of retention and routine urinary catheter placement is not necessary (Miller et al., 2013). Also, if the catheter is a necessity for a lengthy surgical procedure, it does not need to stay in situ for the entire duration that the patient is under anaesthetic (Zaouter et al., 2009; Nygren et al., 2012). Research also shows that catheterised patients with diarrhoea are at higher risk of acquiring a CAUTI due to cross-contamination of the urethral meatus and removal of the catheter should be considered where possible (Lima et al., 1990). Therefore, healthcare professionals (HCPs) need to be extra vigilant when assessing the need for catheter insertion. The 'Choosing Wisely' initiative supports this approach by advocating limiting the use of catheters to reduce CAUTIs in hospitalised inpatient wards (Cho et al., 2017).

In limiting the use of catheters, alternative methods should be considered for bladder emptying before their insertion (Saint, 2000) e.g. via use of a commode, bedpan/urinal, external condom catheters, or suprapubic and intermittent catheterisation for patients with neurogenic impairment affecting bladder emptying (Nicolle, 2012). Alternative methods produce a lower incidence of bacteriuria and result in fewer complications (Warren, 1997). A review reported that suprapubic catheters (SPC) result in fewer urinary tract infections (UTIs) in comparison to transurethral catheters (Healy *et al.*, 2013) and an SPC is recommended when extended need for external bladder drainage is predicted, although insertion is more invasive (Nygren *et al.*, 2012). For people with an indwelling catheter, a trial without catheter (TWOC) should be considered when appropriate, both in a hospital (Emberton and Fitzpatrick, 2008) and community setting (Robinson, 2005) before catheter replacement.

For long term catheter placement, the formation of a bacterial biofilm is inevitable. Biofilms form when cells of microorganisms/pathogens adhere to each other on a surface (Donlan, 2002), as shown in Figure 3.2. A systematic review suggests that bacteria living inside biofilms

are more protected and resistant to anti-microbial therapies than non-biofilm bacteria (del Pozo *et al.*, 2008) contributing to antimicrobial resistance.

Alternative methods to early removal have been attempted to reduce the adherence of bacteria to the catheter surface. Biologically, attempts have been made to use non-pathogenic bacteria to prevent adherence of pathogenic bacteria to the catheter (Holenarasipur *et al.*, 2013). Other attempts have been made to prevent the formation of a biofilm by running low-energy ultrasound or electric waves to the catheter surface in long term catheter use (del Pozo *et al.*, 2008; Nagy *et al.*, 2011). Biofilm disruptive strategies may offer some evidence to delay the formation of a biofilm but the immediate implementation of these methods in practice remains limited (Trautner *et al.*, 2005).

The efficacy of modifications to catheter material in the prevention of symptomatic CAUTIs has also been evaluated e.g. antimicrobial and antiseptic-impregnated catheters, and different materials such as silicon rather than conventional latex. Results from a large RCT *the CATHETER Trial* (described in chapter 2, (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a)) showed that the antimicrobial impregnated catheters were slightly more effective at reducing CAUTIs when compared to standard PTFE latex catheter but the effect was not clinically significant. Therefore, they were not recommended for routine use. Antiseptic silver alloy-coated catheters were no more effective for CAUTI prevention than standard catheters (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a).

National initiatives in the UK: Although catheterisation is a minor procedure, complications (mainly CAUTIs) can have extensive implications on patients' morbidity, mortality and healthcare costs (Danchaivijitr *et al.*, 2005; Pickard *et al.*, 2012b). The high prevalence of CAUTIs caused by Gram-negative bacteria and their impact has led to growing momentum in healthcare systems worldwide to prevent the occurrence of hospital-acquired infections (Raad *et al.*, 2007). Consequently, CAUTI prevention was included as one of the key 'high impact interventions' for the 'Saving lives' and 'Patient Safety Thermometer' in measuring harm free care initiatives introduced to NHS hospitals by the Department of Health (DoH) in 2007 and 2012, in which reducing CAUTI/UTI rates remains a key priority for the DoH (Department of Health, 2007; Department of Health, 2012). Furthermore, the Health & Social Care Act, 2008 (Department of Health, 2009), imposes a legal obligation on NHS trusts to ensure that patients, healthcare workers and others are protected from identifiable risks

of acquiring healthcare-associated infections; The High Impact Actions for Nursing and Midwifery advises that continued vigilance is required to protect patients from HAIs (Department of Health, 2009). These policy and guidance documents emphasise adherence to evidence-based practice in infection control (epic) guidelines, which require close collaboration between all staff and patients involved in catheter care (EPIC, 2001; Loveday *et al.*, 2014; Pratt *et al.*, 2007).

3.3.5 Review of UK, European and international guidance documents

Clinical guidelines are produced to outline best practice informed by research evidence to promote change in practice (Foy *et al.*, 2002). Change in a given behaviour or clinical practice may be more achievable if the clinical personnel concerned act in accordance with the relevant guidelines, balanced with their professional discretion. Therefore, it is important to have clear and specified guidelines to achieve the desired level of adherence (Michie and Abraham, 2004). Acting in accordance with clinical guidelines and policies, i.e. the extent to which recommendations are adhered to as specified, poses difficult challenges. As described by Miller and colleagues (1997), compliance is a means to an end, an approach to maintain and improve behaviours. It is a complex behavioural process strongly influenced by the environments in which patients live, healthcare providers practice, and healthcare systems deliver care (Miller *et al.*, 1997). An overview at a glance of the national, European and international guidance on catheter removal has been provided in Table 3.1.

Title	Statement	Reference
UK guidance		
High Impact Interventions 6- Department of Health guidance	"Review regularly the patient's need for continuing urinary catheterisation and remove the catheter as soon as possible" and "Patients and relatives should be educated about their role in preventing UTI"	High Impact Intervention 6 (Department of Health, 2007, p.2)
CG139- 'Healthcare- associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care'	"The patient's clinical need for catheterisation should be reviewed regularly and the urinary catheter removed as soon as possible".	CG139 (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2012, p.19)
QS61- 'Infection prevention and control' Quality statement 4: Urinary catheters	"Remove as soon as it is no longer needed"	Section: Assessing the need for catheterisation (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2014, p.23)
epic3 guidelines on 'Preventing Infections Associated with the Use of Short-Term Indwelling Urethral Catheters'	"Assess and record the reasons for catheterisation every day. Remove the catheter when no longer clinically indicated" (UC3: page 33) and "Ensure patients, relatives and carers are given information regarding the reason for the catheter and the plan for review and removal" (UC22: page 36)	(Loveday <i>et al.</i> , 2014, p.33 & 36)
NG113 'Catheter- associated urinary tract infection and antimicrobial prescribing'	No reference to the timing of catheter removal in 'CAUTI prevention' section	(National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2018)

Table 3.1: An overview of UK, European and international guidance on catheter removal

European guidance

urological infections	catheterisation should be minimal"	Urology (EAU) (Bonkat <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2017, p.24)
International guidance		
Guideline for Prevention of Catheter-associated Urinary Tract Infections - Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC)	"For operative patients who have an indication for an indwelling catheter, remove the catheter as soon as possible postoperatively, preferably within 24 hours, unless there are appropriate indications for continued use"	American Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) HICPAC, 2009 (Gould <i>et al.</i> , 2010, p.10)- updated June 2019

There were multiple sources identified for clinical guidelines and quality statement documents to regulate catheter removal practices in addition to the management and prevention of CAUTIs. In the UK, these include Department of Health guidance on 'High Impact Interventions 6' (Department of Health, 2007); CG139 clinical guidance on 'Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care' by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2012); NICE QS61 on 'Infection prevention and control' including quality statement four on Urinary catheters (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014); and epic3 guidelines for 'Preventing Infections Associated with the Use of Short-Term Indwelling Urethral Catheters' (Loveday *et al.,* 2014). The guidance on High Impact Intervention number 6 on urinary catheters suggests to: *"Review regularly the patient's need for continuing urinary catheterisation and remove the catheter as soon as possible"* and *"Patients and relatives should be educated about their role in preventing UTI"* (Department of Health, 2007, p.2).

NICE clinical guidance CG139 states, "The patient's clinical need for catheterisation should be reviewed regularly and the urinary catheter removed as soon as possible" (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2012, p.19). NICE QS61 states "remove as soon as it is no longer needed" (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014, p.23). The epic3 guidance on urinary catheters UC3 states "Assess and record the reasons for catheterisation every day. Remove the catheter when no longer

clinically indicated" (Loveday *et al.*, 2014, p.33). The epic3 guidance UC22 also suggests involving patients and relatives *"Ensure patients, relatives and carers are given information regarding the reason for the catheter and the plan for review and removal"* (Loveday *et al.*, 2014, p.36). Despite the evidence on the association between prolonged catheter duration and increased incident of CAUTIS (Loveday *et al.*, 2014; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018); there is no reference to the timing of catheter removal in the 'CAUTI prevention' section of the NICE guidance NG113 titled 'Catheter-associated urinary tract infection and antimicrobial prescribing' (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2018).

The European guidelines on urological infections are underwritten by the European Association of Urology (EAU) (Bonkat *et al.*, 2017). The focus of this guideline is on the management of catheter infections (CAUTIs) with antibiotic treatment and provides minimum guidance on the timing of catheter removal. Regarding catheter duration, it states: *"The duration of catheterisation should be minimal"* (Bonkat *et al.*, 2017, p.24).

The guidance from the American Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in the *Guideline for Prevention of Catheter-associated Urinary Tract Infections* (2009), updated June 2019), suggests: *"For operative patients who have an indication for an indwelling catheter, remove the catheter as soon as possible postoperatively, preferably within 24 hours, unless there are appropriate indications for continued use"* (Gould *et al.*, 2010, p.10). In addition to this statement, the guidance provides a list of examples for appropriate and inappropriate catheter indications for the prevention of CAUTIS (see Table 3.2) (Gould *et al.*, 2010, p.11).

Table 3.2: US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention criteria for appropriate and inappropriate indications for indwelling urinary catheters (Centers for Disease Prevention and Control, 2009)

A. Examples of appropriate indications for indwelling urethral catheter use

- Patient has acute urinary retention or bladder outlet obstruction
- Need for accurate measurements of urinary output in critically ill patients
- Perioperative use for selected surgical procedures:
 - $\circ\,$ Patients undergoing urologic surgery or other surgery on contiguous structures of the genitourinary tract
 - Anticipated prolonged duration of surgery (catheters inserted for this reason should be removed in PACU)
 - Patients anticipated to receive large-volume infusions or diuretics during surgery
 - Need for intraoperative monitoring of urinary output
- To assist in the healing of open sacral or perineal wounds in incontinent patients
- Patient requires prolonged immobilization (e.g., potentially unstable thoracic or lumbar spine, multiple traumatic injuries such as pelvic fractures)
- To improve comfort for end of life care if needed

B. Examples of inappropriate uses of indwelling catheters

- As a substitute for nursing care of the patient or resident with incontinence
- As a means of obtaining urine for culture or other diagnostic tests when the patient can voluntarily void
- For prolonged postoperative duration without appropriate indications (e.g., structural repair of the urethra or contiguous structures, prolonged effect of epidural anaesthesia, etc.)

In summary, the UK and European guidance around urinary catheters does not include specific reference to the timing of catheter removal. Whereas, the guidance from the United States is

more precise and recommend catheter removal within 24 hours unless there is an appropriate and documented indication for its continued use.

The attention on minimising catheter duration is poor across the range of UK and European guidelines appraised here, showing the evidence gap regarding strategies to reduce catheter duration. This review demonstrates the need for improvement of NICE, epic3 and EAU guidance. Like the CDC guidance (removal within 24 hours), the UK documents should provide specific guidance on the timing of catheter removal which HCPs can use as a benchmark to follow for the removal of clinically appropriate catheters. The specificity of catheter removal time in guidance documents is of particular importance especially when the focus of existing interventions to reduce CAUTIs is moving towards early catheter removal.

3.3.6 Interventions to date

This review identified a multitude of interventions designed to combat UTIs occurring due to the insertion of a urinary catheter that is often used inappropriately (Gokula *et al.*, 2004). The studies focusing on urinary catheterisation in adult patients using qualitative, quantitative or mixed-methods were reviewed.

There are four common steps before a catheter can be removed (Meddings *et al.*, 2010): 1) a physician becomes aware that patient has a urinary catheter, 2) a physician recognises that there is no clinical indication for a catheter to be continued, 3) a physician writes a removal order, and 4) a nurse follows the physician's order and removes the catheter. Traditionally, these steps follow one after the other (sequential), and this sequence can contribute to longer catheter duration. Some interventions have tried to shorten the catheter removal process by bypassing some of these steps. For example, the implementation of nurse-driven catheter removal protocols eliminates the need for a doctor to initiate the removal process. It enhances the nurse's ability to remove the catheter as well as make the removal decision, thus, achieving both in a timely manner. The overall interventions identified in the review have been summarised below under the categories of limiting catheter use, education and training interventions, and interventions that emphasise on early catheter removal. The latter category is further organised into the type of interventions used for prompt catheter removal such as adaptation and changes to staffing level, nurse-driven protocols or reminder interventions. A summary of interventions has been provided in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3: Summary of interventions

Intervention type/ Number of studies	Type of study	Author/s (year)	Sample size	Clinical setting
Limiting the use	Randomised controlled	Chia <i>et al.,</i> (2009)	n= 78 patients	Hospitalised patients requiring
of catheter (n=2)	trial			elective thoracotomy
	Audit	Long <i>et al.,</i> (2013)	n= 100 patients	Hospitalised patients requiring
				elective caesarean section
Education and	Systematic review	Jones <i>et al.,</i> (2018)	n= 26 studies	A systematic review of studies to
Training				examine effectiveness of
interventions (n=6)				behavioural interventions to
(-)				reduce E. coli bacteraemia and/or
				symptomatic UTIs for older adults
	Review of CAUTI	Lo <i>et al.,</i> (2014)	n= 23 guidelines	A review of published guidelines
	prevention strategies		and	and recommendations for
			recommendations	prevention of infections
				associated with short-term
				indwelling urethral catheters

Uncontrolled pre-post	Sundaram <i>et al.,</i>	n= 1434 patients	Patients requiring cardiac surgery
	(2012)		on a cardiovascular unit in a
			tertiary care hospital
Uncontrolled pre-post	Gordon (2015)	n= 63 nurses	Effects of nursing education on
			evidence based practice
			guidelines to decrease CAUTI
			rates in hospitalised patients on a
			medical surgical unit
Uncontrolled pre-post	Justus <i>et al.,</i> (2016)	n= not identified	A blended learning approach by
			combining feedback with
			education on catheter insertion
			and care to healthcare providers
			in hospital setting
Uncontrolled pre-post	Dyc <i>et al.,</i> (2011)	n= 30 doctors	A peer-to-peer educational
			intervention implemented to
			doctors on appropriate use of
			urinary catheter placement in the
			emergency department

Emphasis on	Systematic review	Fernandez and	n = 8 trials	A systematic review of trials
early catheter		Griffiths, (2006)		comparing the effects of catheter
removal (n=3)				duration on patient outcomes
	Prospective cohort	Apisarnthanarak et	n= 131 patients	Hospitalised catheterised patients
	study	al., (2007)		from surgical and medical
				intensive care units
	Audit	Hartstein <i>et al.,</i>	n= 108 patients	Hospitalised patients with
		(1981)		indwelling urethral catheters for
				acute medical and surgical
				indications
Shorter versus	Systematic review/	Nygren <i>et al.,</i> (2012)	n= 26 peri/post-	A systematic review and meta-
longer catheter duration (n=11)	meta-analysis		operative	analysis of RCTs implementing
			outcomes	multimodal peri/post-operative
				care pathways for removal of
				urinary catheters in rectal surgery
				patients

Cochrane review/ meta-	Phipps <i>et al.,</i> (2006)	n= 11 RCTs	A Cochrane review of RCTs
analysis			concerning short term urinary
			catheter policies following
			urogenital surgery in adults
Randomised controlled	Glavind <i>et al.,</i>	n= 140 patients	Catheterised patients after
trial	(2007)		vaginal prolapse surgery in a
			hospital setting
Randomised controlled	Sekhavat <i>et al.,</i>	n= 90 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
trial	(2008)		patients after anterior
			colporrhaphy surgery
Randomised controlled	Kamilya <i>et al.,</i>	n= 200 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
trial	(2010)		patients after vaginal prolapse
			surgery
Randomised controlled	Huang <i>et al.,</i> (2011)	n= 90 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
trial			patients after anterior
			colporrhaphy surgery
Randomised controlled	Weemhoff <i>et al.,</i>	n= 246 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
trial	(2011)		patients after anterior
			colporrhaphy surgery

	Randomised controlled	Ouladsahebmadarek	n= 200 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
	trial	et al., (2012)		patients for hysterectomy or
				laparotomy
	Prospective cohort	Kawahara <i>et al.,</i>	n= 93 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
	study	(2013)		patients requiring ureteroscopic
				lithotripsy using ureteral access
				sheath
	Retrospective cohort	Chalise <i>et al.,</i> (2007)	n= 52 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
	study			patients after transurethral
				resection of prostate
	Retrospective cohort	Turnbull <i>et al.,</i>	n= 30 patients	Hospitalised and catheterised
	study	(2012)		patients after radical
				hysterectomy
Timing of	Systematic review	Fernandez <i>et al.,</i>	n= 8 RCTs	A systematic review of
catheter		(2003)		randomised controlled trials
removal: midnight versus				comparing the effectiveness of
early morning				early morning versus late night
removal (n=6)				removal of urinary catheters

Systematic review	Fernandez and	n= 8 Trials	A systematic review of
	Griffiths, (2006)		comparison trials of late night and
			early morning removal of short-
			term urethral catheters
Randomised controlled	Ind <i>et al.,</i> (1993)	n= 101 patients	Hospitalised patients with
trial			postoperative urethral catheters
Randomised controlled	Crowe <i>et al.,</i> (1994)	n= 282 patients	Randomised comparison of
trial			catheterised patients- midnight
			versus early morning catheter
			removal in a hospital setting
Randomised controlled	Kelleher, (2002)	n= 160 patients	Randomised comparative trial of
trial			catheterised patients to
			determine the impact of midnight
			catheter removal on voiding
			patterns and subsequent hospital
			discharge
Qualitative	Deitrick <i>et al.,</i>	n= a 36-bed	Ethnographic observation in a
ethnographic study	(2006)	medical-surgical	hospital-based ward setting
		unit	

Nurse-driven	Systematic review/	Meddings et al.,	n= 14 studies	A review of interventional studies
catheter removal	meta-analysis	(2010)		using stop orders and reminder
protocols (n=4)				systems to prompt catheter
				removal in hospitalised adults
	Randomised controlled	Skelly, (2008)	n= 7 general	A randomised controlled trial of
	trial		medical units	automatic stop orders to reduce
				catheter duration in three
				different hospitals
	Interrupted time series	Sadeghi <i>et al.,</i>	n= not identified	Nurse-initiated medical directive
	study	(2019)		to implement early catheter
				removal in the operating theatre
				to reduce postsurgical UTI rates in
				a hospital setting
	Quality improvement	Adams <i>et al.,</i> (2012)	n= 3 wards	PDSA study of non-surgical
	pilot study			catheterised patients on elderly
				care, medical gastroenterology
				and respiratory medicine
				wards

Reminder	Systematic review/	Meddings et al.,	n= 14 studies	A review of interventional studies
interventions (n=8)	meta-analysis	(2010)		using stop orders and reminder
(11-0)				systems to prompt catheter
				removal in hospitalised adults
	Randomised controlled	Loeb <i>et al.,</i> (2008)	n= 692 patients	Hospitalised patients with
	trial			indwelling urinary catheters
				inserted for over 48 hours
	Randomised controlled	Skelly, (2008)	n= 7 general	Catheterised patients in a hospital
	trial		medical units	setting
	Randomised controlled	Chen <i>et al.,</i> (2013)	n= 278 patients	RCT conducted on two respiratory
	trial			intensive care units in a large
				tertiary care hospital
	Cross-over design	Cornia <i>et al.,</i> (2003)	n= 742 patients	Patients from medicine and
				cardiology services
	Uncontrolled pre-post	Bruminhent <i>et al.,</i>	n= not identified	A reminder sticker intervention
		(2010)		for clinicians for discontinuation
				of urinary catheter in a
				community teaching hospital

	Uncontrolled pre-post	Seguin <i>et al.,</i> (2010)	n= 1271 patients	A daily reminder to physicians on
				hospitalised catheterised patients'
				care sheets to reduce infection
				rates
	Retrospective cohort	Baillie <i>et al.,</i> (2014)	n= not identified	Evaluating the usability and
	study			effectiveness of a computerised
				clinical decision support in a
				teaching hospital
Multifaceted bun (ERAS+ bladder b				
ERAS pathway	Systematic	Nygren <i>et al.,</i> (2012)	n= 26 peri/post-	A systematic review and meta-
(n=5)	review/meta-analysis		operative	analysis of RCTs implementing
			outcomes	multimodal peri/post-operative
				care pathways for prompt
				catheter removal in rectal surgery
				patients

	Systematic review/meta-analysis	Varadhan <i>et al.,</i> (2010)	n= 6 RCTs with 452 surgical patients	A meta-analysis of RCTs comparing ERAS with conventional perioperative care measuring outcomes i.e. length of hospital stay, complication rates, readmission rates and mortality
	Systematic review	Hendren, (2013)	n= not identified	A systematic review of the literature for duration of catherisation in non-pelvic colorectal resection patients
	Prospective cohort study	Stubbs <i>et al.,</i> (2013)	n= 210 patients	A cohort study of patients having colorectal surgery within an ERAS programme in a hospital setting
	Retrospective cohort study	Agrafiotis <i>et al.,</i> (2014)	n= 92 patients	A single centred study implementing enhanced recovery pathway after elective colorectal resection
The bladder bundle approach (n=6)	A national comparative study	Saint <i>et al.,</i> (2013)	n= 470 infection preventionists	131 hospitals in the state of Michigan
	Uncontrolled pre-post	Oman <i>et al.,</i> (2012)	n= 2 medical and surgical units	Impact of nurse-driven interventions to reduce CAUTI rates in hospitalised patients

Uncontrolled pre-post	Titsworth <i>et al.,</i>	n= 1 hospital unit	Implementation of UTI prevention
	2012		bundle in a single-centred
			neurosurgical unit
Uncontrolled pre-post	Theobald <i>et al.,</i>	n= 99 patients	A multifaceted quality
	(2017)		improvement strategy to reduces
			the risk of CAUTI on wards with
			veteran population
Prospective cohort	Miller <i>et al.,</i> (2010)	n= 1953 patients	Implementation of system
study			initiatives to reduce HAIs in a
			single trauma unit
Prospective cohort	Clarke <i>et al.,</i> (2013)	n= 2228 patients	Implementation of bundled
study			interventions to reduce CAUTI
			rates in a community hospital

Limiting the use of a catheter

The approach towards current practices of catheter requirement is slowly changing by limiting catheter use in the first instance. In some procedures, such as a caesarean section, the traditional routine practice was to insert a urinary catheter in all cases. A recent study recommended that caesarean sections can be managed without a catheter in suitable cases which encourages increased ambulation and early discharge with no difference in bladder volume to first urinary void (Long *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, another study suggests that routine continuous urethral catheterisation may not be necessary for patients undergoing a thoracotomy procedure or following anaesthesia (Chia *et al.*, 2009).

Education, training and feedback interventions

To address the knowledge gap, interventions have used educational sessions via face-to-face delivery or peer-to-peer education on catheter insertion, maintenance of urinary drainage systems, and general infection topics. Studies evaluating face-to-face education interventions for staff covering general infection topics and catheter management were reported with mixed results (Dyc *et al.*, 2011; Lo *et al.*, 2014). A systematic review examined the effectiveness of 21 studies (RCTs, non-randomised trials, pre and post, and cross sectional designs) that implemented behaviour related interventions in catheterised older adults to reduce E. coli bacteraemia and/or symptomatic UTIs across all care settings (Jones *et al.*, 2018). Behavioural interventions included in this review were online training on appropriate catheter insertion technique and education on catheter care with simulation training. All 21 studies were reported to be lacking methodological quality and due to heterogeneity of studies, a single effective interventions paired with audit and feedback to catheter removal protocols facilitated reductions in UTIs and were recommended by the authors (Jones *et al.*, 2018).

A single centre study, conducted with 184 hospital based health-care workers, with a pre and post comparison design, delivered a training intervention which combined face-to-face education and standardised online training (Sundaram *et al.*, 2012). Another study with a quasi-experimental, single group, pre and post study design, combined nurses' education (n=55) with interactive face-to-face workshops on the guidance recommended by evidence-

based practice guidelines (Gordon, 2015). Both studies appeared to significantly decrease CAUTI rates in a hospital setting but were limited by their study designs.

Another study used a blended learning approach by combining feedback with education on catheter insertion and care to healthcare providers (Justus *et al.*, 2016). The feedback to healthcare providers in this study incorporated: CAUTI figures for their hospital, the consequent negative impact of CAUTIs on patient outcomes, and the resultant financial burden to their hospital. The results showed an improvement in CAUTI rates (Justus *et al.*, 2016). However, this study had an uncontrolled before and after design and was conducted in the first author's hospital with limited scope, therefore, has the potential for high risk of bias (Justus *et al.*, 2016).

A Cochrane review shows that audit and feedback can be effective to improve professional practice and healthcare outcomes in general (Ivers *et al.*, 2012). This review included and analysed 140 trials of audit and feedback that featured dichotomous outcomes, with weighted median adjusted risk difference of 4.3%. Multivariable meta-regression analysis of these studies indicated feedback to be potentially more effective when: there is low performance at baseline, it is provided repeatedly by a credible source including educational tips, has specific targets and respective action plans, and delivered in multiple forms i.e. verbal and written. The effect size varied between studies depending on the targeted clinical behaviour in the intervention. Overall, the review suggests that the feedback on individual clinical performance, benchmarked against the evidence-based standard, along with educational tips and suggested action plans, may support improvements in clinical practice (Ivers *et al.*, 2012). This might be a promising strategy for improving catheter removal, but needs more evidence of barriers and enablers to catheter removal to check if audit and feedback is fit for purpose to address the barriers/enablers identified. In addition, catheter removal was not included in any of the studies (out of 140 trials) included in this review.

Emphasis on early catheter removal

In the current literature, the emphasis has been largely on the prompt removal of urinary catheters dating back from research conducted over almost 40 years ago (Hartstein *et al.*, 1981). Studies have shown that placement of a urinary catheter for longer than 2 days postoperatively resulted in excess infections, patient suffering, cost of antibiotics, and

prolonged length of hospitalisation (Fernandez and Griffiths, 2006; Apisarnthanarak et al., 2007). A systematic review of the evidence on duration of short-term urinary catheters by Fernandez and Griffiths (2006), including eight clinical trials, reported that catheters removed within 24-48 hours of insertion significantly reduced the mean length of a patient's hospital stay. An observation study by Apisarnthanarak and colleagues (2007) examined the incidence, risk factors and outcomes of inappropriately used catheters in a tertiary care hospital. The study observed 895 patients from medical and surgical wards over nine months and found urinary catheters to be inappropriately used more commonly in female, non-ambulatory and medical intensive care unit patients. Of 895 total patients, 129 patients (14%) suffered from a CAUTI and the study established that patients with longer catheter duration in comparison to shorter duration (12 vs. 3 days; P < 0.01) were more likely develop a CAUTI (82% vs. 8%; P = 0.001) which prolonged their hospital duration (median, 15 vs. 5 days; P<0.001). The study calculated the mean cost of monthly expenditure on antibiotics for treating CAUTIs to be US \$3480 (range, \$1874–\$5584). Considering the benefits, a reduction in post-operative catheter duration became a key target for infection control and surgical quality-improvement initiatives in the NHS setting (Wald et al., 2008).

Short versus long catheter duration

In terms of short versus long catheter duration, seven out of 11 RCTs in a Cochrane review showed earlier catheter removal to be related to fewer CAUTIS (1 versus 3 days) (pooled effect, RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.87) (Phipps *et al.*, 2006). Feasibility of early catheter removal particularly within 24 to 48 hours has been trialled after surgical procedures such as vaginal prolapse, anterior colporrhaphy, radical hysterectomy and ureteroscopic stone removal (Kamilya *et al.*, 2010; Huang *et al.*, 2011; Turnbull *et al.*, 2012; Kawahara *et al.*, 2013). Evidence shows that catheters can be safely removed earlier after undergoing these procedures. An RCT compared catheter removal after two versus five days following vaginal prolapse surgery. Of 246 total randomised patients, 124 were allocated to catheter removal at day two and 122 for removal at day five. The trial showed that patients in the two-day group had fewer UTIs (37% versus 22%, OR 0.5, CI 0.3–0.9, p = 0.02) and discharged quicker than five-day group (median 3 versus 5 days) (Weemhoff *et al.*, 2011). Another study compared catheter removal within two days to the standard duration (beyond two days), in men undergoing transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) and found a strong correlation between early catheter removal and reduction in hospital stay (Chalise *et al.*, 2007). Collectively, the focus of these

studies was on catheter removal within 48 hours. However, where possible the emphasis is now shifting more towards catheter removal within 24 hours after surgery (Glavind *et al.*, 2007; Sekhavat *et al.*, 2008; Nygren *et al.*, 2012). An RCT compared immediate (within 24 hours; n=100) versus delayed (after 24 hours: n=100) catheter removal in 200 women following abdominal hysterectomy and laparotomy which showed a reduction in the mean length of hospital stay (2.17 ± 0.68 day vs. 2.69 ± 0.75 day, P< 0.0001), increased patient satisfaction and significantly promoted early ambulation (15.53±6.45 hour vs. 24.36±4.66 hour; P< 0.001) (Ouladsahebmadarek *et al.*, 2012) as indwelling urinary catheters can restrain early mobilisation (Saint *et al.*, 2002). In summary, early catheter removal within 24 to 48 hours of surgery has been tested safely in studies for specific procedures.

Timing of catheter removal: midnight versus early morning removal

Timing of catheter removal in terms of midnight versus early morning removal to reduce catheter duration has also been considered. Earlier studies were in favour of midnight over early morning removal (Ind *et al.*, 1993; Crowe *et al.*, 1994; Kelleher, 2002). A systematic review of eight RCTs reported midnight catheter removal reduced catheter duration and hospital stay compared to early morning (Fernandez and Griffiths, 2006; Fernandez *et al.*, 2003). However, more recent research reported no difference between voided volume and the rate of CAUTIs between catheters removed at midnight and early morning. Patients whose catheters were removed at midnight had a higher rate of re-catheterisation and it was recommended to do the catheter removal as soon as possible regardless of the time of the day/night to promote patients' comfort and sleep quality (Deitrick *et al.*, 2006). Findings and recommendations from this research are in line with the current guidance which also suggests catheter removal as soon as possible rather david (Loveday *et al.*, 2014).

Adaptation and changes to staffing level

Two studies reported a significant reduction in UTIs by enhancing staff levels and improved nursing hours per patient day in the hospital (Twigg *et al.*, 2011) and via the employment of Wound, Ostomy, and Continence (WOC) specialist nurses in the community setting (Westra *et al.*, 2013). Twigg and colleagues report an interrupted time series study that retrospectively analysed patient and staffing administrative data from three tertiary care hospitals (2011). In this study, a total of 10,907 nursing hours were increased over 4 years from 58,420 hours

(baseline) to 69,327 hours (at the end of 4 year period) to improve 14 nursing-sensitive outcomes including a reduction in sepsis and CAUTI/UTIs. The study by Westra and colleagues employed a comparative study design to explore the effectiveness of WOC nurse provision in the community care setting on outcomes related to agency-level staffing (2013). The study demonstrated that having the specific provision of WOC nurses is effective in achieving positive outcomes, specifically in the reduction of UTIs. Both studies identify low staffing levels to be potentially linked with prolonging the duration of catheters (Twigg *et al.*, 2011; Westra *et al.*, 2013).

Nurse-driven catheter removal protocols

The process of prompt catheter removal can be complex and lengthy. It requires daily removal assessment and a decision to remove the catheter (traditionally by a doctor) made in a timely manner once a catheter is no longer needed (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). Any steps to simplify the catheter removal process, therefore, have the potential to speed up the catheter removal. Nurse-driven protocols were implemented with predefined removal criteria that enabled nurses to make the decision as well as removing the catheter without having to obtain a removal order from the doctor. This bypasses some of the steps that were deemed to be necessary for catheter removal, saving time and speeding up the removal process (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). Catheter removal protocols and automatic stop orders to standardise urinary catheter use have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing catheter duration and reduction of CAUTI/UTI rates (Skelly, 2008; Sadeghi *et al.*, 2019; Adams *et al.*, 2012). Similar criteria were used in these three studies to predefine the indications for catheter removal protocols.

Skelly *et al.* conducted an RCT with intention-to-treat analysis in seven general medical units spread over three different Canadian hospitals (2008). The trial included a total number of 692 catheterised hospitalised patients, of which 347 were randomised into the study arm and 345 into the control arm (usual care). The criteria in this trial stipulated that pre-specified catheter removal orders should be implemented via hospital bedside charts to assess the need for the catheter's continued use. The protocol specified that the catheter should be immediately removed if a patient did not have any of the six pre-specified criteria. The criteria included: *"urinary obstruction, neurogenic bladder and urinary retention, urological surgery, the fluid challenge for acute renal failure, open sacral wound care for incontinent patients, and comfort care for urinary incontinence in terminal illness"* (Skelly, 2008, p.119). The trial concluded that

automatic stop orders significantly decreased the duration of urinary catheterisation and inappropriate catheter use. There was no difference between catheter reinsertion rates between the two groups (8.6% v 7.0%, p=0.45) (Skelly, 2008).

In another study, Sadeghi and colleagues conducted an interrupted time series analysis with the primary outcome of postsurgical UTI rates. The study employed a nurse-initiated medical directive to implement early catheter removal in the operating theatre, and the use of a standardised protocol detailing indications for both inserting and maintaining a urinary catheter (Sadeghi *et al.*, 2019). The indications for maintaining a catheter included: *"preadmission urinary catheter; urology involved in care; continuous bladder irrigation; stage 3 or 4 sacral ulcer in incontinent female patient; comfort care at end of life as per patient wishes; admitted with spinal cord injury; underwent radical pelvic surgery involving bladder (cystectomy), uterus (hysterectomy), cervix (trachelectomy) or vulva (vulvectomy)" (Sadeghi <i>et al.*, 2019, Table 1). The study demonstrated a reduction in post-surgical UTIs from 2.5% (95% CI 2.0-3.1%) to 1.4% (95% CI 1.1-1.9; p=0.002) during the intervention period.

HOUDINI: The third study (Adams et al., 2012) was a single centre pilot quality improvement study with the use of a plan-do-study-act (PDSA) approach, and evaluated the implementation of the HOUDINI intervention as an aid to improve patient safety. HOUDINI is an acronym for indications to continue the use for urinary catheter i.e. "Haematuria, Obstruction, Urology surgery, Decubitus ulcer, Input and output measurement, Nursing end-of-life care, Immobility" (Adams et al., 2012, p.44). This quality improvement initiative was inspired and informed by a study presented at the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA) Annual Scientific Meeting 2011 on a nurse-led protocol for the timely removal of urinary catheters (Trovillion, 2011). The intervention was piloted with a pre and post study design on nonsurgical catheterised patients on three medical wards within a UK NHS based hospital. Three study wards were identified to have a high use of urinary catheters identified from the previous month's catheter prevalence audit data. The purpose of this intervention was to empower nurses to remove catheters that are no longer clinically required. In the absence of these indications, nurses could remove the catheter without having to consult the medical staff. The implementation of HOUDINI intervention reduced catheter-associated E.Coli positive urine samples by 70% compared to pre-intervention period (Adams et al., 2012).

Reminder interventions

Reminder interventions to reduce catheter duration and CAUTI rates have been trialled in a number of different ways such as: reminder stickers on patient's clinical notes, reminders included in staff education and annual appraisal assessment, criteria-based, and computer-based electronic reminders (Bruminhent *et al.*, 2010; Smith, 2009; Baillie *et al.*, 2014; Chen *et al.*, 2013). A Cochrane review analysed 35 trials (30 RCTs, 5 non-RCTs) of reminder interventions aiming to change professional practice (Arditi *et al.*, 2017). Appraisal of the evidence in this review suggests that computer-generated reminders delivered on paper to HCPs has moderate effectiveness to improve compliance with clinical guidelines. The heterogeneity of the interventions included in this review also suggests that reminders have the potential to improve the quality of care in various settings/conditions (Arditi *et al.*, 2017), e.g. reduction in catheter duration.

Specifically in a urinary catheter setting, studies have shown that computer-based or manual catheter stop order reminders can make HCPs more aware of their patients with a catheter in-situ and can prompt timely catheter removal using daily reminders (Cornia *et al.*, 2003; Chen *et al.*, 2013). Other studies have reported the benefits of a reminder approach in reducing catheter use and duration (Loeb *et al.*, 2008; Seguin *et al.*, 2010). Loeb and colleagues (2008) reported fewer days of inappropriate and total urinary catheter use before and after the use of reminders (difference -1.69 (95% CI -1.23 to -2.15], P < 0.001 and -1.34 days, [95% CI, -0.64 to -2.05 days], P < 0.001, respectively). Seguin *et al.* (2010) analysed a total of 1271 patients, 676 in period 1 (control period) and 595 in period 2 (intervention period) with a reminder sticker on a patient's daily care sheet. Catheter duration was reported to be significantly reduced in period 2 compared to period 1 (from median=5 days, interquartile range 3-11 days to 4 [3-8] days, p < 0.001).

A systematic review and meta-analysis summarised the effects of reminder interventions on CAUTI rates, catheter use and the need for re-catheterisation (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). This review included 14 studies that only used reminders as an intervention with physicians or nurses for the prompt removal of urinary catheters in hospitalised adults. The intervention resulted in a reduction in the CAUTI rate by 52%, mean duration of catheterisation by 37% and no difference in the rate of re-catheterisation between intervention and non-intervention groups. This review suggested catheter reminders and stop orders should be considered to

achieve a reduction in catheter use, duration of catheterisation, and rate of CAUTIS (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). Reminder interventions help to bring the catheter removal at the forefront of HCPs' minds and reminds them to remove the catheter once it has served its purpose. Collectively, these studies show that collaborative action from staff with regular use of reminders can decrease the catheter duration by around 50%. If implemented across hospitals in the UK, this could potentially reduce the total number of days patients are catheterised from the current average of three days (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a) to close to the recommended standard of one day (Gould *et al.*, 2010). An intervention designed based on the findings reported in this thesis may have the potential to reduce CAUTIS by reducing the catheter duration by 50%. Also, the patient and family's role in providing reminders to HCPs for prompt catheter removal has not yet been explored, which may consolidate further reductions in catheter duration.

Multifaceted bundle interventions

Since the publication of epic2 and epic3 guidelines (Pratt *et al.*, 2007; Loveday *et al.*, 2014), the bundle approaches have been applied in practice as measures to reduce HAIs including CAUTIs. The multifaceted bundle approaches have included measures such as an enhanced recovery programme after surgery (ERAS) pathway and a combination of education, training, feedback, and a bladder bundle approach (Miller *et al.*, 2010) with nurse-driven catheter removal protocols (Jones *et al.*, 2018), automatic stop orders (Chen *et al.*, 2013), and reminder interventions (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). A systematic review and meta-analysis of interventional studies concluded that stop orders and catheter removal reminders to HCPs are an effective way to reduce CAUTIs in hospitalised patients (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). However, Meddings and colleagues reported that the studies included in this review were of low quality with a high risk of bias and included only one RCT (2010). The RCT included in this review was conducted with hospitalised patients (n=692) and employed a prewritten stop order for nurses to discontinue the catheter (Loeb *et al.*, 2008). The findings showed that stop orders are effective in reducing the duration of inappropriate urinary catheterisation.

The **ERAS pathway** is a quality improvement initiative which emphasises optimising patient management after surgical procedures including early catheter removal and promoting quicker discharge. Studies employing a fast-track protocol on the ERAS pathway for patients undergoing colorectal surgery confirms the feasibility of removing the catheter within 24

hours and also confirms that late catheter removal (after 24 hours) contributes to delayed hospital discharge (Nygren et al., 2012; Stubbs et al., 2013; Agrafiotis et al., 2014). Early catheter removal has been promoted under enhanced recovery and national surgical care improvement projects. However, the early removal strategy needs to be carefully balanced against the risk of urinary retention and re-catheterisation. In a systematic review of patients with colorectal resection surgery, Hendren (2013) reported other risk factors such as abdomino-perineal resection, older age, male gender, prostate enlargement and history of urinary dysfunction to increase the risk of urinary retention, and recommended catheter removal on day six over day three. However, the author could not recommend an exact time for catheter removal intended for patients undergoing colorectal resection (Hendren, 2013). Overall, prompt removal is one of the most effective and safe ways to reduce CAUTIs, as confirmed in a meta-analysis (Varadhan et al., 2010). This review included six RCTs with 452 patients undergoing major elective open colorectal surgery and compared the differences between surgical recovery outcomes from early catheter removal on the ERAS pathway with the conventional perioperative care. The results showed that the ERAS pathway seems to reduce the length of hospital stay [weighted mean difference (95% confidence interval): -2.55 (-3.24, -1.85)], and postoperative complications rates [relative risk (95% confidence interval): 0.53 (0.44, 0.64)], with no statistically significant difference in readmission and mortality without compromising patient safety.

The **bladder bundle approach** includes measures such as: limited use of catheters, aseptic insertion, maintenance of a sterile drainage system, and early catheter removal (Titsworth *et al.*, 2012) alongside continuous education and training of staff to maintain good practice (Miller *et al.*, 2010). A study compared a national sample of hospitals in the United States with Michigan state hospitals, to assess CAUTI related infection rates with and without the use of CAUTI prevention initiatives and the bundle approach (Saint *et al.*, 2013). The results showed that Michigan state hospitals had a lower rate of CAUTIs due to a greater use of prevention initiatives. The bundle approach has been demonstrated to bring benefit not only in the hospitals but in the community setting also (Clarke *et al.*, 2013).

Other components included in the multi-faceted intervention and quality improvement studies were bedside catheter reminders targeted at HCPs, staff education, and automated discontinuation orders (Theobald *et al.*, 2017). Nurse-driven protocols for catheter removal

combined with patient and family education through information flyers, were also found to be effective strategies to reduce catheter duration. Oman *et al.* (2012) demonstrate a reduction in catheter duration from 3.01 to 2.2 days (p = .018) on the surgical units and from 3.53 to 2.7 days (p = .076) on the medical units, although, the impact of patient and family education was not measured. These studies used a pre and post intervention design and reported a positive impact on improving patient outcomes in terms of reducing catheter utilisation as well as reducing catheter duration and CAUTI rates in hospitalised surgical and medical patients (Oman *et al.*, 2012; Theobald *et al.*, 2017). Educating and involving patients and their families should be an important consideration since very few interventions have aimed to support a patient or families' role in reducing catheter duration and preventing CAUTIs. This highlights an evidence gap and a deficiency in research in this area to date.

A more recent systematic review appraised the effectiveness of behavioural intervention studies aimed to reduce *E.Coli* bacteraemia and CAUTIs to make recommendations for use in clinical practice (Jones *et al.*, 2018). The range of multi-faceted intervention studies appraised in this review included audit and feedback, education, and reminders to reduce CAUTI rates. This review suggested that a single intervention could not be recommended. However, recommendations were made for the multi-faceted approach by including interventions such as providing feedback to healthcare providers in conjunction with education and catheter removal protocols, which showed promise to facilitate a reduction in CAUTI. Interventions focusing on patient education and involvement (Oman *et al.*, 2012) were recommended for further exploration and evaluation. The recommendation to incorporate feedback is also supported by a Cochrane review of audit and feedback interventions discussed earlier (Ivers *et al.*, 2012).

Despite being the main risk factor for CAUTIs, catheter duration tends to be neglected but remains a modifiable factor to be targeted by interventions (Saint *et al.*, 2005). Nursing staff have the potential to transform and develop best practice models for safe catheter care and early removal of catheters (Fakih *et al.*, 2008).

3.3.7 Summary of existing interventions

In summary, the evidence shows that there are some potentially effective interventions. Interventions applied in procedure-specific clinical contexts such as the application of a bundle approach, an enhanced recovery after surgery programme, nurse-driven protocols, and reminder systems for catheter removal have shown some degree of improvement in practice to reduce catheter duration and CAUTI rates. Audit and feedback interventions also indicate effectiveness. Therefore, it could be useful to consider a multi-faceted approach to intervention design targeted at HCPs to reduce CAUTI rates, including elements such as: reminders, education/training with audit/feedback and the means of providing feedback. In addition, educating the patients and their carers could also be considered as a possible component to target.

There is still a need to understand the implementation of the existing interventions and explore patient factors that may help to embed the effective interventions into routine care. Subsequently, successful implementation of a policy of early catheter removal in practice has not been fully achieved (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010; Pickard *et al.*, 2012a) and this is likely due to both patient and clinician-related factors (Wald *et al.*, 2008).

3.4 Theoretical, behaviour change and implementation research context

3.4.1 Evidence-practice gap

From the literature review of the clinical context of catheterisation, it has been established that reducing catheter duration is one of the most effective ways to reduce CAUTIs in patients with an indwelling catheter (Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). It is also clear that there are barriers to implement this evidence in routine practice and achieve standards recommended in current guidance (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a; Gould *et al.*, 2010). This evidence to practice gap can be addressed using implementation research approaches, and by tackling patient and HCP behaviour-related barriers for effective implementation of interventions (Glasgow *et al.*, 2012).

Previous studies examining the reduction of catheter duration have been procedure-specific where various reasons for catheter insertion have not been considered. Reasons for catheter

insertion and ongoing use are varied (Nicolle, 2012). For example, a catheter is inserted temporarily to relieve acute urinary retention after an epidural anaesthetic, while planned insertion will be required at the time of spinal surgery to cover a period of a patient's immobilisation or in critically ill patients to monitor their urine output. Results of the procedure-specific studies may be generalisable more exclusively to the procedures included in the research. However, the common principle of early catheter removal when clinically appropriate remains. The subsequent empirical chapters four and five identify a variety of reasons why catheters are not removed in a timely manner regardless of a patient's underlying clinical condition. These reasons may potentially explain why the current average duration of catheterisation remains at three days, (Bhardwaj et al., 2010; Bhardwaj et al., 2012; Pickard et al., 2012a) longer than the recommended standard of one day (Gould et al., 2010). Training and monitoring of aseptic catheter insertion techniques have helped reduce the risk of CAUTI, but the reduction in duration of catheterisation has proven harder to implement (Wald et al., 2008). It involves a change in current practice (Niël-Weise and van den Broek, 2005), requires patient and HCP behaviour change, and increased compliance with the UK guidance once it has been clarified/improved with instructions on the timing of catheter removal (Loveday et al., 2014; Gould et al., 2010).

Changing the behaviour of relevant individuals is important to bring about change in practice. Designing implementation interventions to change behaviour requires a systematic approach where target behaviours are specified with a clear rationale for design and explicit reporting of the intervention development process (Craig *et al.*, 2008; Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975). One way to achieve this is to use a theoretical approach to design the interventions (French *et al.*, 2012). Theory can facilitate understanding of the factors that potentially have an impact on targeted behaviours to bring about change. Clinical problems involving implementation can be robustly investigated with theoretical approaches to increase the uptake of research findings in practice (Walker *et al.*, 2003). The use of this approach can help create knowledge that can be generalised and applied in different settings to answer key questions (Walker *et al.*, 2003). A theoretical approach can help explore the causal relationships explaining the problems that are encountered in producing generalisable results, implementing interventions, and the effects produced by these interventions (Craig *et al.*, 2008). Health service research encourages the use of systems and approaches that help to translate results to the bedside as well as global health programmes (Madon *et al.*, 2007). Implementation

research is used in health services, social services, management and behavioural science (French *et al.*, 2009).

Highlighting the difference between theory-based and theory-informed approaches here is important. A theory-based approach explores problems or design interventions by explicitly using the principles of a certain theory or theories e.g. the theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen, 1991). A theory-informed approach is where the intervention design is guided by factors from single or multiple theories along with evidence around a practical problem (French *et al.*, 2012). Reflecting on evidence-practice gaps identified from the literature and guidance document review, prompt catheter removal requires a change in current practice and associated behaviours. Amongst an extensive range of theories, the current research will focus on behaviour change theories as the outcome of interest in the current research is the behaviour of patients and HCPs.

3.4.2 Advantages of a theory-informed approach

The advantages of using theoretical approaches to change behaviour have been well recognised in the literature (Michie and Abraham, 2004; Hardeman *et al.*, 2002). It is encouraged to use a theory-informed or a theory-based approach when designing research studies focusing on improving the delivery of healthcare (Brazil *et al.*, 2005). Behaviour change is vital to increase the application of evidence into routine healthcare for improved healthcare outcomes (Cane *et al.*, 2012). A clear understanding of factors around individual behaviour change is important to inform the intervention design (Health Canada *et al.*, 1999; Grol, 2001). To gain a clear understanding of these reasons it is important to know the perceived barriers and facilitators from a behavioural perspective of all parties involved (Michie and Abraham, 2004).

A theoretical approach can provide insights into clinical problems by specifying the relationships between different factors that can explain and predict behaviour (Eccles *et al.*, 2012). Data gathered using non theoretical methods may reveal whether an intervention has worked, but not *why* it worked (or reasons for its failure) (Craig *et al.*, 2008). The approach to design and implementation of existing catheter removal interventions (discussed earlier in this chapter) did not use theory-informed/based approach, which perhaps has been a key impediment to the long term sustainability of their clinical effectiveness (Improved Clinical

Effectiveness through Behavioural Research Group, 2006). Theory can also provide knowledge around circumstantial factors that influence the success of an intervention implemented in a different setting (Craig *et al.*, 2008) and provide an understanding of factors around perceptions, views and beliefs of providers (HCP) or receivers (patients) of healthcare (Ferlie and Shortell, 2001; Foy *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, theory-based methods can help define the target behaviours, data collection, analysis and interpretation of results. Indeed, *"there is nothing so practical as a good theory"* (Lewin, 1943).

Defining the target behaviours

Target behaviour can be specified by defining the behavioural outcome and by shaping the determinants/barriers questions. For example, the TACT-A principle in terms of the 'Target', 'Action', 'Context', 'Time' and Actor (TACT-A) principle (Fishbein, 1967; Francis and Presseau, 2019). The target applies to the 'population' to be studied, action is 'a given behaviour' to be carried out by the target population, context incorporates 'within a particular setting', time includes 'specific given point in time', and actor is the 'person performing the action (Ajzen, 2005; Francis and Presseau, 2019).

Data collection: Theory can inform the approach to data collection. For example, the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) provides wide theoretical coverage and provides the capacity to extract a broad set of beliefs and views that could potentially enable behaviour change (Michie *et al.*, 2005).

Data interpretation: A theoretical base can facilitate data interpretation. For example, domains and constructs in the TDF are grouped to provide a coding framework for data analysis (Michie *et al.*, 2005; McSherry *et al.*, 2012).

Explanations of causes or influences: Theory-based interventions can provide understanding on how an intervention leads to behaviour change. For example, using theory to inform a theory-based process evaluation where the constructs targeted for change are assessed before and after an intervention is delivered to investigate whether changes in constructs explain changes in behaviour (Grimshaw *et al.*, 2007; Presseau *et al.*, 2016; Duckers *et al.*, 2009).
3.4.3 The Theoretical Domains Framework

The TDF provided the theoretical underpinning to this research to identify barriers and enablers to catheter duration. In 2005, using an expert consensus approach, Michie and colleagues developed an overarching psychological framework of theoretical domains (TDF), useful for implementing evidence-based practice (Michie *et al.*, 2005). The original TDF includes 12 domains with 128 theoretical constructs that correspond to each domain identified from 33 theories of behaviour change. Key constructs significant to behaviour change were indexed under 12 main domains. The definitions for each of the twelve domains are provided in Table 3.4 and construct definitions in Appendix A.

Domain	Definition
Knowledge	An awareness of the existence of something
Skills	An ability or proficiency acquired through practice
Social/Professional role and identity	A coherent set of behaviours and displayed personal qualities of an individual in a social or work setting
Beliefs about capabilities	Acceptance of the truth, reality, or validity about an ability, talent, or facility that a person can put to constructive use
Beliefs about consequences	Acceptance of the truth, reality, or validity about outcomes of behaviour in a given situation
Motivation and goals (intention)	A conscious decision to perform a behaviour or a resolve to act in a certain way and mental representation of outcomes or end states that an individual wants to achieve
Memory, attention and decision processes	The ability to retain information, focus selectively on aspects of the environment, and choose between two or more alternatives
Environmental context and resources	Any circumstance of a person's situation or environment that discourages or encourages the development of skills and abilities, independence, social competence, and adaptive behaviour

Social influences	Those interpersonal processes that can cause an individual to change their thoughts, feelings, or behaviours
Emotion	A complex reaction pattern, involving experiential, behavioural, and physiological elements, by which the individual attempts to deal with a personally significant matter or event
Behavioural regulation	Anything aimed at managing or changing objectively observed or measured actions
Nature of behaviours	What needs to be changed, routine/automatic/habit, and who needs to do what differently when, where, how, how often and with whom

3.4.4 Rationale and critique of the Theoretical Domains Framework

Rationale: There are several theoretical approaches to address implementation issues such as theories, models, and frameworks with conceptually overlapping constructs (Nilsen, 2015). Within evidence-based theories and models of behaviour change, some constructs differ whilst others have conceptual overlaps. e.g. TPB (Ajzen, 1991), SCT (Bandura, 1986) and HAPA (Schwarzer, 2008). Given how many different theories there are, deciding on which theory to select can be challenging (Francis et al., 2012). Choosing a single or multiple theories to address the research question and then designing an intervention based on evidence accumulated through the application of a given theory(ies) may also raise uncertainties as to whether all important aspects have been covered (Francis et al., 2012). For example, the theoretical construct of 'self-efficacy' is incorporated in SCT and HAPA, but SCT does not cover the 'intention' construct as such, which is one of the main theoretical constructs in both HAPA and the TPB. However, the operationalised version of SCT (Presseau et al., 2014) includes a construct that is for all intents and purposes, similar to the 'intention' construct when it is tested. Nevertheless, SCT includes a construct called 'outcome expectations', while TPB labels this construct 'attitudes' which is similar. This raises an issue of using different terms for overlapping ideas, making it more difficult to decide which theory to choose; hence the benefit of using the TDF which combines constructs from different theories at a higher level.

The TDF is the combination of 128 theoretical constructs across 33 theories of behaviour and behaviour change that have been developed over a century of theory-focused research in behavioural science (Francis *et al.*, 2012). The framework provides more comprehensive coverage across key factors that may determine behaviour than any given theory, enabling researchers to proceed with a wide-ranging approach in exploratory research. This in turn helps to identify key factors to target in interventions and key theories to help design such interventions. Furthermore, if applied correctly, the TDF can help with an in-depth exploration of the interview data. This research had an interdisciplinary team with guidance and input from two health psychologists to ensure appropriate application of the TDF.

The TDF has been tested in a variety of healthcare settings primarily with HCPs and appears to be effective in producing evidence to shape future interventions (Bussieres *et al.*, 2012; French *et al.*, 2012; Tavender *et al.*, 2014). Although the use of the TDF has been relatively limited in patients in comparison to HCPs, it has been used in a few studies involving the general population. For example, testing a hand-washing intervention in a natural setting at highway service station restrooms (Judah *et al.*, 2009), fruit and vegetable intake in the adult population in an obesity pandemic context (Guillaumie *et al.*, 2010), improving the dietary behaviour of the population aged \leq 13 with adaptive e-Learning (Edwards *et al.*, 2010), and in testing the effects of a cardiovascular prevention program on health behaviour and BMI in highly educated adults (Jacobs *et al.*, 2011).

Critique: Although there are many advantages of using the TDF in exploratory work, one criticism is that the framework can be perceived to be overly rigid and fixed. Critics consider that interview topic guides designed using the TDF may limit participants to only express their views and beliefs on the topic that fits around the framework (Francis *et al.*, 2012). On the other hand, inclusion of constructs in the framework is broad and unlikely to miss much compared to topic guides designed on the basis of a singular theory or no theory. Furthermore, in principle, the framework is open to expansion should new determinants of behaviour not fitting into existing domains be identified and researchers can always seek to identify such factors. A randomised study compared data collected from interviews, focus groups and questionnaires using a TDF-based guide compared with a non-theoretical approach; the study found significant overlap between the datasets (Dyson *et al.*, 2011). This exercise also showed that a TDF-based approach explored participants' beliefs around the

influence of emotional factors on behaviour which was not the case with data collected using a non-theoretical approach. Consequently, the framework offers a comprehensive approach which allows consideration of factors that may be missed when using a single theory or a nontheoretical approach.

While the TDF was designed to cover organisational and individual behaviours, those interested in organisation-level factors only may feel that the framework does not provide an elaborate approach to explore these factors. Francis and colleagues made a case that the TDF does cover organisational level factors within four of the TDF domains (Environmental Context and Resources, Social Influence, Social/Professional Role and Identity, and Behaviour Regulation) and highlighted specific constructs to address individual, team and organisational level factors (2012).

Some organisational theories focus on overall factors including the delivery of healthcare; for example, Karasek's Job Control Model (1985) focuses on factors of staff turnover, burnout, job satisfaction, and its effects on an organisation but does not focus on understanding behaviours (Karasek, 1985). These factors may have a direct impact on the problem, which is not overtly covered in the TDF, and potentially makes it less suitable for its application in a context where researchers are explicitly interested in organisational level factors. However, the main focus of the current research was to explore individual (patient and HCP) beliefs, practices, and organisational factors from the perspectives of these individuals who are working within and receiving care in an organisation rather than a standalone concept. Therefore, it was suitable for the purpose.

Despite some of the above limitations, the use of the TDF is of particular advantage in fields where little is known around the problem from a behavioural perspective (Davis *et al.*, 2015); for example, the current research area of urinary catheter duration and the reasons for prolonged catheter duration. A comprehensive theory-informed approach offered by the TDF allows exploration of a wide-ranging set of beliefs. The TDF-based interviews (with patients and HCPs) conducted in this thesis explored all of the twelve domains and constructs around barriers and facilitators to prompt catheter removal from both patient and HCP perspectives.

3.4.5 TDF application in other clinical contexts

The use of the TDF in healthcare settings has increased over the last few years. Several studies have applied the TDF in both acute and primary care settings, primarily to understand HCPs' behaviours and, in a few studies, behaviour in the general population. Some relevant examples with the use of TDF are discussed below indicating how the identified domains may inform the research reported in this thesis.

Acute setting

Beenstock and colleagues (2012) used the TDF in a study of midwives' engagement with pregnant women around providing smoking cessation advice. A TDF-based, self-completed, anonymous questionnaire was completed by 589 NHS midwives in the North East of England and 364 were included in the analysis. The results identified 11 domains of importance to provide theoretical descriptions around implementation problems to behaviours recommended in the NICE guidance on engaging pregnant women in smoking cessation consultations. These were: beliefs about capabilities, beliefs about consequences, emotions, action planning, environmental context and resources, knowledge, memory, attention and decision process, motivation and goals, social/professional role and identity, skills, and social influences. All 11 domains showed a high correlation with each other. Midwives reported high levels of motivation in four behaviours recommended in NICE guidance and acknowledged that providing smoking-cessation advice as part of their role (social/professional role and identity). Fewer certainties were expressed around the environmental context and resources available to midwives to engage in consultations with pregnant women. This study provided insight into barriers and facilitators to midwives' guideline implementation behaviours and engagement with pregnant women around smoking cessation which will guide the current practice and design of future interventions. This work supports the use of the TDF being an appropriate tool to study HCPs' behaviours and to develop implementation interventions (Beenstock *et al.*, 2012). This research informed the design of a subsequent project to develop and implement a complex intervention to increase smoking cessation in pregnant women (Bell et al., 2018). Bell and colleagues (2018) tested the system-wide complex intervention in an interrupted time series analysis with economic evaluation. The results of intervention delivery showed significant increase in quitting rates (adjusted OR=1.81, 95% CI 1.54 to 2.12).

Dyson and colleagues (2011) studied barriers and enablers to hand hygiene by comparing the use of different approaches, for example, interviews (n=25), questionnaire delivery (64 distributed, 24 returned) and focus group discussions (three groups with a total of 21 participants) involving hospital-based healthcare professionals. Within each approach, two different question schedules were used, one designed using the TDF and the other without no theoretical underpinning. Results from the two approaches showed significant overlap, yet also highlighted the differences in the barriers and enablers around adherence to hand hygiene with each approach. Collectively 12 main themes with 32 sub-themes were defined. Themes of importance which identified with the use of the TDF approach to influence hand hygiene behaviour were habit or routine, emotion and incentives. These three themes were in addition to the other overlapping themes of importance identified with a non-TDF approach. Therefore, the study authors recommended the TDF to achieve a clearer and deeper understanding of the barriers and levers to clinical problems. It also supports the idea that the framework may encourage the identification of barriers that are not generally reported, yet have an impact on behaviours, especially emotion (Dyson et al., 2011). This work was taken forward by the same group of researchers to further develop a theory-based instrument to improve hand hygiene practices among healthcare practitioners (Dyson et al., 2013).

Another example of an application of the TDF is a parallel study carried out in two countries (Canada and the UK) by Islam and colleagues (2012) in which a cross-country comparison of intensive care physicians' beliefs around blood transfusion behaviours was conducted. The study used a TDF-based qualitative approach and interviewed 10 Canadian and 11 UK physicians. Results revealed seven domains relevant to the specified target behaviour. Four common domains identified in both the UK and Canadian studies were beliefs about capabilities, beliefs about consequences, social influences and behavioural regulation. Three additional domains were knowledge, social/professional role and identity and motivation and goals. Based on these domains, Islam et al (2012) identified potentially applicable theories and models which could be used in their future research study e.g. the theory of planned behaviour, learning theory and social cognitive theory. This work provides an example of the TDF allowing selection of an appropriate theory to design a behaviour change intervention (Islam *et al.*, 2012). French and colleagues (2012) also describe a four step methodological

systematic approach (detailed in chapter four) for developing implementation interventions to change clinical behaviours using the TDF (French *et al.*, 2012).

Primary care setting

The TDF has also been applied in a primary care research setting. This context is potentially relevant to subsequent work arising from the current research as urinary catheters are used and managed not only in the acute care setting but in the primary care setting also. McSherry and colleagues (2018) used the TDF in a study where the aim was to develop an understanding of the clinical behaviours of general practitioners (GPs) and practice nurses around human papillomavirus (HPV) practices. The target practices included initiation of a discussion of HPV infection with female patients, making an offer or a recommendation to suitable patients to have an HPV vaccine and answering patients' questions around HPV testing. Semi-structured telephone interviews were conducted with 19 GPs and 14 practice nurses. Data were analysed using content analysis and use of the TDF as a coding framework. Results showed that all 12 domains came up in the interviews but the domains most relevant to HPV testing and vaccination practices were: knowledge, emotion, social influences, environmental context, beliefs about capabilities and beliefs about consequences. The study confirmed the need to further explore this area of research and develop a future intervention, to support GPs and practice nurses in HPV management (McSherry et al., 2012). Guided by the results of this interview study, the authors designed a subsequent survey study and scaled it up to include 697 primary care practitioners (McSherry et al., 2018). The survey study found limitations and uncertainty in primary care practitioners' HPV infection and vaccination knowledge which hindered women's access to HPV advice. These results can inform professional educational initiatives to ensure that women have access to uniform and high-quality HPV-related information and advice (McSherry et al., 2018).

Some common domains emerged in most of these studies including knowledge, beliefs about capabilities, beliefs about consequences, and social influences. It was uncertain whether these domains would arise in the empirical work reported in this thesis and whether they would be relevant from the perspectives of both HCPs (chapter four) and patients (chapter five). For example, under the 'knowledge' domain patients may not be aware of the correlation between prolonged catheter duration and increased infection risk as shown in the pilot study (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). Beliefs about capabilities to sanction or perform catheter removal

amongst junior staff and more experienced staff might have differed. Similarly, for the 'beliefs about consequences' domain, junior staff may have associated re-catheterisation as a consequence of early catheter removal. Under 'social influences', patients might have been able to influence HCPs by prompting them to remove the catheter which links to the patient target behaviour in this study.

In summary, the reviewed studies suggest that the use of the TDF in the form of interviews, questionnaires and focus groups has helped understand barriers to desired behaviours. The studies also shows that the barriers and enablers identified using the TDF (Dyson *et al.*, 2011) can be taken forward to develop theory-based behaviour change interventions that can be successfully implemented in practice to target existing deficiencies in healthcare (Dyson *et al.*, 2013). Although the TDF has not yet been used in the urinary catheter setting, core domains relating to barriers that are identified in the literature suggest recurring domains of interest from similar clinical contexts.

3.5 Targeted behaviour change interventions

Systematically identified behavioural determinants can be used to design targeted interventions aimed at changing the behaviours of relevant key participants to increase compliance with required standards (Michie, 2008). However, change and adherence is seldom easy if the improvement requires complex modifications in clinical practice and behaviours, collaboration between HCP disciplines or change in the organisation of care (Grilli and Lomas, 1994; Grol *et al.*, 1998; Foy *et al.*, 2002; Burgers *et al.*, 2003). A Dutch study amongst 61 GPs, who made 12,880 decisions in contacts with patients, found that compliance was lower (36%) if recommended guidelines were vague and non-specific, incompatible with HCP's norms/values and disruptive to routine practice where a change in behaviour is required (Grol *et al.*, 1998). Enhancing adherence to the desired level requires clearly specified guidelines (Michie and Abraham, 2004) and initiatives from all dimensions involving all key stakeholders in the process (Atkins *et al.*, 2017).

3.6 Situating the present research and research rationale

Interventions designed to improve the quality of healthcare may be more successful if targeted at multiple levels including all relevant individuals involved in the process (Ferlie and Shortell, 2001) including healthcare providers (i.e. HCPs) as well as the healthcare receivers (i.e. patients) (Atkins *et al.*, 2017). However, in the context of CAUTI reduction, the existing literature focuses mainly on HCPs' perspectives. Research has not investigated both HCPs' and patients' perspectives in the same study on the topic of catheter infections. This also applies to the application of the TDF which is rarely conducted with patients and HCPs in the same research. Therefore, the focus of this thesis is on exploring both perspectives, which addresses a gap in the current literature, employing a novel approach.

There are clear benefits of patient involvement in the prevention and treatment of healthcareacquired infections (Koutantji et al., 2005). Yet many patients do not receive appropriate advice and information on the potential risks of the treatment they receive e.g. peri-operative urinary catheterisation (Bhardwaj et al., 2012). More effective interventions are needed to reduce the risk of catheter-associated infections, which are potentially avoidable, and help improve patient outcomes by: patient empowerment, involvement, and participation in the modern NHS. Patient's involvement in their own care in the NHS setting is a relatively new field. Patient involvement encompasses shared decision making and gives patients a degree of control in the way they receive care (Ward and Armitage, 2012) providing the patient has the required knowledge, motivation, skills, and resources to make an informed decision. However, in contrast it can be perceived as a negative and mistrusting matter by the HCPs (Hrisos and Thomson, 2013). This could potentially be overcome by employing a collaborative approach which encourages patients and HCPs to work together (Ward and Armitage, 2012). For example, 'Shared Care' is an emerging concept in urology in men with urinary symptoms and supports patient engagement: 'no decision about me without me' (Coulter and Collins, 2011). In another example of hand hygiene promotion, the 'Clean your hands campaign', patients were targeted and encouraged to take part via the use of posters and stickers with the slogan, 'It's okay to ask' (Duncanson and Pearson, 2005). This slogan encouraged patients to remind/ask their HCPs if they had cleaned their hands before receiving care. This, in turn, assisted in collaborative working, aiming to eliminate HCPs' negative feeling that patients are

'checking up' on them (Ward and Armitage, 2012) to achieve a common goal of enhanced patient safety.

The TDF provides a theory-informed basis for exploring and investigating behaviour related implementation problems (Michie *et al.*, 2005) that can inform the development of fit-forpurpose interventions based on evidence-based theories that intend to explain and predict behaviour and behaviour change (French *et al.*, 2012). Further work is required to explore barriers and facilitators to the timing of catheter removal from both patients' and HCPs' perspectives.

Ultimately, this may help change patterns of care to reduce unnecessarily prolonged catheterisation. Thus, this study will take a dual approach using TDF-based interviews to investigate factors that affect catheter duration from both HCPs' and patients' perspective. This research will include both medical and surgical clinical areas to explore speciality-based factors. In addition to national monitoring programmes to reduce HAI in the UK NHS (Department of Health, 2007; Department of Health, 2012), this work has been prioritised in Public Health England's (PHE) recent report on strategic behavioural analyses of interventions for CAUTI prevention (Atkins *et al.*, 2019 (In preparation)). The PHE report highlights the gap in the literature stating that there is a lack of detailed investigation of barriers and enablers to CAUTI-related behaviours with the use of the TDF. The proposed research will specifically address this knowledge gap.

3.7 Conclusion

Indwelling urinary catheters are highly prevalent and typically left in-situ for longer than needed. Urinary catheters have a detrimental effect on patients in terms of causing morbidity related to CAUTIs, mortality if a CAUTI develops into sepsis, and the healthcare system via increased costs of treatment. Despite the clear evidence of catheters' detrimental effects, avoidable and prolonged use remains part of current practice. A part of the national and international initiatives include limiting the use of urinary catheters in the first place by considering alternative methods (where possible) and reducing catheter duration which has been recommended to prevent biofilm formation and resultant bacteriuria to prevent CAUTIs. Existing approaches have primarily focused on implementing interventions via a) improving

training and education of HCPs on limiting catheter use by considering alternative ways to bladder emptying such as: the use of a commode, bedpan, or urinal bottle; b) using catheters with an appropriate indications and a pre-defined criteria; and c) emphasis on reducing procedure-specific catheter duration with trial of early catheter removal within 24 or 48 hours, use of bladder bundle interventions, criteria-based stop orders/nurse-driven protocols, and manual/electronic reminders.

Although the importance of shortening catheter duration to avoid/reduce CAUTI has been ongoing for nearly 40 years, translating the evidence into routine practice in order to achieve the desired results is yet to be achieved, demonstrating an evidence-practice gap. Dissemination of the evidence around CAUTIs is, thus, insufficient to change clinical practice. Exploring ways to successfully implement prompt catheter removal is important to encourage high-quality, safe catheter care and must go beyond guideline production and knowledge provision. The current evidence base on the reduction of catheter duration is limited by reliance on cross-sectional procedure specific studies, a lack of clarity on how certain interventions succeeded to reduce catheter duration, and a lack of intervention effectiveness sustainability over time. Furthermore, the existing interventions lacked a theoretical underpinning (which undermines developing a cumulative evidence-base), focused primarily on HCPs, and did not include the patient's role or involvement in getting the catheter removed swiftly. Empirical evidence on HCP and patient-related behavioural determinants to prompt catheter removal are also lacking in the field of behaviour change interventions that can tackle this implementation issue. The current literature base would benefit from further, well designed and theoretically informed exploratory studies to identify patient and HCP related behavioural determinants (barriers and enablers) to form the foundation of a more cumulative evidence base for helping to change patterns of care and reduce unnecessarily prolonged catheterisation.

This body of research investigated patients' and HCPs' behavioural determinants of catheter duration by employing TDF-based, semi-structured interviews. TDF-based interviews will allow investigation of all domains and constructs without being selective to establish which domains and constructs are relevant to catheter duration. The identified barriers can be addressed in a behaviour change intervention for patients and HCPs to reduce catheter duration and, hence, the risk of CAUTI.

3.7.1 Selection of a theory or theoretical framework

The above examples show that there is vast scope for using a theory-based/informed approach. There are several behavioural theories that cover various aspects of the implementation process which can help researchers understand and explain how people change their behaviour (Michie, 2008). The evidence gathered can help identify the root issues driving particular problems, aid the design of interventions to tackle problems using a behavioural approach, and guide health policies and improvement of patient care delivery (French *et al.*, 2012).

Amongst many behaviour change theories and approaches, some examples include social learning theory (Skinner, 1953), theory of reasoned action (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975), social cognitive theory (SCT) (Bandura, 1986), the trans-theoretical model (Prochaska and DiClemente, 1983), theory of planned behaviour (TPB) (Ajzen, 1991), and the health action process approach (HAPA) (Schwarzer, 2008). Collectively, these examples of behaviour change theories are used to understand behaviour and can inform the development of interventions to change behaviour which is a complex multi-factorial process (Grol *et al.*, 2007; Godin *et al.*, 2008). Individual diversity in knowledge, motivation, attitudes, social influences, and values and beliefs around cultural, organisational, and environmental factors are all potentially related to driving what determines existing behaviours and practices (Michie, 2008). Thus, identifying these factors with the use of a theory-informed method can help to develop interventions to change behaviour in the clinical setting of urinary catheters.

3.8 Link to other chapters

- This literature review identified that further qualitative research on HCPs' and patientrelated behaviours to catheter duration is required. This has been advanced through qualitative work in chapters four and five.
- The review also identified a lack of clarity in national guidance on catheter removal.
 This is addressed throughout the thesis, with further investigation in the HCPs interview study in chapter four and discussion in chapter six.

- The need to develop a targeted behaviour change intervention to reduce catheter duration and tackle the evidence-practice implementation gap is discussed in chapter six.
- In terms of implications for future research, possible strategies for mapping the identified barriers in chapters four and five for the development of behaviour change intervention are discussed in chapter six.
- The importance of clearly specified guidelines to increase compliance has been highlighted in this chapter. This is pursued further in the discussion (chapter six) with planned steps for engagement with stakeholders and guideline makers.

Chapter 4. Barriers and enablers to healthcare professional behaviours to prompt removal of urinary catheters: A Theoretical Domains Frameworkbased interview study with medical, nursing and ancillary hospital staff

4.1 Abstract

Background

Combating catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) is a priority in the worldwide drive to reduce hospital-acquired infections. Minimising catheter duration is an effective method of reducing CAUTIs but the current median duration of short-term catheters remains higher than the recommended standard. A theoretical approach to understanding factors that may influence the implementation of catheter removal guidance may help develop effective interventions to reduce CAUTIs. This study aimed to identify barriers to guidelinerecommended healthcare-professional (HCP) behaviour to prompt catheter removal.

Methods

This study involved in-depth, one-on-one, semi-structured interviews with secondary care medical, nursing and ancillary HCPs, working on medical and surgical in-patient wards, at a large teaching hospital in the North East of England. The interview guide was designed to address domains from the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF), focusing on identifying barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal based on HCPs' experiences. Responses were independently double-coded using the TDF as a framework. Directed content analysis informed by the TDF domains was used as the main theme labels, followed by inductively generated sub-themes within the TDF domains.

Results

Interviews were conducted until data saturation was achieved with 16 HCPs. Within the 12 domains of the TDF, two domains - *Social influences* and *Emotion* - identified barriers as well as enablers. Key barriers emerged within ten domains: poor knowledge of guidance and evidence-based practice (*Knowledge*); hierarchal decision-making (*Social/professional role and identity*); variations in current practice and guidance recommended behaviours (*Nature of the behaviour*); inability to make removal decision (*Self*) and patient's inability to manage without a catheter (*Beliefs about capabilities*); convenience, patient dependence on catheter, impact of CAUTIS (*Beliefs about consequences*); low motivation due to competing demands (*Motivation and goals*); forgetfulness, perceived low priority (*Memory attention, and decision processes*); availability of toilets and staff assistance (*Environmental context and resources*);

staff attitudes, ward culture (*Social influences*); indifference to prolonged catheter removal (*Emotion*).

Key enablers were identified within four domains: HCPs being highly skilled at removing catheters (*Skills*); use of handover notes, reminders and daily task lists (*Behaviour regulation*), senior and specialised colleagues as role models, and patient's influence (*Social influences*), and positive emotions related to job satisfaction generated by prompt catheter removal (*Emotion*).

Conclusions

This study identified a wide range of barriers and enablers for HCPs meeting recommended catheter removal practices. These barriers can inform the basis for developing a targeted behaviour change intervention to encourage prompt catheter removal as a patient safety intervention which can be evaluated across multiple sites and hospitals.

4.2 Introduction

Approximately 15-17.5% of the 14.5 million admissions to the UK National Health Service (NHS) hospitals each year (over two million people) will require an indwelling urinary catheter at some point during their hospital stay (Nicolle, 2014; Zarb *et al.*, 2012; Glynn A, 1997; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010). About 300,000 of these patients suffer from CAUTIs, making it one of the most common types of healthcare-acquired infection (HAI) in acute and extended care facilities (Bjerklund Johansen *et al.*, 2007). The presence of a catheter encourages the development of bacteriuria and bacterial colonisation of the bladder at a rate of approximately 5% per day (accumulative), the longer the catheter is in situ, the more the patient is at the risk of developing an infection (Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Loveday *et al.*, 2014; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). Subsequently, this can lead to symptomatic CAUTIs, which account for 19% of total HAIs in UK hospitals (Health Protection Agency: Public Health England, 2012), over 6% in the UK community care homes (Roberts *et al.*, 2010), and 34% in the United States of America (Fink *et al.*, 2012). In the UK, CAUTIs incur treatment costs of around £164 million annually for the NHS (Pickard *et al.*, 2012b).

Considering the high clinical and economic burden of CAUTIs, a decade ago the UK Department of Health (DoH) introduced initiatives in NHS hospitals to reduce HAIs, such as 'Saving lives' and 'Patient Safety Thermometer' to provide and measure harm free care (Department of Health, 2007; Department of Health, 2009; Department of Health, 2012). A commissioned review by the DoH identified two main risk factors for developing a CAUTI: contamination during catheter insertion and prolonged duration of catheterisation (EPIC, 2001). Placement of a urinary catheter for longer than 2 days postoperatively was subsequently shown to result in excess infections, putting patients at unnecessary risk (Pickard et al., 2012a; Wald et al., 2008). Reduction in post-operative catheter duration thus became a key target for infection control and surgical quality-improvement initiatives (Department of Health, 2012) such as enhanced recovery after surgery (Varadhan et al., 2010; Stubbs et al., 2013), nurse-driven protocols (Adams et al., 2012; Fritz et al., 2013), application of a bundle approach (Titsworth et al., 2012; Clarke et al., 2013; Saint et al., 2013), and use of stop orders and criteria-based reminder systems (Chen et al., 2013). Even with these initiatives, the use of avoidable catheters were reported to range from 21% to more than 50% (Caramujo et al., 2011; Mikolajczak et al., 2013).

Current UK Evidence-Based Guidelines for Preventing Healthcare-Associated Infections (epic3) and UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Clinical Guideline 139 (CG139) and Quality Standard (QS61) (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2017; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014) recommends: regular review of the patient's need for continuing urinary catheterisation and remove the catheter as soon as possible; and ensure patients and relatives are educated about their role in preventing UTI (Loveday *et al.*, 2014). There is no mention of prompt catheter removal in the '*prevention*' section of the NICE guideline on catheter-associated urinary tract infection and antimicrobial prescribing (NG113) (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2018). Similarly, the European guidelines on urological infections only focus on the management of CAUTIs with antibiotic treatment and barely guides on the timing of catheter removal stating: *"the duration of catheterisation should be minimal"* (Bonkat *et al.*, 2017, p.24).

The American guidance on catheter removal and CAUTI prevention are produced by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in conjunction with Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC) (Gould *et al.*, 2010). The CDC guidance is more specific regarding the timing of catheter removal, suggesting: *"for operative patients who have an indication for an indwelling catheter, remove the catheter as soon as possible postoperatively, preferably within 24 hours, unless there is an appropriate indication for continued use"* (Gould *et al.*, 2010, p.10). The evidence used in the development of the UK epic3 guidance is based on the American CDC HICPAC guidance (Loveday *et al.*, 2014, p.S31). But it does not specify the timing of catheter removal as the American guidance, which can be open to subjective interpretation, indicating a shortcoming in the UK guidance.

There is a growing body of evidence in support of the safety and feasibility of early catheter removal particularly within the 48 hours post-insertion. It has been safely trialled in patients undergoing a range of different surgical procedures. For example, vaginal prolapse surgery (Kamilya *et al.*, 2010; Weemhoff *et al.*, 2011), colporrhaphy (Huang *et al.*, 2011), hysterectomy (Turnbull *et al.*, 2012), ureteroscopic stone removal (Kawahara *et al.*, 2013), and transurethral resection of the prostate (Yu *et al.*, 2018). These studies demonstrate the feasibility of early catheter removal without adding any significant morbidity such as the risk of recatheterization or haemorrhage, while reducing the incidence of CAUTIs and shortening hospital stays. However, this scenario may not be feasible in complex surgical procedures

where patients are required to be completely immobilized post-operatively e.g. spinal fixation or patients on the Critical Care/Intensive Care Unit after surgery. But early removal in the majority of the uncomplicated surgical cases should be feasible within 48 hours. A trial without a catheter (TWOC) within this period should also be considered when clinically appropriate (Cheng and Chin, 2016; Emberton and Fitzpatrick, 2008). A Cochrane review (detailed in chapter three) of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) demonstrated that early catheter removal (1 day) versus late (3 days) in post-operative patients related to fewer CAUTIs (RR 0.50, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.87) (Phipps *et al.*, 2006), whilst in support of this review, other studies showed catheter duration longer than 2 days postoperatively results in excess catheter infections (Apisarnthanarak *et al.*, 2007; Fernandez and Griffiths, 2006). A strong correlation was also found between early catheter removal and reductions in hospital stay (Chalise *et al.*, 2007). Despite this evidence, the UK clinical guidance by epic3 and NICE does not provide any time parameters for catheter removal.

Collectively, the evidence supports removal within at least 48 hours. However, increasingly the emphasis is now shifting towards catheter removal within 24 hours after surgery, where possible (Sekhavat *et al.*, 2008; Nygren *et al.*, 2012; Glavind *et al.*, 2007). Studies compared immediate (within 24 hours) versus delayed (after 24 hours) catheter removal following abdominal hysterectomy and laparotomy and demonstrated a reduced length of stay, increased patient satisfaction and earlier ambulation (Long *et al.*, 2013; Ouladsahebmadarek *et al.*, 2012). The guidelines by the Enhanced Recovery after Surgery (ERAS) Society also recommend catheter removal within 24 hours for postoperative patients undergoing gynaecologic/oncology surgery (Nelson *et al.*, 2016).

In summary, early catheter removal within 24 to 48 hours of surgery has been tested safely in studies for specific procedures. However, despite the evidence, guidance to promptly remove catheters has proven harder to implement in practice (Niël-Weise and van den Broek, 2005). This may be due to patient and HCP related factors such as inadequate knowledge, training, and lack of monitoring of catheter duration and CAUTI incidence (Willson *et al.*, 2009) and potentially because the UK guidance does not provide specific guidance on the timing of catheter removal.

As per the UK guidance, daily catheter removal assessment with appropriate documentation in patient notes is paramount to the timely removal of catheters (Loveday *et al.*, 2014). A daily assessment helps to establish an appropriate indication for the catheter's continued use based on identified criteria such as: haematuria, obstruction, urological surgery, decubitus ulcer, input and output measurement, nursing end of life care, and immobility (Adams *et al.*, 2012). However, practice audits have shown that catheter removal assessments do not get carried out on a daily basis (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2010). This may contribute to the continued prolonged postoperative median catheter duration in some UK hospitals (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a). There is thus clearly a gap between the implementation of evidence and guidelines into clinical practice.

To address this implementation problem and change current practice, it is first important to understand the determinants of HCP behaviour (i.e. barriers and enablers) related to catheter removal practice (Lo *et al.*, 2014; Meddings *et al.*, 2010; Craig *et al.*, 2008; Wilde *et al.*, 2013; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). The identified barriers can then be addressed in a behaviour change intervention designed specifically with solutions fit for purpose (Craig *et al.*, 2008; Wilde *et al.*, 2013) as demonstrated by French and colleagues in a step-wise manner (French *et al.*, 2012).

The use of theoretical approaches for designing and evaluating complex interventions continues to be emphasised. Guidance by the UK Medical Research Council highlights the necessity for developing a theoretical understanding of the likely process of change; and outlines that "best practice is to develop interventions systematically, using the best available evidence and appropriate theory" (Craig et al., 2008, p.2). Intervention design that incorporates the use of theory enhances understanding of what interventions work, and why, and helps to promote the uptake of evidence into practice (Johnson and May, 2015; Eccles et al., 2005).

The TDF was developed by integrating 128 theoretical constructs, from 33 theories of behaviour change, developed over a century of research and organised into 12 domains (Michie *et al.*, 2005). The definitions for the TDF domains and constructs have been provided in Table 3.4 (chapter three) and Appendix A, respectively. The TDF has been operationalised using interview, questionnaire and focus group methods. It has been used in a variety of clinical settings to understand behaviour-related barriers and enablers to implementing

recommended standards in practice. A few examples of clinical settings in which the TDF has been applied include: physical activity in overweight and obese pregnant women, clinician blood transfusion behaviours, diagnostic imaging, and hand hygiene behaviours (Flannery *et al.*, 2018; Schwendicke *et al.*, 2018; Gramlich *et al.*, 2017; Francis *et al.*, 2012; Taylor *et al.*, 2013). It provides a basis for organising modifiable factors that may link to behaviour in healthcare settings and to relate these to behaviour change theory.

The TDF supports a systematic approach to developing and evaluating theory-informed behaviour change interventions to implement evidence into practice (French *et al.*, 2012). French and colleagues propose a four-step approach; firstly, identify the problem in terms of defining target behaviour as per the TACT-A principle (Target, Action, Context, Time and Actor) (Francis and Presseau, 2019) i.e. who needs to do what differently and when (described in methods section). Secondly, assess barriers and enablers using a theoretical framework. Thirdly, develop the intervention and select the delivery mode informed by findings from the second step by identifying behaviour change techniques to overcome modifiable barriers and enhance the enablers. Finally, in step four, process and outcome measures are selected to measure and understand the change in behaviour.

Underpinned by the TDF and encompassing the first two steps of the French model described above, the current study has two main objectives. These were to 1) identify the enablers, and 2) the barriers to prompt catheter removal practice pathways that may influence change in HCP clinical behaviour.

4.3 Methods

This was a single centre, semi-structured interview study, using one-on-one interviews informed by the TDF. The study has been reported per consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) (Tong *et al.*, 2007).

4.3.1 Specifying the target behaviour

Literature linked to psychological theories to develop behaviour change interventions recommends taking a systematic approach to specifying the behaviour of interest as the first step (French *et al.*, 2012). The study target behaviour was defined in terms of TACT-A principle

including Target, Action, Context, Time and Actors (Francis and Presseau, 2019; Fishbein, 1967). TACT-A was specified with the use of current guidelines on the prevention of CAUTIs (detailed in the introduction section) and a consensus panel including a range of professionals (professor of urology/consultant urologist, scientist/health psychologist, nurse consultant in continence care, urology nurse specialists and senior urology research nurse). In the study specific TACT-A, the 'Target' of the behaviour was 'patients requiring a short-term catheter with planned duration of ≤14 days'; the 'Action' was 'removing the catheter as soon as it was no longer needed for patients under their care'; the 'Context' was 'peri and postoperative drainage of bladder, bladder irrigation, monitoring urine output, acute illness or urinary retention'; the 'Time' was 'within 24 hours of insertion'; and the 'Actors' were 'medical, nursing and ancillary HCPs working on medical and surgical wards'.

4.3.2 Development and piloting of interview schedule

The interview schedule was developed with the use of sample questions outlined for the TDF domains and constructs (Appendix B) to support the development of the TDF-based interview schedule (Michie *et al.*, 2005). The sample questions were then adapted for the current clinical setting around urinary catheters and the TACT-A principle above (Appendix C). The interview schedule incorporated supplementary prompts where necessary. Multidisciplinary consensus discussions with the Decision Making and Organisation of Care (DMOC) Group and Newcastle Health Psychology Group, critiqued the draft study protocol and interview schedule. The feedback received from experts in the field was integrated into the design.

The draft interview schedule was then pilot tested with three HCPs (surgeon, staff nurse and a healthcare assistant) to assess perceived face validity, acceptability, the flow of interview questions and completion duration. The pilot interviews confirmed that surgeons are mainly involved in making the decision and writing catheter removal orders rather than doing the removal procedure. This was reflected in the schedule with a question '*Is removing a catheter part of your role*?'. Following another suggestion, a cue card was made available to HCP participants during the interviews, which displayed the 'action' from the TACT-A principal (described above in section 4.3.1) that was being asked about in the interview questions. The text displayed on the cue card was 'removing the catheter as soon as it was no longer needed for patients under their care'. The purpose of this was to minimise repetition and asking lengthy interview questions in order to improve the flow of the interview.

4.3.3 Sample size and data saturation

The sample size was estimated to be within 20 interviews with the '10+3' rule applied to reach thematic saturation (Francis *et al.*, 2010). This approach holds that interviews are conducted with at least 10 individuals in the first instance and that evidence of data saturation can then be claimed when three subsequent consecutively interviewed individuals do not raise any new issues (stopping criterion). If new themes are still emerging, additional participants are interviewed until three consecutive participants do not bring up new themes.

4.3.4 Setting and participants

Participants were HCPs working on medical and surgical in-patient wards in a large secondary care UK NHS teaching hospital in the North East of England hosting 1800 beds. The participants were recruited to seek quotas of respondent types according to the eligibility criteria. The eligibility criteria comprised of:

- HCPs from professional backgrounds including medical, nursing and ancillary healthcare assistants
- HCPs working on medical or surgical wards
- HCPs involved in all aspects of catheter care and removal practices.

To encompass a broad range of viewpoints, HCPs with the senior and junior levels of professional experience and varied length of service were included in the study. Different shift patterns were also covered to explore any factors related to catheter removal that may be affected by shift working.

4.3.5 Recruitment procedures and data collection

All activities related to recruitment, consent, interviews and analysis were conducted by Rashmi Bhardwaj-Gosling (RBG). The interviewer's background is in the fields of nursing and clinical research (Masters in Clinical Research). The interviewer has relevant credentials and training to conduct interviews with a healthcare professional group and to obtain informed consent as per the ICH GCP (good clinical practice) code. Interviewees were made aware of this before the start of the interview. The researcher and participants were not known to each other before study participation. Before study recruitment, medical and nursing senior departmental leads (clinical directors, directorate managers and matrons) were approached via emails and made aware of the study. Meetings were then arranged in-person to negotiate departmental support for study recruitment. Senior leads were in support of the study and agreed to relieve staff, who were willing to take part in the interviews, during their work time. The support arrangement was conditional on the participant's shift being covered for the time they were away from the ward. The support arrangement was cascaded down to the ward managers by departmental matrons via email.

During the recruitment period, participants were approached face-to-face by RBG on wards and invited to take part in the study. To ensure HCPs' exposure to catheterised patients, medical and surgical wards were included where patients with short-term urethral catheters were routinely admitted. This was because some wards do not have catheterised patients, e.g. orthopaedics surgery wards primarily conducting hand surgeries, and other wards only have patients with long-term catheters, e.g. neurology rehabilitation. Recruitment materials included a study poster which was displayed widely on the wards (Appendix D). In addition, RBG delivered formal and informal study awareness talks regularly at staff meetings. The content of talks covered the study background, aims, eligibility criteria, invitation to participate and explanation of what taking part would involve. Participants were approached and recruited without the involvement of their ward manager to avoid social pressure and possible perceived coercion. Eligible and interested participants were provided with the participant information sheet (PIS) (Appendix E). Written informed consent was obtained for participation and to audio record and transcribe the interview verbatim (Appendix F). The voluntary nature of the study participation and choice to opt out at any time was explained in the PIS and reiterated during the consent process. Interviews were conducted at a later stage when an arrangement was made for participants to be relieved from their clinical duties.

Audio recording began after initial introductions between the interviewer and the interviewee were completed to avoid capture of identifiable information. Participants were reassured about the confidentiality of their interview content both verbally and in writing, as detailed in the PIS and consent form. Participants were also made aware that the revelation of any malpractice issues detrimental to the safety of the concerned individuals would be reported to the appropriate manager and dealt with according to hospital policy. This was also detailed

in the PIS. Interviews were conducted at the participant's workplace away from the ward environment to minimise disturbances, and with only the participant and researcher present. A casual atmosphere was kept throughout to maintain the flow of the conversation.

4.3.6 Data management and analysis

Audio recordings were anonymised with the participant's unique study number and transcribed verbatim by an external company (UK Transcription). The content of the transcripts was checked before the analysis. This was to maintain the anonymity of any identifiable data that may have been recorded during the interviews. To enable coding, transcriptions were imported into an NVivo project using NVivo qualitative data analysis software version 10 by QSR International Pty Ltd. (Richards, 2005). All transcripts were securely saved on the Newcastle University IT server.

The interview data was analysed using a deductive approach (directed content analysis, Wildemuth, 2016) for initial coding using the TDF as an analysis framework and then used an inductive approach to identify emergent sub-themes within each TDF domain related to barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal. Out of three approaches to content analysis, the directed content analysis was the most suitable approach for the study (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005) as it allowed a deductive approach to analysis with the use of an existing theoretical framework, in this instance the TDF (Vaismoradi *et al.*, 2013; Mayring, 2000).

The study analysis was conducted in three main stages. In the first stage, statements were coded at the domain level by RBG with the use of 12 pre-defined TDF domains as *a-priori* themes (Ryan and Bernard, 2003; Elo and Kyngäs, 2008). Similar responses in the transcripts were grouped into each of the 12 relevant TDF domains with certain statements double coded in two different domains (Patey *et al.*, 2012). Multidisciplinary consensus discussions critiqued the emerging analysis in regular data clinics held with the wider research team.

In the second stage, collective responses in each domain were cross-checked by an independent secondary coder Dr Suzanne McDonald (SMc) at the domain level to confirm the integrity of the initial coding process. SMc is a health psychologist with expertise in TDF-based interviews. At the end of the cross-checking process, the secondary coder provided a summary of agreements and disagreements. Differences in coded responses were discussed in-person

by the primary and secondary coder (RBG & SMc) to reach consensus. On occasions where a consensus could not be reached, the responses were agreed to be double coded. A summary of coded differences and agreements between the primary and secondary coder has been provided in Appendix G.

In the third and final stage, sub-themes were inductively generated by RBG and cross-checked by Dr Samuel Ginja (SG). SG is a health psychologist with expertise in behaviour change methods and TDF-based interviews. Similar sub-themes were merged and results nested under relevant TDF domains by RBG, to clarify the barriers and enablers particular to prompt urinary catheter removal within TDF domains (Braun and Clarke, 2006). It was planned that if additional factors arose that did not fit in the TDF, an open approach to coding would be taken.

4.3.7 Ethical and institutional approvals

The research study was approved collectively as part of the REDUCE project (reducing the urinary catheters including patient and healthcare professional studies) by a UK NHS Research Ethics Committee (reference number 13/WM/0460) and by the host institution (reference number 6649) along with approval from the Ethics Committee at Newcastle University. The study was adopted to the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Clinical Research Network Portfolio (reference 15750) and approved by the host organisation's Caldicott and Data Protection Guardian team.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Sample characteristics

Sixteen participants meeting the eligibility criteria were interviewed and included in the analysis (see Table 4.1). Three participants were male and thirteen were female due to the majority of nursing staff being female. The participants were from a wide range of medical, nursing and ancillary professional backgrounds. The medical staff included doctors (n=2), ancillary staff (n=2), and nursing staff (n=12); the nursing sample comprised of junior and senior staff nurses (n=9), a ward sister (n=1), a clinical nurse specialist (n=1) and an enrolled nurse (n=1). The participants were recruited from medical (n=8) and surgical (n=8) wards, were employed full-time (n=13) or part-time (n=3), and were involved in caring for patients with urethral catheters and their removal. Participants' professional experience ranged from

0.2 years (8 weeks) to 32 years (median=5 years). Interviews lasted an average of 66 minutes (range: 39-120, median=58).

Participant	Gender	Professional title	Speciality	Professional experience (years)	Hours of work ⁱ
1	Female	Clinical Nurse Specialist	Surgery	6	Full time
2	Female	Ward Sister (Manager)	Surgery	25	Full time
3	Female	Enrolled Nurse	Surgery	32	Full time
4	Female	Registered Nurse	Surgery	10	Part time
5	Female	Healthcare Assistant	Surgery	15	Full time
6	Female	Registered Nurse	Surgery	1	Full time
7	Female	Registered Nurse	Surgery	0.15	Full time
8	Female	Registered Nurse	Medicine	25	Part time
9	Female	Registered Nurse	Medicine	0.2	Full time
10	Male	Registered Nurse	Medicine	19	Full time
11	Female	Registered Nurse	Medicine	7	Full time
12	Female	Doctor	Medicine	1	Full time
13	Female	Healthcare Assistant	Medicine	6	Part time
14	Male	Doctor	Medicine	2	Full time
15	Female	Registered Nurse	Surgery	3	Full time
16	Male	Registered Nurse	Medicine	19	Full time

Table 4.1: Characteristics of healthcare professional participants

ⁱ Full time (≥37.5 hours), part time (≤ 30hours)

4.4.2 Data capture and saturation

Interviews were conducted from February to August 2014. Ten interviews were conducted in the first instance, followed by two sets of three interviews in each round. Data collection was ceased after 16 interviews (10+3+3) when the saturation point was reached and participants did not raise any new themes at the domain level. None of the statements in the dataset appeared to be irrelevant and did not fit within the TDF domains.

4.4.3 Key sub-themes identified within relevant TDF domains

Related to study objectives, specific beliefs were identified within each of the 12 TDF domains (*a-priori* themes). The results are presented within respective domains under two main categories of barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal. These included an appraisal of current catheter removal practices followed locally in relation to current guidance; a background to HCPs' understanding of local, national and international guidance on catheter removal; different professional groups' contribution to catheter removal practice; and additional barriers and enablers perceived by HCPs to prompt catheter removal practice. There was a cross-over between two domains where a domain identified both barriers and enablers.

Research objective 1: Barriers to prompt catheter removal practice

The barriers to prompt removal were reflected in ten domains. These were: *Nature of the behaviour; Knowledge; Social/professional role and identity; Beliefs about capabilities; Beliefs about consequences; Motivation and goals; Memory, attention and decision processes; Environmental context and resources; Social influences; and Emotion.* A conceptual map of domains and sub-themes representing barriers related to this research objective has been illustrated in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Conceptual map of healthcare professional barriers to prompt catheter removal practice

Nature of the behaviour

Descriptions of current urinary catheter removal practices followed locally, and variations amongst these practices across the different wards were coded within the *Nature of the behaviour* domain. Three sub-themes emerged within this domain:

Sub-theme 1: Local catheter removal practice is noncompliant with guidance

Current catheter removal practice is deemed non-concordant with NICE/epic3 (Loveday *et al.*, 2014) and CDC guidance (Gould *et al.*, 2010) which advises that catheters are routinely assessed on a daily basis or removed within 24 hours of insertion.

"If we think about it, then we do the assessment to see if it can come out on the ward round, but it doesn't always happen on a daily basis" (nurse, HCP16).

"Removing the catheter within 24 hours only happens very rarely on this ward. It's not routinely done unless a patient's pulled it out themselves" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

"I wouldn't say that it's a routine practice yet, no" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

"No, it's certainly not routine on this ward to remove the catheter within 24 hours" (doctor, HCP12).

Participants reported that there was no local guidance on the timing of catheter removal which was perceived as a barrier and the majority were unaware of the national or CDC guidance.

"We don't have local guidance on when to remove a catheter. I'm not actually sure if there is any guidance on this nationally either" (nurse, HCP06).

Catheter removal assessments ware described as being done on a case-by-case basis, by considering factors such as mobility and reason for catheterisation. Once the indication for catheter removal is established, it was reported that catheters are removed either on an ad-

hoc basis or unsystematically by following different patterns concerning the timing of removal, described in the next section (sub-theme 2: variations in catheter removal practices).

"The catheter duration can vary. There's never a definite guideline here, it tends to be removed on an individual basis if somebody's up and about then it tends to come out. Really it's down to the individual patients" (nurse, HCP 16).

Some participants felt that patients admitted to the Emergency Assessment Unit can be unnecessarily catheterised. They expressed that when a patient is transferred from the Emergency Assessment Unit to a ward, there is generally no documented reason for catheter insertion or indication for discontinuation in patient's clinical notes which can cause a delay in catheter removal.

"Sometimes we (ward nursing staff) feel that catheters are put in unnecessary when you receive patients from the Emergency Assessment Unit, with no indication of when it should come out in the patient's notes. Then you have to spend hours on the phone trying to ring around to find out why it was put in the first place and when it can come out" (nurse, HCP11).

Sub-theme 2: Variations in catheter removal practices among different wards

Variations in the timing of catheter removal practices were reported over different shift patterns and times on different wards. Participants on certain wards reported that they removed catheters soon after the catheter removal decision was made, whilst other wards followed a specific pattern for removal at either midnight or 6 am the next morning which can be several hours after the release of the catheter removal order. The nursing staff were aware of the rationale for catheter removal at midnight but unaware of the rationale behind early morning catheter removal. No local policy within this hospital suggests removing the catheter at midnight or early morning; this conforms to neither national nor international guidance. It was also described as non-standardised practice.

"Midnight vs 6 am removal depends on the ward and surgeon's preference, and it depends on the operation that they've had done. Mostly the TURPs tend to be removed at midnight. The rationale behind that is so that the patient will just go back to sleep and then they get up in

the morning, they'll just have a normal wee. I'm not sure the rationale behind the 6 am removal" (nurse, HCP01).

"The practice of removing at midnight or in the early morning is not very standardised" (healthcare assistant, HCP05).

A lack of explicit catheter removal instructions (removal order) in patients' post-operative notes, written by the surgeon, and specific information on 'when' the catheter should be removed were also perceived as contributory factors which cause a delay in catheter removal. The nursing staff claimed to be following medical staff members' orders (as per a consultant's preference) for catheter removal, however their lack of autonomy and involvement in the decision-making process was considered as a barrier.

"With the midnight and 6 am removal practices, sometimes catheter doesn't come out almost 24 hours later from the doctor giving the catheter removal order. We're happy to take it out whenever they want it out but if they don't specify a time, then it's generally 6 am the next day" (nurse, HCP11).

"The duration of a catheter can depend on consultant's preference" (nursing, ward manager, HCP02).

Sub-theme 3: New practice concerning the timing of catheter removal

A relatively new practice was reported by the participants on urological surgery wards, where patients were reported to be discharged home with a short-term catheter in-situ after having a surgical procedure. HCPs seemed to conclude that this practice was helpful to reduce the length of the patient's hospital stay which, in turn, freed-up the bed space to take on new patients from waiting lists.

"The incentive to sending patients home with a catheter is to get them home quickly and make more room for future patients" (enrolled nurse, HCP03). They also explained that sometimes this had an unfavourable effect on catheter duration due to the workload of the 'trial without a catheter' (TWOC) clinic. In the TWOC clinic patients are scheduled to return to have their catheter removed in an outpatient setting after being discharged home.

"Sending patients home with a catheter in order to reduce the length of hospitalisation sometimes isn't always the right thing to do, because it increases the catheter length, on the other hand, it increases the risk of infection especially when TWOC clinics are full to get the catheter out" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

Knowledge

Two sub-themes were generated within the knowledge domain that represented barriers to prompt catheter removal. The participants' accounts demonstrated a considerable variation in knowledge regarding local and national catheter removal guidelines and inconsistencies around knowledge of evidence-based practice in support of prompt catheter removal.

Sub-theme 1: Lack of knowledge of current guidelines

Generally, there was little awareness of national guidance by the UK NICE/epic3 (Loveday *et al.*, 2014) or American CDC guidance (Gould *et al.*, 2010) on urinary catheters.

"I wouldn't say I am familiar with any specific national guidelines around catheter removal" (doctor, HCP12).

Those participants who were familiar with the national guidance perceived the statements to be vague with no specific instructions on the timing of catheter removal. Participants described that the local guidance focuses on catheter insertion and removal procedures but does not cover when the catheter should be removed.

"Sometimes when you've got grey areas due to lack of clarity in guidelines, it just becomes confused and open to a person's own subjectivity" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

"There are local procedural guidelines for inserting and removing catheters, but not on when to remove them" (nurse, HCP07).

Sub-theme 2: Lack of knowledge of available evidence-based practice in support of prompt catheter removal

Specific microbiology knowledge around the development of catheter infections varied between medical and nursing professionals. None of the nurses interviewed knew about the catheter duration and its relation to forming bacterial biofilms as each day passes. Nurses explained that the subject of microbiology is not covered in the nurse training curriculum or the in-house training related to urinary catheters.

"We didn't get taught anything around microbiology of catheter infections in my nurse training, no. I can't say" (nurse, HCP15).

Doctor participants were aware of the biofilm development but unaware that every day increases the patient's risk of developing infections at 5% per day.

"With time you develop a biofilm inside the catheter from colonising bacteria inside the catheter track. The longer the catheter's there, the more extensive the colonisation will become, and the greater the risk of bacteraemia in urine causing infection" (doctor, HCP14).

Social/professional role and identity

Barriers coded to this domain suggested that there are three aspects to the catheter removal process concerning different professional roles: initiation of the catheter removal process (including removal assessment), the catheter removal decision-making process, and subsequently performing the removal procedure. The ancillary staff described the hierarchical structure around catheter removal process i.e. from doctors to nurses to ancillary staff.

Sub-theme 1: Initiation of the catheter removal process

The participants reported that the catheter removal process can be confirmed by medical staff (on routine ward rounds) but is often initiated by nurses and ancillary staff. Occasionally patients ask about their catheter removal also.

"I have never made catheter removal decision on my own but we discuss it with the doctors at the ward rounds generally" (nurse, HCP11).

"Patients do ask sometimes if their catheter can come out but not all of them ask. When they do, you think about it and that's a good thing. So that could be another thing; educating patients to get involved, also" (doctor, HCP14).

Sub-theme 2: Catheter removal decision

The participants described a hierarchical structure to the catheter removal decision process where the decision is primarily associated with a role specific to medical staff. However, experienced/senior nursing staff reported that in straightforward cases they can make the catheter removal decision without consulting a doctor. Although, general role perceptions were that nurses do not make the catheter removal decision and junior doctors wait for a senior medical consultant's approval before making the final decision.

"Until things and protocol changes, and surgeons start leaving the decision to remove the catheter more to us (nurses), then fine. It's a great feeling to be able to go to the patient and say, "I'm happy with that, now I'm going to take that out". It will avoid unnecessary delays" (enrolled nurse, HCP03).

"Through experience, I would know when to remove the catheter. On some of the wards, they've got a few new members of nursing staff who might not know this" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

"Sometimes there's a junior doctor who's not too sure whether they should take it out of not, so you're waiting to confirm it with the consultant. Obviously then you get senior reviews (ward
round) only twice a week here on medical wards, that's when you get an opportunity to discuss the catheter with the senior consultant" (doctor, HCP12).

"Well, when I was working on medical wards as a junior doctor, the consultants pretty much decided everything on the ward round with rest of the team present. If a patient's catheter was ready to come out, you would just wait until the next ward round to discuss it. You wouldn't contact the consultant specifically to discuss a catheter removal. Now I come to think of it, sometimes it added up to three days to patient's catheter removal with no legit clinical reason" (doctor, HCP 14).

Sub-theme 3: Performing catheter removal procedure

The removal procedure is performed mainly by the nursing and ancillary staff.

"Catheter removal decision follows from doctors to nurses then to us who mostly remove the catheter" (healthcare assistant, HCP05).

Beliefs about capabilities

The participant's beliefs about their capability regarding catheter removal were described to have two aspects: 1) the ability to make the catheter removal decision, and 2) the ability to do the catheter removal procedure. The first aspect had some overlap with the *Social/professional role and identity* domain (reported above). The hierarchical structure (*Professional role identity*) affected junior staff members' confidence and ability to make a catheter removal decision. The skill to remove the catheter is reported in enablers sections (*Skills* domain) as professionals from all backgrounds reported to be highly skilled in the catheter removal procedure.

Sub-theme 1: The perceived capability to make a catheter removal decision

Although HCPs from all different professional backgrounds reported being highly skilled at removing urinary catheters, the capability to make a catheter removal decision varied between medical and nursing HCPs. In this hospital organisation, the catheter removal order can be initiated by the nursing or ancillary staff but the final confirmation mainly comes from the medical team. Nurses perceived it to be firstly, a capability issue to make the catheter removal decision and secondly, a confidence or professional identity/social influences issue to approach senior medical staff for a catheter removal order. The perceived level of confidence varied depending on their professional experience and 'to whom' they had to approach on the medical team i.e. consultant (senior physician/surgeon), specialist registrar, or the junior doctor. The more junior the staff, the less confident they reported being in approaching the senior medical staff to obtain a catheter removal order which added delays to the catheter removal process. However, professional confidence and capability were reported to be improved over time.

"We usually get advised by the medical team on the ward round when they want the catheter removing. We don't make that decision" (nurse, HCP16).

"The capability to decide generally comes down to the experience of the nursing staff, because the less experienced staff quite often wait for the doctors to say, "Right, the catheter can come out," whereas sometimes if there are no complications, we (experienced staff) just go ahead and do it. Because we know that's what the doctors would do" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

"I was very shy when I first qualified and didn't feel confident in approaching the consultant directly. But now I am okay as I have worked here for a long time" (nurse, HCP11).

"I would be comfortable being able to ask the junior doctor. But it would bother me if I had to ring up and ask the surgeon" (junior nurse, HCP07).

"It definitely discouraged me to speak with the consultants when I was the new kid on the block. Asking them about catheter removal was out of the question. If I had to I would do it. But I'd be shaking but would do it for the patient. If I could help, I preferred to mention it to a senior nurse or a junior doctor first" (nurse, HCP11).

Beliefs about consequences

Barriers coded to this domain explored HCPs' beliefs about the consequences of prolonged catheter duration. Participants believed that the patient's inability to manage without a catheter was an important consequent in determining catheter duration. They also described that consequences of keeping the catheter in for longer could have an adverse effect on patients as well as the healthcare system.

Sub-theme 1: Patients' ability to manage without a catheter

The participants reported that a decision to remove the catheter is based on factors that are individual to each patient and their ability to manage without a catheter. These factors were described as: a patient's age (younger versus older patients), level of physical dependence, mobility, post-operative pain, skin integrity, and catheter indication (surgery, urinary retention, fluid monitoring). Patients' physical dependence and reduced mobility were described to have a potential effect on nursing staff members' motivation to promptly remove a catheter; in certain situations it was expressed to be an object of convenience, especially during low levels of nursing staff on the ward.

"The catheter duration can vary. There's never a definitive guideline, it tends to be based on the individual patient and their mobility" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

"When they are up and able to walk to the bathroom. I would say that's pretty much an indication that the catheter can be taken out then" (nurse, HCP06).

"I do think some elderly patients being so debilitated and physically dependent, that often it's difficult to get the catheter out quicker. Looking at the overall picture, it can be quite distressing if you've got a lot of urine frequency and you haven't got a urinary catheter. Particularly if you can't walk" (nurse, HCP08).

"Actually, patient's poor mobility and dependence can be a contributing factor, because once a patient's got a catheter in, it's convenient, you don't need to worry about them passing urine when they might require an assistant to go to the toilet. That might actually be another reason for nursing staff not to be motivated to expedite the catheter removal, whereas in other cases, where patients are mobile, they might well be as there will be less dependence on staff as a result. I have encountered such situations" (doctor, HCP14). "I feel like I'm saying a bad thing. Keeping a catheter in sometimes is more convenient workload-wise, and it does happen in practice when you are short staffed. But it's not convenient for the patient" (nurse, HCP15).

Sub-theme 2- Consequences of prolonged catheter duration

Consequences of prolonged catheter duration were reported to affect patients and the healthcare system. For patients, these were reported to be trauma, dependence on the catheter from loss of bladder control (incontinence), muscle atrophy (lazy bladder), becoming an object of convenience for patients and staff, the psychological impact of incontinence, and frequency of urination causing distress.

"Infection, damage to the urethra. I think sometimes psychologically the patients can have problems with them being in and out which causes distress. They become very uptight, obviously, if we've got to re-insert a catheter to a chap, it can be very painful as well. I think infection and sepsis is the main thing" (nurse, HCP08).

"The complications from leaving the catheter in for longer patients might get an infection and become reliant on it may be, getting lazy and patient not wanting to go to the toilet themselves which is also more convenient for staff, and maybe chronic problems with incontinence" (doctor, HCP12).

Consequences of prolonged catheter duration on the healthcare system were described to be a strain from the costs of antibiotics and the added length of hospitalisation affecting bed space.

"Consequences of catheter infections would mean extra days in hospital, so extra investigations like blood tests for microbiology, ultrasounds of renal tract, antibiotic treatment and all the rest of it; recurrent infections, more staff time, because it's a burden on the doctors seeing them and the nurses monitoring them, and everything else, that goes with it...From constantly reviewing it and taking it out promptly, its best for the patient; if it's best for the team. Is it best for the hospital? It definitely is, because it will reduce the time and money involved, and even the bed space" (doctor, HCP14).

Motivation and goals

For many participants, their low level of motivation for removing the catheter promptly was seen to be influenced by self-related factors as well as factors related to the patient's motivation to have their catheter removed.

Sub-theme 1: Self-related factors

The participants believed self-related factors which affected their motivation to prompt catheter removal were: work overload, competing demands pushing catheter removal to the bottom of task priority list, and the convenience of leaving a catheter in-situ during low staffing periods.

"When you have too much to do, taking bloods and other things like managing another patient's pain really can interfere with your intention to remove the catheter out promptly" (doctor, HCP12).

"Sometimes, it's a case of leaving it in because it's more convenient, it gives staff less jobs to do when you are thin on the ground..." (nurse, HCP07).

"I would say if we were short staffed, it's easier to leave the catheter in, and you don't have to take patients to the toilet which sometimes needs two people" (nurse, HCP15)

Sub-theme 2: Patient-related factors

The participants recognised that patient factors also contributed to lowering their motivation level to promptly remove the catheter. For example, a patient's lack of concern about the removal of their catheter, their inability to manage without a catheter, and their wish to continue to have the catheter in-situ due to either convenience or physical dependence for toileting. "If the patient wasn't too bothered about it being there, I'd probably think it's okay to leave it for now, it's not a priority. But if they wanted it out because getting pain from it, I'd try my best to remove it straight away, to make them more comfortable" (nurse, HCP07).

"Sometimes patients are adamant that they want it left in because they can't walk to the toilet. It's their choice at the end of the day" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

Memory, attention and decision processes

Barriers coded in this domain mainly related to HCPs' memory and decision processes.

Sub-theme 1: Forgetfulness

The participants reported a prompt approach to catheter insertion, but forgetfulness at different stages of catheter care related to removal. For example, forgetting to document the expected catheter removal date in the catheter care plan, a lack of written catheter removal instructions from the surgeon in post-operative notes and/or by other members of the medical team, and forgetting to explain the catheter removal process to patients.

"I think everybody remembers to put a catheter in because there's a clear indication, but when it comes to removal – sometimes we forget to take it out" (nurse, HCP14).

"I do try to document the expected removal date and time but sometimes I realise that I've forgotten to write it down" (nurse, HCP16).

"If the surgeon forgets to document in the notes, it delays the catheter removal" (HCA05).

"It does happen at times when medical staff forget to write the removal date in the notes, then it takes longer to get it out" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

Computer-based reminders, whether related to catheter removal or not, were perceived as a barrier by the HCPs during busy times. HCPs described disregarding the electronic reminders,

especially when they were trying to access a patient's electronic record to continue with tasks at hand (indifference to/overload of electronic pop-up reminders).

"I don't think flashing reminders on our computers would help to get the catheter removed quicker. There are a lot of things and reminders that come up. To carry on with what you are trying to do, we would just click it off" (doctor, HCP14).

Sub-theme 2: Attention

Missed opportunities to discuss and assess catheter removal on a daily basis, in addition to the catheter being overlooked were reported to cause delays in catheter removal.

"I would imagine the catheter gets delayed by a couple of days because of being overlooked and not being assessed on a daily basis" (doctor, HCP12).

Sub-theme 3: Decision processes

In terms of decision processes, HCPs prioritised other competing demands over catheter removal, especially during low staffing periods on the ward. Catheter removal was described as a task low on the priority list. This sub-theme had a cross over with the *Social influences* (competing demands) and *Environmental context and resources* (resources) themes.

"I would obviously decide and prioritise the care. If I had a really sick patient, I'd have to attend to them first. The catheter may not come out straight away because of other jobs but we aim to get it out that day or night." (healthcare assistant, HCP05).

"If I couldn't remove it promptly from receiving doctor's order then it's because you are thin on the ground with work overload" (nurse, HCP10).

"If it's going to delay patient's discharge, then I'll think about it as it's a compulsory need to get it out over other tasks, but otherwise it doesn't always factor into my day-to-day decisionmaking for patients" (doctor, HCP14).

Environmental context and resources

This theme extracted HCPs' beliefs about how environmental factors, e.g. ward layout, location and availability of the toilets, patient accessibility, and resources, affect the timing of catheter removal.

Sub-theme 1: Ward layout, location and availability of the toilets

HCPs explained that the ward layout, in terms of the location and number of readily available toilets to patients, can affect the timing of catheter removal. In the post-operative period, even a short walk to the toilet can be of inconvenience to the patient. This, in addition to a lack of readily available toilets, can lead to patients' anxiety about having accidents, the loss for dignity, and subsequent reluctance to have their catheter removed.

"If the patient's in a bed right next to the toilet or have an en-suite, it wouldn't affect taking a catheter out because they're not too far away to get to the toilet, and they can just walk through. But if the patient's in the bay and they're quite far away from the toilet, in pain after surgery and not too steady on their feet, that would definitely add time to their catheter removal" (nurse, HCP07).

"Patient can be quite anxious about getting the catheter out if they have a frequency of urine and toilet not being close or available in time. They worry about having an accident and wetting themselves which can be mortifying. Obviously, the one toilet for six patients in a bay can be very busy" (nurse, HCP08).

Sub-theme 2: Access to patient

The nursing participants described that sometimes, despite having ample staff and the presence of a catheter removal order, it can be physically difficult to gain access to the patient to remove the catheter. Depending upon the location of catheter removal, such as at the bedside, the nearest toilet, or in the treatment room, barriers to gain access to the patient were described as visiting times, the patient physically being away from the ward for investigations, and protected meal times.

"Sometimes you physically can't get access to the patient to remove it. If a patient's got visitors, I wouldn't be able to take the catheter out because the family is sitting all around the patient and can be an obstacle. Or other times would be, if they went off for an X-ray, for scan, for any investigations, that would stop me from taking the catheter out delaying the catheter removal" (nurse, HCP10).

"Things like ward rounds, visiting times, medication rounds and protected meal times stops you from removing the catheter" (nurse, HCP06).

"Sometimes it can be difficult if the doctors say remove it now, they've just done a ward round and the meals arrive, I can't really remove it then because the meal times are protected, so I'll wait until after the lunch. Anyhow, it doesn't make much difference, but then if you get called away to something else, it all adds up" (nurse, HCP11).

Sub-theme 3: Staff resources- shortage

All participants' reported that there was no shortage of material resources in their clinical areas to do the catheter removal. However, during times when there is a shortage of staff resources, increased individual HCP workload added delays to catheter removal. The participants reflected the influential perception of risk, competing tasks with consequences for themselves if not completed by the end of their shift.

"People resources make a big difference. The nursing staff and healthcare assistants are always super busy. If they're short staffed on top, it doesn't facilitate a) taking them out swiftly, or b) being able to then cope with patients once they've had the catheters out if they need someone to walk with them to the toilet; or the commode to pass urine into. In situations like that leaving the catheter in becomes an easier option" (doctor, HCP12).

"We try to get the balance right when there's a lot to do. If we're a short-staffed that can often have a knock-on effect on getting the catheters out quickly because there's always other things that need to be prioritised first before I can go home" (nurse, HCP08).

Social Influences

The *Social influences* domain generated three sub-themes that were reported to affect delayed catheter removal. These were ward culture/group norms, staff attitudes concerning senior medical staff members' availability and approachability, the hierarchical structure linked to the catheter removal decision process, and the patient/family's involvement in the catheter removal process.

Sub-theme 1: Ward culture/group norms

The participants explained that the different cultures of patient management routines between medical and surgical wards can affect how frequently catheter are assessed for removal.

"Unlike surgical wards, medical ward rounds don't happen every day here. MDT rounds are once a week. We have three consultants on the ward and there are three MDTs, they each have one round a week. Their patients will be discussed at the MDT for catheter removal or we have to ring around to ask for the permission..." (nurse, HCP11).

"There's a cultural problem with specific wards; it's difficult to prescribe any change including prompt catheter removal to staff who are set in their ways" (nurse, HCP15).

Sub-theme 2: Staff attitudes

The nursing participants and junior doctors believed the approachability (attitudes) and the availability of medical staff to obtain a catheter removal order can affect the length of catheterisation.

"I wouldn't ring the consultant up, about the catheter and disturb them. I suppose it is a bit of a barrier that they're not there on the ward to consult freely and you have to wait until the ward round which happens only twice a week" (doctor, HCP12).

"...and you can't always get hold of the medical staff which doesn't help to get it out quickly" (nurse, HCP11).

Sub-theme 3: Hierarchical structure linked to catheter removal decision process

The catheter removal order primarily comes from the medical team which gets passed down to the nurses and healthcare assistants to perform the catheter removal procedure.

"Most of the time, the order would have to come from the senior medics, and what they want, because sometimes, they might not be too happy if you've gone ahead and removed the catheter. It's a very top-down approach" (nurse, HCP15).

Sub-theme 4: Patients' and families' involvement in the catheter removal process

The participants explained that occasionally patients inquire about their catheter removal. However, this was reported to be an infrequent practice, with a likelihood that some staff may feel challenged by being prompted by the patients. The participant's also highlighted that the family members of patients with high levels of dependence can be reluctant to have the catheter removed.

"Occasionally, when a patient asks about their catheter removal, some staff may think the patient is trying to tell you to do your job and not like being prompted, but in a way, they're not. They're just reminding us that it needs to come out" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

"I've come across before where they've said, "The family want it kept in," and it's been kept in for the family" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

"I've found that patient's families and relatives can sometimes be a barrier, because they've wanted it kept in, because when they have to look after a dependent patient who needs assistance for toileting, it's going to be easier for the family to manage with a catheter" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

Emotion

The barriers related to HCPs' emotions due to delay in catheter removal generated two types of feelings i.e. negative and indifferent.

Sub-theme 1: Negative feelings

A majority of the participants expressed that delay in catheter removal due to their forgetfulness generated anxiety, concern, disappointment, blaming themselves, guilt, and feeling bad for the patient.

"I probably would start to feel a bit anxious and concerned that I haven't taken the catheter out when I was supposed to" (nurse, HCP15).

"I would feel disappointed if I couldn't get the catheter out quick enough" (senior nurse, HCP08).

"Especially if there were detrimental effects to the patients with delayed catheter removal, then you would probably blame yourself" (healthcare assistant, HCP05).

"I'd feel guilty, I'd made a mistake and forgot to assess patient's catheter removal" (doctor, HCP12).

Sub-theme 2: Indifferent feelings

Two HCPs reported that if the catheter removal got delayed or was removed promptly, it did not affect the way they feel.

"It's easy to overlook, so I wouldn't feel much if it wasn't taken out on time" (doctor, HCP14).

"I don't think catheter coming out early or late would make us feel anything really. It's just one of those things if it's not necessary, there's no need for it to be there" (nurse, HCP07).

Research objective 2: enablers to prompt catheter removal practice

Four of the twelve domains identified enablers to the timing of catheter removal. These were: *Skills, Behaviour regulation, Social influences* and *Emotion*. A conceptual map of enablers within the domains and associated sub-themes has been illustrated in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Conceptual map of healthcare professional enablers to prompt catheter removal practice

Skills

Sub-theme 1: Procedural skill

In the presence of a removal order, HCPs from all professional backgrounds reported being highly competent at performing a catheter removal.

"Very confident to remove the catheters if I know it's ready to come out" (healthcare assistant, HCP05).

"I'm skilled in removing catheters. It's a simple procedure. I developed this skill through experience and being observed" (nurse, HCP10).

The catheter removal was perceived as a low risk, straightforward, and quick procedure.

"If I've got all my equipment, it would take me less than a minute. Deflate the balloon, pull it out, it's done. It's that quick" (doctor, HCP14).

Sub-theme 2: Good interpersonal and communication skills

Many participants recognised effective interpersonal and communication skills between peers and with the patients as enablers to facilitate prompt catheter removal. These skills were felt to be particularly important to HCPs given the intimate nature of the catheter removal procedure and having a good rapport to increase patients' compliance.

"In terms of interpersonal relationships, patients need to know when the catheter needs to be taken out, and obviously patient needs to give permission to do what is an intimate procedure; putting it in or taking it out" (doctor, HCP14).

"Interpersonal skills definitely play a part especially during the handover, so everybody knows whose catheter needs to be removed and when" (nurse, HCP10).

Nursing participants reported that good communication skills within the team members were also deemed essential for prompt catheter removal at the time of shift hand over and to approach medical staff to obtain the catheter removal order.

"Good communication amongst the team members helps to get it out quickly" (nurse, HCP07).

Behaviour regulation

The enablers reported in this domain to regulate prompt catheter removal behaviour generated two sub-themes. These were task lists and receiving reminders from colleagues and sometimes patients.

Sub-theme 1: Task lists and handover notes

The participants reported that having individual lists to remind themselves and team members helped them not only to regulate their catheter removal behaviour but also with other routine tasks that they had to complete during their shift. The lists were updated during the handover at the start of each shift.

"I write lists to remind me. I have got lots of lists of what to do as I go through the day, and I take off jobs as I get through them" (nurse, HCP09).

"Normally, we always have handover notes on a sheet which we update at the start of each shift, so we know what's needing done" (enrolled nurse, HCP03).

Sub-theme 2: Reminders and handover notes

Participants reported that reminders from colleagues, and sometimes also from patients, facilitated catheter removal.

"If I have forgotten, at some stage your colleague will say, "Have you taken the catheter out?" that's how it works. Whether it's via delegation or remembering to do it yourself from the handover sheet" (enrolled nurse, HCP03).

"If I've forgotten myself, sometimes a patient might remind me, it's a prompt for myself to remember to go and do this for them" (nurse, HCP16).

Social Influences

Three sub-themes were generated for the enablers related to the *Social influences* domain. The participants reported that professional support and positive influence from continence link nurse champions, senior medical and nursing staff as role models, and the patient/family's involvement helped with prompt catheter removal.

Sub-theme 1: Having a dedicated champion - a continence link nurse

The participants reported that on each ward there is one member of the nursing or ancillary staff designated to be the 'continence link member' with a remit to champion best catheter practice. The link member's role is perceived as a positive influence by HCPs to improve catheter removal practices and implement related guidelines. It was also suggested that there is room to maximise the potential of this role, whereby in the absence of medical staff, the link nurse could be the decision-maker and advocate daily removal assessments for prompt catheter removal, which is not yet the case.

"You've got catheter care link nurses on every ward, so to roll the guidelines out, link nurses would be ideal to get the process started" (specialist nurse, HCP01).

"I would say, on the ward, it will be very useful to have somebody with a specialist role like continence link nurses, who can review every single catheter on the ward on daily basis to advocate prompt removal. Especially when ward rounds happen on a very ad-hoc basis on medical wards to discuss catheter removal routinely" (doctor, HCP14).

One of the study participants, also a continence link member, described that, at present, this role is taken on a voluntary basis. They perceived that championing best catheter practice was not always possible due to a lack of dedicated time for this role and that they had to perform this role on top of their normal duties.

"I took this role voluntarily like five years ago, and with anything I do, I always try and meet high standards, good practice, and then develop ways to make it easy for staff and improve systems and that. This is why I developed the audit. But you can only do so much when you don't always get dedicated time for doing it properly. On top you have to get on with all your normal jobs", (healthcare assistant; continence link member, HCP13).

Sub-theme 2: Having role models

The participants reported that having senior members of the nursing and medical staff on a ward, who questioned the presence of urinary and other invasive catheters (drains, intravenous cannulas), is an effective way of facilitating the conduct of daily assessments and

prompt catheter removal. The participant spoke from their previous experience from working on a particular ward, but it was reported to be an uncommon scenario.

"The senior staff like consultants and ward sisters play a big part. One of the wards I worked on was cardiology at the xxx hospital. There was very much of culture there, of having as little as possible inside the patient. If someone had a catheter, it got reviewed daily, because the consultant wouldn't have it any other way. As soon as it goes in, it's questioned, "Why is it in? Does it need to stay in? When can it come out?" That really prompted us, throughout my time on that ward, to make sure that people only had those things in when they were necessary" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

"Facilitators would be- senior staff fostering a culture to get all the lines out ASAP just like the cardiology ward I mentioned. It's not common on other wards. If they foster a culture where these kinds of things are kept to a minimum where possible, I think it would help to get the catheters removed quicker and promote good practice" (doctor, HCP14).

Sub-theme 3: Patient and family influence

Some participants reported patients' and families' involvement in the catheter removal process as an enabler.

"Patients do ask sometimes if their catheter can come out but not all of them ask. When they do, you think about it and that's a good thing. So that could be another thing; educating patients to get involved, also" (doctor, HCP14).

"Sometimes the family will ask "when's this catheter coming out?" Especially when we're talking about discharge. So there's a link down there, relatives for patient helps us in getting it out" (nurse, HCP10).

Emotion

The participants reported that timely catheter removal generates positive feelings in terms of job satisfaction.

Sub-theme 1: Job satisfaction

"Taking the catheter out promptly would make me feel good. You feel as if you're carrying out an efficient service carried out with high standards of care and reducing potential complications that could occur" (nursing ward manager, HCP02).

"Yes, I do take the initiative to get the catheters out quickly because I love the role that I'm in and be patient's advocate" (healthcare assistant, HCP13).

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Summary of main findings

To my current knowledge, this is the first study to use the TDF to provide new insights to HCPs' behaviours concerning catheter removal practice. The study aimed to explore current local catheter removal practices and identify barriers and enablers to HCPs' behaviours concerning catheter removal. The results show that there is no provision of baseline guidance on the timing of catheter removal. Local, national and international guidance on catheter removal lacks specificity on the timing of catheter removal. This could be one of the governing factors behind reported variations in catheter removal practices. Encompassed within 12 domains of the TDF, the barriers to prompt catheter removal were identified within ten domains: *Knowledge; Social/professional role and identity; Nature of the behaviour; Beliefs about capabilities; Beliefs about consequences; Motivation and goals; Memory, attention and decision processes; Environmental context and resources; Social influences; and Emotion.* Enablers to this clinical behaviour were best represented in four domains: *Skills, Behaviour regulation, Social influences,* and *Emotion.* Two domains, *Social influences* and *Emotion,* identified barriers as well as enablers.

4.5.2 Strengths and limitations

The study has a number of strengths. This was a novel study to understand HCPs' behaviourrelated barriers and enablers linked to delays in catheter removal, which is one of the main reasons for catheter-related infections. The results identified in this study fill a gap in the literature and point to clear opportunities for a theory-based intervention.

The criteria-based sampling approach ensured a diversity of HCPs' perspectives were captured. These varied perspectives contribute important insights to the current understanding about catheter removal practice and what influences best practice. Methodologically, this study illustrates a systematic and replicable, theory-linked approach to collate evidence, as recommended by the UK Medical Research Council to design and evaluate complex interventions. The TDF was applied to design and analyse the interviews, providing broad theoretical coverage and a conceptual basis for assessing implementation problems which are capable of drawing out beliefs that can signify potential mediators to behaviour change (Francis et al., 2012). This was a useful methodological approach for exploring HCPs' behavioural determinants which can link to theory/theories for developing theory-based interventions (Rothman, 2004). For example, the TDF domain *Beliefs about capabilities* maps onto the 'self-efficacy' construct in the Social Cognitive Theory for cognitive development and functioning (Bandura, 1993). The barrier identified within this domain, such as nurses' and junior doctors' inability to make the catheter removal decision, can be addressed using specific behaviour change techniques to enable them to perform this behaviour (Wood et al., 2015). Moving forward, the systematic approach can continue with further steps, where identified modifiable barriers can be targeted in a behaviour change intervention via the use of specific behaviour change techniques (French et al., 2012) in addition to addressing the gap in local, national and European guidelines to optimise catheter removal practice.

To avoid a superficial application of the domains (Francis *et al.*, 2012) the study had consensus input from two experienced health psychologists, one at the study design and development of the interview schedule stage and the second as an independent second coder. In addition, multidisciplinary consensus discussions critiqued the data collection tool and emerging analysis.

However, like any research, this study also had some potential limitations. The possibility of selection bias has been recognised (Collier and Mahoney, 1996). The ways to overcome selection bias were considered by clear identification of study population, and seeking a diversity of views to capture the breadth of perspectives from nursing, medical and ancillary staff members' involved in the catheter removal process.

In common with most qualitative research studies, the results presented here were derived from a relatively small number of participants. However, the background, setting, and level of participants' professional experience were varied to obtain wider views. The results may be considered limited due to the study being conducted in a single organisation, as different hospitals have different resources, cultures and pressures on staff and their workload. However, due to the large size of the secondary care NHS organisation, HCPs from multiple wards, diverse professional backgrounds and different specialities were included. The findings correspond to secondary care nursing, medical and support staff HCPs, however the results might bear some common barriers with HCPs in the community setting who care for patients with short-term urinary catheters i.e. nursing homes and community rehabilitation services. Although, despite this, the findings should be carefully considered allowing for: differences in catheter insertion indications between the community and secondary care patients, resource allocation, and the difference in professional roles and identity. For example, nursing home settings are mostly nurse-led with empowered work teams (Yeatts and Cready, 2007) where nurses can make catheter removal decisions as well as doing the removal procedure; as identified in the qualitative study reported in this chapter, this is not always the case in a secondary care setting. Nevertheless, the methodological approach taken in the present study could be used in future research in other settings.

4.5.3 Findings in relation to previous research

This study recognised the importance of appraising local, national and international guidance and identifying HCPs' behaviour-related barriers and enablers to the timing of catheter removal (see Figures 4.1 and 4.2).

Appraisal of guidance documents and current catheter removal practices

The appraisal of the current UK guidance highlights that there is no specific information on the timing of catheter removal provided to HCPs (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014; Loveday *et al.*, 2014), which is likely to be the reason for variations in the local catheter removal practices highlighted in this research. In contrast to the UK guidance, American CDC guidance suggests catheter removal within 24 hours unless there is a documented indication for continued catheterisation (Gould *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, it was identified that there was local guidance on 'how to insert and maintain a catheter' but no guidance available on 'when to remove a catheter'. Consequently, removing the catheter within 24 hours of insertion or conducting daily assessments for its removal is deficient in routine clinical practice locally.

Although there are no specific indications in the UK guidance on the timing of removal, the guidance suggests that HCPs are required to conduct daily catheter removal assessments and document the indication for a catheter's continued use until its removal. Current practice appears to be out of step with the recommended guidance, whereby considerable variation in the timing of catheter removal practices was identified as relating to catheters being removed at either midnight or in the early morning. This practice and related variations are neither evidence-based (Tenke et al., 2011; Gross et al., 2007) nor supported by the guidance (Loveday et al., 2014; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014; Gould et al., 2010). Guidance suggests that catheters should be reviewed regularly and removed as soon as possible (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014). Waiting to remove the catheter until midnight or 6am the next morning further prolongs the length of catheterisation (Wyman, 1987). In general, HCPs are eager to insert a catheter rather than considering alternative methods for bladder drainage. However, a comparable eagerness is not observed in their behaviour towards catheter removal (Lo et al., 2008). Despite the national and global initiatives, HCPs' behaviour regarding promptly removing catheters remains inadequate and is not in line with preventive strategies to improve CAUTI rates (Meddings et al., 2014).

Study participants described the effects of a relatively new local practice in Urology, TWOC, in which patients are discharged home after surgery with a catheter in-situ; patients are required to return to the hospital for a TWOC appointment (at a clinic on a day ward) during which the

catheter is removed. This approach has both positive and negative impacts. The benefits of this approach were envisaged to be a reduction in hospital duration, a reduction in associated complications from prolonged hospitalisation, and freeing-up bed space to take on new patients to reduce waiting lists. However, removing the catheter after a patient has been discharged home was reported to increase the duration of catheterisation (in some cases by an additional two weeks) due to a lack of appointments caused by an excessive case-load in nurse-led TWOC clinics (Mariappan *et al.*, 2007). These delays put patients at an increased risk of developing CAUTIS (Gokula *et al.*, 2004). Prolonged catheter duration, as a consequence of this practice, can lead to a rise in catheter infections and related complications including the transient atrophy of bladder muscles (lazy bladder) (Gould *et al.*, 2010).

Over time, the relative advantage of shortening hospital duration versus prolonging catheter duration may not achieve the desired effect that was originally envisaged by the clinicians. The evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis (Yu *et al.*, 2018) suggests that early catheter removal can be done safely in patients who have undergone transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) without significantly increasing morbidity, such as haemorrhage (RR 1.07, 95% CI 0.54 to 2.13) and risk of re-catheterisation (RR 1.12, 95% CI 0.73 to 1.72), while shortening the hospital stay. On the other hand, this review reported delayed removal to be associated with increased CAUTIs (RR 0.46, 95% CI 0.24 to 0.91) and longer hospital stays (SMD -1.33, 95% CI -2.22 to -0.44) (Yu et al., 2018). Although this review reflects the isolated clinical scenario of TURP procedures, it still necessitates further assessment and evaluation of this practice. To avoid delays in scheduling TWOC clinic appointments, home removal of urethral catheters is an avenue that could be explored in future. The feasibility of urethral catheter removal at home by parents of paediatric patients has been tested as an alternative to catheter removal by an HCP (Braungart and Goyal, 2019). This study reported minimising the anxiety and inconvenience instigated by delays in getting a clinic appointment for catheter removal. The same scenario could be extrapolated to cover the 'home with a catheter' population.

Barriers to prompt catheter removal

There was a considerable difference in the levels of knowledge among doctors and nurses regarding catheter duration, particularly on the microbiological aspect of CAUTI development.

This may have played a significant part in prolonging catheter duration (Loveday *et al.*, 2014). Nurses may be less informed because the microbiological aspect of catheter infections is neither covered in the pre-registration nursing programme curriculum (Francis and O'Brien, 2019) nor at the local hospitals in-house training programme for nurses. If HCPs are unaware of the mechanisms of CAUTI development, which are related to longer catheter duration, they are less likely to remove catheters promptly or perceive the delay as causing harm to patients by leaving the catheter in-situ unnecessarily (for a few extra hours, the entire shift, or in excess of 24 hours). This knowledge gap affects HCPs' beliefs about consequences, which in turn affects their intention, asserting an intention to knowledge gap (Orbell *et al.*, 1997) and ultimately affects the target behaviour.

In addition to the absence of local guidance on catheter removal, HCPs' (especially nurses) were uncertain of the national guidance. This also suggests that nurses are more likely to be aware of the local policies and guidelines rather than national guidelines. Although participants were uncertain about the content of national guidance, at present (2019), as discussed earlier, the UK guidance on short-term urinary catheters lacks specific advice on the timing of catheter removal (Loveday *et al.*, 2014; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014). In comparison, Jain *et al.'s* study also reported that doctors' knowledge was significantly better than nurses' (2015) which validates the findings reported in this chapter. The differences in HCPs' knowledge is most likely due to variations in the training content provided to doctors and nurses, and a lack of clarity in guidelines, highlighting the need for streamlined guidance on the timing of catheter removal. Providing HCPs with more knowledge on these factors is necessary but not sufficient on its own to be translated into practice (Kristensen *et al.*, 2016).

Overuse of catheters and prolonged catheter duration have been associated not only with convenience for nursing staff (Apisarnthanarak *et al.*, 2007; Saint *et al.*, 2002; Jain *et al.*, 1995) but also with patients' preferences (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012; Safdar *et al.*, 2016). Some nursing participants reported favouring the ongoing use of a urinary catheter for patients with poor or reduced mobility who need a staff member's assistance for toileting. This finding was confirmed by the doctors who participated in the study. Some nurses reasoned that their rationale to leave the catheter in for longer was for the patient's safety rather than convenience for staff, citing the prevention of falls in patients with poor mobility when there

are insufficient staff members to assist with toileting. However, enhancing patient safety by prolonging catheter duration remains to be debated against patients suffering from CAUTIs and their management. Continuation of the catheter to prevent falls has been highlighted as a 'well-intended' misconception by Lo and colleagues (2014). Falls can be prevented by implementing strategies such as instructing patients to request assistance, providing patients with non-slip footwear, and keeping the path to the toilet free of obstacles (Lo *et al.*, 2014). A catheter can hinder early ambulation by confining patients to bed (Calotta *et al.*, 2018) with a possible loss of autonomy if an elderly patient is willing to use the toilet but refrained by staff for fear of falling. Patients' views should be taken into consideration when considering options to manage their incontinence (Dingwall and McLafferty, 2006).

Barriers linked to the Social/professional role and identity, Beliefs about capabilities, and Social influences

The distinction between medical, nursing, and ancillary professional roles provided useful insight into professional capabilities and social influences around the catheter removal process. This study highlights that the decision to remove a catheter is primarily made by the medical staff (in some cases by senior nursing staff), while the actual catheter removal procedure is performed by the nursing and/or ancillary staff. The results presented here support findings from previous research on the hierarchical structure of the catheter removal decision-making process as a barrier to prompt catheter removal (Ballard *et al.*, 2018). The hierarchical structure has a top-down approach and nurses' inability, and perhaps unwillingness, to make catheter removal decisions adds delays to catheter removal. This is in a context where nurses have to obtain a catheter removal order from medical staff who are not readily available on the ward. Therefore, a patient who may be able to manage without a catheter will experience further delay to its removal.

Simplifying the process to optimise decision-making by empowering nursing staff to make catheter removal decisions independently could facilitate more timely catheter removal (Adams *et al.*, 2012). Through support and education (Wood, 2018), nursing empowerment, achieved via the leadership and development of nurse-driven protocols, is an area with significant potential yet requires further development (Richardson and Storr, 2010). Improving the perceived autonomy of junior nursing and medical staff, their professional confidence and ability to approach senior colleagues to obtain a catheter removal order, is an

option that can be enhanced in an intervention (Bedwell *et al.*, 2015). Nurses can play an influential role as the advocates for care quality and patient safety initiatives, including the reduction of CAUTIS (Parry *et al.*, 2013), taking into account that they spend more time with patients than doctors and are up to date with how rapidly the patient is making progress from the recovery perspective.

A lack of peer-support, staff attitudes, and the nurse/physician relationship (cultural norms) in relation to standard catheterisation practice have been highlighted as the potential contributory factors to patient safety (Laschinger and Leiter, 2006). The current findings are in support of this research, whereby approachability of senior medical staff influenced the ability of junior HCPs to obtain a catheter removal order (lack of social support). Junior nurses and doctors indicated a reluctance to approach senior medical colleagues regarding a patient's catheter removal, especially when the physician/surgeon was away from the ward. Discussing or obtaining a catheter removal order over the telephone was perceived by HCPs as a disturbance to their work for a benign (non-urgent) problem. However, evidence suggests that delaying catheter removal when it is no longer required is one of the reasons for developing CAUTIS (Gokula *et al.*, 2004). These findings also link with inter-professional miscommunications and related poor patient outcomes (Foronda *et al.*, 2016).

However, as described in the enablers section below, poor communication and a lack of support from senior colleagues (social support) was not always the case. On certain wards, senior medical and nursing staff were seen as role models who influenced nurses' and doctors' practices (Croxon and Maginnis, 2009; Laschinger and Leiter, 2006; Wright *et al.*, 1997) and encouraged their teams to practice prompt catheter removal. This also includes nurses in infection and prevention control and continence link nurse roles who champion prompt catheter removal and reducing CAUTIS (Sopirala *et al.*, 2014; Thompson and Smith, 2002). These dedicated roles have the potential to increase awareness amongst colleagues regarding infection control and continence issues within their respective clinical areas and motivate staff to improve practice (Dawson, 2003). However, it has been highlighted that the full potential of these roles is not always achieved due to barriers such as conflicting clinical priorities, a lack of a well-defined role description, varying staff approaches to managing urinary continence, and insufficient time for training (Dingwall and McLafferty, 2006).

Barriers linked to Motivation and goals, Memory, attention and decision processes, and Environmental factors and resources

There was considerable overlap across these three domains. Whilst previous research has highlighted the impact of high job demands on HCP motivation (Nico and Mariët, 2003), the effect of low staffing levels has a more substantial impact on resources in terms of poor patient outcomes and subsequent costs of treatment (Griffiths *et al.*, 2018; Cho *et al.*, 2003; Thungjaroenkul *et al.*, 2007). The study reported in this chapter builds on these findings by suggesting that staffing levels may impact motivation levels, as well as memory, attention and decision processes, to promptly remove catheters.

Nursing participants reported that catheters were more likely to be removed quickly if the catheter removal order was already in place, compared to nurses having to initiate the catheter removal process when medical staff were not around. An explanation for this might be time constraints in making contact with the medical team to seek a removal order. Resources, in terms of low staffing levels, increased individual HCPs' workloads. This affected their motivation and goals to promptly remove the catheter by pushing catheter removal low down on the priority task list in order to meet competing demands. This links with the findings discussed earlier, that knowledge alone is not enough to translate evidence into practice (Orbell *et al.*, 1997) and competing demands/workload can interfere with HCPs motivation (Nico and Mariët, 2003). HCPs may have been knowledgeable about catheters and related infections, but workload issues would still prevent the prioritisation of catheter removal by necessitating task-switching to meet competing, pressing demands (Walter *et al.*, 2014). This is an important consideration to bear in mind when planning an intervention for HCPs.

Patient factors, such as unwillingness to have their catheter removed, a lack of concern and the convenience of staying in bed, also affected HCP motivation to promptly remove the catheter. These findings build on previous qualitative research looking at patients' perspectives on indwelling urinary catheter use in the hospital, which found that patients perceived indwelling urinary catheters as a device of convenience that helped them to pass urine without having to go to the toilet (Safdar *et al.*, 2016), especially in the post-operative period after surgery (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012).

To address HCP forgetfulness, much of the previous research indicates that criteria-based reminders and stop orders appear to reduce the rate of CAUTIs and has been recommended to be considered as a patient safety intervention (Meddings et al., 2010; Meddings et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2013; Ranji et al., 2007). Inappropriate catheters are often forgotten about more than those with an appropriate indication (Saint et al., 2000). Reminders to HCPs, either generated by computer or on paper (Arditi et al., 2017) or from patients (Bhardwaj et al., 2012), could help in bringing catheter removal to the forefront of HCPs' minds and remind them to remove the catheter when it is no longer required. As reported in a systematic review, studies have implemented reminder systems to tackle forgetfulness in an attempt to reduce catheter duration and prevent CAUTIs (Meddings et al., 2010). A cluster RCT with a pre and post design measured the effects of reminder messages on excessive primary-care radiology referrals by including 244 general practices in the UK (Eccles et al., 2001). The findings showed that a routine educational reminder message to radiographers is an effective way of reducing excessive referrals, without affecting the quality of referrals. In contrast to these studies, participants in the study reported in this chapter perceived general computer-based reminders to cause disruption when trying to access a patient's electronic medical record and were often disregarded to complete the task at hand. This finding is supported by a longitudinal qualitative study where general practice clinicians found the computerised decision support system clinically unhelpful and difficult to use (Rousseau et al., 2003). In the context of current study, addressing forgetfulness alone would not be sufficient. Because there are several other issues identified related to professional roles/hierarchy, convenience, workload, and competing demands. Even if HCPs are reminded, there is the potential that catheters will still not be removed promptly due to these issues.

However, criteria-based and on-screen reminders have shown to be more effective in reducing CAUTIs than no intervention (Meddings *et al.*, 2014; Chen *et al.*, 2013). Literature suggests that reminders are more likely to be effective where a response is required before acting or disregarding, over reminders that do not require a response (Shojania *et al.*, 2010; Gordon *et al.*, 1998). Reminders accompanied with tailored interventions that target specific behaviours and those which were developed with the involvement of target clinicians are more likely to be effective than those developed without their participation (Forberg *et al.*, 2016; Gordon *et al.*, 1998). When considering reminder interventions to enhance the safety of catheterised patients, perhaps the reminder content should be developed with an explicit

rather than implicit approach, including an explanation justified by reference to an influential source deemed credible by clinicians.

The participants in this study perceived reminders from patients for catheter removal with mixed thoughts. Some participants perceived patient reminders to potentially have a negative effect, while others saw it as an opportunity to remove the catheter if they had forgotten to remove it in the first instance. Negative feelings amongst HCPs and patients have been reported to potentially cause tension and mistrust in the patient-provider relationship (Hrisos and Thomson, 2013). Future interventions targeted at HCPs should perhaps focus on promoting an open culture and encouraging patients to engage in the safety aspect of their care (acting as safety buffers), whilst the ultimate responsibility for patient safety remains with the HCP (Davis *et al.*, 2007). As per a Cochrane systematic review, the effectiveness of strategies to change organisational culture by changing healthcare performance remains inconclusive and recommends future research efforts should focus on effective methods to strengthen the evidence in this field (Parmelli *et al.*, 2011). This recommendation should be considered when designing an intervention to target organisational cultures.

Enablers to prompt catheter removal

Four domains identified enablers i.e. *Skills, Behaviour regulation, Social influences and Emotion.* The study participants from all professional background were highly skilled in catheter removal, and perceived it as a low-risk, quick procedure, as detailed in the Royal Marsden manual of clinical nursing procedures (Dougherty and Lister, 2015). The participants reported that there are additional skills necessary in the catheter removal process such as communication and interpersonal skills to initiate the catheter removal process, to obtain the removal order, or during performing the catheter removal procedure to increase the patient's compliance. This finding links with the existing literature, whereby good communication (Moore *et al.*, 2004) and interpersonal skills (Arnold and Boggs, 2015) have been identified as enablers to delivering patient care effectively.

The HCP participants in the present qualitative study explained that certain strategies enabled them to regulate their catheter removal practices. These were: individual task lists, handover notes, and reminders from colleagues and occasionally from patients. The handover practices have been previously evaluated and their importance has been highlighted to ensure

important patient information is not lost or misinterpreted during staff change-over (Talbot and Bleetman, 2007). The handover notes and task lists also help in retaining information and are an effective tool to cope with an increasing workload (Fisher *et al.*, 2017; Talbot and Bleetman, 2007). Reminders from colleagues and sometimes from patients, also helped the participants, which has been highlighted as an enabler for prompt catheter removal in much of the previous research (Meddings *et al.*, 2014; Meddings *et al.*, 2010; Chen *et al.*, 2013; Gordon *et al.*, 1998; Forberg *et al.*, 2016; Shojania *et al.*, 2010).

The study participants associated prompt catheter removal with positive emotions and job satisfaction. In line with this finding, the existing research presents positive emotions as a strong predictor of job satisfaction (Fisher, 2000). Support from senior members of the nursing and medical teams was perceived positively by the study participants and, in some cases, the senior team members were perceived as role models who championed prompt catheter removal. This is in line with current evidence whereby role modelling has been identified as a powerful strategy to improve professional performance (Cruess *et al.*, 2008). However, it is important to note that role models were not the norm according to the HCP participants; they did not generally exist in every ward to encourage timely catheter removal. This finding builds on existing research where role models have been described as an elusive concept (Speizer, 1981) and signify the need for more role models to promote best practices (Cruess *et al.*, 2008; Lockwood, 2006).

In addition to support from peers and seniors, participants also highlighted the importance of the continence link nurse role, a designated member of the nursing or ancillary staff on each ward who promotes best catheter care practice. Previous research has shown that the daily intentional rounds conducted by designated monitors have proven to reduce catheter duration and incidence of CAUTIS (Mabolo *et al.*, 2014; Saint *et al.*, 2014). However, the study participants believed that the role of continence link nurses in their organisation was underutilised and had greater potential to champion prompt catheter removal than was currently being demonstrated. The link nurses focused on auditing catheter documentation rather than being vigilant to unnecessary catheter insertions and monitoring catheter duration. This may be because the link nurses did not have a well-defined role description or dedicated time; this could be addressed as an element in an intervention strategy.

Some of the study participants were in favour of patients' and families' involvement in the catheter removal process. HCPs in favour of receiving prompts from patients and family members saw this as an opportunity to get past their forgetfulness (Turner *et al.*, 1994). Patients' involvement in the catheter removal process, therefore, needs further exploration. Reminders from patients may prove to be an effective intervention function to explore in the future intervention to overcome HCPs' forgetfulness (Saint *et al.*, 2005).

4.5.4 Implications

Practice and policy

The study findings identified barriers and enablers related to HCP's behaviours regarding short-term urinary catheter removal. Clinically, it shows that the current practice, even in a sample of participants who may be more positive about this practice, is not evidence-based. Given that the study participants often described the need for change in catheter removal practices, this research indicates that individual practices are likely to be modifiable. The barriers identified in this study present potential opportunities to develop an intervention that would address entire complexities attached to the catheter removal process, rather than addressing single barriers in isolation e.g. reminder interventions to target HCP forgetfulness alone. The comprehensive barriers identified in this study have the potential to facilitate intervention development to address the current evidence-practice gap. With implementation strategies, the intervention may help to bring sustained long-term improvement in clinical practice, which has not been achieved by the existing interventions.

The lack of clear guidance on 'when the catheter should be removed' is seen as a grey area by the study participants. The implication for local and national (UK) clinical guidelines is to provide more definitive parameters on the timing of catheter removal. Guidelines could be designed to be more similar to those outlined in the American CDC guidance, necessitating amendments to current guidance to provide clear instructions to clinicians specifying the timing of catheter removal (within 24 hours) or well-defined clinical indications for their continued use.

Future research

The findings presented here are of an exploratory and interpretive nature and highlight a number of opportunities for future research, both in terms of 1) addressing variations in care, and 2) breaking down the identified barriers to target this important clinical problem with a behaviour change intervention. The barriers investigated with the use of the TDF provided a theoretical base to move the findings forward, whereby key domains related to the identified barriers can be mapped onto specific behaviour change techniques that are likely to influence catheter removal behaviour and facilitate the selection of components of a theory-driven intervention. To inform scalability and generalisability in a wider setting, future research could involve conducting a survey to assess which theoretical constructs best predict catheter duration. The results from this interview study could be triangulated with questionnaire responses completed by HCPs on a larger scale to assess further generalisability of results and target a large scale, national quality improvement initiative.

The results of the study reported in this chapter also highlight the need for exploring patient engagement and the role of patients in the catheter removal process. The study participants identified several patient-related factors which affect the timing of catheter removal, such as reminders from patients and their willingness to have their catheter removed promptly. Therefore, with a joint rounded approach, recognising patient involvement as a key stakeholder is vital, and should be considered as an important component for an intervention to improve their safety and health outcomes. The prospect of increasing patient involvement in the catheter removal process may also bring about a reduction in CAUTIs. This avenue was pursued in this doctoral research programme, via conducting a separate interview study with patients, and is presented in chapter five.

4.6 Conclusion

This study explored barriers and enablers to the timing of catheter removal in a TDF-based interview study with HCP, in addition to a review of the related current guidance. The key barriers were identified within ten TDF domains and enablers within four TDF domains. There was an overlap between two domains; *Social influences* and *Emotion*, which identified barriers as well as enablers.

The sub-themes related to barriers identified: an absence of local guidelines on catheter removal, national guidance being poorly defined/vague and insufficiently known by HCPs, a lack of microbiological knowledge (evidence-base) for CAUTI development in relation to prolonged catheter duration (Knowledge); a hierarchy in the catheter removal decisionmaking process adding complexity to the removal process (Social/professional role and *identity*); variations in current removal practice (midnight or 6am removal) compared to recommended behaviours in existing guidance (*Nature of the behaviour*); nurses' inability to make catheter removal decisions (Beliefs about capabilities); patients' dependence on catheters and using the catheter as a device of convenience for both staff and patients (Beliefs about consequences); competing demands affecting HCPs' motivation to promptly remove catheters (Motivation and goals); forgetfulness to remove catheters, competing demands affecting decision processes resulting in catheter removal being perceived as a low priority task (Memory attention, and decision processes); ward layout, availability of toilets and patients requiring staff assistance after catheter removal in relation to low staff levels (Environmental context and resources); staff attitudes to obtain catheter removal order, ward culture and patient/family influence (Social influences); and indifference to prolonged catheter removal (Emotion).

The sub-themes related to key enablers were identified in four domains: HCPs being highly skilled at removing catheters and perceived good communication and interpersonal skills to promote prompt catheter removal (*Skills*); the use of handover notes, daily task lists, and verbal reminders from colleagues and sometimes patients helped in prompt removal (*Behaviour regulation*); senior and specialised colleagues as role models and patients' involvement in prompt removal of catheter (*Social influences*); and positive emotions related to job satisfaction generated by removing the catheter promptly (*Emotion*).

The study data can help clinicians, implementation researchers, and policymakers develop a tailored, behaviour-change intervention and implement strategies to improve quality of care by addressing the barriers identified in this study while enhancing the enablers.

4.7 Link to other chapters

- This work highlighted the need for further qualitative research to:
 - Determine patient engagement behaviours related to the timing of catheter removal (chapter five)
 - Cross-validation of patient-related factors highlighted by HCPs in the current study on timing of catheter removal (chapter five)
- Possible intervention development strategies to address identified modifiable barriers on to for future research work (chapter six)

Chapter 5. Barriers and enablers to patient engagement behaviours for the prompt removal of urinary catheters: A Theoretical Domains Framework-based interview study with hospitalised patients

5.1 Abstract

Background

Reducing catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) takes priority in the worldwide drive to reduce hospital-acquired infections. Prolonged catheter duration increases the risk of bacterial colonisation (day-by-day), which is associated with a higher risk of CAUTI. Early catheter removal can effectively reduce CAUTIs, but the current median duration of UK postoperative catheterisation remains higher than the recommended standard. A theorybased approach to understanding barriers and enablers to patient communication behaviours may facilitate prompt catheter removal and reduce CAUTI incidence.

Methods

A qualitative study with hospitalised patients from medical and surgical wards in the North East of England, requiring short-term catheterisation (≤14days). The interviews were semi-structured designed with the use of the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) and conducted on a one-to-one basis.

Results

A number of barriers were identified within the 12 domains of the TDF. Two domains: *Beliefs about consequences* and *Social influences* identified both barriers and enablers. The findings showed that patients do not routinely engage with their health care professionals (HCPs) for catheter removal (*Nature of the behaviour*). Nine domains identified further barriers: a lack of knowledge around functionality and risks from catheterisation (*Knowledge*); the perceived patient role and hierarchy amongst HCP roles in making catheter removal decision (*Social/professional role and identity*); a lack of confidence to ask questions and inability to manage without a catheter (*Beliefs about capabilities*); a catheter being perceived as an object of convenience (*Beliefs about consequences*); the patient's decision to delay asking questions related to staff members' attitudes and their competing demands (*Memory, attention and decision processes*); the availability and distance to the toilets in relation to a patient's reduced mobility (*Environment*); staff shortages (resources) to assist patients with toileting needs (*Environmental context and resources*); family influence, social pressure from fellow patients and HCPs' competing demands, hierarchical structure amongst staff (*Social influence*); anticipated regret and negative emotions if suffered from catheter infection due to lack of

engagement (*Emotion*); and, finally, the 'to whom' and 'when' context regarding engaging with staff (*Behaviour regulation*). Four domains identified enablers to patients' general engagement behaviour. These were: interpersonal skills i.e. a good rapport with staff (*Skills*); positive outcome expectancies (*Beliefs about consequences*); motivation to ask questions if the patient wanted to speed up their discharge process or experienced difficulties with their catheter (*Motivation and goals*); and social support from the family (*Social influence*).

Conclusions

This study identified a range of barriers and enablers to patient engagement with HCPs regarding their catheter removal. These barriers can inform the basis for developing a targeted behaviour change intervention, to encourage and empower patients to remind HCPs, for timely catheter removal and to enhance their safety while in hospital.
5.2 Introduction

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) are one of the most prevalent types of healthcare-acquired infections (HAIs) (Zarb *et al.*, 2012; Magill *et al.*, 2014) accounting for 19% of HAIs. Between 43-56% of UTIs are associated with a urinary catheter (Hopkins, 2012). Catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) are a considerable burden on patients, causing distress, discomfort and avoidable morbidity. Furthermore, they are a burden on the healthcare system, leading to a substantial, yet avoidable, financial impact on resources for: diagnostic tests, antibiotic treatment, length of hospital stay, added staff costs and treatment of sepsis in severe cases (Pickard *et al.*, 2012b).

The effects of CAUTIs appear to be more significant in older patients, causing problems such as confusion, cognitive impairment and delirium; these can increase distress, not only for patients but also for relatives and healthcare professionals (HCPs) (Petrino *et al.*, 2018; Lo *et al.*, 2014). Delirium can be misdiagnosed as symptoms of dementia/cognitive impairment (Yoshikawa, 1984; Inouye *et al.*, 1990). It can significantly increase comorbidities via loss of bladder control, increased risk of falls with subsequent complications such as fractures and cerebral bleeding (Petrino *et al.*, 2018). All of this reduces overall patient confidence, causes delays in returning to baseline activities and increases functional dependence on discharge which can result in altered discharge destination and increased mortality (Muzzi-Bjornson and Macera, 2011; Wise, 2002; Bader *et al.*, 2017).

The implementation of three key infection prevention strategies as per the epic3 evidencebased guidance statements on urinary catheters (UC) i.e. avoidance of catheter use by using alternative methods (statement UC1), aseptic catheter insertion (statement UC7), and shortened duration of catheterisation (statement UC23) (Loveday *et al.*, 2014) have been associated with a 50% reduction in hospital CAUTIs (Dudeck *et al.*, 2011; Burton *et al.*, 2011; Lo *et al.*, 2014). Long periods of catheterisation increase the chances of developing infection by approximately 5% per day (Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). Reducing catheter duration is, therefore, an effective strategy to reduce infection risk. However, adopting guidance to safely remove a catheter early requires a multifaceted and collaborative approach to understand factors that may interfere with or support adoption from the perspective of

both HCPs (care providers) and patients (care receivers) to change current ways of practice (Yokoe *et al.*, 2014; Lo *et al.*, 2014; Mullin *et al.*, 2016).

The launch of the Institute of Medicine's report on medical errors 'To Err Is Human' pioneered the modern patient-safety movement towards building a safer health system by avoiding medical errors (Kohn et al., 2000). Since then, increased pressures have been posed on healthcare organisations, such as robust accreditation standards and increased requirements for error reporting, to enhance patient safety (Wachter, 2009). A vast amount of research has been conducted in the fields of patient engagement in preventing errors and for improving the quality of care (Armstrong et al., 2013). Patient engagement and shared-decision making have been increasingly recognised as a means to improve patient safety and have been shown to be beneficial in reducing harm (Longtin et al., 2010; Schwappach, 2010). The research suggests that engagement and patient-centeredness in a healthcare system can only be achieved if shared-decision making is acknowledged and supported mutually by HCPs and patients (Vaismoradi et al., 2015). A narrative review highlights patient empowerment as the key component to enable shared and more equitable decision-making in the design, planning and co-production of healthcare, enabling patients to raise concerns and ask questions about their care (Ocloo and Matthews, 2016). The quality improvement initiatives are more likely to be successful and sustainable if patients have been involved in the design and implementation of interventions as key stakeholders (Health Foundation, 2013) as demonstrated in a Kidney Quality Improvement initiative in a renal clinical setting (Ormandy et al., 2015; Wells and Lipkin, 2016).

Findings from a systematic review, which included 17 empirical research papers (four qualitative, one mixed-method and 12 quantitative studies), showed that patients are generally able and willing to take part in patient safety initiatives given that patients have sufficient knowledge about their condition and the care they receive to participate (Vaismoradi *et al.*, 2015). The authors used the theoretical domains of *"Vincent's framework for analysing risk and safety in clinical practice: 'patient', 'healthcare provider', 'task', 'work environment' and 'organisation & management''' (Vaismoradi <i>et al.*, 2015, p.627). The findings also highlighted that nurses' positive attitudes and support are important elements in order to encourage patients to take part in safety measures. The findings also highlighted that nurses and support are important elements in order to encourage patients to take part in safety measures.

to take part in safety measures. The review highlights the significance of the patient's role in enhancing patient safety when hospitalised and recommends further research to explore patient engagement in different disciplines, contexts, and cultures (Vaismoradi *et al.*, 2015). This concept has been successfully applied to various patient care settings such as handhygiene practices for infection prevention (Landers *et al.*, 2012) and shared decision-making in managing long-term conditions (Friesen-Storms *et al.*, 2015). However, the patient's role and their engagement in the context of the catheter removal process is yet to be explored.

Thus far, it has not been fully established whether or not patients are engaging with their HCPs regarding their catheter removal. Given the benefits of patient engagement highlighted in the previous research, patients may be well placed to engage in this role to increase their catheter-related safety. The literature has identified barriers and enablers to patients being involved in their care more generally. For example, a lack of sufficient knowledge and self-efficacy beliefs act as barriers (Kosteli *et al.*, 2017) and support and positive attitudes from HCPs (Vaismoradi *et al.*, 2015) act as enablers to patient engagement. However, we do not know what the unique barriers and enablers are that relate to the catheter removal setting. Therefore, barriers and enablers to patient engagement need to be explored further to empower patients to prompt their HCPs about early removal of their catheter, in order to reduce the risk of developing CAUTIS.

The current study aimed to explore patients' views on engaging with HCPs by asking questions and initiating a catheter removal conversation for the prompt removal of their catheter. Of the three evidence-based prevention strategies in the epic3 guidance listed above (Loveday *et al.*, 2014), the focus of the current study was to understand the process of reducing the duration of catheterisation from the perspective of patients, how they might be involved in the catheter removal procedure, and what factors they perceive may act as barriers or enablers to their involvement.

This study had three research objectives: 1) to establish the degree in which patients routinely engage with HCPs about their catheter removal (prevalence of the target behaviour), 2) to identify the perceived barriers, and 3) to identify enablers to the engagement with HCPs from patient participants' perspectives. This chapter reports one of two studies conducted to understand barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal practices, one from HCP perspectives (chapter four), and a second on engagement with the catheter removal process from the patient's perspective. The patient interview study has been described in this chapter.

5.3 Methods

This was a qualitative study involving hospitalised patients using one-on-one, semi-structured interviews designed using the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF). This study has been reported as per the 'consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative studies' (COREQ) (Tong *et al.*, 2007). Some of the study methods and procedures were similar to the HCP interview study, as detailed in chapter four. A short summary of the methods explained in detail previously is presented below.

5.3.1 Target behaviour and development/piloting of the interview schedule

The study interview schedule was developed using the generic questions outlined in the TDF (Michie *et al.*, 2005) (see Appendix B) and were adapted to the specific target behaviour in terms of the target, action, context, time and actor (TACT-A) principle (Fishbein, 1967; Francis and Presseau, 2019) (see Appendix H). The study 'Target' was 'HCPs involved in catheter care and removal process', the 'Action' was 'asking HCP questions about catheter removal', the 'Context' was 'during hospital admission' the 'Time' was 'from 24 hours after the catheter insertion' and the 'Actors' were 'hospitalised patients requiring short-term catheterisation (\leq 14 days)'. The topic guide included prompts where necessary. The draft topic guide was piloted with two individual patients for face validity, relevance and acceptability of questions.

5.3.2 Setting, participants and recruitment procedures

The participants were recruited from a large, secondary care UK National Health Service (NHS) teaching hospital, based in the North East of England. Sampling was guided by the eligibility criteria (Martínez-Mesa *et al.*, 2016). The eligibility criteria were adult hospitalised patients (aged \geq 16 years) requiring planned or unplanned short-term (\leq 14 days) catheterisation and admitted to either medical or surgical wards. Indications for planned and unplanned catheter insertion were recorded in patients' clinical notes. Examples of indications for planned catheter effective (during surgery) or fluid output monitoring. Examples of indications for unplanned catheter indications for unplanned catheter insertion were: acute urinary retention, reduced mobility, and catheterisation when admitted via the emergency department. A

recruitment poster was displayed on the wards making patients aware of the study (Appendix I).

Study participation was voluntary. A participant information sheet (PIS) was provided to eligible and interested participants (see Appendix J). Participants provided written informed consent to take part in the study and audio record the interviews (see Appendix K). A copy of the consent form was provided to the participant, further copies were filed in both their clinical notes and in the investigator site file. Interviews were confidential and conducted in a quiet room on the participant's ward of admission. During the interview, no one else was present apart from the participant and the interviewer (Rashmi Bhardwaj-Gosling (RBG)). The interviewer is an experienced clinical researcher who is trained in taking research consent and conducting interviews with patients and has a specific research interest in the reduction of catheter-associated infections. The interviewer was a female who consented and interviewed all study participants in a research capacity. There was no clinical relationship between the study participants and the interviewer before, during or after the study.

5.3.3 Data collection, sample size and saturation

Interviews were conducted between May and August 2014, carried out on a one-off basis and audio recorded to be transcribed for data analysis. No identifiable data was collected on the recorded interviews. Field notes were made by the researcher immediately after the interview. Interviews were planned to last for approximately an hour. Data saturation was estimated on all domains within 20 interviews with the application of the 10+3 method until no new issues were raised by the study individuals (Francis *et al.*, 2010).

5.3.4 Data analysis

Interview recordings were labelled with participants' unique study number to maintain anonymity and transcribed verbatim by an external company (UK Transcription). Transcripts were stored on Newcastle University's secure IT server. NVivo10 software (QSR International Pty Ltd.) was used to organise and analyse transcribed data (Castleberry, 2014).

Content analysis was used to analyse interview transcripts (Elo and Kyngäs, 2008). This is a typical analysis approach to TDF or framework based studies (Atkins *et al.*, 2017). Birken *et al.* provide a list of framework-based studies that used the content analysis approach (2017). Of

three potential approaches to content analysis (conventional, directed, and summative), directed content analysis was the most suitable option (Hsieh and Shannon, 2005); as it provides a deductive approach that draws on an existing theory or a theoretical framework (Mayring, 2000; Vaismoradi *et al.*, 2013) such as the TDF used in the current study (Michie *et al.*, 2005). The statements were coded within the TDF at the domain level, where each of the TDF domains served as a label for *a-priori* themes in the initial coding process (Elo and Kyngäs, 2008; Ryan and Bernard, 2003). Similar statements were grouped within the domains. Statements with an overlap between two different domains were double coded (Patey *et al.*, 2012). Once the interview content was coded to the TDF domains, sub-themes were inductively generated and results were nested under relevant domains to develop a context-specific description of the barriers and enablers within each domain (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

The interviewer was also the primary coder and conducted the data analysis. Therefore, the initial familiarisation stage began at the data collection stage. To improve the coding consistency, initial codes were double coded by an independent second coder Dr Suzanne McDonald (SMc) who is a health psychologist with expertise in the conduct and analysis of TDF-based interviews. The second coder was blinded to the domains under which the transcripts were initially coded by the primary coder. Agreements and disagreements between the two coders were discussed and resolved in face-to-face meetings. Furthermore, sub-themes were inductively generated by RBG and cross checked by Dr Samuel Ginja (SG); a health psychologist with expertise in behaviour change methods and TDF-based interviews.

5.3.5 Patient and public involvement (PPI)

For patient representation and input on the study, a PPI panel consisting of five members was appointed through NIHR INVOLVE North East (<u>http://www.invo.org.uk</u>). The members had a study-specific induction during the initial meeting. A role description was provided for clarity on their role and project goals (Buck *et al.*, 2014). Members were lay experts with previous experience of urinary catheterisation. Subsequently, PPI group meetings for updates on study progress and 'Think Aloud' sessions at the document design stage were held periodically. The members provided their input in improving the draft patient participant information sheet and interview topic guide in terms of design, layout, and structure of these documents. PPI members facilitated pilot testing the draft interview topic guide for relevance, flow, and clarity of the interview questions, and to make sure the interviews were not too onerous for study

participants in terms of the burden on their time and health. The group also helped in the cross-checking of interim findings for more accurate interpretation of study participants' accounts (Barbour, 2001).

The PPI members helped to publicise the research while in progress and dissemination of research findings towards the end to a wider audience and specific patient groups. These included a 'Peer to Peer PPI Support Group', manning study stands at several local and regional PPI awareness and training events, co-writing conference abstract for the NIHR INVOLVE @21 Research Conference, presenting in a joint oral presentation at NIHR SPCR (School of Primary Care Research) PPI Conference in Newcastle which won the first prize for 'Best Oral Presentation' titled: *"Innovative ways of involving PPI in your research"*, and proofreading of funder's final report. Future PPI activities are planned and patient partners will be involved in co-authorship on publications from this research.

5.3.6 Ethical and institutional approvals

The research study was approved collectively as part of the REDUCE project (reducing the duration of urinary catheters including both patient and healthcare professional studies), by a UK NHS Research Ethics Committee (reference number 13/WM/0460) and by the host NHS institution (reference number 6649) along with approval from the Ethics Committee at Newcastle University. The study was adopted by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Clinical Research Network Portfolio (reference 15750) and approved by the host organisation's Caldicott and Data Protection Guardian team.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Sample characteristics

A total of eight male (62%) and five (38%) female participants aged (median=72; range 19-92 years) with diverse catheter indications were interviewed and included in the study analysis (see Table 5.1). The participants were recruited from eight surgical and five medical speciality wards. There were seven (54%) elective and six (46%) acute indications for catheterisation. Surgical indications for catheter insertion included: elective robotic prostatectomy, debridement of a scrotal abscess, transurethral resection of the prostate, urinary retention, cardiac graft and cardiac valve replacement, corrective surgery for pectus excavatum, open

heart bypass, and post-surgical fluid monitoring. The medical indications for catheter insertion included a fractured pubic rami, unsteady gait requiring assistance for toileting, reduced mobility due to a fractured neck of femur. Catheter duration in days ranged from 1-14, median= 5. Only three patients had a documented length of catheterisation in their clinical notes that was pre-planned to be longer than 24 hours. Of 13 patient participants, only one participant had their catheter removed within the 24 hours as recommended by the CDC guidance (Gould *et al.*, 2010). The remaining nine participants did not have a written clinical indication to justify continued catheter use beyond 24 hours.

Participant	Gender	Age	Ward	Reason for admission	Planned catheter duration (days)	Actual catheter duration (days)
1	Male	68	Surgical	Elective	7	11
2	Male	59	Surgical	Elective	Not specified	1
3	Male	77	Surgical	Elective	2	3
4	Male	71	Surgical	Elective	Not specified	4
5	Male	70	Surgical	Elective	Not specified	7
6	Female	26	Surgical	Acute	Not specified	3
7	Male	19	Surgical	Elective	Not specified	5
8	Male	46	Surgical	Elective	2	4
9	Female	92	Medical	Acute	Not specified	14
10	Female	92	Medical	Acute	Not specified	3
11	Female	78	Medical	Acute	Not specified	7
12	Female	88	Medical	Acute	Not specified	13
13	Male	83	Medical	Acute	Not specified	5

 Table 5.1: Characteristics of patient participants

Ten interviews were conducted in the first instance, followed by three consecutive interviews. The final three interviews did not bring up any new concepts related to the 12 domains, thus, data saturation was considered to have been achieved following the approach set forth by Francis et al. (2010). Interview transcripts were initially coded within 12 domains of the TDF, followed by secondary coding by an independent coder. See Appendix L for a summary of agreements and disagreements between the primary and secondary coders. The relevant set of subthemes were generated within the 12 TDF domains to meet each of the three research objectives. Nature of the behaviour established the prevalence of the target behaviour i.e. the degree in which patients routinely engage with HCPs regarding their catheter removal (objective 1). Eight domains identified the barriers related to patient engagement to catheter removal (objective 2): knowledge, social/professional role and identity, beliefs about capabilities, beliefs about consequences, decision processes (Memory, attention and decision processes), environmental context and resources, social influence and behaviour regulation. Four domains identified the enablers to patient's engagement behaviour (objective 3). These were skills (interpersonal skills, i.e. a good rapport with staff), beliefs about consequences (positive outcome expectancies), motivation and goals, and social influence (however, only the social support construct). Two domains: beliefs about consequences and social influences identified both barriers and enablers. Conceptual maps of the TDF domains and relevant subthemes for each of the research objectives are shown in Figure 5.1 (objectives one and two: prevalence of target behaviour and barriers) and Figure 5.2 (objective three: enablers). A relationship between the domains was evident as summarised in Table 5.2.



Figure 5.1: Conceptual map- the prevalence of, and barriers to, patient engagement behaviour



Figure 5.2: Conceptual map of enablers to patient engagement

Research objectives (ROs)	TDF domain	Sub-themes	Links with other domain/s
RO1: Prevalence of the target behaviour	Nature of the behaviour	Asking about catheter removal is not a routine practice for patients	Social influences Staff members' approach Professional boundaries role Competing demands (staff) Behaviour regulation
RO2: Barriers to patient engagement	Knowledge	Lack of prior knowledge about catheters, the risks and functionality	Environmental context and resources Resources: (lack of explanation/consent due to HCP time constraint)
		Misconceptions due to lack of knowledge	Lack of explanation due to staff time constraints (resources) Beliefs about consequences
		Lack of knowledge about the risks of prolonged catheter duration	Lack of explanation due to staff time constraints (resources) Beliefs about consequences
	Social/professional role and identity	Perceived patient role	Beliefs about capabilities (of HCP)
		Deference: not wanting to question the professional capabilities of HCP	Beliefs about capabilities (of HCP)
		Prompts if necessary (to overcome HCP forgetfulness)	Memory (of HCPs)
		Joint responsibility	n/a
		Hierarchy amongst professional roles	Social influence (hierarchy)

Table 5.2: Summary of key theoretical domains, subthemes and relationships with other domains

Beliefs about capabilities	Confidence to ask questions related to willingness and capability to manage without a catheter	n/a	
	'to whom' and 'when' context in relation to staff's competing demands	'to whom' overlapped with social influence (staff attitudes) 'when' overlapped with environmental context and resources (staff availability) and had an overall influence on behaviour regulation	
Beliefs about consequences	Inadequate engagement due to lack of understanding of the risks of prolonged catheter duration (outcome expectancies)	Lack of knowledge (knowledge)	
	An object of inconvenience and convenience	Beliefs about capabilities	
Memory, attention and decision processes	Memory and attention were not a barrier	n/a	
	Patient's decision to delay or not asking questions was affected by the staff's approach and their competing demands	Decision to delay (behaviour regulation) Competing demands and staff approach (social influences)	
Environmental context and	Environmental context		
resources	Location of the toilets	n/a	
	Reduced ability/mobility and distance to the toilet	Distance to the toilet (environmental context) linked to the patient's reduced mobility (beliefs about capabilities)	
	Lack of privacy	Linked to the use of alternative methods (behaviour regulation) instead of having a catheter	
	Visiting times	n/a	

Resources

	Not enough toilets	n/a
	Staff availability/shortage of time and patient's reluctance to use the nurse call bell	Social influence (social pressure) for not wanting to come across demanding by using the call bell
Social influences	Staff's receptiveness	Behaviour regulation, beliefs about capabilities
	Social pressure concerning HCPs and other patients	Behaviour regulation
	Hierarchy around catheter removal decision	Social, professional role and identity (HCP)
Emotion	Anticipated regret: negative feelings	Knowledge (Lack of knowledge)

	Behaviour regulation	'to whom' and 'when' to ask context	'to whom' overlapped with social influence (staff approach) 'when' overlapped with environmental context and resources (staff availability), avoided busy times to ask questions (behaviour regulation)
		Use of alternative methods instead of having a catheter (generating alternatives)	Environmental context (lack of privacy)
RO3: Enablers to patient engagement	Skills	Asking questions about catheter removal	Social Influences (staff's approach)

	Asking questions in general	
	Interpersonal skills (good rapport with staff)	
Beliefs about consequences (positive outcome	Self-satisfaction Show interest in own care	Motivation and goals (intention to ask questions)
expectancies)	Speed-up the discharge process	
Motivation and goals	High motivation (certainty of intention) to ask for removal if catheter caused problems (pain, discomfort, infection)	n/a
Social influence	Support from the family (social support)	Beliefs about capabilities

5.4.2 Research objective one: prevalence of the target behaviour

Nature of the behaviour

This domain established that participants generally do not engage with their HCPs about catheter removal unless they experienced problems from the catheter such as pain or discomfort, the catheter bag needing emptying, or if they wanted to speed up their discharge process. The lack of engagement linked in with their motivation to ask (*Motivation and goals*). Otherwise, they did not see any reason for asking questions about their catheter removal routinely.

"If I was in pain because of the catheter, it would be different, I would find it quite easy to ask. I'm not the type of person to complain, but if I'm in pain I need it out. Asking for it out would then justify it more" (P08).

"I asked the question to have it out, to speed my recovery and get home quicker" (P06).

However, participants did report engaging with HCPs on more general issues such as asking for pain medication and activities of daily living but chose carefully whom they asked (staff members' attitude- *Social influences*) and the time at which they asked (*Behaviour regulation*). The majority of the participants understood catheter removal as solely the responsibility of HCPs (professional boundaries role- *Social influences*) and did not want to disturb staff to ask questions on general issues when they were busy with other tasks (competing demands-*Social influences*).

"No, I never asked them any questions about when it will come out. I just took it as read that staff would remove it when the time was right" (P13).

"How I interact routinely depends on staff's (sic) attitude and who it is. It also depends on the time of the day. They get irritated if you ask when they are busy. That's why I try to choose my time carefully" (P07).

5.4.3 Research objective two: Barriers to patient engagement

Knowledge

Sub-theme 1: Lack of knowledge about the risks and functionality of urinary catheters

Five participants did not have prior knowledge of receiving a planned urinary catheter during their surgical procedure. Seven participants were informed by the staff about receiving a catheter but did not receive information on the purpose of having a catheter, its functionality, estimated duration, or the link between longer duration and increased infection risk associated with having a catheter in-situ. Only one participant knew about CAUTI risk through suffering from a previous catheter infection.

"None at all. I just woke up, and that's it; there it is. C'est la vie. You're stuck; you've got it. Nobody explained how it was going to function, how you had to take care of it, what are the risks, nothing. No information like that at all" (P13).

"I didn't receive very much information when I got my catheter or about the risk of getting an infection with having it in for longer periods of time. Staff are ought to tell patients about all the risks and benefits of any procedures they do with patients. But, sometimes they haven't got time" (P11).

"They told me that I would get one (catheter) before the surgery, but they didn't say anything else about it" (P08).

Participants' viewpoints were that they should be made aware of the risks for them to actively ask questions to speed-up their catheter removal.

"Education is a wonderful thing. If I had been told about the risks beforehand and what happens when the catheter is inside my body, I would be asking them every day until it was out. But if you don't know anything, you are not doing anything wrong, are you?" (P03).

Sub-theme 2: Misconceptions

Participants believed that the lack of explanation from the staff was due to time constraints (*Environmental context and resources*). Due to a lack of knowledge, the participants had misconceived ideas about catheters which in turn affected their beliefs about consequences of having a catheter. For example, one participant perceived that the catheter was curing their illness and another participant believed that receiving a catheter when admitted to hospital is an essential procedure that every patient has to go through. These misconceptions contributed towards participants not asking questions about their catheter removal.

"This is the first time I have learnt that a catheter doesn't cure you. If it doesn't cure you, what's it there for? I thought it was doing me good to improve my health. That's why I didn't ask anyone about it coming out" (P05).

"Catheter is a necessary evil when you are in hospital" (P12).

Sub-theme 3: Lack of knowledge about the risks of prolonged catheter duration

Twelve out of 13 participants were not informed by the HCPs about the link between longer catheter duration and increased risk of developing a CAUTI. The lack of knowledge about the risks affected participants' beliefs about consequences. None of the participants knew about the association between longer catheter duration and increased risk of developing a CAUTI, consequently, they were not concerned about the consequences of delayed removal.

"Well, they didn't tell me a great deal about the catheter really or about any risks. As far as I was concerned it was doing me a favour by taking water (urine) out of my bladder and flowing which was causing me pain when I couldn't pee" (P10).

"I don't want a urinary infection; well I just simply don't want a urinary infection. I don't know sufficient about the use of catheters, risks and the ins and outs of all that, it's just how long it should stay in before you get an infection" (P04).

Social/professional role and identity

The lack of engagement about catheter removal in most participants was due to not being aware of a need to ask about their catheter. A majority of participants reported reticence to engage in asking questions about catheter removal; this was based on hypothetical rather than the actual experience.

Sub-theme 1: Perceived patient role

This subtheme included deference to HCPs, patients' perception was that it was not their place to challenge professionals and the belief of joint responsibility for timely catheter removal. There were perceived boundaries around the role of a patient, who did not want to question the professional capabilities of HCPs (beliefs about capabilities) unless there was a problem with their catheter.

"I would rather not ask and let them decide when it can come out" (P02).

"I couldn't and wouldn't ask about my catheter removal as it would question the capabilities of the medical team in that. It is up to the medical staff to say if and when that catheter is removed" (P03).

"Well, at the end of the day, it's a joint responsibility" (P06).

In contrast, a minority of patients understood making decisions about the timely removal of the catheter as a joint role and said prompts from patients would be effective especially when staff forget to remove the catheter (*Memory, attention and decision processes*).

"My view is that it shouldn't be [the] patient's role to keep reminding staff, but because of the pressure of other work that staff has to go through, for my own sake its helpful to remind them when they get busy with other things" (P04).

Sub-theme 2: Hierarchy among professional roles to catheter removal decision-making process

The participants' general preference was to ask medical over nursing staff, acknowledging hierarchy amongst professional roles around catheter removal decision-making (*Social influences*).

"I wouldn't necessarily ask the nurse, but certainly ask someone senior like the ward sister, who has more of a command of situations, who then probably needs to ask the doctor anyway. There's so much hierarchy to this" (P11).

Beliefs about capabilities (self-efficacy)

Sub-theme 1: Confidence to ask questions in the context of a patient's ability to manage without a catheter

The participants felt that they were capable of asking questions in general. But their willingness and capability to ask specific questions about catheter removal were reliant on confidence. The confidence level was dependent on the participant's ability to manage without a catheter considering factors like mobility and post-operative pain. The participants felt more confident to ask once they had recovered from the initial post-operative period and their mobility was improved.

"Some people have more confidence than others. So it depends on the individual, if you're going to be confident to go to the toilet without the catheter then you will be confident to ask questions for it to be taken out" (P12).

"Well, it was difficult for me to get in and out of bed because I've just had this big operation, and I was feeling a lot of pain. That's why I didn't want to ask about getting my catheter out" (P12).

"How long is a piece of string? ...Especially after surgery, it's just a case of mobility, being able to get up and safely go to the toilet, at least with assistance before you can ask" (P06).

Sub-theme 2: Patient self-efficacy related to 'to whom' and 'when' context and staff's competing demands

Participants' general engagement depended on the circumstantial context in terms of 'to whom' and 'when' they asked, which was related to the staff member's manner (*Social influence*) and appeared to be a way of regulating their asking behaviour (*Behaviour regulation*). HCPs busy with other tasks were perceived by participants as more important (for example, looking after another ill patient) which discouraged or delayed patients from asking questions.

"I don't think it would be difficult to ask but it depends on who do you ask and when do you ask" (P10).

"If I did press the button, they would come in and say, "Well you have to just wait a minute or two, I'm busy with somebody else." Which could be much more important than my question" (P10).

"If staff as they have been today been looking after obviously more seriously ill patients than I am, then I would not ask or I'll bide my time until a reasonable moment came along to ask" (P04).

Beliefs about consequences

Sub-theme 1: An object of inconvenience and convenience

The participants believed catheters to be an object of both convenience (for staff and patients) and inconvenience (patients). The presence of a catheter was described by some participants to have caused inconvenience due to having an impact on their independence, mobility and prompt discharge from the hospital. Other participants viewed it as an object of convenience to themselves, for not having to walk to the toilet in the context of post-operative pain and reduced mobility (*Beliefs about capabilities*); and for staff, by not having to provide patients with the assistance to go to the toilet.

"It's just another encumbrance in the bed – you can't turn over independently, because you are wired up with a catheter and other things. It's stopping me from moving about and going home" (P04).

"I just felt that it was a hindrance, and I felt that my body was ready to perform normally" (P13).

"With my poor mobility, I think it was put in to make it easy for me to go to the toilet and its easier for the staff to leave it in than having to assist me all the time because I am quite big you know" (P11).

"It has saved me having to get somebody to help to take me to the toilet and bothering them all the time" (P12).

Memory, attention and decision processes

Sub-theme 1: Memory and attention

Memory and attention in relation to asking for catheter removal was *not a perceived barrier*. Generally, participants stated that once the catheter was in-situ, it was very difficult for them to forget about it, not only during the day but also through the night.

"When you've got one of these things in your willy, these don't slip your mind" (P01).

"There's no way you could ignore it or forget about it" (P05).

"I wouldn't forget about asking because I was getting sick of it. It was just a nuisance more than anything else. There might have been short term distraction in asking about it but not for very long" (P07).

Sub-theme 2: Decision processes

Participants' likelihood of asking catheter-related questions was found to be ad-hoc and depended on the needs and problems caused by it. The decision process to delay (*Behaviour regulation*) or not ask questions could be influenced by a patient's perceptions of staff member's response (*Social influences*) and their competing demands (*Social influences*).

"I would have no problem asking if I was asking the right person, who I felt comfortable with. Certain staff don't want to help you all the way. Its little things encourage or discourage you from asking" (P10).

"I always find people reasonable to approach if you approach them in the correct manner. But when they're very busy, I don't like to ask. I just wait for the right moment" (P04).

Environmental context and resources

Participants identified several barriers in the context of *Environmental factors and resources* to engage with HCPs for their catheter removal which affected their catheter duration.

Sub-theme 1: Environmental context

The barriers related to *environmental context* were: location of the toilets on the ward, distance to the toilet with reduced mobility (*Beliefs about capabilities* - self) when participants were unable to walk to the toilet due to pain after surgical procedure or urinary retention, a lack of privacy in the bay which discouraged participants from using the alternative methods like a commode or a bottle, and during visiting times participants preferred not to ask about their catheter removal.

"When I was suffering from my retention, this toilet (next to the bedside) was busy and there's another one on the ward but it's down the corridor. I was going up and down this corridor in discomfort so I was desperate to have the catheter in" (P04).

"There's no chance I could have walked that distance to the toilet when I was in pain. In that case, it was definitely too far" (P08).

"Those curtains aren't soundproof. I'd rather keep the catheter in for longer and be quite dignified and private, rather than using a commode when I'm perched on top of a bed on a pan having a wee when everyone else in my room can hear it tinkling" (P06).

"I'd delay the request of catheter removal if I had visitors. I wouldn't want to embarrass my visitors" (P13).

Sub-theme 2: Resources

The participants felt that there should have been more toilets in the near vicinity to their bed space. Participants described barriers to be insufficient toilets on the ward to serve both patients and visitors and intermittent availability of staff to assist them to the toilet. There was one toilet to be shared between six patients. The visitors are supposed to use the dedicated visitor's toilet, generally located off the ward. However, for convenience sake, at times visitors were also reported to use the patient's toilet.

"For six patients there is only the one toilet at the entrance. I think that's not enough. There should be another one nearby because this one is often occupied, especially during visiting hours as visitors use it as well" (P04).

Despite the nurse call bell system, intermittent availability and shortage of staff discouraged participants from actively engaging with HCPs to ask for assistance with toileting. Participants were reluctant to use the bell and did not want to cause an inconvenience to staff (social pressure/influence). Day and night shift patterns seemed to influence staff response time with night staff taking longer to respond to participant requests. These factors had an impact on the participants' preference to keep the catheter in-situ over the use of alternative methods (*Behaviour regulation*) or asking for prompt removal.

"There's never enough of them (staff) to attend all of us in here. They are always busy and rushed off their feet. That's why I usually tend to wait until someone is in the room and I don't have to press the buzzer. I know that's a function that's encouraged to be used, but I don't want to come across demanding person who causes inconvenience. It's the matter of getting help without having to press the buzzer. So it's just easier just to have the catheter in until I can manage to walk to the toilet by myself" (P07).

"Day staff is (sic) brilliant but night staff's response gets sluggish as they become weary by six o'clock. So I would avoid asking then" (PO4).

"They are always busy to attend you because there's not enough of them. I put it down to the shortage of staff" (P10).

Social Influence (barriers)

Participants explained the influence of other people on their engagement behaviour (*Behaviour regulation*). Evidently, there were three kinds of influences reported, one of a personal kind from family and another two related to HCPs and fellow patients on the ward. The family's influence has been reported as social support (*Social influences*) in the enablers section.

Sub-theme 1: Staff's receptiveness

The participants reported that even when they were able to, they did not engage with HCPs at times. It was due to their perceived consequences of asking questions concerning staff receptiveness. The majority of the participants felt encouraged to engage with staff who had a polite and receptive manner except for of one participant who found it easier to ask questions of staff whom they did not get on with as previously reported in *Beliefs about capabilities* section.

"I'm not saying she's not a good nurse, would never dispute that fact. She is just absolutely abysmal at everything else that comes with it, like the way she communicates, my care, talking to the families, attitude. The whole lot of it's out the window. If I had my way, she wouldn't care for me because I wouldn't want her nowhere near, let alone asking questions. I would prefer to ask someone else" (P06).

"I'd say, it's easier for me to ask someone who I didn't like" (P01).

Sub-theme 2: Social pressure concerning HCPs and other patients

Participants delayed asking questions (*Behaviour regulation*) or chose not to ask at all while HCPs were busy with other tasks (*Social influences*- competing demands) as they did not want to cause an inconvenience to staff during busy times.

"Well, you see, in the mornings, they're so busy getting patients washed and all the rest of it. After lunch, they've got a lot of their jobs done. While they're busy washing patients, making beds, they've got their medication and doctor's rounds, and everything else to sort out. You can't ask questions then. I'd wait until a quiet time" (P12). "The staff are too busy to answer our questions" (P10).

"I don't use the buzzer very much unless it's something serious. I don't like bothering them when they are busy. I just ask when they are around" (P11).

Social pressure from other patients in the shared bay was also a reason for being reluctant to use the nurse call bell system to ask questions.

"Some of the patients tut if you ring a buzzer. Alright, sometimes I can understand because there was one of the ladies pressed her buzzer at half-past 11 at night and the other lady was trying to get to sleep. You can get the sort of people that give you the look of, "What are you pressing your buzzer for and ask for things?" (P06).

Sub-theme 3: Hierarchical structure

Participants were aware of the hierarchical structure and a nurse's inability to make the catheter removal decision (*Social/professional role and identity*). One participant who queried about their catheter removal preferred to ask the medical staff to get an answer quickly.

"Well, I will ask more, but you feel that they (nurses and support staff) are so paltry really, they don't always have the authority to make the decision or have an answer for you. That's why I just ask the doctors and bypass them" (P10).

"I can ask nurses and they're really nice girls, but they say we will ask the doctor. So it's best to ask the doctors to start with" (P09).

"They (nurses) always have to ask the doctor in the end anyway so might as well ask the doctor" (P03).

Emotion

Sub-theme 1: Anticipated regret

Participants expressed that they would feel negative emotions if they did not engage with HCPs for prompt catheter removal and suffered from a catheter infection as a result. Feelings

expressed were: anger, self-blame and blaming staff, feeling stupid, unhappy, upset, regretful, angry, unpleasant, and disappointed in themselves and the staff. However, the responses were related to hypothetical questions representing anticipated regret. Emotions cross-linked with *Knowledge* (lack of knowledge) about the risks of prolonged catheter duration which caused negative emotions (anticipated regret) about the catheter infection; and *Social, professional role and identity* where participants expressed disappointment in staff for not doing their job properly to keep them safe from catheter infection.

"It would make me feel a bit uppity and regretful because it's been left in too long" (P11).

"It would feel really upset if I suffered from an infection and staff didn't tell me why it happened in the first place, and the fact it could've been avoided if it came out earlier" (P09).

"I would be pretty angry if I got an infection in my catheter because I didn't ask them enough or staff didn't do their job" (P13).

"I wouldn't feel particularly responsible for getting an infection in my catheter as staff should be doing what they are supposed to do to avoid infections" (P06).

"I'd feel a bit stupid, to be honest, if I got an infection and I didn't ask about getting it out in time" (P07).

"I would feel disappointed in myself that I hadn't asked, but also in the staff. At the end of the day, it's their job to keep me safe in here" (P03).

Behaviour regulation

Sub-theme 1: 'to whom and when' context to ask questions

The participants described a few approaches to regulate their behaviour in relation to asking HCPs general questions. These were to ask the appropriate HCP (*Social influence*) at an appropriate time avoiding busy times (*Behaviour regulation*) and asking when a member of staff was available in their vicinity (*Environmental context*). The participants preferred not to

use the call-bell for asking questions or assistance unless it was for something that they deemed urgent.

"I wouldn't necessarily ask the nurse, but certainly the ward sister, who has more of a command of situations, who then probably needs to ask the doctor anyway. There's so much hierarchy to this" (P11).

"Having met with an unreasonable staff attitude, I wouldn't go back to them, but I would go to someone else to ask" (PO3).

"At busy times on the ward like dinner and visiting times, I would just keep it to the back of my mind and when everything's gone and then I would ask the nurse" (P12).

"It's easier to ask when I see one of the staff in my bay who's available. If I can catch somebody on... then I ask, otherwise, I just put it off" (PO2).

Sub-theme 2: Use of alternative methods

The participants had mixed feelings about the use of alternative methods to encourage prompt catheter removal such as a bedpan, commode or urinal bottle. Some participants were open to using the alternative methods but others preferred to have the catheter in-situ due to having to ask staff for assistance for the toilet to use the alternative methods and also the lack of privacy in a shared patient area. For example, a 78-year-old female participant from the care of the elderly department with reduced mobility (the reason of catheterisation) expressed to use a commode as a preferred method instead of being mandated to have a catheter in-situ. Participants were not routinely presented with the choice between having a catheter and alternative methods. This was the same for another participant (83-year-old male) who mentioned that with the use of a bottle, their catheter could have been removed a day early. However, in contrast, a 26-year-old female participant preferred to have the catheter in-situ instead of asking to use an alternative method by their bedside.

"I couldn't manage to walk to the toilet quick enough so they put a catheter in. I would rather use a commode than have a catheter. But nobody (staff) offered it to me" (P11).

"If they (staff) had given me a bottle, I could've peed in it instead to avoid having the catheter in for an extra day, as I felt, that the catheter could've come out a day earlier" (P08).

"I would just keep the catheter in for another week if I couldn't walk for pain or any other reason. I'd rather have the catheter in for longer than asking to use something else, next to or on my bed" (P09).

5.4.4 Research objective three: Enablers to patient engagement

Skills

The participants reported that they were able to *ask general questions* about their care during the hospitalised period. Interpersonal skills to manage different staff attitudes and securing a good rapport with staff members (*Social influences*) played an important part in the participant's engagement skills. Participants generally felt encouraged to ask questions to staff with whom they had built a good rapport. However, there was an exception of one participant who found it easier to ask questions to staff whom they did not like.

"I have no problem asking questions in general" (P08).

"I would have no problem asking if I was asking the right person, who I felt comfortable with" (P10).

"I'd say, it's easier for me to ask someone who I didn't like" (P01).

Beliefs about consequences

Participants reported positive outcomes from asking general questions, such as to achieve self-satisfaction by acquiring knowledge, to show interest in their own care, to speed up their discharge from the hospital due to their limited financial resources, and to limit their time off work. Beliefs about consequences were also linked to the participant's intention (*Motivation and goals*). Participants were more motivated to ask catheter-related questions if they experienced problems (see next section motivation and goals for the relevant quote).

"For self-satisfaction, you need to ask the question. I feel compelled to ask because of my own inquisition. I've got to satisfy myself. It's very important that a patient does inquire about their progress and find out what's happening....I think it is important to ask questions. It shows the staff that you are interested in your care and you get knowledge from it" (P03).

"So I really want to ask questions, whatever speeds my recovery and discharge. There's no doubt about that. For how much I want to ask, I think it just depends on personal preference and circumstances, because I had every intention of coming here to have my surgery done and I knew what I needed to do to get out. Financially, I needed to be in and out within five days due to my work situation. I only have limited time off work and my cats are costing me money in the cattery, it was financially going to have to be that way. So I knew what I wanted to ask to get the catheter out and get out of here quicker" (P06).

Motivation and goals

In terms of specific catheter-related questions, participants intended to ask about the removal (certainty of intention) only if they encountered problems while the catheter was in-situ, e.g. pain, discomfort or infection, otherwise they were less likely to ask questions for its removal.

"When I first got the catheter put in, it was okay. Then it started to become uncomfortable and painful. At that point, I had to ask someone to get it taken out. Otherwise, I mightn't have bothered to ask about it coming out" (P07).

Social influence

Social support from family helped participants to ask general questions. Participants reported that their family often advocated on their behalf if they were unable to ask questions themselves (*Beliefs about capabilities*).

"I don't know why I couldn't, it was quite a thing for me, for to not be shy and ask these questions...My family helped me out by getting answers on my behalf" (P11).

"If I didn't ask something my wife would go and ask to get the answer" (P08).

5.5 Discussion

5.5.1 Key findings

Results from this TDF-based interview study identified a range of barriers and enablers to patient engagement with HCPs in general and specifically regarding their catheter removal. The most commonly reported barriers and facilitators are in the areas of knowledge, beliefs, experiences, motivation and the surrounding environment. Responses attributed to the *Nature of the behaviour* domain suggest that patients do not routinely engage with HCPs regarding their catheter removal, but many do engage with HCPs more broadly about other aspects of their care, suggesting the opportunity for greater engagement in catheter removal is possible, at least in principle. Nine domains highlighted the remainder of the barriers: *Knowledge, Social/professional role and identity, Beliefs about capabilities, Beliefs about consequences, Motivation and goals, Environmental context and resources, Social influences* and *Behaviour regulation*. Four domains identified enablers: *Skills, Motivation and goals, Beliefs about consequences* and *Social influences*. The *Beliefs about consequences* and *Social influences*.

5.5.2 Strengths and limitations

This is the first interview study to explore barriers and enablers to patient engagement in the context of urinary catheter removal using the theoretical domains framework (Michie *et al.*, 2005). The identified barriers fill a gap in the literature to better understand patient-related behaviours to prompt catheter removal practices and contribute to understanding barriers/enablers to engaging patients in their care more broadly. The interviews were designed using the TDF which provided broad theoretical coverage to explore behavioural determinants that can be linked to theory/theories for developing theory-based interventions (Rothman, 2004). Diversity in catheter indications provided a richer data set and suggests generalisability of results in terms of participants' experiences, in comparison to interviewing participants with the same catheter removal behaviours. In the next steps, the identified behavioural determinants (modifiable barriers) can be mapped on to specific behaviour change techniques (BCTs) to develop a behaviour change intervention (Michie *et al.*, 2008) representing a complete systematic process to change behaviour in the field of implementation research.

Efforts to maintain rigour were carried out at multiple stages of the study as follows:

- Criteria-based sampling to include a wide range of viewpoints and reduce potential selection bias (Barbour, 2001)
- 2) Double coding by two separate coders to improve the degree of concordance and refinement of codes (Franklin and Ballan, 2001)
- 3) Involvement and representation from PPI panel members to improve the quality of research (INVOLVE, 2013) at a) the study design stage for development and piloting of the interview schedule and b) the data analysis stage to cross-check the interim findings for refinement and accurate interpretation of participants' accounts (Barbour, 2001).

Although the identified barriers are related to the catheterised patients in the hospital setting (discussed in detail in the next section), nevertheless, it could be argued that these results would bear some commonalities to patient engagement in general and patients with short-term catheters in the community setting also. However, despite the commonalities, these findings should be carefully considered bearing in mind differences in the secondary and community care setting, differences in the allocation of resources (Hooton *et al.*, 2010) and patient interaction with community staff which is often on a one-to-one basis in patient's own home environment.

5.5.3 Findings in relation to previous studies

Knowledge

A narrative review of the evidence shows that a patient's knowledge is an important element, which affects their participation, to enhance safety (Longtin *et al.*, 2010). This review also echoes the findings reported in this chapter showing a likely relationship between a patient's lack of knowledge and engagement in terms of acceptance of the new patient role and a lack of awareness of the need, purpose and functionality, associated risks, comorbidities, and pre-conceived misconceptions about the treatments received (Longtin *et al.*, 2010).

The findings of a study using mixed qualitative methods (ethnographic observations and interviews) with patients and HCPs, demonstrated that the topic of patient safety covering possible risks is not a key focus in communication between patients and their HCPs (Martin *et*

al., 2013). This study also suggests that limited knowledge of risks and safety about care is one of the barriers to affect patient engagement and patient safety (Martin *et al.*, 2013).

Knowledge is one of the fundamental determinants in the information, motivation, and behavioural skills (IMB) model for risk-reduction and an important element to focus on in behaviour change intervention strategies (Chang *et al.*, 2014). In the study reported in this chapter, the lack of knowledge about catheter-associated risks affected participant's beliefs about the consequences of prolonged catheter duration. In addition, *Knowledge* also intersected with *Environmental context and resources*. The participants believed that the lack of explanation by staff was due to time constraints which resulted in the relay of none or partial information on catheters. This finding is supported by Presseau *et al.*, who suggested multiple goals and time constraints can affect a physician's performance (2009). This highlights possible flaws in HCPs' consent process and suggests a need for improvement to ensure adequate information provision for greater patient involvement in catheter removal decisions (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012).

Social/professional role and identity

Although the patient's role in facilitating prompt catheter removal has not been explored previously, patient engagement in general has been internationally recognised as a key factor in improving the care quality, delivery, and safety of health services (Barello *et al.*, 2012). The patient's role has also been explored in specific contexts such as radiotherapy, which demonstrated that together with support and encouragement from HCPs, patients can be actively engaged in their own care in a mutually empowered and supportive way (Mullaney *et al.*, 2014).

In contrast to Mullaney *et al.*'s findings, the study reported in this chapter showed that participants felt restricted within the boundaries of their role as a patient and did not want to question the professional capabilities of HCPs. Perhaps the reasons for this were indeed a lack of empowerment, support and encouragement from HCPs which affected participants' capability to engage and ask questions (*Beliefs about capabilities*). This finding was consistent and cross verified with the findings of the parallel HCP interview study (Chapter four) where some of the HCP participants expressed the receipt of prompts from patients with mixed feelings and others felt challenged by this. Although this finding differs from some previous

studies (Blackstone *et al.*, 2015; Barello *et al.*, 2012; Mullaney *et al.*, 2014), it is consistent with a study conducted by the UK National Patient Safety Agency (Pittet *et al.*, 2011). This study involved face-to-face interviews with patients admitted to medical and surgical wards on healthcare-acquired infections. Similar to the results of the study reported in this chapter, 20% of the 222 patients in the study did not want to question the ability of their HCPs. This may have been because differences between patient and HCP perspectives have been reported to cause negative feelings, tension and mistrust in the patient-provider relationship (Hrisos and Thomson, 2013; Martin *et al.*, 2013).

Another study reported the patient's role to be one of the related factors that affect the patient's capability and willingness to participate in the health care process (Longtin *et al.*, 2010). Explaining the risks to patients of delayed catheter removal may empower them sufficiently to overcome this concern. This may be particularly the case for family members and carers who can become extremely motivated to advocate for patients when comes to safety. In addition, patient participation and engagement was reported to be influenced by healthcare worker related factors, such as the desire to maintain control, lack of time, personal beliefs, type of illness, and training in patient-caregiver relationships (Longtin *et al.*, 2010).

Participants' preferences about the hierarchy among HCP professional roles for catheter removal decision making was fairly evident. The participants described their preference to ask the medical staff or senior nursing staff (ward manager) about their catheter removal. But the most frequent contact they had was with the nurse. This inefficient communication behaviour, as perceived by the patients, might have contributed to additional delays in initiating the catheter removal process (Parker and Coiera, 2000). The participants expressed a preference to speak to doctors/senior HCPs over more junior HCPs which indicates that the hierarchy in the healthcare professional structure is maintained to some extent by the patients themselves. In preferring to engage with senior HCPs, and making assumptions about the competencies of more junior staff, patients are exacerbating pre-existing hierarchical structures amongst HCPs as identified by Foronda *et al.* (2016).

Beliefs about capability

Participants' ability and confidence to ask about catheter removal was partially dependent on their ability to manage without a catheter (self-efficacy). A systematic review (Schwappach, 2010) on collective evidence of patients' engagement views in error prevention and enhancing patient safety reported that patients shared a positive views about engaging in their safety in general but showed considerable variation in their intention to engage and the actual behaviour. This review examined studies that applied the Theory of Planned Behaviour and indicated an important role of self-efficacy in engagement in preventing incidents and errors.

The variability in study participants' self-efficacy (perceived ability to engage about catheter removal) was affected by pain in the postoperative period and mobility factors. These factors have been previously linked to each other with regards to how quickly a patient recovers from initial postoperative pain and their ability to manage without a catheter. These factors depend upon the type of surgery a patient has undergone in relation to how far the toilet is located from the patient's bed space (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). The study participants' self-efficacy was also affected in the context of 'to whom and when' they asked, interpersonal skills, and rapport with staff which collectively intersected across the domains of *Behaviour regulation* and *Social influence*.

Beliefs about consequences

One of the factors related to inadequate engagement with catheter removal was a participant's lack of understanding about the risks of prolonged catheter duration (interlinked with lack of knowledge), which affected the participant's beliefs about consequences (outcome expectancies). Lack of knowledge and low health literacy have been linked to poorer health outcomes (Berkman *et al.*, 2011). Misconceived ideas such as, 'the catheter was curing their illness' induced misleading beliefs for participants to be in favour of keeping the catheter in for longer.

Prolonged use and overuse of catheters has been associated with greater convenience for both patients and nurses (Apisarnthanarak *et al.*, 2007; Krein *et al.*, 2013; Fakih *et al.*, 2008; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). This was found to be the case for some of the study participants, whereby the convenience of having a catheter after surgery prolonged their catheter
duration. In contrast, other study participants found catheters to cause hindrance, restrict mobility and act as a contributory factor to prolonging their hospital discharge. In the parallel HCP study, some nurses debated that prolonging catheter duration enhanced patient safety by preventing patients with reduced mobility from falling. However, this observation has been criticised by Lo and colleagues (2014) who advocate the implementation of falls prevention strategies rather than leaving the catheter in-situ for longer putting patient safety at risk in developing CAUTIS (Lo *et al.*, 2014). These misconceptions warrant to be targeted in interventions to improve the speed of catheter removal.

Motivation and goals

Engaging with HCPs concerning general matters was important to the study participants and was influenced by the desire to achieve self-satisfaction, to show interest in their own care and to speed up the discharge process. However, in general, participants were not motivated to engage HCPs about their catheter removal because they perceived catheter removal as primarily a role of HCPs (Social/professional role and identity) requiring minimal input from their end. Patient-provider interactions (or lack of) affect patient motivation and outcomes (Greenfield et al., 1985). As described by Maclean et al., the patient's level of motivation can be influenced by their beliefs, experiences, and the surrounding environment (2000). The study participants only became motivated to ask for removal if they experienced any problems or pain from the catheter. Participants' lack of knowledge about the risks of prolonged duration and inability to manage without a catheter due to reduced mobility and postoperative pain also resulted in a low level of motivation to engage (Bhardwaj et al., 2012; Pickard et al., 2012b). Once participants were made aware of the possible side-effects of prolonged catheter duration, they expressed that they would be more motivated to engage with HCPs to speed up their catheter removal. Although these beliefs were expressed in a hypothetical scenario, it indicates the participants' willingness and motivation to engage in their catheter removal process.

Environmental context and resources

Participants highlighted a number of barriers in the context of the environment and resources. Issues within a participant's environment, such as a lack of accessible and conveniently located toilets in the vicinity, discouraged participants from engaging with their catheter removal. The issues of toilet location in terms of the surrounding environment and availability of resources had a considerable impact on patients with reduced mobility and those recovering from a surgical procedure. This is in agreement with previously reported studies (Krein *et al.*, 2013; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012).

To promote early catheter removal, the use of alternative methods (e.g. a commode, bedpan, or urinal bottle) at the bedside was not universally embraced by participants due to a lack of privacy in a shared bay with five other patients. Perhaps newer hospital designs incorporating the provision of en-suite facilities may encourage early catheter removal and the use of alternative toileting methods. However, this has financial and resource implications and is unlikely to apply to the majority of patients in the existing UK NHS, at least not in the short to medium term. The participants who would have considered using an alternative method over a catheter were over 65 years of age and they were not presented with a choice by their HCPs. Existing literature emphasises the use of alternative toileting methods in strategies to prevent CAUTIS by facilitating early catheter removal (Meddings et al., 2014; Lo et al., 2008) but this clearly requires a change in HCPs' current practice. The consent process undertaken by HCPs should explicitly discuss the need for, and subsequent risks of, indwelling urinary catheters. This should include a discussion on the use of alternative methods to reduce catheter duration and the patient's role in reminding staff about catheter removal, offering 'permission' to provide prompts to HCPs. These could be key ways to change current practice and increase engagement (Krein et al., 2013).

In terms of resources issues, limited availability and a shortage of staff leading to time constraints were perceived as a barrier to engagement by the participants. This finding validates previous research in which staff time constraints have been reported as one of the major barriers to engagement (James, 2013). Participants were reluctant to use the nurse-call bell to ask questions due to not wanting to interrupt busy staff perceived to be dealing with other competing demands (Tzeng, 2010). The attitudes of HCPs and other patients in the vicinity towards using the nurse-call system discouraged participants to ask questions or call for help when it was needed. As highlighted by Lasiter (2014), nursing staff should be more receptive and made aware of the importance for patients to use the call system to encourage patient-initiated interactions (Lasiter, 2014) which may help increase patient engagement as vigilant partners in safety (Schwappach, 2010). As a solution to the call bell problem, nurses could be more explicit in offering mutually acceptable ways by giving 'license' to patients to

use the bell more freely to encourage patient engagement; rather than patients feeling that they are summoning HCPs, which may cause unintended negative consequences to the patient-HCP relationship. This could also alleviate power and control embedded issues within the patient-caregiver communication (Deitrick *et al.*, 2006).

Social influence

Participants viewed the support of others as important to engage with HCPs. Of particular importance were attitude and social pressure from HCPs and other patients. Social support from the family could also encourage or discourage a patient's intentions and capability to engage. This is consistent with existing evidence on the role of social support as a resource and its high potential in the prediction of behaviour (Schwarzer and Leppin, 1991). Social support has also been linked with an individual's self-efficacy (Schwarzer and Fuchs, 1996) whilst the influence of the social environment, including support from others, has been shown to affect health behaviours and morbidity (Cohen, 1988).

In the study reported in this chapter, although some participants found it easier to engage with staff who had a polite manner and with whom they had a good rapport, the staff with an impolite or rude manner discouraged participants to engage and caused a delay in asking questions until they found another HCP with whom they felt comfortable (Hrisos and Thomson, 2013). As reported by study participants, staff attitudes could be a hindrance to patients wanting to ask challenging questions about their catheter removal since patients feared jeopardising their relationship with the staff members. This finding validates those of Hrisos *et al.* (2013). In support of this argument, a study participant found it easier to ask questions to a member of staff who they did not like; perhaps they felt it easier to challenge someone who they did not worry about upsetting (self-developed strategy). Participants developed these strategies to help ask questions themselves or sometimes via their family members. As predicted by Schwarzer, social support from the family, who acted on the patient's behalf to ask questions, also confirmed the link between a patient's capability (self-efficacy) and social support (Schwarzer and Leppin, 1991) which at times was contingent on participants being in pain or otherwise uncomfortable.

To implement evidence-based guidance, constraints on HCP time due to competing demands is a frequently identified barrier (Cabana *et al.*, 1999; Francke *et al.*, 2008). Competing

demands interlinked with work overload due to a lack of staff resources (described above). Perceived competing demands of staff created social pressure for participants as they did not want to interrupt staff to ask questions when busy doing other 'more important' tasks (as perceived by the participants), thus, discouraging participants from engaging at certain times. This finding was endorsed by the parallel HCP interview study (Chapter four) in which participants confirmed that catheter removal was low on their priority list over other tasks such as medication rounds, dressing wounds and doing multidisciplinary rounds. This finding was well supported by a study of 200 clinicians (nurses and doctors) in which HCPs reported to manage their competing demands through strategies such as task-switching, multitasking and prioritising certain types of tasks over others (Walter *et al.*, 2014; Presseau *et al.*, 2009).

Furthermore, participant engagement behaviour was affected by the hierarchical structure amongst HCPs associated with making the catheter removal decision. Participants described being aware of nurses' inability to make the catheter removal decision, thus, preferred to ask the doctors to get a speedy answer. This finding adds to the literature confirming structurally empowering work conditions has not only an effect on professional practise environment and patient care quality (Laschinger, 2008) but also on patient's preferences related to engagement.

Emotion

The study participants expressed a range of negative emotions related to prolonged catheter duration and associated infections, denoting anticipated regret in a hypothetical context. As described in a systematic review (Wilson *et al.*, 2017), emotion is a complex reaction pattern which affects the decision-making process for not only the patients but for the HCPs also. In the parallel HCP study (chapter four), the participants also described that emotion affected their decision-making process around catheter removal behaviour. The negative emotions cross-linked with a participant's lack of knowledge (*Knowledge*) about the risks of prolonged catheter duration generating anticipated regret about the catheter infection and the *Social/professional role* and *identity* where participants did not want to prompt HCPs for fear of generating tension and mistrust in the patient-provider relationship (Hrisos and Thomson, 2013; Martin *et al.*, 2013). This affected participants' willingness and decision to take part in their own care to improve their safety (Longtin *et al.*, 2010).

This finding echoes the results of a meta-synthesis that reported similar adverse emotional responses by female patients, such as anxiety and feelings of upset when they did not meet their weight loss target, to have a negative impact on the relationship with their HCP (Heslehurst *et al.*, 2014). Anticipated regret should perhaps be considered as one of the elements in shared decision-making strategies (Speck *et al.*, 2016) which can be employed in routine care by increasing patients' awareness and engagement by means of employing appropriate decision aids such as written information leaflets, videos or interactive electronic presentations (Coulter and Ellins, 2007; Barry and Edgman-Levitan, 2012).

Behaviour regulation

This qualitative study with patients suggests that participants did not routinely engage with HCPs related to their catheter removal. A few asked questions related to catheter removal only when compelled due to having problems or experiencing pain from the catheter. Participants regulated their engagement behaviour (asking general questions) in the context of 'to whom' they asked and 'when' they asked (Coulter, 2012) in relation to staff members' manner and their competing demands (Social influences). As discussed in the environmental context above; a participant's age and a lack of alternative options (e.g. a bedpan or commode) offered by staff further delayed catheter removal. To promote patient engagement, strategies to prevent CAUTIs by early catheter removal should include the use of alternative toileting methods (Meddings et al., 2014; Lo et al., 2008; Schwappach, 2010). Alternative toileting methods should be considered for bladder emptying before the insertion of a catheter, which facilitates limiting the use and avoiding catheter use in the first instance (Saint et al., 2000). Alternative methods produce a lower incidence of bacteriuria and result in fewer complications (Warren, 1997). In instances where using an alternative method is not appropriate, such as bladder emptying in patients with neurogenic impairment, suprapubic and intermittent catheterisation should be considered which cause fewer complications over urinary catheters (Nicolle, 2012). All patients should be offered alternative toileting methods as a choice if they are able and willing to use them, which was not readily the case with the study participants.

Nature of the behaviour

The study reported in this chapter confirmed that it is not routine practice for patients to engage with HCPs regarding their catheter removal. However, they do engage with HCPs by asking general questions. With support and encouragement from HCPs, perhaps patients' ability to engage in general issues can be utilised to prime them to engage in catheter removal behaviour also, as demonstrated in the *ThinkSAFE™* project (Wright *et al.*, 2016). Chapter nine of the *ThinkSAFE™* project report involved the development and evaluation of an intervention to support patients to directly engage with health-care staff to enhance their safety and ask staff questions if they had any concerns. In terms of 'who needs to do what differently', during the consent process HCPs needs to adopt a detailed approach by explicitly discussing the risks of indwelling urinary catheters; discussing the use of alternative toileting methods to reduce catheter duration; support and encourage patients to engage in the catheter removal process; and provide explicit guidance on what to do, why, when, and how to communicate their reminders to staff. This approach has the potential to circumnavigate the roles and boundaries and break current habits that contribute to a lack of engagement and cause a delay in prompt catheter removal (Potthoff *et al.*, 2018; Krein *et al.*, 2013).

5.6 Conclusion

This study identified a number of barriers to patient engagement in prompt catheter removal. To enhance patient engagement in the current context requires a robust intervention designed to change the collective behaviour of both patients and HCPs with emphasis on greater patient engagement in the catheter removal process. This could have the potential to leverage an under-utilised approach to preventing catheter-related infections and enhance patients' catheter-related safety while in hospital. The key aspect to enhancing patient engagement is to create an environment for patients that would enable and encourage them to take part in their care to improve catheter safety. For HCPs, this could be possible through encouraging them to work collaboratively with patients on the engagement aspect, so that patients feel supported to ask about their catheter removal without feeling threatened about jeopardising their relationship with clinical staff. In addition, collaboration with patients could help HCPs working conditions that enable learning and action with regard to patient engagement without being criticised and challenging their professionalism. The success of an intervention is dependent on the identification of relevant stakeholders' perspectives and following a systematic approach to the intervention design process. Moving forward, identified barriers from this qualitative study can be mapped onto behaviour change techniques in the development of a behaviour change intervention. Furthermore, an appropriate mode of delivery in terms of the APEASE criteria (affordability, practicability, effectiveness/cost-effectiveness, acceptability, side-effects/safety and equity) needs to be identified (Michie *et al.*, 2014).

The barriers identified in this study are collective compounding factors which instigate a delay in the catheter removal process and are likely to be accountable for resultant CAUTIs. While patients see catheter removal as the role of HCP, there is potential for patients to get involved in initiating the catheter removal process. Concurrently, HCPs need to adapt their practice to ensure that they undertake detailed informed consent to make patients aware of the risks of prolonged catheter duration and the use of alternative toileting methods whilst supporting patients to take part in their catheter removal process. A collective, two-way shared approach to future interventions, designed with behaviour change strategies, is required to change existing habits and bring about change in current practice to enhance patient safety and provide better patient outcomes. Chapter 6. General discussion

6.1 Chapter overview

This chapter provides an overarching discussion of the key findings from this thesis across all of the studies, including a reflection on the existing interventions identified, a summary of the main results in relation to the research objectives and existing interventions and, core findings in the context of local healthcare pathways. The chapter closes with a discussion of the strengths and limitations of the approach used to build the body of research presented in this thesis. Subsequently, overarching implications and the impact of empirical findings for policy and practice are explored. Finally, opportunities and possible steps for developing a future intervention are discussed.

6.2 Summary of key findings

This research aimed to develop an improved understanding of the existing literature and identify barriers and enablers to the prompt removal of short-term urinary catheters in a secondary care setting from the perspectives of patients and healthcare professionals (HCPs). This aim was met by conducting three main studies. Study 1 (chapter 3) consisted of a comprehensive review of the literature for evidence on catheter associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) and related interventions, plus the review of the local, national, and international guidance documents on catheter removal. Study 2 (chapter 4) consisted of a Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) based interview study with HCPs to identify behaviour related barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal. Study 3 (chapter 5) consisted of a TDF-based interview study with patients to identify behaviour-related barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal.

6.2.1 Study one: literature review (chapter three)

Objective: Review the CAUTI literature for evidence of existing interventions to reduce CAUTIs and review the local, national, and international guidance documents on catheter removal.

In chapter three, I summarised the literature on urinary catheters in terms of aetiology, the impact and burden of CAUTIs on patients and the NHS including antimicrobial resistance, and existing national and international initiatives for the prevention (i.e. limiting the use of urinary catheters or early removal) and management of CAUTIs. This chapter described the state of

the literature, reflecting on current interventions with respect to their relative success or failure to promote CAUTI recommendations and reduce CAUTIs, and consider how a theoryinformed approach to intervention design could be useful to better promote prompt catheter removal in practice. A summary discussion of existing interventions has been provided below.

Summary discussion of existing interventions

In the current literature, a range of interventions have been implemented in clinical practice to reduce E. Coli rates and symptomatic CAUTIS. Existing interventions focus on either limiting the initial use (Murphy et al., 2014), or early removal of indwelling urinary catheters (Meddings et al., 2010) to reduce the formation of bacterial biofilms, bacteriuria and bladder colonisation that are responsible for the development of CAUTIs (Nicolle, 2014). As per a systematic review and meta-analysis on reminder interventions, four key steps (described in chapter three) are involved in the life cycle of a urinary catheter before it can be removed (Meddings et al., 2010): 1) the physician is aware of the presence of a urinary catheter, 2) the physician recognises that the catheter is no longer required, 3) the physician writes the removal order, and 4) a nurse acts on the physician's order and removes the catheter. However, since this review was published (Meddings et al., 2010), nurse-led protocols have been implemented which bypass some of these steps in an attempt to accelerate the catheter removal process. In addition to the nurse-led removal protocols, the focus of existing interventions has been on education and training, making adaptations to staffing levels, and individual or multi-faceted bundle interventions incorporating a combination of stop orders and criteria-based reminders to simplify the catheter removal process. Most of the studies have been targeted at HCPs except for a small exploratory study on patients' perspectives on the timing of catheter removal (Bhardwaj et al., 2012) and another study that combined nurseled protocols with educating patients and their families, via information flyers, to reduce CAUTIS (Oman et al., 2012). Overall, the literature review confirmed that none of the studies conducted a detailed investigation into patient and HCP related barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal or used a theory-based approach to design targeted interventions. A discussion of identified interventions from the literature review is provided below.

In summary, one of the most effective interventions reported in the literature appears to be educational interventions combined with feedback on the impact and burden of CAUTIs, catheter removal protocols such as HOUDINI, and reminder systems. For system-level interventions, there is some evidence that increased nurse staffing levels reduce catheter duration and associated CAUTIS. Patient and family education through one-to-one sessions and information flyers to raise awareness on catheter infections have been reported to show potential and have been suggested to be worthy of further evaluation. However, the exact impact of patient and family education on reducing CAUTI rates or reducing catheter duration is not clear. Also, there were no intervention studies identified in the literature that focused on the patient's involvement in providing verbal or written prompts/reminders (environmental level) to their HCPs to reduce catheter duration. From the current literature, it is not clear what barriers and enablers are addressed by existing interventions which makes it difficult to apply and generalise findings. Theory-based approaches help to bring coherence and clarity on what barriers and enablers exist and what strategies are best suited to address those barriers in that setting, making the case for work conducted in study two and three.

6.2.2 Study two: healthcare professional interviews (chapter four)

The objectives of this study were to establish current practices around catheter removal and identify HCP behaviour related enablers and barriers to prompt catheter removal. Chapter four describes a TDF-based interview study with ward-based HCPs (nurses, doctors and healthcare assistants) involved in all aspects of short-term urinary catheters i.e. catheter insertion, catheter removal assessments, decision making, and removal of the catheter. The interview guide was designed to address key domains from the TDF, focusing on identifying barriers and enablers to prompt catheter removal based on HCPs' experiences.

Summary of the key findings- HCPs study

Current practice and variations in guidance on recommended behaviours concerning catheter removal were identified within the TDF domain *Nature of the behaviour*. Variations in practice revealed catheter removal times that vary between wards; some wards removed catheters at midnight and others at 6 am the next morning. This practice does not appear to be evidence-based and is not concordant to the current guidance. As per the guidance (Loveday *et al.*, 2014), catheters should be removed immediately when there are no clinical indications for their continued use.

The barriers were identified within nine domains: *Knowledge* (there was poor knowledge of guidance and evidence-based practice including microbiology of CAUTIs); *Social/professional role and identity* (the hierarchy around decision-making process); *Beliefs about capabilities* (the inability to make a catheter removal decision (oneself) and patients' inability to manage without a catheter (others)); *Beliefs about consequences* (issues of convenience, patient dependence on a catheter, the impact of CAUTIs); *Motivation and goals* (low motivation to remove due to competing demands); *Memory attention, and decision processes* (forgetfulness, perceived low priority for catheter removal); *Environmental context and resources* (location and availability of toilets and staff assistance); *Social influences* (staff attitudes, ward culture); and *Emotion* (indifferent and negative feelings related to prolonged catheter removal).

The enablers could be characterised within five domains: *Skills* (HCPs were highly skilled at removing catheters); *Behaviour regulation* (HCPs used daily task lists and hand over notes as reminders); *Emotion* (HCPs described job satisfaction and generation of positive feelings with timely catheter removal); and *Social influences* (HCPs viewed senior and specialist colleagues as role models).

6.2.3 Study three: patient interviews (chapter five)

The objectives of this study were: to establish if patients routinely engaged with their HCPs regarding their catheter removal, identify enablers to patient engagement, and identify barriers to patient engagement. Chapter five described a TDF-based interview study with hospitalised patients who had a short-term catheter inserted during their hospital admission. The methods for the interview design and analysis were identical to the HCP interview study (chapter four).

Summary of the key findings- patient study

The statements coded under the *Nature of the behaviour* domain established that patients do not routinely engage with their HCPs for catheter removal. However, they reported that they engage with their HCPs in general matters regarding activities of daily living. When patients asked questions to HCPs, it was important to them 'to whom' they asked (social influences), 'when' they asked (behaviour regulation), and avoidance of busy times for HCPs such as during ward rounds or medication rounds (competing demands- social influences).

The barriers were identified under nine domains: *Social/professional role and identity* (boundaries of the patient's role in asking staff questions about catheter removal and patients' perceptions of catheter removal primarily being staff members' responsibility); *Knowledge* (patients' lack of knowledge about catheter risks and functionality leading to misconceptions and a lack of engagement with HCPs for its removal); *Beliefs about capabilities* (a lack of confidence to engage with HCPs regarding catheter removal especially if physically dependent on staff for assistance); *Beliefs about consequences* (the catheter to become an object of convenience for both patient and staff); *Memory, attention and decision processes* (the patient's decision to delay or not engage was affected by staff members' manner and their competing demands); *Environmental context and resources* (inaccessibility and lack of toilets in the vicinity, especially in relation to a patient's reduced mobility); *Social influence* (staff attitudes and views, their competing demands, and hierarchy around catheter removal decisions); *Behaviour regulation* (patients regulated their engagement behaviour by selecting 'when' they asked avoiding busy times for HCPs); and *Emotion* (expression of negative feelings and anticipated regret if suffered from a catheter infection as a result of non-engagement).

Key enablers to engaging more broadly about other aspects of care were identified under four domains: *Skills* (patients had the ability to engage, facilitated by having a good rapport and interpersonal skills with staff which enabled more effective engagement); *Beliefs about consequences* (engaging with staff helped patients to achieve self-satisfaction, show interest in their care, and speed up the discharge process); *Motivation and goals* (patients had high motivation to ask about catheter removal if they encountered problems with their catheter); and finally *Social influence* (support from family helped and encouraged patients to engage with HCPs).

6.3 Overall discussion of identified barriers in relation to existing interventions and guidelines

6.3.1 Knowledge gaps and education/training interventions

Knowledge gaps for HCP

The current research identified that HCPs were highly skilled in removing catheters but lacked specific microbiology knowledge concerning the accumulative risk of developing bacteriuria which increases with each day of catheterisation (Gokula *et al.*, 2004; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2018). The education and training interventions summarised earlier in this chapter and the literature review in chapter three focused on catheter insertion technique and its maintenance but did not identify or address this knowledge gap (Jones *et al.*, 2018; Justus *et al.*, 2016; Gordon, 2015; Sundaram *et al.*, 2012). Audit and feedback interventions have shown some promise in reducing CAUTIs but did not include information to address the knowledge gap (Justus *et al.*, 2016). An audit and feedback strategy coupled with addressing the gap in HCPs' knowledge on microbiology evidence (1 day of a catheter in situ equating to a 5% increased risk of developing bacteriuria) may prove more effective in changing HCPs' behaviour to promptly remove catheters.

Knowledge gaps for patients

These are another areas for potential pathway change. The patient study identified gaps with missed opportunities and inadequate provision of information from HCPs to patients on the purpose, functioning, and side effects of urinary catheters. The lack of information led patients to have misconceived ideas about catheters, for example 'a catheter is a curing device' and 'a catheter is always necessary when hospitalised', which is not the case at all times. The provision of inadequate information and poor communication during the consent process was highlighted to be due to HCPs' time constraints. HCPs should signpost and provide high-quality information to patients not only during the consent process but throughout their hospital stay. This could help to break information down into more manageable amounts rather than being provided in one session during the consent process which may be overwhelming to the patient; this could simultaneously overcome the time constraint barrier for HCPs. Providing catheter-related information at multiple time-points will create opportunities for further safeguarding of patients and support them to gain a better understanding of the catheter's

functionality and removal as soon as it has served its purpose. Adequately informed patients should have information on the catheterisation process, expected duration, side-effects of prolonged duration, and use of alternative methods to encourage the prompt removal of catheters. Inadequately informed patients are less likely to ask questions about their catheter removal (Coulter, 2012). This barrier can be addressed by informing/educating patients and families in a two-way process. Firstly, by means of providing information flyers as recommended (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012) and trialled in previous studies (Oman *et al.*, 2012). Secondly, by addressing the deficiencies in HCPs' practices to improve the information pathway and encourage patients to prompt HCPs on a daily basis for timely removal during the catheter consent process.

The Patient Information Forum has developed a seven-step approach to embedding highquality and accessible information for patients incorporated across all care pathways (Patient Information Forum, 2018). This aims to help address health inequalities and empower patients to make more shared-decisions and informed choices about their treatment and care. The seven steps are as follows: 1) get organisation leadership team on board, 2) identify patients' perspectives, 3) identify healthcare professionals' perspectives, 4) map current patient information pathways and identify gaps, 5) address gaps to make improvements, 6) evaluate the impact of changes, and 7) regularly review and maintain patient involvement in the implementation of change. Study three in this doctoral project explored the patient information pathway concerning catheter care and addressed the second and the fourth steps; study two addressed the third step to identify the gaps in catheter information provision from the perspective of HCPs. Future work should explore steps five, six and seven with further work on the verification of other steps.

The missed opportunities in routine care for information provision to patients by HCPs during the consent process, as well as while a catheter is in-situ, that have been identified in this thesis can be addressed to improve the quality of care. Nevertheless, the issue of a lack of engagement in the catheter removal process extends beyond patients' information/knowledge and into social influence and beliefs about capabilities. Patients and family members need to be supported to ask questions that enable them to actively engage in their care.

The ThinkSAFE project (Wright *et al.*, 2016) provides an example of this concept in action, in which, the intervention supports patients to directly engage with their HCPs to reduce harm, enhance their safety, and protect them against unintended harm while in hospital. The ThinkSAFE intervention was developed to support collaborative interactions between patients, in addition to addressing barriers to asking questions, being asked questions, and of raising and being receptive to patient concerns raised about safety. It is a core premise of ThinkSAFE that both patients and HCPs need support simultaneously if such safety interactions are to take place without any negative consequences (Wright *et al.*, 2016).

A similar approach to ThinkSAFE could be useful in the context of urinary catheters. This could help overcome the patient barrier of belief that initiating and deciding catheter removal is the sole responsibility of HCPs which has the potential for shared responsibility (*social /professional role and identity*). It would assist patients in making shared decisions and fostering patient involvement in their treatment and care. Patient vignettes, visual aids or checklists can be used as potential approaches to the intervention design to encourage patients to engage with their HCPs for prompt removal of their catheter (Schwappach *et al.*, 2013; Yatim *et al.*, 2016; Wright *et al.*, 2016).

6.3.2 Adaptation and changes to the low staffing levels

In both empirical studies (HCP and patient), low levels of nursing staff (*environmental context and resources*) were reported to be linked to staff members' increased individual work overload, competing demands, and the belief that the catheter was a device of convenience. Two studies have previously addressed this issue via an exploration of increased nursing hours per patient-day with the input of continence nurses as the intervention (Twigg *et al.*, 2011; Westra *et al.*, 2013). Findings from these studies reported a significant reduction in UTI. However, to implement the same approach on each of the wards in a large secondary care hospital would have considerable resource implications. A more sustainable and cost-effective way around addressing this issue might be to form a small dedicated 'catheter removal/safety team' consisting of a registered nurse trained in conducting catheter removal assessments and performing catheter removal procedures, with the help of nursing healthcare assistants who can assist patients with toileting needs afterwards. This team would be able to help the regular ward staff's high work-load due to a low staffing level and prevent catheters from becoming a 'device of convenience' which results in prolonged and overuse of

catheters (Apisarnthanarak *et al.*, 2007; Krein *et al.*, 2013; Fakih *et al.*, 2008; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). With a view to maximising efficiency, rather than being based on one ward, this team could cover multiple wards in each clinical speciality to assess and remove patients' catheters on a daily basis. The team set-up could even be integrated within the antimicrobial stewardship teams specifically assembled for optimising antibiotic use and minimising patient adverse events for developing resistance to antimicrobial agents (Huang *et al.*, 2013; Pollack and Srinivasan, 2014).

6.3.3 Environmental barriers and use of alternative methods to catheterisation

The main environmental barriers reported by both HCP and patient participants related to the ward layout and accessibility in addition to the availability and distance from the patient's bedside to the nearest toilet. This was particularly important to patients (elderly and surgical patients) and nursing staff during the initial post-operative recovery period (24-48 hours) when patients had reduced mobility and were depended on staff for assistance with toileting needs, hence, the perceived convenience of leaving a catheter in-situ for longer.

The lack of accessible and ample toilets is a systems-level barrier which is more difficult to modify in the first instance, as it requires considerable resources to provide patients with individual en-suite toilets (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). An alternative to this could be the use of alternative methods to having a catheter in-situ such as a commode chair (a toilet on wheels), bedpan or disposable urinal bottles (Meddings *et al.*, 2014; Lo *et al.*, 2008). However, some of the participants in the patient study considered the use of alternative methods to be less practical when in the immediate postoperative period due to pain or discomfort. Others expressed that it was not a dignified affair when there were five other patients in the shared ward/room (bay) with them, while other participants expressed no concerns about using alternative methods. Hence, there is likely to be significant variation in preferences between patients, with implications on staff workload in offering and assisting patients with alternative toileting methods.

To overcome this variation in preferences, a combination of strategies could be implemented for bladder emptying. Whilst waiting for environmental barriers to be resolved with betterdesigned ward layouts and easily accessible toilets, many other barriers could be addressed that may still reduce catheter duration. For example, for patients undergoing surgery, a catheter can be utilised for the first 24 hours to get over the immediate post-operative discomfort then a shift could be made to alternative bladder emptying means to reduce the risk of infection.

6.3.4 Variations in ward level practice concerning the existing guidance

The HCP study identified considerable variations in the timing of catheter removal among different wards. Some wards removed catheters at midnight and others at 6am the morning after the catheter removal order was released, adding length to the catheter duration. Although some of the earlier research favours catheter removal at midnight to resume normal voiding patterns (Kelleher, 2002), this practice does not conform to the current UK or international guidance (Loveday et al., 2014; Gould et al., 2010). As per the guidance, a catheter should be removed as soon as there is no clinical indication for its continued use. The presence of these embedded routines of removing at midnight or in the early morning might fit better within the broader functioning of the ward in comparison to removing it through the day when a removal order is released. This might allow nursing staff more time for convenient observation and assessment of the patient's voiding, in comparison to the busier work schedule through the day (Crowe et al., 1994). Since this doctoral research was conducted in one large NHS Trust in the North East of England, variations in catheter removal practices cannot be generalised beyond this organisation, or indeed the participating wards within the organisation. Nonetheless, this is an issue that warrants further exploration and the methodological approach taken in this thesis could set the stage for such broader research.

6.3.5 Forgetfulness and reminder interventions

Most of the nursing participants reported that due to other competing demands, they often place catheter removal low on their priority list (*Decision process*) or forget (*Memory*) to remove the catheter immediately after the removal order is released. Placing a low priority on catheter removal may be linked to HCPs' unawareness of the impact of unnecessary catheter duration on cumulative risk for developing bacteriuria i.e. 12 hours = 2.5%, 1 day = 5%.

The HCP participants found reminders from their peers, handover notes, and task check-list with the occasional reminder from patients helpful to remove the catheter. These reminders

took place on an ad-hoc basis with no specific frequency or structure. Reminder interventions such as criteria-based, computer-based, and verbal reminders from nurses to physicians, in addition to a placement of a sticker for catheter removal on a patient's chart, have proven to be effective in reducing the catheter duration and CAUTI rates (Meddings *et al.*, 2014), suggesting a more structured approach may be beneficial. However, acceptability of this approach to HCPs may be an issue. In line with Rousseau *et al.* (2003), HCP participants found pop-up computer-based reminders distracting and unhelpful but the majority were receptive to respond to reminders from patients or family. This supports the proposal in chapter five that future interventions should explore the role of patients and families in prompting or reminding HCPs to remove the catheter.

6.3.6 Hierarchy around catheter removal decision making and nurse-driven protocol interventions

Nurse-led protocols with pre-defined criteria for a catheter's continuation or discontinuation have proven to be effective in reducing catheter duration as described above (Skelly, 2008; Sadeghi *et al.*, 2019; Adams *et al.*, 2012). These interventions have the potential to empower nurses to make a catheter removal decision (*Social/professional role and identity*) and address the hierarchical barriers to making a catheter removal decision (*Social influences*).

6.3.7 Overall Summary of identified barriers

From the literature review (chapter three) and the empirical studies (chapters four and five), it is clear that the delay in catheter removal is a multi-faceted clinical problem. However, previous research has not conducted a comprehensive investigation to identify overall barriers around this multi-factorial problem involving both patients and HCPs. This gap was identified as the top limitation in Public Health England's report on the analyses of CAUTI prevention interventions (detailed in section 6.9), that the existing evidence lacks an understanding of specific behaviour related barriers and enablers related to CAUTIS (Atkins *et al.*, 2019 (In preparation)). There is value in conducting a detailed investigation of both perspectives systematically to examine all barriers using a robust and objective methodology to provide evidence for the most important and amenable barriers to be addressed. For instance, the work reported in this thesis identified knowledge as one of the main barriers for not only HCPs but also for patients, which prevented HCPs from promptly removing the catheters and patients from engaging in the catheter removal process. Knowledge is an

important factor in an attempt to improve an individual's learning and performance. But knowing what to do is not enough, the most important thing is understanding how to turn that knowledge into action (Pfeffer and Sutton, 1999). The application of knowledge into 'learning' and 'doing' takes place in complex contexts requiring individuals to overcome motivational, physical, social, and emotional barriers (Kahlke *et al.*, 2019). The current study found that the 'know-do' gap for HCPs is also interlinked with barriers such as forgetfulness, competing demands and resource issues in terms of high workload pushing catheter removal low on nurse's priority list. Thus, addressing the knowledge gap alone is insufficient to achieve the desired outcome. This may be the reason why educational interventions alone have not proven to be effective (Jones *et al.*, 2018). However, education combined with feedback on the consequent negative impact of CAUTIS (*Beliefs about consequences*) (Justus *et al.*, 2016) and incorporating formal daily catheter removal evaluations have proven to be effective in reducing catheter utilisation and CAUTI incidence (Menegueti *et al.*, 2019).

For patients, this research identified that the majority of them did not 'know' the impact of prolonged catheter duration on developing CAUTIS (*Knowledge/Beliefs about consequences*). This finding, combined with patients' misconceived ideas about urinary catheters as a result of deficiencies in the catheter consent process and beliefs around catheter removal decision being HCPs' sole responsibility (*Social/professional role and identity*), were potentially related to their lack of engagement in the catheter removal process. Moving forward, interventions could target specific and modifiable barriers affecting both HCPs and patients which have been identified in this body of research; this would have the potential to influence catheter removal practices and reduce the length of catheterisation.

6.4 Research findings in local healthcare setting context

The time taken for nurses to obtain a catheter removal order from medical staff was one of the main barriers which caused a delay in the catheter removal process. To a great extent, this finding reflects one of the four steps involved in the catheter removal process described earlier (Meddings *et al.*, 2010). In November 2018, local NHS Trust (NuTH) implemented a nurse-driven protocol, HOUDINI (Adams *et al.*, 2012), which bypasses some of these steps to

speed up the catheter removal process by empowering nurses to make the decision as well as remove the catheter by following a set of pre-defined removal indications (see Appendix M).

The HOUDINI intervention addresses two of several barriers identified in the HCP qualitative interview study (chapter four). These two barriers related to *Professional role and identity* (empowering nurses to make catheter removal decision), and *Social influences* (tackling hierarchical structure around catheter removal decision making). However, the HOUDINI intervention does not address the remainder of the barriers identified in this doctoral research, such as variation in catheter removal practices (midnight vs 6 am removal), a lack of evidence-based practice, a knowledge gap amongst both HCPs and patients, and a lack of information provided to patients during the catheter consent process. Besides, the existing interventions including HOUDINI do not explore the patient's role in providing reminders to speed up the removal process. Since its implementation, the HOUDINI intervention has not yet been formally evaluated locally. This highlights that there is much room for optimising and building on the HOUDINI intervention and presents an opportunity for future work where this intervention can be evaluated by building on the findings from this thesis.

Next steps in a local context: In the next research phase, the first step could be to further evaluate the HOUDINI intervention to assess its impact on catheter duration and CAUTI rates in the local NHS Trust. In the second phase, a supplementary intervention could be developed by mapping the remaining barriers to enhance the existing HOUDINI intervention, which is already embedded in local practice. The barriers to be addressed would be selected and prioritised on the basis that they are key barriers identified in the analysis of patient and HCP interviews, modifiable, most pressing, and not included in the HOUDINI intervention.

6.5 Future research

There are many behaviour change and implementation strategies that can be used to map the identified barriers, support and implement a specific behaviour, followed by incorporation of quality improvement methodology in intervention design and implementation. The barriers identified in this research were identified using the TDF. There is specific guidance available on how interventions can be designed to address barriers to behaviour change identified using the TDF and by incorporating the APEASE criteria (affordability, practicability, effectiveness,

acceptability, safety and equity) (Atkins *et al.*, 2017). Possible methods could include Behaviour Change Techniques (BCT Taxonomy) (Michie *et al.*, 2013), the Behaviour Change Wheel (Michie *et al.*, 2014), or with a combination of strategies from the Cochrane EPOC Taxonomy such as audit and feedback, education and reminder interventions with patient and family input (Effective Practice and Organisation of Care: 2015). Future interventions can be co-developed by including key stakeholders relevant to the catheter removal process.

A study in the clinical context of the 'sepsis six care bundle' used a similar approach to modify an existing intervention designed using the PDSA cycle, which proved to have achieved partial success in improving the implementation of the sepsis six bundle in a hospital setting (Steinmo *et al.*, 2016). The authors investigated the barriers influencing intervention implementation using TDF-based interviews with HCPs and developed modifications to the identified barriers to implementation using the BCT taxonomy (version 1) and APEASE criteria. This study found both of these tools to be compatible with the existing PDSA intervention which aimed to improve clinicians' behaviours and current practice to conform to evidence-based guidelines to carry out the six steps of sepsis treatment to be administered to patients within an hour of presentation at the hospital.

The catheter removal context represents a similar scenario in which the barriers to prompt catheter removal have been identified with the use of the TDF and there is an existing HOUDINI intervention being implemented in the local NHS practice, the impact of which is unclear both on reducing catheter duration and CAUTIs. The 'sepsis six' study could be used as an example to move current research forward to tackle modifiable barriers that are not yet addressed by the HOUDINI intervention. For example, variation in catheter removal practice (midnight vs 6am removal), nonconformity to current guidance, clinicians' forgetfulness causing a delay in catheter removal, a suboptimal catheter consent process, and inadequate information provision leading to patients' misguided ideas about catheters. Therefore, future work should focus on addressing modifiable barriers through the co-development of intervention strategies with relevant key stakeholders, i.e. patients and HCPs. The aim of this future work will be to supplement the HOUDINI intervention with these additional strategies to enhance improvement in local catheter removal practices.

6.6 Strengths of current work

The current research demonstrates a number of strengths. Overall, the main focus of the research was to conduct a detailed investigation of behaviours related to catheter removal and associated infections. This is an area of international importance. World-wide, hospital-acquired infections attributable to indwelling catheters affect patients who are receiving treatment during their hospital stay. One of the key contributing factors to infection is the longer duration of urinary catheters.

This research programme was novel in two ways; firstly, due to the application of the TDF in the clinical context of urinary catheters. Secondly, the use of the TDF in two separate studies, with patients and HCPs, combined in the same project. A detailed investigation into behaviour-related barriers and enablers provides an important, novel opportunity to enhance current understanding and move the current literature forward using established theory and methods to provide consistency in the literature going forward. This provides a robust foundation to support future development of an initiative to reduce catheter duration by tackling known modifiable barriers with a behaviour change intervention and, therefore, improve catheter care and safety.

Another strength of this thesis was the exploration of this multi-faceted issue by having the flexibility of semi-structured interviews, incorporating a range of perspectives, such as HCPs (nurses, doctors and healthcare assistants) and patients (admitted to medical and surgical wards), rather than limiting the research to HCPs only which has primarily been the case in the existing literature. Future intervention could be designed with insights gained from integrating healthcare professional and patient perspectives in ways not possible before this research.

The interviews were conducted during day and night shifts to capture variations in catheter care and practices related to different shift patterns. Once institutional and ethical approvals were gained, the potential participants were approached directly on the ward for participation to avoid coercion from staff (for patients) or the senior management team (for HCPs). Dedicated time was approved by the senior management team beforehand for HCP participants to take part in the interviews. This enabled staff to be relieved from their clinical

duties and allowed sufficient time to explore their beliefs and perceptions without being rushed on a variety of medical and surgical ward settings. Such practical approaches to data collection in this area may help to inform future investigations.

Methodologically, this research was conducted as per the nationally recommended standards and followed the UK MRC framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions (Craig *et al.*, 2008), described in chapter two. With the use of a theory-based approach, this doctoral research focused on the development phase of the MRC framework, by identifying the evidence base and barriers/enablers from key stakeholders' point of view. This helped to: develop an understanding of the processes and factors around the clinical problem of CAUTIS, synthesise evidence with the use of a theoretical framework necessary to develop tailored interventions, and is of relevance to key stakeholders. Interview studies were conducted with the application of rigorous research methods, such as independent coding by a second coder and discussions in data clinics with the wider research team to drive meaningful conclusions. Both interview studies (chapters four and five) have been reported as per the COnsolidated criteria for REporting Qualitative research (COREQ) guidelines (Tong *et al.*, 2007).

The Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement (PPIE) panel members provided their input at every stage of this research. This included their involvement in confirmation of the CAUTI topic as a priority area worthwhile of research for patients, in the study design at the fellowship application stage to the NIHR, as members of the project team, helping to develop documents, provide input in the analysis process to draw meaningful conclusions, and finally in dissemination of the research findings (see Acknowledgements). The PPIE work on this project has been highly commended; for example, my co-dissemination work with one of the PPIE panel members (Mr Peter Michel) entitled 'Innovative ways to involve PPI' won the first prize for best oral presentation at the NIHR PPI conference (2017). I also co-wrote and submitted an abstract (April 2017) with a PPI member for the NIHR INVOLVE@21 PPI Conference (2017) in London. Overall, the work included in the thesis is deemed to be of publishable quality as demonstrated by the presentation of abstracts in related peer-reviewed journals, invited presentations and dissemination during overseas research visits to Canada as part of my fellowship programme (see Thesis outputs).

6.7 Limitations of this research

This research should also be interpreted in light of limitations. The specific limitations of each study have been noted in the respective empirical chapters and the overall limitations are discussed in this section. The participants were recruited with criteria-based sampling strategy which can be prone to researcher bias such as recruiting easily available participants (Laerd, 2012). To minimise these possible biases, a heterogeneous mix of catheter insertion indications (patients) and a variety of HCPs involved in the catheter removal process (nurses, doctors and healthcare assistants) were included to capture a wide range of attributes and perspectives. The nature of the sampling strategy was inclusive rather than exclusive to gain understanding from a diversity of perspectives. In the patient study, the only participants included in the study were those who required short term catheters, so it is not possible to generalise to those with long-term catheters. The study took place in the secondary care setting so the findings cannot reliably be applied to other contexts e.g. patients in the community setting with a long-term catheter in-situ. However, the patient interview sample had wide-ranging sociodemographic characters and a variety of medical and surgical indications for catheter insertion. This lends strength to the likelihood that the main barriers drawn from this body of research are transferable to other clinical areas in the secondary care setting for patients with short-term urinary catheters in-situ. An exception to this would be the identified variation in catheter removal practices (midnight or 6am) since this finding may reflect practice unique to the local NHS Trust. Future work should explore this feature on a larger scale.

It has been noted previously in the literature review (chapter three) and throughout this thesis that delayed catheter removal is a complex phenomenon with multi-factorial diverse influences and barriers related to patients and HCPs. Moving this research forward, it may not be possible to address all of the identified barriers immediately. For example, barriers relating to environmental factors such as shared toilet facilities and a lack of ample toilets in a patient's vicinity are barriers which can only be addressed by making structural building changes to the ward layout and would require significant financial resources. However, the ward layout in newly built hospital premises is moving towards providing en-suite facilities to patients where possible (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2012). Due to restricted resources, providing en-suite facilities may not be possible at all in the other NHS hospitals in the country or hospitals in less developed

countries (De Geyndt, 1995). In the meantime, however, there are still many barriers that could be addressed.

The data collection and analysis were both guided by the framework method using the TDF (Michie *et al.*, 2005). A framework method can raise questions about its potential application in data collection and initial analysis in a deductive manner (Francis *et al.*, 2012). To counter this, the current work used an inductive approach to the coding of themes within domains. Another critique is the potential for superficial application of the TDF (Francis *et al.*, 2012). However, if used effectively by an experienced researcher, superficial application of the framework can be avoided and it can provide a systematic structure to conduct interviews whilst providing flexibility to adapt the framework to a given clinical context (Gale *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, use of a deductive approach can help to draw upon a pre-existing theory or a theoretical framework (Mayring, 2000; Vaismoradi *et al.*, 2013).

The research reported in this thesis first defined the specific target behaviours for patient and HCPs (Francis and Presseau, 2019) then adopted the framework (TDF) to the clinical context of urinary catheters (Michie *et al.*, 2005) and finally adopted a hybrid method of content analysis with the use of deductive and inductive approaches to coding and theme development (Fereday and Muir-Cochrane, 2006). The rationale for, and critique of, the TDF has been detailed in the literature review (chapter three). Collectively, this approach facilitated drawing a context-specific description of barriers and enablers related to catheter duration.

The work conducted in this thesis was led by a single researcher and could, therefore, be prone to subjectivity. To minimise the potential impact of biases, this body of research has been consistently reviewed, appraised and critiqued by clinical and academic experts in the field, as well as lay expert members. This included: a critique by my PhD supervision team consisting of methodological and clinical experts in the fields of qualitative methods, application of psychological theory, theoretical frameworks, behaviour change techniques, patient safety, and urology/incontinence. Also, codes in the analysis process were double-coded and cross-checked by an independent researcher. My work was also scrutinised during annual appraisals by two independent assessors consisting of a senior Professor of Health Service Research and

an Academic Clinician (Consultant Urological Surgeon); by the PPI panel, and through peerreview by national and international conference panels.

6.8 Potential impact

The finding of this doctoral research has been shared with a wide audience and is anticipated to produce impact at local, national and European levels, detailed below.

6.8.1 Impact on the local practice

Variations in catheter removal practice: The issue of variation in catheter removal timing (midnight vs 6am removal) is inconsistent with currently recommended guidance. The UK guidance suggest that the catheter should be removed as soon as possible (Loveday et al., 2014) and American CDC guidance (Gould et al., 2010) suggests catheter removal within 24 hours (1 day). Despite this, average post-operative catheter duration remains too long at 3 days (Pickard et al., 2012a). This non-concordant practice is one of the potential reasons for delays in catheter removal depending on the time the catheter removal order is released. For example, if the decision for catheter removal was made at a multi-disciplinary ward round in the morning. By not removing it immediately and removing it either at midnight that day or at 6am the next morning, it adds a half or full day to catheter duration. This puts patients at an increased risk of developing bacteriuria by 2.5% (half day) or 5% (full day), respectively (Gokula et al., 2004; Fukuoka et al., 2018). To address this issue the findings from this doctoral research have been shared with the relevant stakeholders in the local NHS Trust i.e. The Catheter Care Sub Group (CCSG), Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) representatives, and Director of Nursing for streamlining the timing of catheter removal practice across different wards, which would conform to the national standard within the local NHS Trust.

6.8.2 Estimated impact on reducing catheter duration and CAUTI rates

Future intervention/s will be designed with a focus on bringing about a reduction in catheterised days (primary outcome) and associated CAUTIS (secondary outcome). Reduction in average hospital catheter duration from the current average of 3 days (Pickard *et al.*, 2012a) down to 1 day (as suggested by CDC guidance (Gould *et al.*, 2010)), could reduce CAUTI incidence by a third. This could avoid around 80,000 of over 2 million catheterised patients

undue suffering, with a potential saving of £44 million annually to the UK NHS in terms of the direct cost of treating CAUTIS (80,000 at £548 per CAUTI for annual treatment (Pickard *et al.*, 2012b). Other related benefits would be a reduction in morbidity and sepsis mortalities, getting patients home earlier, improved Quality of Life (QoL), and reducing healthcare-acquired infections. Consistent with the MRC framework (Craig *et al.*, 2008), if the intervention proves to be effective in reducing catheter duration, it can be tested in multiple NHS hospitals for its safety, feasibility and acceptability, followed by a multi-centre cluster randomised controlled trial for intervention assessment and evaluation at large scale.

6.8.3 Potential impact on the UK and European guidelines

The current research highlights a gap in multiple sources of UK clinical guidelines for preventing healthcare-associated infections including urinary catheters, one of the major causes of HAIs and one that can be rectified to be in line with international standards, namely the CDC. These guidance documents include NICE (CG139: (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2012)) on 'Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care', NICE (QS61: (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014)) on 'Infection prevention and control' including Urinary catheters (QS4), Saving Lives (Department of Health, 2007), and epic3 guidelines (Loveday et al., 2014). The duration of catheterisation is considered to be the most important risk factor for developing bacteriuria (Maki and Tambyah, 2001; Saint and Lipsky, 1999), therefore, the timing of catheter removal is imperative in preventing CAUTIs. The American CDC guidance provides specific guidance on the timing of catheter removal suggesting that a catheter should be removed preferably within 24 hours unless there are appropriate indications for continued use (Gould *et al.*, 2010) (updated 2019). However, the UK guidance lacks specificity on the timing of catheter removal. The Saving Lives High Impact Intervention No 6. epic2 guidance (2007), urinary catheter care bundle suggests: review regularly and remove the catheter as soon as possible (Pratt et al., 2007), and more recent guidance documents epic3 (2014) states "remove the catheter when no longer clinically indicated" (Loveday et al., 2014, p.33), and NICE QS61 "removal as soon as it is no longer needed" (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014, p.23). These guidance statements have no reference to the specific timing of conducting catheter removal assessments or their removal. Such wording becomes open to subjective interpretation due to a lack of evidence. The guidance needs to be specific especially when there is high reliability on reducing the catheter duration to reduce CAUTIs.

Similarly, European guidelines on urological infections (Bonkat *et al.*, 2017) by the European Association of Urology (EAU) primarily focuses on the management of CAUTIs with antibiotic treatment. In terms of catheter duration, this document also does not specify a timeframe for catheter removal stating *"the duration of catheterisation should be minimal"* (Bonkat *et al.*, 2017, pg 20-22). These gaps in the guidelines need to be addressed with the provision of concise information to HCPs on the timing of catheter removal, similar to the American CDC guidance.

I have begun an engagement process with stakeholders and guidance makers and have flagged these gaps with the UK NICE and European guideline panels. The Communications Executive at the UK NICE panel has agreed to review QS61 guidance quality statement (detailed in literature chapter three) as part of their annual review process to determine the need for amendment (and to consider the work presented in this thesis). The QS61 review may potentially be scheduled into the work programme for the year 2020. Similarly, an engagement process with the EAU guidelines panel for Urological Infections has been initiated. This includes an arrangement for published work of this research to be considered at the panel meeting with the overall objective of updating relevant sections in the current guidance.

6.9 Conclusion

CAUTIS are widespread and affect millions of people worldwide every year. Despite existing local, national and international initiatives to reduce CAUTIS, the current local practice was found to be non-concordant with recommended guidance. Due to the high incidence and impact of CAUTIS, it was necessary to gain greater insight on what factors contribute to the delay in catheter removal and the development of resulting CAUTIS, from both a HCP and patient perspective.

This body of research has explored a wide range of physical, social, emotional, and environmental factors (barriers and facilitators) that influence patients' and HCPs' behaviours associated with duration of short-term urinary catheters. Informed by a comprehensive theoretical framework (TDF) this research included: a review of the current clinical guidance, a literature review of existing interventions focused to reduce catheter duration and associated CAUTIs, and two theory-based qualitative interview studies with catheterised patients and HCPs from medical and surgical wards in a secondary care setting.

To my knowledge, the research presented in this thesis is the first comprehensive investigation to identify barriers and facilitators related to delays in the catheter removal process and to look at this from both provider and patient perspectives. The findings are timely and have the potential for broad impact. Furthermore, the findings fill an evidence gap in the literature, propose gaps in current UK guidance, and address two out of three major limitations highlighted in a project commissioned by Public Health England (PHE) on strategic behavioural analyses of interventions for CAUTI prevention (Atkins et al., 2019 (In preparation)). The main limitation described in the PHE project report was that existing research focuses on bundle interventions rather than identifying specific behaviour related barriers and enablers. The second limitation that the PHE report highlights is a lack of detailed investigation of barriers and enablers using the TDF is likely to result in missed CAUTI-related behaviours. The current research addresses these limitations specifically by filling the evidence gap in the current literature and by suggesting which barriers are appropriate and modifiable to address in an intervention. It also provides the basis to develop a behaviour change intervention which can be targeted at both HCPs and patients and develop implementation strategies to the prompt removal of urinary catheters to reduce CAUTIs.

Key messages from this research:

- Reducing catheter duration and related infections is important locally, nationally and internationally to help address the global problem of CAUTIs.
- Delayed catheter removal and CAUTIs are a product of a complex set of multi-factorial interrelated behaviours associated with multiple individuals including doctors, nurses, support staff and patients.
- Catheter removal assessments are not conducted daily by HCPs to assess the continued need for catheterisation. This is important for the timely removal of catheters to avoid unnecessary CAUTIs.

- The reason for the continued use of the catheter is not always documented in the clinical/nursing notes which should be done daily. This is important for establishing appropriate indications for catheter's continued use.
- The UK and European guidance documents need clarity and specificity on the timing
 of catheter removal. A single statement on catheter removal without time specificity
 is not enough to provide precise instructions to clinicians when the existing evidence
 supports safe catheter removal within a specified time frame.
- Patients should be made aware of the consequences of prolonged catheter duration as part of the consent process which is currently lacking in the local practice.
- To improve current practice, a change in both HCP and patient behaviour (and key drivers to their behaviour) is required. Future interventions should consider targeting both parties for the prompt removal of catheters.
- The current research identified behavioural determinants of key patient and HCP behaviours influencing CAUTIs and lays the foundation for the next phase of research to address these barriers.

Appendix A: Theoretical Domains Framework construct definitions

Construct	Definition
Ability	Competence or capacity to perform a physical or mental act. Ability may be either unlearned or acquired by education and practice. ²
Action planning	The action or process of forming a plan regarding a thing to be done or a deed. ⁷
Affect	An experience or feeling of emotion, ranging from suffering to elation, from the simplest to the most complex sensations of feelings, and from the most normal to the most pathological emotional reactions. ¹
Alienation	Estrangement from one's social group; a deep seated sense of dissatisfaction with one's personal experiences that can be a source of lack of trust in one's social or physical environment or in oneself; the experience of separation between thoughts and feelings. ¹
Anticipated regret	A sense of the potential negative consequences of a decision that influences the choice made: for example an individual may decide not to make an investment because of the feelings associated with an imagined loss. ¹
Anxiety	A mood state characterised by apprehension and somatic symptoms of tension in which an individual anticipates impending danger, catastrophe or misfortune. ¹
Appraisal	The cognitive evaluation of a phenomenon or event. In theories of emotions, cognitive appraisals are seen as determinants of emotional experience. ¹
Attention	A state of awareness in which the senses are focussed selectively on aspects of the environment and the central nervous system is in a state of readiness to respond to stimuli. ¹
Attention control	The extent to which a person can concentrate on relevant cues and ignore all irrelevant cues in a given situation. ²
Attitudes	Any subjective belief or evaluation associated with an object or behaviour. ²
Barriers and facilitators	In psychological contexts barriers/facilitators are mental, emotiona or behavioural limitations/strengths in individuals or groups. ¹
Beliefs	The thing believed; the proposition or set of propositions held true. ⁶
Breaking habit	To discontinue a behaviour or sequence of behaviours that is automatically activated by relevant situational cues. ²
Burn-out	Physical, emotional or mental exhaustion, especially in one's job or career, accompanied by decreased motivation, lowered performance and negative attitudes towards oneself and others. ¹

Certainty of intentions	Assuredness of one's resolve to act in a certain way. ⁷
Champions/To champion	To fight for another or for a cause. ¹⁵
Change Management	A process during which the changes to a system are implemented in a controlled manner by following a pre-defined framework.
Characteristics of outcome expectancies	Characteristics of the cognitive, emotional and behavioural outcomes that individuals believe are associated with future or intended behaviours and that are believed to either promote or inhibit these behaviours. These include whether they are sanctions/rewards, proximal/distal, valued/not valued, probable/improbable, salient/not salient, perceived risks or threats. ²
Cognitive overload/tiredness	The situation in which the demands placed on a person by mental work are greater than a person's mental abilities. ¹
Commitment	The act of binding yourself (intellectually or emotionally) to a course of action. ⁵
Competence	One's repertoire of skills, and ability especially as it is applied to a task or set of tasks. ²
Conflict - competing demands, conflicting roles	The actual or perceived incompatibility between the performance of two or more behaviours. ²
Consequents	An outcome of behaviour in a given situation. ¹
Contingencies	A conditional probabilistic relation between two events. Contingencies may be arranged via dependencies or they may emerge by accident. ¹
Control of behaviour, materia and social environment	Authority, power or influence over events, behaviours, situations or people. ²
Coping strategies	An action, series of actions, or a thought process used in an attempt to reduce stress or used to modify one's reaction to a stressful/unpleasant situation. Coping strategies typically involve a conscious and direct approach to problems. ²
Crew resource management	A management system that makes optimum use of all available resources, equipment, procedures and people. ⁸
Decision making	The cognitive process of choosing between two or more alternatives, ranging from the relatively clear cut to the complex. ¹
Depression	A mental state that presents with depressed mood, loss of interest or pleasure, feelings of guilt or low self-worth, disturbed sleep or appetite, low energy, and poor concentration. ¹¹
Direct experience	The experience gained through immediate sense perception. ⁸
Empowerment	The promotion of the skills, knowledge and confidence necessary to take great control of one's life as in certain educational or social schemes; the delegation of increased decision-making powers to individuals or groups in a society or organisation. ¹
Environmental stressors	External factors in the environment that cause stress. ²

Evaluation	A careful examination or overall appraisal of something to determine its worth, value or desirability; a determination of the success of something in achieving defined goals; the interpretation of test results and experimental data. ¹
Fear	An intense emotion aroused by the detection of imminent threat, involving an immediate alarm reaction that mobilises the organism by triggering a set of physiological changes. ¹
Feedback	The return of information about progress on or the outcome of a process or activity. ¹⁶
Generating alternatives	Thinking of other ways of dealing with a situation or problem. ²
Goal priority	Order of importance or urgency of end states toward which one is striving. ²
Goal/target setting	A process that establishes specific time based behaviour targets that are measurable, achievable and realistic. ¹
Goals (autonomous/controlled)	The end state toward which one is striving: the purpose of an activity or endeavour. It can be identified by observing that a person ceases or changes its behaviour upon attaining this state; proficiency in a task to be achieved within a set period of time. ²
Goals (distal/proximal)	Desired state of affairs of a person or system, these may be closer (proximal) or further away (distal). ⁸
Group conformity	The act of consciously maintaining a certain degree of similarity to those in your general social circles. ⁸
Group identity	The set of behavioural or personal characteristics by which an individual is recognizable [and portrays] as a member of a group. ⁸
Group norms	Any behaviour, belief, attitude or emotional reaction held to be correct or acceptable by a given group in society. ⁷
Hierarchy	A clear order of individuals on some behavioural dimension such as dominance-submission. ¹
Identity	An individual's sense of self defined by a) a set of physical and psychological characteristics that is not wholly shared with any other person and b) a range of social and interpersonal affiliations (e.g., ethnicity) and social roles. ¹
Illness representations	Organised beliefs of illness acquired through the media, personal experience and from family and friends' experiences, beliefs, descriptions and knowledge of particular disorders. ³
Implementation intention	The plan that one creates in advance of when, where and how one will enact a behaviour. ⁸
Incentives	An external stimulus, such as condition or object, that enhances or serves as a motive for behaviour. ¹
Intention	A conscious decision to perform a behaviour; a resolve to act in a certain way or an impulse for purposeful action. In experiments, intention is often equated with goals defined by the task instruction. ¹

Intergroup conflict	Disagreement or confrontation between two or more groups and their members. This may involve physical violence, interpersonal discord, or psychological tension. ¹³
Interpersonal skills	An aptitude enabling a person to carry on effective relationships with others, such as an ability to cooperate, to assume appropriate social responsibilities or to exhibit adequate flexibility. ¹
Intrinsic motivation	An incentive to engage in a specific activity that derives from the activity itself rather than because of any external benefits that might be obtained. ¹
Knowledge	An awareness of the existence of something. ¹
Knowledge of task environment	Knowledge of the social and material context in which a task is undertaken. ²
Leadership	The processes involved in leading others, including organising, directing, coordinating and motivating their efforts toward achievement of certain group or organisation goals. ¹
Learning	The process of acquiring new and relatively enduring information, behaviour patterns or abilities, characterised by modification of behaviour as a result of practice, study or experience. ^{1,5}
Management commitment	The binding of a governing body of an organization or business to a course of action. ⁷
Memory	The ability to retain information or a representation of a past experience, based on the mental processes of learning or encoding retention across some interval of time, and retrieval or reactivation of the memory; specific information of a specific past. ¹
Mindset	An established set of attitudes regarded as typical of a particular group's social or cultural values; the outlook, philosophy, or values of a person; frame of mind, attitude, disposition. ⁶
Modelling	In developmental psychology the process in which one or more individuals or other entities serve as examples (models) that a child will copy. ¹
Moderators of the intention behaviour gap	Factors that affect the relationship between what one intends to do and what one actually does.
Negotiation	A reciprocal communication process in which two or more parties to a dispute examine specific issues, explain their positions and exchange offers and counter-offers in an attempt to identify a solution or outcome that is acceptable to all parties. ¹
Optimism	The attitude that outcomes will be positive and that people's wishes or aims will ultimately be fulfilled. ²
Organisational commitment	An employee's dedication to an organisation and wish to remain part of it. Organisational commitment is often described as having both an emotional or moral element and a more prudent element. ¹

Organisational culture/climate A distinctive pattern of thought and behaviour shared by members of the same organisation and reflected in their language, values, attitudes, beliefs and customs. ¹		
Organisational development	The application of principles and practices drawn from psychology, sociology and related fields to the planned improvement of organisational effectiveness. ¹	
Outcome expectancies	Cognitive, emotional, behavioural, and affective outcomes that are assumed to be associated with future or intended behaviours. These assumed outcomes can either promote or inhibit future behaviours. ²	
Past behaviour	Previous manner of conducting oneself. ⁷	
Perceived behavioural control	An individual's perception of the ease or difficulty of performing the behaviour of interest. ⁹	
Perceived competence	An individual's belief in his or her ability to learn and execute skills. ¹	
Person x environment interaction	Interplay between the individual and their surroundings.	
Pessimism	The attitude that things will go wrong and that people's wishes or aims are unlikely to be fulfilled. 1	
Positive/negative affect	The internal feeling/state that occurs when a goal has/has not been attained, a source of threat has/has not been avoided, or the individual is/is not satisfied with the present state of affairs. ¹	
Power	The capacity to influence others, even when they try to resist this influence. ¹	
Practice	Repetition of an act, behaviour, or series of activities, often to improve performance or acquire a skill. ¹	
Procedural knowledge	Knowing how to do something. ⁴	
Professional boundaries	The bounds or limits relating to, or connected with a particular profession or calling. ⁷	
Professional confidence	An individual's belief in his or her repertoire of skills, and ability especially as it is applied to a task or set of tasks. ⁷	
Professional identity	The characteristics by which an individual is recognised relating to, connected with or befitting a particular profession. ⁷	
Professional role	The behaviour considered appropriate for a particular kind of work or social position. ⁷	
Project management	Defining and achieving targets while optimizing the use of resources over the course of a project. ⁸	
Punishment	The process in which the relationship between a response and some stimulus or circumstance results in the response becoming less probable; a painful, unwanted or undesired event or circumstance imposed as a penalty on a wrongdoer. ¹	
Reinforcement	A process in which the frequency of a response is increased by a dependent relationship or contingency with a stimulus. ²	
Representation of tasks	A mental model of goal-directed activities. ²	
---	---	
Resources/material resources	Commodities and human resources used in enacting a behaviour. ²	
Review	To look over or through in order to correct or improve; to revise. ⁶	
Rewards (proximal/distal, valued/not valued, probable/improbable)	Return or recompense made to, or received by a person contingent on some performance. ⁷	
Routine/automatic/habit	A well-learned behaviour or automatic sequence of behaviours that is relatively situation specific. At its extreme the behaviour has become a reflex; independent of motivation, cognitive influence or conscious control. ²	
Salient events/critical incidents	Occurrences that one judges to be distinctive, prominent or otherwise significant. ²	
Sanctions	A punishment or other coercive measure, usually administered by a recognised authority, that is used to penalise and deter inappropriate or unauthorised actions. ¹	
Schemas	A collection of basic knowledge about a concept or entity that serves as a guide to perception, interpretation, imagination or problem solving. ¹	
Self-confidence	Self-assurance or trust in one's own abilities, capabilities and judgment. ¹	
Self-efficacy	An individual's capacity to act effectively to bring about desired results, as perceived by the individual. ²	
Self-esteem	The degree to which the qualities and characteristics contained in one's self- concept are perceived to be positive. ¹	
Self-monitoring	A method used in behavioural management in which individuals keep a record of their behaviour, especially in connection with efforts to change or regulate the self; a personality trait reflecting an ability to modify one's behaviour in response to situation. ¹	
Sensitisation	A form of non-associative learning in which an organism becomes more responsive to most stimuli after being exposed to unusually strong or painful stimuli; the increased effectiveness of an eliciting stimulus as function of its presentation. ¹	
Skill assessment	A judgment of the quality, worth, importance, level, or value of an ability or proficiency acquired through training and practice. ²	
Skills	An ability or proficiency acquired through training and/or practice. ²	
Skills development	The gradual acquisition or advancement through progressive stages of an ability or proficiency acquired through training and practice. ^{2, 7}	
Social comparisons	The process by which people evaluate their attitudes, abilities, or performance relative to others. ¹⁴	

Social identity	The set of behavioural or personal characteristics by which an individual is recognizable [and portrays] as a member of a social group. ¹
Social norms	Socially determined consensual standards that indicate a) what behaviours are considered typical in a given context and b) what behaviours are considered proper in the context. ¹
Social pressure	The exertion of influence on a person or group by another person or group. ¹
Social support	The apperception or provision of assistance or comfort to others, typically in order to help them cope with a variety of biological, psychological and social stressors. Support may arise from any interpersonal relationship in an individual's social network, involving friends, neighbours, religious institutions, colleagues, caregivers or support groups. ²
Stability of intentions	Ability of one's resolve to remain in spite of disturbing influences. ⁷
Stages of Change model	A model that proposes that behaviour change is accomplished through five specific stages: Pre-contemplation, Contemplation, Preparation, Action, and Maintenance. ¹⁷
Stress	A state of physiological or psychological response to internal or external stressors. ¹
Supervision	Management by overseeing the performance or operation of a person of group. ¹²
Team working	Cooperative effort toward a common goal or on a common project. ¹
Threat	A condition that is appraised as a danger to oneself or well-being or to a group. $^{\rm 1}$
Trans-theoretical model and stages of change	A five-stage theory to explain changes in people's health behaviour. It suggests that change takes time, that different interventions are effective at different stages, and that there are multiple outcomes occurring across the stages. ¹
Unrealistic optimism	The inert tendency for humans to over-rate their own abilities and chances of positive outcomes compared to those of other people. ¹⁰

(superscript number refers to definition source; definitions directly from (Cane et al., 2012))

N.B. Definitions for the original Theoretical Domains Framework domains are available from the first author on request.

Definition source (construct labels were used as keywords in each of the definition searches; see reference section for full citations): ¹ APA Dictionary of Psychology [36], ² Based on definition(s) from APA Dictionary of Psychology [36], ³ Based on definition from Taylor (2003) [55], ⁴ The Macmillan Dictionary of Psychology (2nd Edition) [56], ⁵ Based on definition from WordNet [57], ⁶ Oxford English Dictionary Online [58], ⁷ Based on definition(s) from Oxford English Dictionary Online [58], ⁸ Based on definition from En.wikipedia.org/wiki entry [59], ⁹ Based on definition from Azjen (1991) [60], ¹⁰ Based on definition from Ogden (2000) [61], ¹¹ World Health Organisation (WHO) [62], ¹² Dictionary.com [63], ¹³ Forsythe (2009) [64], ¹⁴ Based on definition from Alicke (2000) [65], ¹⁵

YourDictionary.com [66], ¹⁶ The Free Dictionary [67], ¹⁷ Based on definition from Proschaska and DiClemente (1984) [68].

Appendix B: TDF domains, constructs and sample questions *	
--	--

	Domain	Constructs	Questions
1	L Knowledge	Knowledge	Do they know about the guideline?
		Knowledge about condition/scientific rationale	What do they think the guideline says?
		Schemas + mindsets + illness representations	What do they think the evidence is?
		Procedural knowledge	Do they know they should be doing x?
			Do they know why they should be doing x?
2 Skills		Skills Competence/ability/skill assessment	Do they know how to do x?
		Interpersonal skills	How easy or difficult do
		Coping strategies	they find performing x to the
			Practice/skills development required standard in the required context?
3 Social/professional		Identity	What is the purpose of
	role and identity	Professional identity/boundaries/role	the guidelines?
		Group/social identity	What do they think about the credibility of
	Social/group norms	the source?	
		Alienation/organisational commitment	Do they think guidelines should determine their behaviour?
4	Beliefs about	Self-efficacy	How difficult or easy is it
	capabilities	Control—of behaviour and material and social environment	for them to do x? (prompt re. internal and external
		Perceived competence	capabilities/constraints)

		Self-confidence/professional confidence	What problems have they encountered?
		Empowerment	What would help them?
		Self-esteem Perceived behavioural control	How confident are they that they can do x despite the difficulties?
		Optimism/pessimism	How capable are they of maintaining x?
			How well equipped/comfortable do they feel to do x?
5	Beliefs about	Self-efficacy	What do they think will
	consequences	Control—of behaviour and material and social environment	happen if they do x? (prompt re themselves, patients, colleagues and
		Perceived competence	the organisation; positive
		Self-confidence/professional confidence	and negative, short term and long term consequences)
		Empowerment	What are the costs of x
		Self-esteem Perceived behavioural control	and what are the costs of the consequences of x?
		Optimism/pessimism	What do they think will happen if they do not do x? (prompts)
			Do benefits of doing x outweigh the costs?
			How will they feel if they do/don't do x? (prompts)
			Does the evidence suggest that doing x is a good thing?
6	Motivation and goals (Intention)	Intention; stability of intention Goals	How much do they want to do x?
		(autonomous, controlled) Goal target/setting Goal priority	How much do they feel they need to do x?
		Intrinsic motivation	Are there other things
		Commitment	they want to do or

		Distal and proximal goals Trans-theoretical model and stages of change	achieve that might interfere with x? Does the guideline conflict with others? Are there incentives to do x?
7	Memory, attention and decision processes	Memory Attention Attention control Decision making	Is x something they usually do? Will they think to do x? How much attention will they have to pay to do x? Will they remember to do x? How? Might they decide not to do x? Why? (prompt: competing tasks, time constraints)
8	Environmental context and resources	Resources/material resources (availability and management) Environmental stressors Person x environment interaction Knowledge of task environment	To what extent do physical or resource factors facilitate or hinder x? Are there competing tasks and time constraints? Are the necessary resources available to those expected to undertake x?
9	Social influences	Social support , Social/group norms, Organisational development, Leadership, Team working, Group conformity, Organisational climate/culture, Social pressure, Power/hierarchy, Professional boundaries/roles, Management commitment, Supervision, Inter-group conflict, Champions, Social comparisons, Identity; group/social	To what extent do social influences facilitate or hinder x? (prompts: peers, managers, other professional groups, patients, relatives)

	identity, Organisational commitment/alienation, Feedback, Conflict—competing demands, conflicting roles, Change management, Crew resource management, Negotiation, Social support: personal/professional/organisational, intra/, interpersonal, society/community Social/group norms: subjective, descriptive, injunctive norms, Learning and modelling	Will they observe others doing x (i.e. have role models)?
10 Emotion	Affect Stress Anticipated regret Fear Burn-out Cognitive overload/tiredness Threat Positive/negative affect Anxiety/depression	Does doing x evoke an emotional response? If so, what? To what extent do emotional factors facilitate or hinder x? How does emotion affect x?
11 Behavioural regulation	Goal/target setting Implementation intention Action planning Self-monitoring Goal priority Generating alternatives Feedback Moderators of intention-behaviour gap Project management Barriers and facilitators	What preparatory steps are needed to do x? (prompt re individual and organisational) Are there procedures or ways of working that encourage x?
12 Nature of the behaviours	Routine/automatic/habit Breaking habit Direct experience/past behaviour Representation of tasks Stages of change model	What is the proposed behaviour (x)? Who needs to do what differently when, where, how, how often and with whom? How do they know whether the behaviour has happened? What do they currently do? Is this a new behaviour or an existing behaviour

that needs to become a habit?
Can the context be used
to prompt the new
behaviour? (prompts:
layout, reminders,
equipment)
How long are changes
going to take?
Are there systems for
maintaining long-term
change?

* Note- Reproduced from (Michie et al., 2005, Table 1)

Appendix C: Healthcare professional- interview schedule for Chapter 4

Participant initials	Age
Participant study number	Gender
	Speciality
	Designation
	Number of years since
	qualified

Format

- Greeting & thank you for agreeing to be interviewed for the study
- Explain aim of the study in detail and what I would like to get out of this interview
- Recording of interviews for transcription assurances of anonymity and confidentiality
- The interview will take around 1 hour
- Can stop at any time you wish
- There are no right or wrong answers we are interested in hearing all perspectives
- Please feel free to talk about other related important things that come to your mind
- Any questions or concerns we can address during the interview or at the end
- Close interview

Introduction: Thank you for agreeing to take part in the interview. In this study we would like to understand reasons that delay or promote timing of catheter removal in practice.

There are quite a few questions that I would like to go through which I have written down on this piece of paper. I will be referring to it from time to time, so please don't get put off by me looking at it. This is just to make sure that we are on track and that I haven't missed anything. I may occasionally make notes for my reference later and some questions may sound a bit repetitive. If any question doesn't make sense please let me know and I will be happy to rephrase the question to simplify.

Remember, there are no right or wrong answers; I would be useful to hear all perspectives.

- 1. Okay, so if you'd like to start with telling me about **your experiences** around urinary catheters?
- 2. Are you aware of the local, national or international guidance on short-term urinary catheters?
- 3. What does the *guideline/s say* around the timing of catheter removal? (*establish the standard*)
- 4. Do you follow the guideline/s in your practice? (establish current practice)
- On your ward is there a <u>set guideline for removing the catheter</u> for particular procedures?
 Prompts- hospital guideline, ward policy
- 6. If yes, do you follow that guideline/s? (Behaviour Regulation)

Knowledge

- 7. Can you tell me about the <u>risks involved</u> around catheterisation?
- 8. What do you think the **<u>evidence</u>** is around removing the timing of catheter removal?

Prompt- knowledge testing, in support for early or late removal

9. Do you know when you should remove the catheter? *Prompts- If yes- how? If no- why not?*

10. Do you know **why** the catheter should be removed as quickly as possible?

Skills and beliefs about capabilities

- 11. Are you **<u>capable</u>** of removing a catheter of patients under your care promptly?
- 12. How did you achieve this capability? Prompts- through training, learning from colleagues
- 13. Are you **<u>confident</u>** in removing a catheter of patients under your care promptly?

14. Are there any **interpersonal relationships (rapport)** that are required with **patients or your colleagues** to remove the catheter promptly?

Social/professional role and identity (self-standards)

- 15. Is removing a catheter **part of your role**?
- 16. In what ways removing the catheter promptly is **<u>compatible</u>** with professional standards?

Prompts- moral or ethical issues, limits to autonomy, NMC/GMC code of conduct

17. In what ways removing the catheter promptly **<u>conflict</u>** with professional standards?

Prompts- moral or ethical issues, limits to autonomy, NMC/GMC code of conduct

Beliefs about capabilities

18. Do you **<u>find it easy</u>** to remove the catheter promptly?

Prompts- internal and external factors and constraints

19. Do you <u>find it difficult</u> to remove the catheter promptly?

20. If yes, how difficult do you find removing the catheter promptly?

21. What <u>difficulties or problems have you encountered in your experience to</u> remove the catheter within 24 hours?

22. What would help you to overcome these problems?

Prompts- further training, support from colleagues

23. How **<u>confident</u>** are you to remove the catheter promptly despite the difficulties?

Prompts- self-drive, motivation

- 24. <u>What makes it easier</u> in your experience to remove the catheter promptly?
- 25. Are you capable of maintaining your practice of removing the catheter promptly?
- 26. If yes, how do you do that?

Prompts- self-reminders, prompts by colleagues

27. **If not,** is that something you might consider?

Prompts- If yes, how would you change your current practice? If not- why not?

Emotion

28. Do you <u>feel comfortable</u> removing the catheter promptly?

Skills

29. Are you <u>well equipped</u> to remove the catheter promptly?

Beliefs about consequences

30. What do you think would happen if you <u>do</u> remove the catheter promptly?

Prompts- consequences to yourself, patients, colleagues, organisation, positive and negative, short term and long term consequences

31. What do you think will happen if you **<u>don't</u>** remove the catheter promptly?

32. What do you think the <u>costs</u> are around <u>not</u> removing the catheter within promptly?

33. What do you think the **costs are around removing** the catheter promptly?

Prompts- patient suffering, costs of antibiotics and prolonged hospitalisation

34. Do you think the **benefits** of prompt catheter removal **outweigh the costs**?

35. How would you <u>feel if you removed</u> the catheter within 24 hours?

Prompts- good, bad, anxious, confident

36. How would you feel if you <u>didn't</u> remove the catheter within 24 hours?

Prompts- good, bad, anxious, confident

37. Does <u>evidence</u> suggest removing the catheter promptly is a <u>good practice</u>?

Motivation and Goals (intention)

38. How much do you <u>want to</u> remove the catheter promptly?

39. How much do you <u>feel the need to</u> remove promptly?

40. Are there any **<u>other things</u>** that you **<u>want to do or achieve that interfere</u>** with removing the catheter promptly?

Prompts- your daily work routine, bathing or feeding patients, medicine rounds

41. Which **<u>other things</u>** you do that **<u>helps you</u>** to remove the catheter promptly?

Prompt- which actions?

42. Do your <u>colleagues agree</u> with removing the catheter promptly?

43. Do your <u>colleagues help/facilitate</u> removing the catheter promptly?

44. Are there any <u>incentives</u> to remove the catheter promptly? *Prompt- personal, financial, to patients*

Memory attention and decision processes

- 45. Is removing the catheter promptly **<u>something you normally do</u>**?
- 46. How much **attention do you have to pay** when removing the catheter promptly?
- 47. **Have you forgotten** to remove the catheter promptly?

Prompt- If yes, why did that happen?

48. If you decide **not to** remove the catheter promptly- why would it be?

Prompts- competing tasks, time constraints, change in patient's clinical condition

Environmental context and resources

- 49. To what extent **physical environment** factors **facilitate** removing the catheter promptly?
- 50. To what extent **physical environment factors** hinder removing the catheter within 24 hours?
- 51. To what extent **resource factors facilitate** removing the catheter promptly?
- 52. To what extent **resource factors** hinder removing the catheter promptly?
- 53. Are there **competing tasks** and **time constraints**?
- 54. If so, what are they?
- 55. How do they affect catheter removal timing?
- 56. Are there **<u>necessary resources</u>** available to remove the catheter promptly?

Prompt- different types of resources

Social influences (norms)

57. To what extent do **social influences facilitate** removal of a catheter promptly?

Prompts- peers, managers, mentors, other professional groups, patients, relatives

58. To what extent do <u>social influences hinder</u> removal of prompt catheter removal? *Prompts- peers, managers, mentors, other professional groups, patients, relatives*

59. How often do you observe others removing the catheter promptly? (i.e. role model)

Behaviour regulation

60. What **preparatory steps** are needed to remove the catheter promptly?

Prompts- individual and organisational

61. What are the **procedures or ways of working** that **encourage** removal of a catheter promptly?

Nature of the behaviours

62. What is the **routine for catheter removal** within 24 hours on your ward?

Prompts- yours and your colleagues routine

63. Who needs to do what differently to make sure catheters are removed promptly?

Prompts- when, where, how often and with whom?

64. What do you <u>currently do to ensure</u> catheters are removed promptly for patients under your care?

65. Is removing the catheter within 24 hours <u>a new practice or an existing practice</u> that <u>needs to</u> <u>become a habit</u>?

66. Can there be **something used to prompt the quick catheter removal**?

Prompts- reminders, layout, equipment

67. **How long** do you think removing the catheter promptly is **going to take in practice**?

68. Are there systems in place for maintaining good practice of prompt removal of catheter?

69. How would you feel **<u>if patients reminded you on daily basis</u>** whether their catheter is required until it's removed?

Prompts- angry, frustrated, anxious, not in control, patient taking over your authority

70. Would you like to have set guidelines around catheter removal for different procedures where it guides you exactly how many days the catheter should stay in for that particular procedure? E.g. a guideline stating that catheter should be removed 24 hours after child birth or in TURP cases catheter should be removed after 2 days?

Close

Okay, that's all the questions I had for you and thanks for sharing your views.

71. Is there anything that we haven't spoken about in the interview that would like to tell me about prompt removal of catheters?

Okay, we'll leave it there then if that's alright with you

Thank you for your time to participate in the study.....

Appendix D: Healthcare professional- recruitment poster for Chapter 4





The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals

Are you a healthcare professional involved in urinary catheter care and it's removal for patients?

If so, we are interested in your views and catheter experiences



Reducing the Duration of **U**rinary **C**atheters and Associated Infections (**ReDUCe**) study is exploring views around the factors that promote or delay removal of a urinary catheter before, during or after procedures

To find out how to take part in our study contact:

Rashmi Bhardwaj Telephone: 0191 2088525 Email: reducestudy@ncl.ac.uk



This study is funded by the National Institute for Health Research This advertisement has been approved by a Research Ethics Committee ReDUCe study poster V 1.0 dated 28.10.2013

Appendix E: Healthcare professional- participant information sheet for Chapter 4



The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Reducing the **D**uration of **U**rinary **C**ath**e**terisation and Associated Infections- ReDUCe study

Healthcare Professional Information Sheet Version 1.0, Dated 28.10.2013

Invitation

You have been invited to take part in the ReDUCe study which aims to find out your views around catheters.

Before you decide whether or not to take part we would like you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Someone from our research team will go through this information sheet with you and answer any questions you have. Talk to your family, friends and colleagues about the study if you wish and please ask us if there is anything that is not clear.

What is the purpose of the study?

We would like to explore the views of a variety of healthcare professionals about factors that encourage or delay catheter removal. Identifying factors that govern the timing of catheter removal will assist in understanding and promoting safe earlier catheter removal, with the aim to help reduce CAUTI in the hospital and community for the benefit of patients.

Why have I been asked to take part?

You have been invited to take part in this study because you are a member of staff who is involved in the removal of urinary catheters from patients under your care in the wards and clinical areas taking part in this research study.

What does taking part involve?

Taking part in this study involves you agreeing to participate in an interview with the study researcher. It is estimated that the interview would take approximately one hour and will be held at a place and time that is convenient to you. During the interview we will ask you questions about your views around factors that promote or delay early catheter removal. Before the interview the researcher will ask you to sign a consent form to take part and to allow us to audiotape the interview which will then be transcribed in anonymised form for analysis after the interview.

Do I have to take part?

No, taking part in the study is voluntary and it is entirely up to you if you want to take part. You can withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason.

What are the advantages and disadvantages of taking part?

By taking part you have the opportunity to help understand what factors encourage or delay catheter removal which will help in developing new ways of encouraging short catheter duration that are acceptable to patients and healthcare professionals in promoting patient safety and better practice.

During the interview there is the possibility that some participants may raise sensitive and possibly upsetting issues relating to their personal experience in hospital. We are also conscious of the time involved in taking part. We will be sensitive to these issues.

Will taking part in the project be kept confidential?

All information about you and anything that you tell us will be handled confidentially and will be stored on at the Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University. However should there be matters that you want to talk about that suggests malpractice or misconduct by healthcare staff we may need to report this to the appropriate manager to be dealt with according to the hospital policy. You will not be identifiable in any written reports or publications that arise from this study.

What happens next?

If you are interested in taking part, please inform the named researcher Rashmi Bhardwaj on **0191 2228525** or email <u>reducestudy@ncl.ac.uk</u> or by returning reply form (at the end of this document) in the self-addressed envelope provided. The study researcher will arrange to meet with you during your working hours to discuss the study, to answer any questions you may have. If you are still interested to take part, researcher will consent you to participate and arrange a suitable time for your interview.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This research is funded by the National Institute for Health Research and sponsored by The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Who has reviewed the project?

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This project has been reviewed and given a favourable opinion by both the Newcastle & North Tyneside Ethics Committee and Research Governance Committee at The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Where can I get further information about this study?

If you have any concerns or would like to discuss any aspect of taking part in this study you can contact: **Rashmi Bhardwaj**, Research Fellow/Senior Research Nurse Tel: **0191 2228525 Email**: <u>reducestudy@ncl.ac.uk</u>

Address: Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University Baddiley-Clark Building, Richardson Road, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE2 4AX

Thank you for taking the time to read this information.

Expression of Interest/Reply Form

Please initial boxes

 I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet Version 1.0, dated 28.10.2013 and I am interested in being contacted about participating in the study. 2. I have read and understand the information sheet Version 1.0, dated 28.10.2013 and I am NOT interested in being contacted about participating in the study.



Please proceed to points 3 and 4 only if you are interested in taking part.

3. If you are interested in taking part please give your preferred method for the researcher to contact you:

Telephone number: _____

E mail address: _____

4. Please give the days and times in the week when it would be most convenient to you for the researcher to get in touch during your working hours:

Name

Date

Signature

Appendix F: Healthcare professional- consent form for Chapter 4



The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals

Reducing the Duration of Urinary Catheterisation and Associated Infections- ReDUCe study

Healthcare Professional Participants- Consent Form Version 1.0, Dated 28.10.2013 Site: The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Participant Initials: Participant Study Number: Participant Ward/Clinical Area: Name of Researcher: Rashmi Bhardwaj Supervisors: Dr Justin Presseau; Professor Rob Pickard; Dr Debbie Carrick-Sen

Please provide your initials in the box

1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet dated 28.10.2013 (version 1.0) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.	
2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without my employment or legal rights being affected.	
3. I understand that all data collected during the interview will remain anonymous and confidential, and will be stored in a locked filing cabinet (paper copies) and on password protected computers (electronic copies) located in the Institute of Health and Society at Newcastle University.	
4. I agree to allow the researchers to audio-record the interview. I understand that direct quotes may be used in the final report or scientific publications, however these will be anonymised and no personal information which could identify me will be used.	
5. I agree that anonymous data may be used for future projects.	
6. I agree to take part in the above study in the interview study.	

Name of Patient

Date

Signature

Researcher

Date

Signature

When completed, 1 copy for participant; 1 for researcher site file

Domain	Total codes	Agreement	Disagreement	Suggestion to double code (DC)	Summary
Knowledge (D01)	66	64	2	0	1 code to be moved to Nature of the Behaviours 1 code to be moved to Skills
Skills (D02)	37	35	2	0	1 code to be moved to Beliefs about Capabilities 1 code to be moved to Nature of the Behaviours
Social professional role and identity (D03)	36	36	0	0	Full agreement
Beliefs about capabilities (D04)	80	68	12	0	 2 codes to move over to Behaviour regulation 1 codes to be moved to Beliefs about Consequences 1 codes to be moved to Motivation and Goals 4 codes to be moved to Decision making 1 code to move over to knowledge 1 codes to move over to memory attention and decision making 1 code to move over to Social Influences 1 code to move over to Skills
Beliefs about consequences (D05)	96	87	9	1	1 code to move over to nature of the behaviours 1 code to move over to Social Influences 1 code to move over to knowledge 2 codes to move over to memory attention and decision making 1 code to be moved to SI, team working – communication

Appendix G: Healthcare professional- double coding summary for Chapter 4

					 code to be moved to SI- knowledge & awareness of others code to be moved over to SI- group norms code to be moved over to SI, social pressure, age related factors code to be DC in current domain and emotion
Motivation and goals (D06)	33	31	2	0	2 codes to be moved to Social Influences
Memory, attention and decision processes (D07)	50	49	1	2	1 code to be moved over to nature of the behaviours 1 code to DC in current domain & Emotion 1 code to DC in current domain & beliefs about capabilities, perceived behaviour control 1 code to DC in Social Influences, conflict-competing demands
Environmental context and resources (D08)	73	63	10	2	5 codes to be moved to Nature of the Behaviours 4 codes to be moved to Beliefs about Consequences 1 code to DC in Nature of the Behaviours 1 code to DC in Beliefs about Consequences
Social Influences (D09)	94	90	4	1	Disagreement on 4 codes. These codes got moved to Nature of the Behaviours & Skills (Interpersonal) Suggestion to DC 1 code in Social Influences & Nature of the Behaviours Domain
Emotion (D10)	27	27	0	0	Full agreement

Behaviour regulation (D11)	80	67	13	1	 code to be moved to motivation codes to be moved to Beliefs about Consequences codes to be moved to Social Influences codes to be moved to Decision making codes to be moved to Nature of the Behaviours (direct behaviour) codes to DC in Social Influences codes to be moved to Nature of the Behaviours (Habit) codes to be moved to Beliefs about Capabilities (professional competence) code to be moved to Knowledge
Nature of the behaviours (D12)	50	46	4	2	Disagreement on 4 codes, which were moved to suggested domains 2 codes were suggested to be DC

Appendix H: Patient- interview schedule for Chapter 5

The following information to be collected from medical, nursing and catheter care records before the interview.

General demographics

Age	
Gender	
Speciality	
Date of hospital admission	
Reason for hospital admission	
Elective/acute admission	

Catheter information from catheter care record

Date of insertion	
Reason for insertion	
Place of catheter insertion (e.g. ward, theatre)	
Patient under anaesthetic at time of catheter	
insertion?	

Format

- Greeting & thank you for agreeing to be interviewed for this study
- Recording of interviews for transcription assurances of anonymity and confidentiality
- The interview will take around 1 hour
- Can stop at any time you wish
- The interview will explore your views around urinary catheters and its duration to help us understand how best to reduce the length of unnecessary prolonged catheterisation in practice
- There are no right or wrong views we are interested in hearing all perspectives
- Any questions or concerns
- Close interview

Introduction: Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. The aim of the study is to help us understand more about urinary catheters and its duration. We are interested in your views around catheterisation but specifically for how long the catheter stays in for.

Start recording from this point on...

- 1. Have you had any experience with a catheter in the past (via a family member or yourself)? *Prompt- strategy for keeping patient focused on the topic*
- 2. I gather from your notes that you have had a urinary catheter put in due to xxx procedure.
 - *a)* What information did you receive about your catheter before your procedure *Prompts- who? What? When? How? Since then?*

Introduction to next topic – Thanks for answering these questions. In the next section I am specifically interested in how people like you, communicate with rest of the team.

- 3. How do you feel about asking staff whether your catheter is still needed? *Prompt- do you feel the same way asking this question to all of the staff members? e.g. nurse, doctor, support worker etc.*
- 4. How do you feel about doing it within 24 hours? (if applicable)
- 5. How do you feel about doing it on daily basis until the catheter comes out?
- 6. Would asking this question on daily basis ever slip your mind?
- 7. Are there ever situations in which you get distracted from that prevent you to ask these questions? Prompts- something more important comes up, interruptions from other patients, family members or staff
- 8. How important is it to you to ask staff for timely removal of your catheter? *Prompt- Considering the benefits of prompt removal, How much do you want to do it? Are you compelled to do it? Is there anything more important? Why?*
- Have you ever prompted or reminded a staff member responsible for your care in current or any other situation?
 Prompt- for example, asking staff to wash their hands before they deliver care to you (if you haven't seen them do it)

Introduction to next topic – Now we are going to move on to the environmental factors that in your opinion may or may not contribute to early or late catheter removal.

- 10. How far is the toilet from your bedside? *Prompt- Interviewer to make note of the walkable distance from patient's bedside to the toilet*
- 11. How long does it take for you to walk to the nearest toilet? *Prompt- Interviewer to make a note of patient's time taken to walk to the toilet- consider elderly frail vs fit and young patients, type of procedure, number of post-procedural days*
- 12. Do you think the toilet is located within a reasonable distance for you to walk to it? *Prompts- is it at convenient distance? Is it too far? If too far, would it stop you from having your catheter removed early?*
- 13. If you are not capable of walking to the toilet within 24 hours of your procedure- would you consider using alternative methods?Prompt- e.g. use of bed pan or commode

14. Anything else you would like to mention under environmental impact on catheter duration?

Introduction to next topic – Now let's talk about how other people may help or stop you from asking staff questions about if the catheter is still needed.

- 15. Are there any influential individuals or groups who are in favour of patients asking staff whether a catheter is still needed on daily basis? *Prompt- staff members, friends, family, yourself*
- 16. Are there any influential individuals or groups who are in favour of patients asking staff whether a catheter is still needed on daily basis? Prompt- staff members, friends, family, yourself
- 17. Do you consider their opinion when asking staff these questions? *Prompt- do their opinion cross your mind at all?*
- 18. Do you think about opinion of these influential people when you consider asking staff questions? Prompt- if you got the sense that others didn't approve of you asking staff questions, would that influence whether or how you would ask questions?

Introduction to next topic – Now in the last section we are going to talk about advantages and disadvantages of early and late catheter removal and its consequences.

- 19. Do you know if there are any side-effects of delayed catheter removed? *Prompts- e.g. increased infection risk, increased number of hospitalised days*
- 20. What are the costs of catheter infections to patients and healthcare? *Prompt- to patients- additional suffering to patients from catheter infections To healthcare system- cost to treat catheter related infections and cost of prolonged hospital stay as a result*
- 21. Are there any benefits of prolonged catheter duration? *Prompt- patient not wanting to mobilise (walk to the toilet or use alternative methods) post procedure due to pain factors*
- 22. Do you think that benefits of using catheter for longer outweigh patient suffering and costs?

In conclusion

That's all the questions I have for you. Is there anything else that we haven't discussed, relevant to this topic that you would like to add?

Thank you for your time to participate in the study.

Appendix I: Patient- recruitment poster for Chapter 5





The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals

Have you recently had a urinary catheter?

Will you need a urinary catheter during your hospital stay?

If so, we are interested in your views and catheter experiences



Reducing the Duration of **U**rinary **C**atheters and Associated Infections (**ReDUCe**) study is exploring views around the factors that promote or delay removal of a urinary catheter before, during or after procedures

To find out how to take part in our study contact:

Rashmi Bhardwaj Telephone: 0191 2448357 or 2228525 Email: rashmi.bhardwaj1@ncl.ac.uk



Study is funded by the National Institute of Health Research This advertisement has been approved by a Research Ethics Committee ReDUCe study poster V 1.0 dated 28.10.2013

Appendix J: Patient- participant information sheet for Chapter 5



The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Reducing the Duration of Urinary Catheterisation and Associated Infections- ReDUCe study

Patient Information Sheet – Interviews Version 1.0, Dated 28.10.2013

Invitation

You have been invited to take part in a research study that is interested in your views about catheters. Before you decide whether or not to take part we would like you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Someone from our research team will go through this information sheet with you and answer any questions you have. Talk to your family, friends, other patients, or your doctors and nurses about the study if you wish and please ask us if there is anything that is not clear.

What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of this study is to find out patients' views and beliefs around the length of time urinary catheters should be used after medical procedures. We want to find out how patients can contribute to the drive to reduce the length of urinary catheters. This is important because urinary catheters that are left in too long can cause urinary infections which are uncomfortable, need antibiotics and may delay discharge from hospital.

In this study we are interviewing people like you to get a broad idea of the different things that patients feel and believe about urinary catheterisation. This will help us to discover the most important things from your point of view that are likely to encourage or delay catheter removal.

Why have I been asked to take part?

You have been invited to take part in this study because you had a urinary catheter put in as part of your hospital care.

What does taking part involve?

Taking part in this study involves you agreeing to be interviewed by the researcher. Each interview will be conducted by the lead study researcher after you have your catheter in place, will take around 1 hour and will be held in the hospital at a place and time that is convenient to you.

During the interview we will ask questions to find out about your views around things that encourage or delay early catheter removal. Before the interview the researcher will ask you to sign a consent form to take part and to allow us to audiotape the interview which will be written out later in an anonymised form for analysis.

Do I have to take part?

No, taking part in the study is voluntary and it is entirely up to you if you want to take part. You can withdraw at any time without giving a reason.

What are the advantages and disadvantages of taking part?

By taking part you have the opportunity to help us to understand what encourages or delays catheter removal which will help us to develop new ways of encouraging a short duration of catheterisation that are acceptable to both patients and healthcare professionals. This will help make hospital care safer.

During the interview there is the possibility that some participants may raise sensitive and possibly upsetting issues relating to their personal experience in hospital. We are also conscious of the time involved in taking part. We will be sensitive to these issues.

Will taking part in the project be kept confidential?

All information about you and anything that you tell us will be handled confidentially and stored at the Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University. However should there be matters that you want to talk about that suggests malpractice or misconduct by healthcare staff we may need to report this to the appropriate manager to be dealt with according to the hospital policy. You will not be identifiable in any written reports or publications that arise from this study.

What happens next?

If you are interested in taking part, please inform the named researcher Rashmi Bhardwaj on **0191 2088525** or email <u>reducestudy@ncl.ac.uk</u> or by returning reply form (at the end of this document) in the self-addressed envelope provided. The study researcher will arrange to meet with you during your hospital visit to discuss the study in more detail, to answer any questions you may have. If you are still interested to take part, researcher will consent you to participate and arrange a suitable time for your interview.

What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, you should speak to the lead researcher Rashmi Bhardwaj who is in-charge of this aspect of the study and will do her best to answer your questions (available on 01912088525 or email: reducestudy@ncl.ac.uk). If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the National Health Service complaints procedure. Details can be obtained from the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS http://www.pals.nhs.uk/) at your local hospital.

In the very unlikely event of something going wrong and you are harmed during the research and this is due to someone's negligence then you may have grounds for legal action for compensation against the NHS Trust that treated you or the study sponsor organisation Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, but you may have to pay your legal costs. The normal NHS complaints mechanisms will always be available to you.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This research is funded by the National Institute for Health Research and sponsored by The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Who has reviewed the project?

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This project has been reviewed and given a favourable opinion by both the Newcastle & North Tyneside Ethics Committee and Research Governance Committee at The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

Where can I get further information about this study?

If you have any concerns or would like to discuss any aspect of taking part in this study you can contact:

Rashmi Bhardwaj, Research Fellow/Senior Research NurseTel: 01912088525Email: reducestudy@ncl.ac.uk

Address: Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University Baddiley-Clark Building, Richardson Road, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE2 4AX

Alternatively, for independent advice you can contact Mr Chris Harding (Consultant Urologist) on 0191 2137321 or you can discuss the study with your GP and family members.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information.

Expression of Interest/Reply Form

Please initial boxes

- 4. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet Version 1.0, dated 28.10.2013 and I am interested in being contacted about participating in the study.
- 5. I have read and understand the information sheet Version 1.0, dated 28.10.2013 and I am NOT interested in being contacted about participating in the study.

Please proceed to points 3 and 4 only if you are interested in taking part.

3. If you are interested in taking part please give your preferred method for the researcher to contact you:

Telephone number: _____

E mail address: _____

4. Please give the days and times in the week when it would be most convenient to you for the researcher to get in touch

Name

Date

Signature

Appendix K: Patient- participant consent form for Chapter 5



The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals

Reducing the Duration of Urinary Catheterisation and Associated Infections- ReDUCe study

 Patient Participants – Interview Consent Form

 Version 1.0, Dated 28.10.2013

 Site: The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

 Participant Initials:

 Participant Study Number:

 Participant Ward/Clinical Area:

 Name of Researcher(s):

 Rashmi Bhardwaj

Supervisors: Dr Justin Presseau; Professor Rob Pickard; Dr Debbie Carrick-Sen

Please	initial	each	box
--------	---------	------	-----

1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet dated 28.10.2013	
(version 1.0) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information,	
ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.	
2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any	
time without giving any reason and without my medical care or legal rights being	
affected.	
3. I understand that sections of any of my medical notes may be looked at by responsible	
individuals directly involved in this study or from regulatory authorities where it is	
relevant to my taking part in research. I give permission for these individuals to have	
access to my records.	
4. I understand that all data collected during the interview will remain anonymous and	
confidential, and will be stored in a locked filing cabinet (paper copies) and on password	
protected computers (electronic copies) located in the Institute of Health and Society at	
Newcastle University.	
5. I agree to allow the researchers to audio-record the interview. I understand that direct	
quotes may be used in the final report or scientific publications, however these will be	
anonymised and no personal information which could identify me will be used.	
I agree that anonymous data may be used for future projects.	
7 Lagree to take part in the above interview study	
7. I agree to take part in the above interview study.	

Name of Patient	Date	Signature			
Researcher	Date	Signature			
When completed, 1 copy for participant; 1 for researcher site file; 1 copy for medical notes					

Domain number	Domain name	Total codes	Agreement	Disagreement	Suggestion to double code (DC)	Code consensus summary
D01	Knowledge	86	80	6	0	2 code moved over to D3 2 codes moved over to D4 1 code moved over to D5 1 code moved over to D6
002	Skills	30	13	17	3	5 codes moved to D3 9 codes moved to D4 3 codes double coded to D2 and D4
003	Social professional role and identity	68	65	3	0	1 code moved to D7 2 codes moved to D11
004	Beliefs about capabilities	97	89	8	1	1 code moved to D2 3 codes moved to D3 1 code moved to D9 2 codes moved to D11 1 code moved to D12 1 code double coded to D4 and D11
005	Beliefs about consequences	142	109	33	0	2 codes moved to D1 3 codes moved to D3 2 codes moved to D4 2 codes moved to D6 4 codes moved to D7 11 codes moved to D9 3 codes moved to D11 6 codes moved to D1
006	Motivation and goals	41	36	5	0	1 code moved to D4 3 codes moved to D9

Appendix L: Patient- double coding summary for Chapter 5

1 code moved to D12

D07	Memory, attention and decision processes	31	29	2	0	1 code moved to D9 1 code moved to D10
D08	Environmental context and resources	65	54	11	0	1 code moved to D3 3 codes moved to D4 4 codes moved to D9 3 codes moved to D11
D09	Social Influences	122	102	20	0	3 codes moved to D3 3 codes moved to D4 1 code moved to D7 6 codes moved to D8 5 codes moved to D11 2 codes moved to D12
D10	Emotion	14	12	2	0	1 code moved to D3 1 code moved to D5
D11	Behaviour regulation	13	9	4	0	3 codes moved to D9 1 code moved to D10
D12	Nature of the behaviour	10	4	6	1	2 codes moved to D4 3 codes moved to D9 1 code double coded to D4 and D10

Appendix M: HOUDINI catheter care plan for Chapter 6

		The Newo	astle up	юп Tyne Hospita NHS Foundation Tru
		or Urethral Cathete	r (Adult)	
	t ant identification lace in pox below or comp		opleted by s	taff caring for a patient
Summin		TO be con		hral catheter
Forena				
Addres	s NHS NO.			
Postcor		Eller.		
		Site:		ward:
1	Patient's informed consent must be obta Ensure that patient's privacy and dignity		care of a urethr	al catheter
Za	Urethral catheter insertion must be under non touch technique (ANTT) and wearing	ertaken by a registered and com	petent healthc	are professional using an asepti nt (gloves/aprons/visor).
2b	The catheter insertion record must be co			and the second
3	Use ANTT and refer to Trust policies relating			ær and drainage ogsloment.
4a	Cean at catheter entry site minimum of			
4b	In male patients with urethral catheter e		and the second se	JCR. Automatical and a second se
5	Post- operative surgical patients – urethin HOUDINI applies.			
δ	Check catheter every 4 hours for patency Observe colour, clarity and odour of the			ie indicated
/ 8	Observe colour, clarity and dobur of the Observe patient for any pain, increased o		and the second s	es or unusual behaviour
a Da	A sterile leg bag should be used and suo	the second se	the second s	tes or unicadal octavicor.
96 95	The position of the drainage bag must b		A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACT	
10	If appropriate, use catheter drainage bag	equipment including catheter		drainage bag sleeves and strap
	in order to provide support to the system Change the leg drainage bag weekly, rec		an life with the	e volue le used share shares a
11a	7 days or according to manufacturer's ins	tructions.		
116	If the leg bag becomes damaged or disco			
υ	At night, connect a non-sterile single use catheter valve connect this to a sterile sin patient wakening.			
13	Change the urethral catheter in accordar up to 28 days and long term catheters up		nendations that	is short-medium term cathete
14	Patients with a long term catheter, record patient's records.			
10000	Provide patient/parent/carer with inform If the patient is to be discharged with a (
15		a contar carrieter in situ, provide		
15 16a	discharge catheter pack, a spare urinary (bassport.	ratheter, any other appropriate	equipment, pe	
16a 16b	discharge catheter pack, a spare uninary o bassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District No	rse/ Care Homer Hospice.		tient instruction leaflet/cathete
160 165 17	discharge catheter pack, a spare uninary o bassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu if the catheter is removed, complete rele	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vont section on the Care Patrix:	ay for Urethral	tien: instruction leafleucathete
160 165 17 Reaso	discharge catheter pack, a spare uninary o bassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District No	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vont section on the Care Batraw. JDINI framowork (please tick):	ay for Urethral	tien: instruction leafleucathete
160 16b 17 Reaso U Hay U Ou U Uro U Day	discharge catheter pack, a source uninary of bassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- on for uninary catheter insertion using HOL ematuria (specific clinical indication only in flow obstruction wogy/surgery mace to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Patraw JDINI framework (please tick): icluding blood clots in uring) or other severe skin damage)	ay for Urethral	tien: instruction leaflet/cathete
160 16b 17 Reaso U Hav U Ou U Uro U Dar U Intu	discharge catheter pack, a soare uninary o assport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- on for uninary catheter insertion using HOL ematuria (specific clinical indication only in tiflow obstruction hogy/surgery mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ske and Output Monitoring (accurate mea-	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Patraw JDINI framework (please tick): icluding blood clots in uring) or other severe skin damage)	ny for Unethral Unethral cathe Time Inserted:	tient instruction leaflet/cathete Cetheter. sor date inserted:
160 16b 17 Reaso U Hay U Ou U Uro U Dar U Intu U Intu U Intu	discharge catheter pack, a source uninary of bassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- on for uninary catheter insertion using HOL ematuria (specific clinical indication only in tflow obstruction wogy/surgery mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ake and Output Monitoring (accurate mea- rsing – end of life care nublify due to physical constraints	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Batrixy. JDINI framowork (please tick): icluding blood clots in urine) or other severe skin damage) surement of urinary output)	ay for Urethral Urethral cathe Time Inserted: Inserted by & I	tient instruction leaflet/cathete Cetheter. sor date inserted:
160 16b 17 Reaso U Hay U Ou U Uro U Dar U Intu U Intu U Intu	discharge catheter pack, a source urinary obassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Null if the catheter is removed, complete relevant for urinary catheter insertion using HOL ematuria (specific clinical indication only in tflow obstruction wogy/Surgery mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ake and Output Monitoring (accurate mea- sing – end of life care	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Batrixy. JDINI framowork (please tick): icluding blood clots in urine) or other severe skin damage) surement of urinary output)	ny for Unethral Unethral cathe Time Inserted:	tient instruction leaflet/cathete Cetheter. Ser dete inserted: Designation:
160 16b 17 Reasc U Had U Ou U Dar U Int U Int U Int U Int U Int	discharge catheter pack, a source uninary of bassport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- on for uninary catheter insertion using HOL ematuria (specific clinical indication only in tflow obstruction wogy/surgery mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ake and Output Monitoring (accurate mea- rsing – end of life care nublify due to physical constraints	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Batrixy. JDINI framowork (please tick): icluding blood clots in urine) or other severe skin damage) surement of urinary output)	ay for Urethral Urethral cathe Time Inserted: Inserted by & I (Print name) e	tient instruction leaflet/catheter Catheter son date inserted:
160 16b 17 Reaso U Had U Ou U Ou U Int U Int U Int U Int O In	discharge catheter pack, a soare uninary o assport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- en for uninary catheter insertion using HOL ematuris (specific clinical indication only in tiflow obstruction hog/surgery mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ske and Output Monitoring (accurate mea- ning – end of life care nobility due to physical constraints are state.	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Patrix: JDINI framowerk (please tick): icluding blood clots in urine) or other severe skin damage) surement of urinary output)	ay for Urethral Urethral cathe Time Inserted: Inserted by & I (Print name) e	tien: instruction leaflet/catheter Catheter. Ser date inserted: Designation:
160 160 17 Reasc U Has U	discharge catheter pack, a soare uninary o assport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- on for uninary catheter insertion using HOU ematuria (specific clinical indication only in tiflow obstruction mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ake and Output Monitoring (accurate mea- sing – end of life care mobility due to physical constraints are state. Int verbal Awritten consent: YES/NO clate for removal mary catheter:	Ise/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Patrixi JDINI framework (please tick): icluding blood clots in urine) or other severe skin damage) surement of urinary output) Urine drained/aspirated befor the balloun has been inflated Amount of urine drained on insertion.	ay for Urethral Urethral cathe Time Inserted: Inserted by & I (Print name) e	tien: instruction leaflet/catheter Catheter. Ser date inserted: Designation:
160 160 17 Reasc U Has U	discharge catheter pack, a soare uninary o assport. Inform the relevant body e.g. District Nu- if the catheter is removed, complete rele- on for uninary catheter insertion using HOL ematuria (specific clinical indication only in tiflow obstruction hogi/Surgery mage to skin (grade III or IV pressure ulcers ske and Output Monitoring (accurate mea- ning – end of life care nobility due to physical constraints her state. In verbal Awritten consent: YES/NO cdate for removal hary catheter: ant Used: YES/NO Expiny Date:	rse/ Care Home/ Hospice. vant section on the Care Batraw JDINI framework (please tick): icluding blood clots in urino) or other severe skin damage) surement of urinary output) Urins drained/aspirated befor the balloun has been inflated Amount of urine drained	ay for Urethral Urethral cathe Time Inserted: Inserted by & I (Print name) e	tion: instruction leaflet/cathete Catheter. Ser date inserted: Designation:

An indwelling urethral catheter significantly increases the risk of a patient developing a catheter-associated UTI (CAUTI)

*** YOU must ASSESS and RECORD the clinical REASON why the catheter remains in situ EVERYDAY***

Circle the HOUDINI letter to indicate reason for urinary catheter remaining in situ and sign that Care Pathway has been adhered to

	HETER WHEN NO		LATEST REMOVAL DATE		
Date / Time	Reason Catheter remains (circle)	Reason Catheter remains (circle)	Signature	Print Name	Job Title
1	HOUDINI	0			
2	HOUDINI	0			
	Post- operative reviewe	e surgical patier ed for removal 2	ts – urethral cat 24-48hrs post op	heter should be eratively	
3	HOUDINI	0			
4	HOUDINI	0			
5	HOUDINI	0			
6	HOUDINI	0			
7	HOUDINI	0			
8	HOUDINI	0			
9	HOUDINI	0			
10	HOUDINI	0			
11	HOUDINI	0			
12	HOUDINI	0			
13	HOUDINI	0			
14	HOUDINI	0			
15	HOUDINI	0			
16	HOUDINI	0			
17	HOUDINI	0			
18	HOUDINI	0			
19	HOUDINI	0			
20	HOUDINI	0			
21	HOUDINI	0			
22	HOUDINI	0		1	
23	HOUDINI	0			
24	HOUDINI	0			
25	HOUDINI	0			
26	HOUDINI	0			
27	HOUDINI	0			
28	HOUDINI	0			

For patients who care for their own urethral catheter read the following and if appropriate sign below:

Patient cares for their own urinary catheter, has up to date knowledge as to how to care for their urethral catheter correctly

Patient is aware to ask for any assistance if required

Review weekly or as appropriate and document in patient's notes

Date and time:

Signature:

URETHRAL CATHETER REMOVAL/TRIAL WITHOUT CATHETER

	Print name and designation:	Document any complications encountered upon removal.
5	Signature:	
	Date:	

GUIDANCE POST REMOVAL OF URETHRAL CATHETER

- 1. Assess for voiding.
- Offer assistance to access toilet 2-3 hourly, record intake and output on a fluid balance chart.
- 3. If patient has not voided within 4-5 hours, pre and post void bladder scan.

Bladder scanner available:

- 1. If residual is <200ml: document in patient notes and reassess in 2 hours.
- If residual is >200mls, but <300mls and patient is not uncomfortable: document and re-assess 2 hours later.
- If residual is >300mls: discuss with medical staff, document treatment plan and consider in-out catheterisation, recording volume.
- 4. Repeat process after 4-5 hours if necessary and document.

No bladder scanner available in unit:

Competent Medical/ Nursing staff to palpate bladder for distension, assess patient's comfort level and condition, discuss with medical staff whether in-out urinary catheterisation would be beneficial.

If problems with incontinence please refer to Care Pathways for bladder & bowel care and follow Skin Care Guidelines. Refer to Trust intranet.

Urethral Catheter Observation Chart

Site:	Ward:

		-	
Date 7 7	AM	PM	NIGHT
fland hygiene performed before/after catheter contact	Y/N	Y/N	809
Catheter hygiene maintained (minimum once daily)	Y/N	YAN	Y/N
Any signs of infection?	YAN	Y/N	Y/N
Position of drainage bag appropriate	Y/N	YaN	Y/N
Bag change (if app lcable)	Y/N	YTN	Y/N
Catheter removed	WN	VIN	Y/N
New catheter inserted	YVN	YAN	Y/N
initials			
Dote / /	AM	РМ	NIGHT
Hand hyg ene performed before/after catheter contact	YAN	Y/N	Y/N
Catheter hygione maintained (minimum once cally)	YYN	Y/N	Y/N
Any signs of infection?	Y/N	Y2N	Y/N
Position of drainage bag appropriate	Y/N	YON	YON
Bag change (FlagsFcable)	YIN	YN	Y/N.
Catheter removed	Y/N	NN	Yan
New catheter inserted	Y/N	Y/N	YAN
Initials			
Date / /	AM	PM	NIGHT
land hygierie performed before/after catheter contact	YAN	YZN	Υ'N
Catheter hyglene maintained (minimum price daily)	Y/N	Y/N	Y/N
Any signs of infection 7	Y/N	YVN	Y/N
Position of drainage bag appropriate	Y/N	Y/N	Y/N
Bag change (if applicable)	Y/N	¥/N	Y/N
Catheter removed	Y/N	¥/N	Y/N
New catheter inserted	Y/N	YAN	Y/N
Initials			
Date J I	AM	PM	NIGHT
Hand bygiene performed before/after catheter contact	YaN	Y/N	Y/N
Catheter hygiene maintained (minimum once darly)	YAN	Y/N	YVN
Any signs of infection?	YON	Y/N	YAN
Position of crainage bag appropriate	YON	Y/N	YAN
Bag change (if app icable)	YAN	Y/N	Y/N
Latheter removed	Y/N	Y/N	Y/K
New catheter inserted	Y/N	Y/N	YZN
		_	

Date / /	AM	P VI	NIGHT
Hand hygiene parformed before/after catheter contact	Y/N	Y/N	Y/A
Catheter hygiene maintaired (minimum price darly)	YZN	WN	Y/N
Any signs of infection?	ALA.	Y/N	Y/N
Position of drainage bag appropriate	YAN	Y/N	YAN
Bag change (il applicable)	YON.	Y/N	YAN
Catheter removed	Y/M	Y/N	¥7N
New ratheter inserted	Y/N	YZN	YAN
lini: als			
Date / /	AM	PM	NIGHT
Hand hygiene performed before/after catheter contact	YaN	WN	Y7N
Catheter hygiene maintained (minimum choc daily)	YAN	Y/N	Y/N
Any signs of infection?	YW	Y/N	WN
Position of drainage bag appropriate	YN	¥/14	Y/N
Bag change (if applicable)	Y/B	Y/N	Y/N
Cathetar removed	Y/N	Y/N	Y/N
New catheter inserted	Y/N	YIN	Y/N
Initials			
Date / /	AM	PM	NIGHT
Hand hygiene performed before/after latheter contact	YIN	YAN	Y/N
Catheter hygiene maintained (minimum once daily)	YAN	YZN	Y/N
Any signs of infection?	YNN	Y/N.	Y/N
Position of drainage bag appropriate	YON	Y/N	Y/N
3ag change († applicable)	YON	Y/N	Y/N
Catheter removed	Y/N.	YVN	Y/N
New catheter inserted	YPN	YVN	Y/N
nitials			
	hral cat	heter	
or patients who are self caring for unet			
Please read the following and it appropriations is a set of the following and it appropriation is a set of the	er, has u thoter require	up to di correcti ed	ate y:
Please read the following and it appropri Patient is self- caring with urinery cathes newledge on how to care for urinery to Patient aware to ask for any assistance if eview weekly or as appropriate and doo econds.	er, has u thoter require	up to di correcti ed	ate y:
Please read the following and it appropriations is appropriate to a self-caring with urinery cathesis newledge on how to care for urinery to a self-or any assistance if eview weekly or as appropriate and doc	er, has u thoter require	up to di correcti ed	ate y:

Adapted from HOUDINI Nurse led protocol

Produced by Catheter Care Sub-Group, Clinical educators and Infection Prevention and Control Review Date: March 2020

PoterPrint (UK), Nov 2014

NUT11201
References

ADAMS, D., BUCIOR, H., DAY, G. & RIMMER, J. A. 2012. HOUDINI: Make that urinary catheter disappear- nurse-led protocol. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, 13, 44-46.

AGRAFIOTIS, A. C., CORBEAU, M., BUGGENHOUT, A., KATSANOS, G., ICKX, B. & VAN DE STADT, J. 2014. Enhanced recovery after elective colorectal resection outside a strict fast-track protocol. A single centre experience. *International Journal of Colorectal Disease*, 29, 99-104.

AJZEN, I. 1991. The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50, 179-211.

AJZEN, I., & FISHBEIN, M. 2005. The influence of attitudes on behavior, Mahwah, NJ, Erlbaum.

APISARNTHANARAK, A., RUTJANAWECH, S., WICHANSAWAKUN, S., RATANABUNJERDKUL, H., PATTHRANITIMA, P., THONGPHUBETH, K., SUWANNAKIN, A., WARREN, D. K. & FRASER, V. J. 2007. Initial inappropriate urinary catheters use in a tertiary-care center: incidence, risk factors, and outcomes. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 35, 594-599.

ARDITI, C., RÈGE-WALTHER, M., DURIEUX, P. & BURNAND, B. 2017. Computer-generated reminders delivered on paper to healthcare professionals: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. *Cochrane Library: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.

ARMSTRONG, N., HERBERT, G., AVELING, E. L., DIXON-WOODS, M. & MARTIN, G. 2013. Optimizing patient involvement in quality improvement. *Health Expectations*, 16, e36-e47.

ARNOLD, E. C. & BOGGS, K. U. 2015. Interpersonal Relationships-E-Book: Professional Communication Skills for Nurses. Eighth ed.: Elsevier Health Sciences.

ATKINS, L., FRANCIS, J., ISLAM, R., O'CONNOR, D., PATEY, A., IVERS, N., FOY, R., DUNCAN, E. M., COLQUHOUN, H., GRIMSHAW, J. M., LAWTON, R. & MICHIE, S. 2017. A guide to using the Theoretical Domains Framework of behaviour change to investigate implementation problems. *Implementation Science*, **12**, **77**.

ATKINS, L., SALLIS, A., CHADBORN, T., SHAW, K., SCHNEIDER, A., HOPKINS, S., BUNTEN, A., MICHIE, S. & LORENCATTO, F. 2019 (In preparation). Reducing catheter associated urinary tract infections: a strategic behavioural analysis of interventions.

BADER, M. S., LOEB, M. & BROOKS, A. A. 2017. An update on the management of urinary tract infections in the era of antimicrobial resistance. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 129, 242-258.

BAILLIE, C. A., EPPS, M., HANISH, A., FISHMAN, N. O., FRENCH, B. & UMSCHEID, C. A. 2014. Usability and Impact of a Computerized Clinical Decision Support Intervention Designed to Reduce Urinary Catheter Utilization and Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infections. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 35, 1147-1155.

BALLARD, J. P., PARSONS, S., RODGERS, J., MOSACK, V. & STARKS, B. 2018. HOUDINI Impacts on Utilization And Infection Rates—A Retrospective Quality Improvement Initiative. *Urologic Nursing*, 38, 184-191.

BANDURA, A. 1986. *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory,* NJ: Prentice-Hall., Englewood Cliffs.

BANDURA, A. 1993. Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational psychologist*, 28, 117-148.

BARBOUR, R. S. 2001. Checklists for improving rigour in qualitative research: a case of the tail wagging the dog? *British Medical Journal*, 322, 1115.

BARELLO, S., GRAFFIGNA, G. & VEGNI, E. 2012. Patient engagement as an emerging challenge for healthcare services: mapping the literature. *Nursing research and practice*, 2012, 1-7.

BARFORD, J. M. T. & COATES, A. R. M. 2009. The pathogenesis of catheter-associated urinary tract infection. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, 10, 50-56.

BARRY, M. J. & EDGMAN-LEVITAN, S. 2012. Shared Decision Making — The Pinnacle of Patient-Centered Care. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 366, 780-781.

BEDWELL, C., MCGOWAN, L. & LAVENDER, D. T. 2015. Factors affecting midwives' confidence in intrapartum care: A phenomenological study. *Midwifery*, 31, 170-176.

BEENSTOCK, J., SNIEHOTTA, F. F., WHITE, M., BELL, R., MILNE, E. M. & ARAUJO-SOARES, V. 2012. What helps and hinders midwives in engaging with pregnant women about stopping smoking? A cross-sectional survey of perceived implementation difficulties among midwives in the northeast of England. *Implementation Science*, **7**, 36.

BEESON, P. B. 1958. The case against the catheter. *The American journal of medicine*, 24, 1-3.

BELL, R., GLINIANAIA, S. V., WAAL, Z. V. D., CLOSE, A., MOLONEY, E., JONES, S., ARAÚJO-SOARES, V., HAMILTON, S., MILNE, E. M., SHUCKSMITH, J., VALE, L., WILLMORE, M., WHITE, M. & RUSHTON, S. 2018. Evaluation of a complex healthcare intervention to increase smoking cessation in pregnant women: interrupted time series analysis with economic evaluation. *Tobacco Control*, 27, 90-98.

BERKMAN, N. D., SHERIDAN, S. L., DONAHUE, K. E., HALPERN, D. J. & CROTTY, K. 2011. Low health literacy and health outcomes: an updated systematic review. *Annals of internal medicine*, 155, 97-107.

BHARDWAJ, R., PICKARD, R., CARRICK-SEN, D. & BRITTAIN, K. 2012. Patients' perspectives on timing of urinary catheter removal after surgery. *British Journal of Nursing*, 21, S4, S6-9.

BHARDWAJ, R., PICKARD, R. & REES, J. 2010. Documented adherence to standards and guidelines: an audit. *Br J Nurs*, 19, S26-30.

BIRKEN, S. A., POWELL, B. J., PRESSEAU, J., KIRK, M. A., LORENCATTO, F., GOULD, N. J., SHEA, C. M., WEINER, B. J., FRANCIS, J. J., YU, Y., HAINES, E. & DAMSCHRODER, L. J. 2017. Combined use of the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) and the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF): a systematic review. *Implementation Science*, **12**, **2**.

BJERKLUND JOHANSEN, T. E., CEK, M., NABER, K., STRATCHOUNSKI, L., SVENDSEN, M. V., TENKE, P., PEP, INVESTIGATORS, P. S. & EUROPEAN SOCIETY OF INFECTIONS IN, U. 2007. Prevalence of hospital-acquired urinary tract infections in urology departments. *European Urology*, 51, 1100-11; discussion 1112.

BLACKSTONE, S. W., BEUKELMAN, D. R. & YORKSTON, K. M. 2015. *Patient-provider communication: Roles for speech-language pathologists and other health care professionals,* Plural Publishing.

BONKAT, G., PICKARD, R., BARTOLETTI, R., BRUYÈRE, F., GEERLINGS, S., WAGENLEHNER, F., WULLT, B., CAI, T., KÖVES, B. & PILATZ, A. 2017. EAU guidelines on urological infections. *European Association of Urology*, 22-26.

BOU-ANTOUN, S., DAVIES, J., GUY, R., JOHNSON, A. P., SHERIDAN, E. A. & HOPE, R. J. 2016. Descriptive epidemiology of Escherichia coli bacteraemia in England, April 2012 to March 2014. *Eurosurveillance*, 21.

BRAUN, V. & CLARKE, V. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, **3**, 77-101.

BRAUNGART, S. & GOYAL, A. 2019. Parental home removal of urethral catheters following urological surgery–a prospective benchmarking study. *Journal of Pediatric Urology*, 15, 252.e1-252.e4.

BRAZIL, K., OZER, E., CLOUTIER, M., LEVINE, R. & STRYER, D. 2005. From theory to practice: improving the impact of health services research. *BMC Health Services Research*, 5, 1.

BRUMINHENT, J., KEEGAN, M., LAKHANI, A., ROBERTS, I. M. & PASSALACQUA, J. 2010. Effectiveness of a simple intervention for prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infections in a community teaching hospital. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 38, 689-693.

BUCK, D., GAMBLE, C., DUDLEY, L., PRESTON, J., HANLEY, B., WILLIAMSON, P. R. & YOUNG, B. 2014. From plans to actions in patient and public involvement: qualitative study of documented plans and the accounts of researchers and patients sampled from a cohort of clinical trials. *BMJ Open* [Online], 4. [Accessed 24/10/2019].

BURGERS, J. S., GROL, R., KLAZINGA, N. S., MAKELA, M. & ZAAT, J. 2003. Towards evidence based clinical practice: an international survey of 18 clinical guideline programs. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15, 31 - 45.

BURTON, D. C., EDWARDS, J. R., SRINIVASAN, A., FRIDKIN, S. K. & GOULD, C. V. 2011. Trends in catheter-associated urinary tract infections in adult intensive care units—United States, 1990–2007. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 32, 748-756.

BUSSIERES, A., PATEY, A., FRANCIS, J., SALES, A., GRIMSHAW, J. & THE CANADA, P. P. T. 2012. Identifying factors likely to influence compliance with diagnostic imaging guideline recommendations for spine disorders among chiropractors in North America: a focus group study using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Implementation Science*, 7, 82.

CABANA, M., RAND, C., POWE, N., WU, A., WILSON, M., ABBOUD, P. & RUBIN, H. 1999. Why don't physicians follow clinical practice guidelines? A framework for improvement. *JAMA*, 282, 1458 - 1465.

CALOTTA, N. A., COON, D., BOS, T. J., OSTRANDER, B. T., SCOTT, A. V., GRANT, M. C., EFRON, J. E. & SACKS, J. M. 2018. Early ambulation after colorectal oncologic resection with perineal reconstruction is safe and effective. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 218, 125-130.

CANE, J., O'CONNOR, D. & MICHIE, S. 2012. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behavior change and implementation research. *Implementation Science* [Online], 7. Available: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-7-37</u> [Accessed 15/04/2019].

CARAMUJO, N., CARVALHO, M. & CARIA, H. 2011. Prevalence of inappropriate urinary catheterization: a preventable risk factor. *Acta Medica Portuguesa*, 24 517-22.

CASTLEBERRY, A. 2014. NVivo 10 [software program]. Version 10. QSR International; 2012. AJPE.

CENTERS FOR DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL 2015. Healthcare-associated Infections: Data and Statistics. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

CENTERS FOR DISEASE PREVENTION AND CONTROL. 2017. *Catheter-associated Urinary Tract Infections (CAUTI)* [Online]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hai/ca_uti/uti.html</u> [Accessed 12/04/2019].

CHALISE, P. R., AGRAWAL, C. S. & PANDIT, R. K. 2007. Reduction of length of hospital stay after transurethral resection of prostate by early catheter removal: a retrospective analysis. *Nepal Medical College Journal: NMCJ*, 9, 84-7.

CHANG, S. J., CHOI, S., KIM, S.-A. & SONG, M. 2014. Intervention Strategies Based on Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills Model for Health Behavior Change: A Systematic Review. *Asian Nursing Research*, **8**, 172-181. CHEN, Y. Y., CHI, M. M., CHEN, Y. C., CHAN, Y. J., CHOU, S. S. & WANG, F. D. 2013. Using a criteria-based reminder to reduce use of indwelling urinary catheters and decrease urinary tract infections. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 22, 105-14.

CHENG, K.-H. W. & CHIN, P.-H. R. 2016. Trial Without a Catheter Programme Improves Urological Management for Retention of Urine After Hip Fracture Surgery:「沒有導尿管試 驗計劃」改善髖部骨折手術後出現瀦留尿的治理. Journal of Orthopaedics, Trauma and Rehabilitation, 21, 18-23.

CHIA, Y. Y., WEI, R. J., CHANG, H. C. & LIU, K. 2009. Optimal duration of urinary catheterization after thoracotomy in patients under postoperative patient-controlled epidural analgesia. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Taiwanica: Official Journal of the Taiwan Society of Anesthesiologists*, 47, 173-9.

CHO, H. J., KHALIL, S., POERAN, J., MAZUMDAR, M., BRAVO, N., WALLACH, F., MARKOFF, B., LEE, N. & DUNN, A. S. 2017. "Lose the Tube": A Choosing Wisely initiative to reduce catheterassociated urinary tract infections in hospitalist-led inpatient units. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 45, 333-335.

CHO, S.-H., KETEFIAN, S., BARKAUSKAS, V. H. & SMITH, D. G. 2003. The Effects of Nurse Staffing on Adverse Events, Morbidity, Mortality, and Medical Costs. *Nursing Research*, 52, 71-79.

CLARKE, K., TONG, D., PAN, Y., EASLEY, K. A., NORRICK, B., KO, C., WANG, A., RAZAVI, B. & STEIN, J. 2013. Reduction in catheter-associated urinary tract infections by bundling interventions. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 25, 43-9.

CLARKE, L., FLETCHER, N., BOWMAN, C., O'FLYNN, K. J., TAYLOR, J. & SHACKLEY, D. C. 2012. Catheter associated urinary tract infections (CAUTIs) in a UK teaching hospital: What lessons can we learn? *BJU International*, 109, 60.

COHEN, S. 1988. Psychosocial models of the role of social support in the etiology of physical disease. *Health psychology*, **7**, 269.

COLLIER, D. & MAHONEY, J. 1996. Insights and pitfalls: Selection bias in qualitative research. *World Politics*, 49, 56-91.

CORNIA, P. B., AMORY, J. K., FRASER, S., SAINT, S. & LIPSKY, B. A. 2003. Computer-based order entry decreases duration of indwelling urinary catheterization in hospitalized patients. *American Journal of Medicine*, 114, 404-7.

COULTER, A. 2012. Patient Engagement—What Works? *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 35, 80-89.

COULTER, A. & COLLINS, A. 2011. Making shared decision-making a reality. *London: King's Fund*.

COULTER, A. & ELLINS, J. 2007. Effectiveness of strategies for informing, educating, and involving patients. *British Medical Journal*, 335, 24-27.

CRAIG, P., DIEPPE, P. A., MACINTYRE, S., MICHIE, S., NAZARETH, I. & PETTICREW, M. 2008. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *British Medical Journal*, 337.

CRONIN, P., RYAN, F. & COUGHLAN, M. 2008. Undertaking a literature review: a step-by-step approach. *British Journal of Nursing*, 17, 38-43.

CROWE, H., CLIFT, R., DUGGAN, G., BOLTON, D. & COSTELLO, A. 1994. Randomized study of the effect of midnight removal of urinary catheters. *Urologic Nursing*, 14, 18-20.

CROXON, L. & MAGINNIS, C. 2009. Evaluation of clinical teaching models for nursing practice. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 9, 236-243.

CRUESS, S. R., CRUESS, R. L. & STEINERT, Y. 2008. Role modelling—making the most of a powerful teaching strategy. *British Medical Journal*, 336, 718-721.

DANCHAIVIJITR, S., DHIRAPUTRA, C., CHERDRUNGSI, R., JINTANOTHAITAVORN, D. & SRIHAPOL, N. 2005. Catheter-associated urinary tract infection. *Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand*, 88 Suppl 10, S26-30.

DAVIES, S. 2013. Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer: Infections and the Rise of Antimicrobial Resistance [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2013/03/cmo-vol2/</u> [Accessed 12-04-2019].

DAVIS, R., CAMPBELL, R., HILDON, Z., HOBBS, L. & MICHIE, S. 2015. Theories of behaviour and behaviour change across the social and behavioural sciences: a scoping review. *Health Psychology Review*, 9, 323-344.

DAVIS, R. E., JACKLIN, R., SEVDALIS, N. & VINCENT, C. A. 2007. Patient involvement in patient safety: what factors influence patient participation and engagement? *Health expectations*, 10, 259-267.

DAWSON, S. J. 2003. The role of the infection control link nurse. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 54, 251-257.

DE GEYNDT, W. 1995. *Managing the quality of health care in developing countries*, The World Bank.

DEITRICK, L., BOKOVOY, J., STERN, G. & PANIK, A. 2006. Dance of the Call Bells: Using Ethnography to Evaluate Patient Satisfaction With Quality of Care. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*, 21, 316-324.

DEL POZO, J. L., ROUSE, M. S. & PATEL, R. 2008. Bioelectric effect and bacterial biofilms. A systematic review. *International Journal of Artificial Organs*, 31, 786-795.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2007. Department of Health- Saving Lives High Impact Intervention No 6. Urinary catheter.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2009. Department of Health- High Impact Actions for Nursing and Midwifery: Care Bundle. London.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 2012. Department of Health- NHS Safety Thermometer CQUIN: A Preliminary Guide to Delivering 'Harm Free' Care.

DERISH, P. A. & ANNESLEY, T. M. 2011. How to write a rave review. *Clinical Chemistry*, 57, 388-391.

DINGWALL, L. & MCLAFFERTY, E. 2006. Do nurses promote urinary continence in hospitalized older people?: An exploratory study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 15, 1276-1286.

DONLAN, R. 2002. Biofilms: Microbial Life on Surfaces. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 8, 881–890.

DOUGHERTY, L. & LISTER, S. 2015. *The Royal Marsden manual of clinical nursing procedures*, John Wiley & Sons.

DUCKERS, M., SPREEUWENBERG, P., WAGNER, C. & GROENEWEGEN, P. 2009. Exploring the black box of quality improvement collaboratives: modelling relations between conditions, applied changes and outcomes. *Implementation Science*, **4**, 74.

DUDECK, M. A., HORAN, T. C., PETERSON, K. D., ALLEN-BRIDSON, K., MORRELL, G., POLLOCK, D. A. & EDWARDS, J. R. 2011. National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Report, data summary for 2010, device-associated module. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 39, 798-816.

DUNCANSON, V. & PEARSON, L. 2005. A study of the factors affecting the likelihood of patients participating in a campaign to improve staff hand hygiene. *British Journal of Infection Control* 6, e30.

DYC, N. G., PENA, M. E., SHEMES, S. P., REY, J. E., SZPUNAR, S. M. & FAKIH, M. G. 2011. The effect of resident peer-to-peer education on compliance with urinary catheter placement indications in the emergency department. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 87, 814-818.

DYSON, J., LAWTON, R., JACKSON, C. & CHEATER, F. 2011. Does the use of a theoretical approach tell us more about hand hygiene behaviour? The barriers and levers to hand hygiene. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, 12, 17 - 24.

DYSON, J., LAWTON, R., JACKSON, C. & CHEATER, F. 2013. Development of a theory-based instrument to identify barriers and levers to best hand hygiene practice among healthcare practitioners. *Implementation Science*, *8*, 111.

ECCLES, M., GRIMSHAW, J., WALKER, A., JOHNSTON, M. & PITTS, N. 2005. Changing the behavior of healthcare professionals: the use of theory in promoting the uptake of research findings. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 58, 107-112.

ECCLES, M., STEEN, N., GRIMSHAW, J., THOMAS, L., MCNAMEE, P., SOUTTER, J., WILSDON, J., MATOWE, L., NEEDHAM, G. & GILBERT, F. 2001. Effect of audit and feedback, and reminder messages on primary-care radiology referrals: a randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 357, 1406-1409.

ECCLES, M. P., GRIMSHAW, J. M., MACLENNAN, G., BONETTI, D., GLIDEWELL, L., PITTS, N. B., STEEN, N., THOMAS, R., WALKER, A. & JOHNSTON, M. 2012. Explaining clinical behaviors using multiple theoretical models. *Implementation Science*, **7**, 99.

EDWARDS, P., FELIX, L., HARRIS, J., FERGUSON, E., FREE, C., LANDON, J., LOCK, K., MICHIE, S., MINERS, A. & MURRAY, E. 2010. Assessing the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of adaptive e-Learning to improve dietary behaviour: Protocol for a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 200.

ELO, S. & KYNGÄS, H. 2008. The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62, 107-115.

EMBERTON, M. & FITZPATRICK, J. M. 2008. The Reten-World survey of the management of acute urinary retention: preliminary results. *BJU International*, 101 Suppl 3, 27-32.

EMMERSON, A. M., ENSTONE, J.E., GRIFFIN, M., KELSEY, M.C., SMYTH, E.T. 1996. Second National Prevalence Survey of infection in hospitals- overview of the results. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 32, 175-90.

EPIC 2001. Guidelines for preventing infections associated with the Insertion and Maintenance of Short-term Indwelling Urethral Catheters in Acute care. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 47, S39-46.

FAKIH, M. G., DUEWEKE, C., MEISNER, S., BERRIEL-CASS, D., SAVOY-MOORE, R., BRACH, N., REY, J., DESANTIS, L. & SARAVOLATZ, L. D. 2008. Effect of nurse-led multidisciplinary rounds on reducing the unnecessary use of urinary catheterization in hospitalized patients. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 29, 815-9.

FEREDAY, J. & MUIR-COCHRANE, E. 2006. Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, **5**, 80-92.

FERLIE, E. B. & SHORTELL, S. M. 2001. Improving the quality of health care in the United Kingdom and the United States: A framework for change. *Milbank Quarterly*, 79, 281 - 315.

FERNANDEZ, R., GRIFFITHS, R. & MURIE, P. 2003. Comparison of late night and early morning removal of short-term urethral catheters. *International Journal of Evidence Based Healthcare*, 1, 1-16.

FERNANDEZ, R. S. & GRIFFITHS, R. D. 2006. Duration of short-term indwelling catheters—A systematic review of the evidence. *Journal of Wound Ostomy & Continence Nursing*, 33, 145-153.

FINK, R., GILMARTIN, H., RICHARD, A., CAPEZUTI, E., BOLTZ, M. & WALD, H. 2012. Indwelling urinary catheter management and catheter-associated urinary tract infection prevention practices in Nurses Improving Care for Healthsystem Elders hospitals. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 40, 715-720.

FISHBEIN, M. 1967. Attitude and the Prediction of Behavior. *In:* FISHBEIN, M. (ed.) *Readings in Atttiude Theory and Measurement*. New York: Wiley.

FISHBEIN, M. & AJZEN, I. 1975. *Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior : An introduction to theory and research*, Reading, Mass.; Don Mills, On.; Addison-Wesley Pub. Co.

FISHER, C. D. 2000. Mood and emotions while working: missing pieces of job satisfaction? *Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior,* 21, 185-202.

FISHER, R. F. R., CROXSON, C. H. D., ASHDOWN, H. F. & HOBBS, F. D. R. 2017. GP views on strategies to cope with increasing workload: a qualitative interview study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 67, e148-e156.

FLANNERY, C., MCHUGH, S., ANABA, A. E., CLIFFORD, E., O'RIORDAN, M., KENNY, L. C., MCAULIFFE, F. M., KEARNEY, P. M. & BYRNE, M. 2018. Enablers and barriers to physical activity in overweight and obese pregnant women: an analysis informed by the theoretical domains framework and COM-B model. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18, 178.

FOLBERT, E. C., HEGEMAN, J. H., GIERVELD, R., VAN NETTEN, J. J., VAN DER VELDE, D., TEN DUIS, H. J. & SLAETS, J. P. 2017. Complications during hospitalization and risk factors in elderly patients with hip fracture following integrated orthogeriatric treatment. *Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery*, 137, 507-515.

FORBERG, U., UNBECK, M., WALLIN, L., JOHANSSON, E., PETZOLD, M., YGGE, B.-M. & EHRENBERG, A. 2016. Effects of computer reminders on complications of peripheral venous catheters and nurses' adherence to a guideline in paediatric care--a cluster randomised study. *Implementation Science*, 11, 10.

FORONDA, C., MACWILLIAMS, B. & MCARTHUR, E. 2016. Interprofessional communication in healthcare: an integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, **19**, 36-40.

FOY, R., MACLENNAN, G., GRIMSHAW, J., PENNEY, G., CAMPBELL, M. & GROL, R. 2002. Attributes of clinical recommendations that influence change in practice following audit and feedback. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 55, 717 - 722.

FRANCIS, G. & O'BRIEN, M. 2019. Teaching clinical skills in pre-registration nurse education: value and methods. *British Journal of Nursing*, 28, 452-456.

FRANCIS, J., O'CONNOR, D. & CURRAN, J. 2012. Theories of behaviour change synthesised into a set of theoretical groupings: introducing a thematic series on the theoretical domains framework. *Implementation Science*, **7**, 35.

FRANCIS, J. J., JOHNSTON, M., ROBERTSON, C., GLIDEWELL, L., ENTWISTLE, V. & ECCLES, M. P. 2010. What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology and Health*, 25, 1229-1245.

FRANCIS, J. J. & PRESSEAU, J. 2019. Healthcare practitioner behaviour. *In:* C. LLEWELLYN, S. A., C. MCMANUS, S. NEWMAN, K. PETRIE, T.A. REVENSON, J. WEINMAN, (ed.) *Cambridge Handbook of Psychology, Health and Medicine*. 3rd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

FRANCKE, A. L., SMIT, M. C., DE VEER, A. J. E. & MISTIAEN, P. 2008. Factors influencing the implementation of clinical guidelines for health care professionals: a systematic meta-review. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 8, 38.

FRANKLIN, C. & BALLAN, M. 2001. Reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The handbook of social work research methods*, 273-292.

FRENCH, B., THOMAS, L. H., BAKER, P., BURTON, C. R., PENNINGTON, L. & RODDAM, H. 2009. What can management theories offer evidence-based practice? A comparative analysis of measurement tools for organizational context. *Implementation Science*, **4**, 28.

FRENCH, S., GREEN, S., O'CONNOR, D., MCKENZIE, J., FRANCIS, J., MICHIE, S., BUCHBINDER, R., SCHATTNER, P., SPIKE, N. & GRIMSHAW, J. 2012. Developing theory-informed behaviour change interventions to implement evidence into practice: a systematic approach using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Implementation Science*, **7**, 38.

FRIESEN-STORMS, J. H. H. M., BOURS, G. J. J. W., VAN DER WEIJDEN, T. & BEURSKENS, A. J. H. M. 2015. Shared decision making in chronic care in the context of evidence based practice in nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 393-402.

FRITZ, J. A., PACE, M., PERSING, T. F., ESOLEN, L., COLE, G., SANTO, J. & SCHMID, A. 2013. A performance improvement project taking the prevention of catheter associated urinary tract infections into the 21st century. *American Journal of Infection Control,* **1,** S121.

FUKUOKA, K., FURUICHI, M., ITO, K., MORIKAWA, Y., WATANABE, I., SHIMIZU, N. & HORIKOSHI, Y. 2018. Longer duration of urinary catheterization increases catheterassociated urinary tract infection in PICU. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine*, **19**, e547-e550. GALE, N. K., HEATH, G., CAMERON, E., RASHID, S. & REDWOOD, S. 2013. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13, 117.

GLASGOW, R. E., VINSON, C., CHAMBERS, D., KHOURY, M. J., KAPLAN, R. M. & HUNTER, C. 2012. National Institutes of Health Approaches to Dissemination and Implementation Science: Current and Future Directions. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, 1274-1281.

GLAVIND, K., MORUP, L., MADSEN, H. & GLAVIND, J. 2007. A prospective, randomised, controlled trial comparing 3 hour and 24 hour postoperative removal of bladder catheter and vaginal pack following vaginal prolapse surgery. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, 86, 1122-5.

GLYNN A, W. V., WILSON J, CHARLETT A, COOKSON B, TAYLOR L, COLE 1997. *Hospital-acquired infection: surveillance policies and practice,* London, PHLS.

GODIN, G., BELANGER-GRAVEL, A., ECCLES, M. & GRIMSHAW, J. 2008. Healthcare professionals' intentions and behaviours: A systematic review of studies based on social cognitive theories. *Implementation Science*, **3**, 36.

GOKULA, R. R., HICKNER, J. A. & SMITH, M. A. 2004. Inappropriate use of urinary catheters in elderly patients at a midwestern community teaching hospital. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 32, 196-9.

GOLDMAN, E. & GREEN, L. H. 2015. *Practical handbook of microbiology*, CRC press.

GORDON, P. R. 2015. The effects of nursing education on decreasing catheter associated urinary tract infection rates.

GORDON, R. B., GRIMSHAW, J. M., ECCLES, M. P., ROWE, R. E. & WYATT, J. C. 1998. Onscreen computer reminders: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.

GOULD, C. V., UMSCHEID, C. A., AGARWAL, R. K., KUNTZ, G. & PEGUES, D. A. 2010. Guideline for prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infections 2009. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 31, 319-326.

GRAMLICH, L. M., SHEPPARD, C. E., WASYLAK, T., GILMOUR, L. E., LJUNGQVIST, O., BASUALDO-HAMMOND, C. & NELSON, G. 2017. Implementation of Enhanced Recovery After Surgery: a strategy to transform surgical care across a health system. *Implementation Science*, 12, 67.

GRANT, M. J. & BOOTH, A. 2009. A typology of reviews: an analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. *Health Information & Libraries Journal*, 26, 91-108.

GREENFIELD, S., KAPLAN, S., WARE, J. E. & JR 1985. Expanding patient involvement in care: Effects on patient outcomes. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 102, 520-528.

GRIFFITHS, P., MARUOTTI, A., RECIO SAUCEDO, A., REDFERN, O. C., BALL, J. E., BRIGGS, J., DALL'ORA, C., SCHMIDT, P. E. & SMITH, G. B. 2018. Nurse staffing, nursing assistants and hospital mortality: retrospective longitudinal cohort study. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28.

GRILLI, R. & LOMAS, J. 1994. Evaluating the message: the relationship between compliance rate and the subject of a practice guideline. *Medical Care*, 32, 202-13.

GRIMSHAW, J. M., ZWARENSTEIN, M., TETROE, J., GODIN, G., GRAHAM, I., LEMYRE, L., ECCLES, M. P., JOHNSTON, M., FRANCIS, J. J., HUX, J., JOHNSTON, M., LÉGARÉ, F., LEMYRE, L., ROBINSON, N. & ZWARENSTEIN, M. 2007. Looking inside the black box: a theory-based process evaluation alongside a randomised controlled trial of printed educational materials (the Ontario printed educational message, OPEM) to improve referral and prescribing practices in primary care in Ontario, Canada. *Implementation Science*, 2.

GROL, R. 2001. Successes and failures in the implementation of evidence-based guidelines for clinical practice. *Medical Care*, 39, Ii46-54.

GROL, R., BOSCH, M., HULSCHER, M., ECCLES, M. & WENSING, M. 2007. Planning and studying improvement in patient care: the use of theoretical perspectives. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 85, 93-138.

GROL, R., DALHUIJSEN, J., THOMAS, S., VELD, C., RUTTEN, G. & MOKKINK, H. 1998. Attributes of clinical guidelines that influence use of guidelines in general practice: observational study. *British Medical Journal*, 317, 858-61.

GROSS, J. C., HARDIN-FANNING, F., KAIN, M., FAULKNER, E. A. & GOODRICH, S. 2007. Effect of time of day for urinary catheter removal on voiding behaviors in stroke patients. *Urologic Nursing*, **27**, 231.

GUILLAUMIE, L., GODIN, G. & VEZINA-IM, L. 2010. Psychosocial determinants of fruit and vegetable intake in adult population: a systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, **7**, **12**.

HARDEMAN, W., JOHNSTON, M., JOHNSTON, D., BONETTI, D., WAREHAM, N. & KINMONTH, A. L. 2002. Application of the Theory of Planned Behaviour in Behaviour Change Interventions: A Systematic Review. *Psychology & Health*, 17, 123-158.

HARTSTEIN, A. I., GARBER, S. B., WARD, T. T., JONES, S. R. & MORTHLAND, V. H. 1981. Nosocomial urinary tract infection: a prospective evaluation of 108 catheterized patients. *Infection Control*, **2**, 380-6.

HEALTH CANADA, LABORATORY CENTRE FOR DISEASE CONTROL & DIVISION OF NOSOCOMIAL AND OCCUPATIONAL INFECTIONS 1999. Routine practices and additional

precautions for preventing the transmission of infection in health care. *Canada Communicable Disease Report.*

HEALTH FOUNDATION. 2013. *Quality improvement made simple: What everyone should know about health care quality improvement* [Online]. Available: <u>http://tinyurl.com/oyjl8nh</u> [Accessed 24/10/2019].

HEALTH PROTECTION AGENCY: PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND 2012. English national point prevalence survey on healthcare associated infections and antimicrobial use: preliminary data. *Public Health England*.

HEALY, D. A., WALSH, C. A. & WALSH, S. R. 2013. Suprapubic versus transurethral bladder catheterization following pelvic surgery. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 25, 410-413.

HENDREN, S. 2013. Urinary catheter management. *Clinics in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, 26, 178-181.

HESLEHURST, N., NEWHAM, J., MANIATOPOULOS, G., FLEETWOOD, C., ROBALINO, S. & RANKIN, J. 2014. Implementation of pregnancy weight management and obesity guidelines: a meta-synthesis of healthcare professionals' barriers and facilitators using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Obesity Reviews*, 15.

HOLENARASIPUR, P., AKSHATHA, K. N. & MURTHY, M. S. 2013. Catheter-associated urinary tract infections and prevention by bacterial interference: A review *Reviews in Medical Microbiology*, 24, 98-103.

HOOTON, T. M., BRADLEY, S. F., CARDENAS, D. D., COLGAN, R., GEERLINGS, S. E., RICE, J. C., SAINT, S., SCHAEFFER, A. J., TAMBAYH, P. A. & TENKE, P. 2010. Diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of catheter-associated urinary tract infection in adults: 2009 International Clinical Practice Guidelines from the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 50, 625-663.

HOPKINS, K. S., SIMPSON, L. 2012. English national point prevalence survey on healthcare associated infections and antimicrobial use, 2011: preliminary data. *Health Protection Agency: London*.

HRISOS, S. & THOMSON, R. 2013. Seeing it from both sides: do approaches to involving patients in improving their safety risk damaging the trust between patients and healthcare professionals? An interview study. *PLoS ONE*, *8*, e80759.

HSIEH, H. & SHANNON, S. 2005. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15, 1277 - 1288.

HUANG, A. M., NEWTON, D., KUNAPULI, A., GANDHI, T. N., WASHER, L. L., ISIP, J., COLLINS, C. D. & NAGEL, J. L. 2013. Impact of Rapid Organism Identification via Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time-of-Flight Combined With Antimicrobial Stewardship Team

Intervention in Adult Patients With Bacteremia and Candidemia. *Clinical Infectious Diseases,* 57, 1237-1245.

HUANG, C. C., OU, C. S., YEH, G. P., DER TSAI, H. & SUN, M. J. 2011. Optimal duration of urinary catheterization after anterior colporrhaphy. *International Urogynecology Journal*, 22, 485-91.

HUSTINX, W. N. M. & VERBRUGH, H. A. 1994. Catheter-associated urinary tract infections: Epidemiological, preventive and therapeutic considerations. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 4, 117-123.

IMPROVED CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS THROUGH BEHAVIOURAL RESEARCH GROUP 2006. Designing theoretically-informed implementation interventions. *Implementation Science*, 1, 4.

IND, T. E. J., BROWN, R., PYNEEANDEE, V. M., SWANNE, M. & TAYLOR, G. 1993. Midnight removal of urinary catheters- Improved outcome after gynecological surgery. *International Urogynecology Journal*, 4, 342-345.

INOUYE, S. K., VAN DYCK, C. H., ALESSI, C. A., BALKIN, S., SIEGAL, A. P. & HORWITZ, R. I. 1990. Clarifying Confusion: The Confusion Assessment Method: A New Method for Detection of Delirium. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 113, 941-948.

INVOLVE 2013. Exploring the impact of public involvement on the quality of research: examples. *In:* LIBRARY, I. P. (ed.). Eastleigh:INVOLVE: National Institute for Health Research, UK.

ISLAM, R., TINMOUTH, A. T., FRANCIS, J. J., BREHAUT, J. C., BORN, J. & STOCKTON, C. 2012. A cross-country comparison of intensive care physicians' beliefs about their transfusion behaviour: a qualitative study using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Implementation Science*, 7.

IVERS, N., JAMTVEDT, G., FLOTTORP, S., YOUNG, J. M., ODGAARD-JENSEN, J., FRENCH, S. D., O'BRIEN, M. A., JOHANSEN, M., GRIMSHAW, J. & OXMAN, A. D. 2012. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Cd000259.

JACOBS, N., DE BOURDEAUDHUIJ, I., THIJS, H., DENDALE, P. & CLAES, N. 2011. Effect of a cardiovascular prevention program on health behavior and BMI in highly educated adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 85, 122 - 126.

JAIN, M., DOGRA, V., MISHRA, B., THAKUR, A. & LOOMBA, P. S. 2015. Knowledge and attitude of doctors and nurses regarding indication for catheterization and prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infection in a tertiary care hospital. *Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine : Peer-reviewed, Official Publication of Indian Society of Critical Care Medicine*, 19, 76-81.

JAIN, P., PARADA, J. P., DAVID, A. & SMITH, L. G. 1995. Overuse of the indwelling urinary tract catheter in hospitalized medical patients. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 155.

JAMES, J. 2013. Patient engagement. Health Affairs Health Policy Brief, 14.

JOHNSON, M. J. & MAY, C. R. 2015. Promoting professional behaviour change in healthcare: what interventions work, and why? A theory-led overview of systematic reviews. *BMJ Open*, 5, e008592.

JONES, L. F., MEYRICK, J., BATH, J., DUNHAM, O. & MCNULTY, C. A. M. 2018. Effectiveness of behavioural interventions to reduce urinary tract infections and Escherichia coli bacteraemia for older adults across all care settings: a systematic review. *Journal of Hospital Infection*.

JUDAH, G., AUNGER, R., SCHMIDT, W., MICHIE, S., GRANGER, S. & CURTIS, V. 2009. Experimental pretesting of hand-washing interventions in a natural setting. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99, S405 - S411.

JUSTUS, T., WILFONG, D. N. & DANIEL, L. 2016. An innovative educational approach to reducing catheter-associated urinary tract infections: a case study. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 47, 473-476.

KAHLKE, R. M., MCCONNELL, M. M., WISENER, K. M. & EVA, K. W. 2019. The disconnect between knowing and doing in health professions education and practice. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*.

KAMILYA, G., SEAL, S. L., MUKHERJI, J., BHATTACHARYYA, S. K. & HAZRA, A. 2010. A randomized controlled trial comparing short versus long-term catheterization after uncomplicated vaginal prolapse surgery. *Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Research*, 36, 154-8.

KARASEK, R. 1985. Lowell, MA, Department of Work Environment Massachusetts.

KAWAHARA, T., ITO, H., TERAO, H., KAKIZOE, M., KATO, Y., UEMURA, H., KUBOTA, Y. & MATSUZAKI, J. 2013. Early ureteral catheter removal after ureteroscopic lithotripsy using ureteral access sheath. *Urolithiasis*, 41, 31-5.

KELLEHER, M. M. 2002. Removal of urinary catheters: midnight vs 0600 hours. *British Journal of Nursing*, 11, 84-90.

KHAN, H. A., BAIG, F. K. & MEHBOOB, R. 2017. Nosocomial infections: Epidemiology, prevention, control and surveillance. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, **7**, 478-482.

KLEVENS, R. M., EDWARDS, J. R., RICHARDS, C. L., JR., HORAN, T. C., GAYNES, R. P., POLLOCK, D. A. & CARDO, D. M. 2007. Estimating health care-associated infections and deaths in U.S. hospitals, 2002. *Public Health Reports*, 122, 160-166.

KOHN, L. T., CORRIGAN, J. & DONALDSON, M. S. 2000. *To err is human: building a safer health system*, National academy press Washington, DC.

KOSTELI, M.-C., HENEGHAN, N. R., ROSKELL, C., WILLIAMS, S. E., ADAB, P., DICKENS, A. P., ENOCSON, A., FITZMAURICE, D. A., JOLLY, K., JORDAN, R., GREENFIELD, S. & CUMMING, J. 2017. Barriers and enablers of physical activity engagement for patients with COPD in primary care. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 12, 1019-1031.

KOUTANTJI, M., DAVIS, R., VINCENT, C. & COULTER, A. 2005. The patient's role in patient safety: engaging patients, their representatives, and health professionals. *Clinical Risk*, 11, 99.

KÖVES, B., CAI, T., VEERATTERAPILLAY, R., PICKARD, R., SEISEN, T., LAM, T. B., YUAN, C. Y., BRUYERE, F., WAGENLEHNER, F. & BARTOLETTI, R. 2017a. Benefits and harms of treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria: a systematic review and meta-analysis by the European Association of Urology Urological Infection Guidelines Panel. *European Urology*, **72**, 865-868.

KÖVES, B., MAGYAR, A. & TENKE, P. 2017b. Spectrum and antibiotic resistance of catheterassociated urinary tract infections. *German Medical Science Infectious Diseases*, 5, Doc06.

KREIN, S. L., KOWALSKI, C. P., HARROD, M., FORMAN, J. & SAINT, S. 2013. Barriers to reducing urinary catheter use: a qualitative assessment of a statewide initiative. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 173, 881-886.

KRISTENSEN, N., NYMANN, C. & KONRADSEN, H. 2016. Implementing research results in clinical practice- the experiences of healthcare professionals. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16, 48-48.

KSYCKI, M. F. & NAMIAS, N. 2009. Nosocomial urinary tract infection. *Surgical Clinics of North America*, 89, 475-81, ix-x.

LAERD. 2012. *Purposive sampling* [Online]. Available: <u>http://dissertation.laerd.com/purposive-sampling.php</u> [Accessed 05/12/2018].

LAJINESS, M. J. 2016. Neurogenic Bladder/Underactive Bladder. *The Nurse Practitioner in Urology*. Springer.

LANDERS, T., ABUSALEM, S., COTY, M.-B. & BINGHAM, J. 2012. Patient-centered hand hygiene: The next step in infection prevention. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 40, S11-S17.

LASCHINGER, H. K. S. 2008. Effect of empowerment on professional practice environments, work satisfaction, and patient care quality: Further testing the nursing worklife model. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*, 23, 322-330.

LASCHINGER, H. K. S. & LEITER, M. P. 2006. The impact of nursing work environments on patient safety outcomes: The mediating role of burnout engagement. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 36, 259-267.

LASITER, S. 2014. "The button" initiating the patient–nurse interaction. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 23, 188-200.

LAURILA, J. V., LAAKKONEN, M.-L., LAURILA, J. V., TIMO, S. E. & REIJO, T. S. 2008. Predisposing and precipitating factors for delirium in a frail geriatric population. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 65, 249-254.

LEWIN, K. 1943. Psychology and the process of group living. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 17, 113-131.

LIMA, N. L., GUERRANT, R. L., KAISER, D. L., GERMANSON, T. & FARR, B. M. 1990. A retrospective cohort study of nosocomial diarrhea as a risk factor for nosocomial infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 161, 948-952.

LO, E., NICOLLE, L., CLASSEN, D., ARIAS, K. M., PODGORNY, K., ANDERSON, D. J., BURSTIN, H., CALFEE, D. P., COFFIN, S. E. & DUBBERKE, E. R. 2008. Strategies to prevent catheterassociated urinary tract infections in acute care hospitals. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 29, S41-S50.

LO, E., NICOLLE, L. E., COFFIN, S. E., GOULD, C., MARAGAKIS, L. L., MEDDINGS, J., PEGUES, D. A., PETTIS, A. M., SAINT, S. & YOKOE, D. S. 2014. Strategies to prevent catheter-associated urinary tract infections in acute care hospitals: 2014 update. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 35, 464-479.

LOCKWOOD, P. 2006. "Someone like me can be successful": Do college students need samegender role models? *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 30, 36-46.

LOEB, M., HUNT, D., O'HALLORAN, K., CARUSONE, S. C., DAFOE, N. & WALTER, S. D. 2008. Stop orders to reduce inappropriate urinary catheterization in hospitalized patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 23, 816-20.

LONG, O., GARRATT, C., JAN, H., SHARAFUDEEN, S., DASAN, J., PARRY, N., SKELTON, V. & PENNA, L. 2013. Impact of early catheter removal following introduction of an enhanced recovery in obstetric surgery (EROS) protocol for elective caesarean sections. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 120, 469-470.

LONGTIN, Y., SAX, H., LEAPE, L. L., SHERIDAN, S. E., DONALDSON, L. & PITTET, D. 2010. Patient Participation: Current Knowledge and Applicability to Patient Safety. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 85, 53-62.

LOVEDAY, H. P., J.A. WILSONA, R.J. PRATTA, M. GOLSORKHIA, A. TINGLEA, A. BAKA, J. BROWNEA, J. PRIETOB & WILCOX, M. 2014. epic3: National Evidence-Based Guidelines for

Preventing Healthcare-Associated Infections in NHS Hospitals in England. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 86, S1–S70.

MABOLO, M., BROWN, D., FUTRELL, J., SHERER, A. & MORRISON, T. 2014. Caution! CAUTI-Free Zone: Improving Outcomes in Heart Failure Patients. *Heart & Lung: The Journal of Acute and Critical Care*, 43, 380.

MACLEAN, N., POUND, P., WOLFE, C. & RUDD, A. 2000. Qualitative analysis of stroke patients' motivation for rehabilitation. *British Medical Journal*, 321, 1051-1054.

MADON, T., HOFMAN, K. J., KUPFER, L. & GLASS, R. I. 2007. Implementation science. *Science*, 318, 1728-9.

MAGILL, S. S., EDWARDS, J. R., BAMBERG, W., BELDAVS, Z. G., DUMYATI, G., KAINER, M. A., LYNFIELD, R., MALONEY, M., MCALLISTER-HOLLOD, L. & NADLE, J. 2014. Multistate point-prevalence survey of health care–associated infections. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370, 1198-1208.

MAKI, D. G. & TAMBYAH, P. A. 2001. Engineering out the risk for infection with urinary catheters. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, **7**, 342.

MARIAPPAN, P., BROWN, D. J. G. & MCNEILL, A. S. 2007. Intravesical prostatic protrusion is better than prostate volume in predicting the outcome of trial without catheter in white men presenting with acute urinary retention: a prospective clinical study. *The Journal of Urology*, 178, 573-577.

MARIGLIANO, A., BARBADORO, P., PENNACCHIETTI, L., D'ERRICO, M. M. & PROSPERO, E. 2012. Active training and surveillance: 2 good friends to reduce urinary catheterization rate. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 40, 692-695.

MARSCHALL, J., CARPENTER, C. R., FOWLER, S. & TRAUTNER, B. W. 2013. Antibiotic prophylaxis for urinary tract infections after removal of urinary catheter: meta-analysis. *British Medical Journal*, 346, f3147.

MARTIN, H. M., NAVNE, L. E. & LIPCZAK, H. 2013. Involvement of patients with cancer in patient safety: a qualitative study of current practices, potentials and barriers. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 22, 836-842.

MARTÍNEZ-MESA, J., GONZÁLEZ-CHICA, D. A., DUQUIA, R. P., BONAMIGO, R. R. & BASTOS, J. L. 2016. Sampling: how to select participants in my research study? *Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia*, 91, 326-330.

MAYRING, P. 2000. Qualitative Content Analysis. *A Companion to Qualitative Research*. Sage Publications.

MCNULTY, C. A. M. 2009. Reducing urinary catheter related infections in care homes: a review of the literature. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, 10, 70-75.

MCSHERRY, L. A., DOMBROWSKI, S. U., FRANCIS, J. J., MURPHY, J., MARTIN, C. M. & O'LEARY, J. J. 2012. 'It's a can of worms': understanding primary care practitioners' behaviours in relation to HPV using the theoretical domains framework. *Implementation Science*, 7.

MCSHERRY, L. A., O'LEARY, E., DOMBROWSKI, S. U., FRANCIS, J. J., MARTIN, C. M., O'LEARY, J. J., SHARP, L. & GROUP, A. 2018. Which primary care practitioners have poor human papillomavirus (HPV) knowledge? A step towards informing the development of professional education initiatives. *PloS One*, 13, e0208482.

MEDDINGS, J., ROGERS, M., KREIN, S., FAKIH, M., OLMSTED, R. & SAINT, S. 2014. Reducing unnecessary urinary catheter use and other strategies to prevent catheter-associated urinary tract infection: An integrative review. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 23, 277-89.

MEDDINGS, J., ROGERS, M. A. M., MACY, M. & SAINT, S. 2010. Systematic review and metaanalysis: Reminder systems to reduce catheter-associated urinary tract infections and urinary catheter use in hospitalized patients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 51, 550-560.

MEDDINGS, J., SKOLARUS, T. A., FOWLER, K. E., BERNSTEIN, S. J., DIMICK, J. B., MANN, J. D. & SAINT, S. 2019. Michigan Appropriate Perioperative (MAP) criteria for urinary catheter use in common general and orthopaedic surgeries: results obtained using the RAND/UCLA Appropriateness Method. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28, 56-66.

MENEGUETI, M. G., CIOL, M. A., BELLISSIMO-RODRIGUES, F., AUXILIADORA-MARTINS, M., GASPAR, G. G., CANINI, S. R. M. D. S., BASILE-FILHO, A. & LAUS, A. M. 2019. Long-term prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infections among critically ill patients through the implementation of an educational program and a daily checklist for maintenance of indwelling urinary catheters: A quasi-experimental study. *Medicine*, 98, e14417.

MICHIE, S. 2008. Designing and implementing behaviour change interventions to improve population health. *Journal of Health Service Research & Policy*, 13, 64-69.

MICHIE, S. & ABRAHAM, C. 2004. Interventions to change health behaviours: evidence-based or evidence-inspired. *Psychology and Health*, 19.

MICHIE, S., ATKINS, L. & WEST, R. 2014. *The behaviour change wheel: a guide to designing interventions,* Great Britain, Silverback Publishing.

MICHIE, S., JOHNSTON, M., ABRAHAM, C., LAWTON, R., PARKER, D. & WALKER, A. 2005. Making psychological theory useful for implementing evidence based practice: a consensus approach. *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 14, 26 - 33. MICHIE, S., JOHNSTON, M., FRANCIS, J., HARDEMAN, W. & ECCLES, M. 2008. From theory to intervention: mapping theoretically derived behavioural determinants to behaviour change techniques. *Applied Psychology*, **57**, 660 - 680.

MICHIE, S., RICHARDSON, M., JOHNSTON, M., ABRAHAM, C., FRANCIS, J., HARDEMAN, W., ECCLES, M. P., CANE, J. & WOOD, C. E. 2013. The Behavior Change Technique Taxonomy (v1) of 93 Hierarchically Clustered Techniques: Building an International Consensus for the Reporting of Behavior Change Interventions. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 46, 81-95.

MIKOLAJCZAK, A., EGGERSTEDT, K., SLADE, M., GOETZ, K., DOMPE, C., HARAP, R., LUMPKINS, S., JANNEY, M. & ZEMBOWER, T. 2013. Optimizing urinary catheter utilization to improve patient outcomes. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 41, S121-S122.

MILLER, A. G., MCKENZIE, J., GREENKY, M., SHAW, E., GANDHI, K., HOZACK, W. J. & PARVIZI, J. 2013. Spinal anesthesia: should everyone receive a urinary catheter?: a randomized, prospective study of patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, 95, 1498-1503.

MILLER, N. H., HILL, M., KOTTKE, T. & OCKENE, I. S. 1997. The multilevel compliance challenge: recommendations for a call to action. A statement for healthcare professionals. *Circulation*, 95, 1085-90.

MILLER, R. S., NORRIS, P. R., JENKINS, J. M., TALBOT, T. R., 3RD, STARMER, J. M., HUTCHISON, S. A., CARR, D. S., KLEYMEER, C. J. & MORRIS, J. A., JR. 2010. Systems initiatives reduce healthcare-associated infections: a study of 22,928 device days in a single trauma unit. *Journal of Trauma*, 68, 23-31.

MOORE, P. M., WILKINSON, S. S. M. & MERCADO, S. R. 2004. Communication skills training for health care professionals working with cancer patients, their families and/or carers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.

MULLANEY, T., YTTERGREN, B. & STOLTERMAN, E. Positional acts: using a Kinect[™] sensor to reconfigure patient roles within radiotherapy treatment. Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Tangible, Embedded and Embodied Interaction, 2014. ACM, 93-96.

MULLIN, K. M., KOVACS, C. S., FATICA, C., EINLOTH, C., NEUNER, E. A., GUZMAN, J. A., KAISER, E., MENON, V., CASTILLO, L., POPOVICH, M. J., MANNO, E. M., GORDON, S. M. & FRASER, T. G. 2016. A Multifaceted Approach to Reduction of Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infections in the Intensive Care Unit With an Emphasis on "Stewardship of Culturing". *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 38, 186-188.

MURPHY, C., FADER, M. & PRIETO, J. 2014. Interventions to minimise the initial use of indwelling urinary catheters in acute care: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 51, 4-13.

MUZZI-BJORNSON, L. & MACERA, L. 2011. Preventing infection in elders with long-term indwelling urinary catheters. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 23, 127-134.

NAGY, K., KOVES, B. & TENKE, P. 2011. The effectiveness of acoustic energy induced by UroShield device in the prevention of bacteriuria and the reduction of patients' complaints related to long-term indwelling urinary catheters (Nagy et al 2011). *European Urology, Supplements,* 10 (2), 163-164.

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2012. *Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care, Clinical Guideline CG139* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg139</u> [Accessed 13/08/2017].

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2014. Infection prevention and control (NICE Quality standard QS61: Urinary Catheters) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs61</u> [Accessed 10/05/2014].

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2017. *Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care (NICE Clinical Guideline CG139)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg139/chapter/1-guidance</u> [Accessed 04/03/2017].

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2018. *NICE guideline NG113: Urinary tract infection (catheter-associated): antimicrobial prescribing* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng113/chapter/Recommendations#preventing-catheter-associated-urinary-tract-infections</u> [Accessed 03/12/2018].

NELSON, G., ALTMAN, A. D., NICK, A., MEYER, L. A., RAMIREZ, P. T., ACHTARI, C., ANTROBUS, J., HUANG, J., SCOTT, M. & WIJK, L. 2016. Guidelines for postoperative care in gynecologic/oncology surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS[®]) Society recommendations- Part II. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 140, 323.

NICO, W. V. Y. & MARIËT, H. 2003. Do High Job Demands Increase Intrinsic Motivation or Fatigue or Both? The Role of Job Control and Job Social Support. *Academy of Management Journal*, 46, 339-348.

NICOLLE, L. E. 2005. Complicated urinary tract infection in adults. *Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology*, 16, 349-360.

NICOLLE, L. E. 2012. Urinary catheter-associated infections. *Infectious Disease Clinics*, 26, 13-27.

NICOLLE, L. E. 2014. Catheter associated urinary tract infections. *Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control*, **3**, 23.

NIËL-WEISE, B. S. & VAN DEN BROEK, P. J. 2005. Antibiotic policies for short-term catheter bladder drainage in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, CD005428.

NILSEN, P. 2015. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. *Implementation Science*, 10, 53.

NYGREN, J., THACKER, J., CARLI, F., FEARON, K. C. H., NORDERVAL, S., LOBO, D. N., LJUNGQVIST, O., SOOP, M. & RAMIREZ, J. 2012. Guidelines for perioperative care in elective rectal/pelvic surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS[®]) Society recommendations. *Clinical Nutrition*, 31, 801-816.

O'TOOLE, G., KAPLAN, H. B. & KOLTER, R. 2000. Biofilm Formation as Microbial Development. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 54, 49-79.

OCLOO, J. & MATTHEWS, R. 2016. From tokenism to empowerment: progressing patient and public involvement in healthcare improvement. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25, 626-632.

OMAN, K. S., MAKIC, M. B. F., FINK, R., SCHRAEDER, N., HULETT, T., KEECH, T. & WALD, H. 2012. Nurse-directed interventions to reduce catheter-associated urinary tract infections. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 40, 548-553.

ORBELL, S., HODGKINS, S. & SHEERAN, P. 1997. Implementation intentions and the theory of planned behaviour. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23, 945 - 954.

ORMANDY, P., WELLS, L., CULLEN, R., FLUCK, R., THOMAS, K., BRISTOW, P. & LIPKIN, G. 2015. Kidney Quality Improvement partnership: a sustainable initiative. *Journal of Renal Nursing*, **7**, 234-236.

OULADSAHEBMADAREK, E., SAYYAH-MELLI, M. & JAFARI-SHOBEIRI, M. 2012. A randomized clinical trial to compare immediate versus delayed removal of foley catheter following abdominal hysterectomy and laparotomy. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 28, 380-383.

PARKER, J. & COIERA, E. 2000. Improving clinical communication: a view from psychology. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, **7**, 453-461.

PARMELLI, E., FLODGREN, G., SCHAAFSMA, M. E., BAILLIE, N., BEYER, F. R. & ECCLES, M. P. 2011. The effectiveness of strategies to change organisational culture to improve healthcare performance. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 6.

PARRY, M. F., GRANT, B. & SESTOVIC, M. 2013. Successful reduction in catheter-associated urinary tract infections: focus on nurse-directed catheter removal. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 41, 1178-1181.

PATEY, A. M., ISLAM, R., FRANCIS, J. J., BRYSON, G. L., GRIMSHAW, J. M. & THE CANADA, P. P. T. 2012. Anesthesiologists' and surgeons' perceptions about routine pre-operative testing in low-risk patients: application of the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF) to identify factors that influence physicians' decisions to order pre-operative tests. *Implementation Science*, **7**, 52.

PATIENT INFORMATION FORUM. 2018. Perfect Patient Information Journey: 7 steps for health services to improve information for people with long term conditions. Available: <u>https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=10&cad=rja&uact=8</u> <u>&ved=2ahUKEwj 1PvC6rbhAhWwRBUIHSA1B6kQFjAJegQIAxAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.</u> <u>pifonline.org.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2014%2F11%2FPIF-PPI-Journey-Final-</u> <u>25Jun18-1-website-version.pdf&usg=AOvVaw3SIIWB4xBHBj NIPEpDRbB</u> [Accessed 04/04/2019].

PETRINO, R., TUA, A. & SALVI, F. 2018. Urinary Tract Infections in Older Patients. *Geriatric Emergency Medicine*. Springer.

PFEFFER, J. & SUTTON, R. I. 1999. Knowing" What" to Do Is Not Enough: TURNING KNOWLEDGE INTO ACTION. *California Management Review*, 42.

PHIPPS, S., LIM, Y. N., MCCLINTON, S., BARRY, C., RANE, A. & N'DOW, J. 2006. Short term urinary catheter policies following urogenital surgery in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, CD004374.

PICKARD, R., LAM, T., MACLENNAN, G., STARR, K., KILONZO, M., MCPHERSON, G., GILLIES, K., MCDONALD, A., WALTON, K., BUCKLEY, B., GLAZENER, C., BOACHIE, C., BURR, J., NORRIE, J., VALE, L., GRANT, A. & N'DOW, J. 2012a. Antimicrobial catheters for reduction of symptomatic urinary tract infection in adults requiring short-term catheterisation in hospital: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 380, 1927-1935.

PICKARD, R., LAM, T., MACLENNAN, G., STARR, K., KILONZO, M., MCPHERSON, G., GILLIES, K., MCDONALD, A., WALTON, K., BUCKLEY, B., GLAZENER, C., BOACHIE, C., BURR, J., NORRIE, J., VALE, L., GRANT, A. & N'DOW, J. 2012b. Types of urethral catheter for reducing symptomatic urinary tract infections in hospitalised adults requiring short-term catheterisation: multicentre randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of antimicrobial- and antiseptic-impregnated urethral catheters (the CATHETER trial). *Health Technology Assessment,* 16, 1-197.

PITTET, D., PANESAR, S. S., WILSON, K., LONGTIN, Y., MORRIS, T., ALLAN, V., STORR, J., CLEARY, K. & DONALDSON, L. 2011. Involving the patient to ask about hospital hand hygiene: a National Patient Safety Agency feasibility study. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 77, 299-303.

POLLACK, L. A. & SRINIVASAN, A. 2014. Core Elements of Hospital Antibiotic Stewardship Programs From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 59, S97-S100.

POTTHOFF, S., MCCLEARY, N., SNIEHOTTA, F. F. & PRESSEAU, J. 2018. Creating and Breaking Habit in Healthcare Professional Behaviours to Improve Healthcare and Health. *In:* VERPLANKEN, B. (ed.) *The Psychology of Habit: Theory, Mechanisms, Change, and Contexts.* Cham: Springer International Publishing.

PRATT, R. J., PELLOWE, C. M., WILSON, J. A., LOVEDAY, H. P., HARPER, P. J., JONES, S., MCDOUGALL, C. & WILCOX, M. H. 2007. epic2: National evidence-based guidelines for

preventing healthcare-associated infections in NHS hospitals in England. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 65, S1-S59.

PRESSEAU, J., GRIMSHAW, J. M., TETROE, J. M., ECCLES, M. P., FRANCIS, J. J., GODIN, G., GRAHAM, I. D., HUX, J. E., JOHNSTON, M., LÉGARÉ, F., LEMYRE, L., ROBINSON, N. & ZWARENSTEIN, M. 2016. A theory-based process evaluation alongside a randomised controlled trial of printed educational messages to increase primary care physicians' prescription of thiazide diuretics for hypertension [ISRCTN72772651]. *Implementation Science*, 11, 121.

PRESSEAU, J., JOHNSTON, M., HEPONIEMI, T., ELOVAINIO, M., FRANCIS, J. J., ECCLES, M. P., STEEN, N., HRISOS, S., STAMP, E., GRIMSHAW, J. M., HAWTHORNE, G. & SNIEHOTTA, F. F. 2014. Reflective and Automatic Processes in Health Care Professional Behaviour: a Dual Process Model Tested Across Multiple Behaviours. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 48, 347-358.

PRESSEAU, J., SNIEHOTTA, F. F., FRANCIS, J. J. & CAMPBELL, N. C. 2009. Multiple goals and time constraints: perceived impact on physicians' performance of evidence-based behaviours. *Implementation Science*, 4.

PROCHASKA, J. & DICLEMENTE, C. 1983. Stages and processes of self-change in smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 51, 390 - 395.

PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND 2015. English surveillance programme for antimicrobial utilisation and resistance (ESPAUR) 2010 to 2014. Public Health London, England.

PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND 2017. North East Field Epidemiology Service.

RAAD, I., HANNA, H. & MAKI, D. 2007. Intravascular catheter-related infections: advances in diagnosis, prevention, and management. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, **7**, 645-57.

RANJI, S. R., SHETTY, K., POSLEY, K. A., LEWIS, R., SUNDARAM, V., GALVIN, C. M. & WINSTON, L. G. 2007. Closing the Quality Gap: A Critical Analysis of Quality Improvement Strategies (Vol. 6: Prevention of Healthcare-Associated Infections). *AHRQ Technical Reviews and Summaries*. United States.

RICHARDS, L. 2005. Handling Qualitative Data: A Practical Guide, London, Sage.

RICHARDSON, A. & STORR, J. 2010. Patient safety: a literative review on the impact of nursing empowerment, leadership and collaboration. *International Nursing Review*, 57, 12-21.

ROBERTS, C., ROBERTS, J. & ROBERTS, R. J. 2010. Survey of healthcare-associated infection rates in a nursing home resident population. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, 11, 82-86.

ROBINSON, J. 2005. Removing indwelling catheters: trial without catheter in the community (Robinson 2005). *British Journal of Community Nursing*, 10, 553-4, 556-7.

ROTHFELD, A. F. & STICKLEY, A. 2010. A program to limit urinary catheter use at an acute care hospital. *American journal of infection control*, 38, 568-571.

ROTHMAN, A. J. 2004. " Is there nothing more practical than a good theory?": Why innovations and advances in health behavior change will arise if interventions are used to test and refine theory. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 1, 11.

ROUSSEAU, N., MCCOLL, E., NEWTON, J., GRIMSHAW, J. & ECCLES, M. 2003. Practice based, longitudinal, qualitative interview study of computerised evidence based guidelines in primary care. *British Medical Journal*, 326, 314.

ROWLEY, E., MORRISS, R., CURRIE, G. & SCHNEIDER, J. 2012. Research into practice: Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) for Nottinghamshire, Derbyshire, Lincolnshire (NDL). *Implementation Science*, **7**, 40.

RYAN, G. W. & BERNARD, H. R. 2003. Techniques to identify themes. *Field Methods*, 15, 85-109.

SABIR, N., IKRAM, A., ZAMAN, G., SATTI, L., GARDEZI, A., AHMED, A. & AHMED, P. 2017. Bacterial biofilm-based catheter-associated urinary tract infections: causative pathogens and antibiotic resistance. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 45, 1101-1105.

SADEGHI, M., LEIS, J. A., LAFLAMME, C., SPARKES, D., DITRANI, W., WATAMANIUK, A., TAGGAR, R., JINNAH, F., AVANESS, M., VEARNCOMBE, M. & NATHENS, A. B. 2019. Standardisation of perioperative urinary catheter use to reduce postsurgical urinary tract infection: an interrupted time series study. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28, 32-38.

SAFDAR, N., CODISPOTI, N., PURVIS, S. & KNOBLOCH, M. J. 2016. Patient perspectives on indwelling urinary catheter use in the hospital. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 44, e23-e24.

SAINT, S. 2000. How to prevent urinary catheter-related infections in the critically ill. *Journal of Critical Illness*, 15, 419-423.

SAINT, S., GAIES, E., FOWLER, K. E., HARROD, M. & KREIN, S. L. 2014. Introducing a catheterassociated urinary tract infection (CAUTI) prevention guide to patient safety (GPS). *American Journal of Infection Control*, 42, 548-550.

SAINT, S., GREENE, M. T., KOWALSKI, C. P., WATSON, S. R., HOFER, T. P. & KREIN, S. L. 2013. Preventing catheter-associated urinary tract infection in the United States: a national comparative study. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 173, 874-9.

SAINT, S., GREENE, M. T., KREIN, S. L., ROGERS, M. A. M., RATZ, D., FOWLER, K. E., EDSON, B. S., WATSON, S. R., MEYER-LUCAS, B., MASUGA, M., FAULKNER, K., GOULD, C. V., BATTLES, J. & FAKIH, M. G. 2016. A Program to Prevent Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infection in Acute Care. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 374, 2111-2119.

SAINT, S., KAUFMAN, S. R., THOMPSON, M., ROGERS, M. A. & CHENOWETH, C. E. 2005. A reminder reduces urinary catheterization in hospitalized patients. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety*, 31, 455-62.

SAINT, S. & LIPSKY, B. A. 1999. Preventing catheter-related bacteriuria: should we? Can we? How? *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 159, 800-808.

SAINT, S., LIPSKY, B. A. & GOOLD, S. D. 2002. Indwelling urinary catheters: a one-point restraint? *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 137, 125-127.

SAINT, S., OLMSTED, R. N., FAKIH, M. G., KOWALSKI, C. P., WATSON, S. R., SALES, A. E. & KREIN, S. L. 2009. Translating Health Care–Associated Urinary Tract Infection Prevention Research into Practice via the Bladder Bundle. *The Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety*, 35, 449-455.

SAINT, S., WIESE, J., AMORY, J. K., BERNSTEIN, M. L., PATEL, U. D., ZEMENCUK, J. K., BERNSTEIN, S. J., LIPSKY, B. A. & HOFER, T. P. 2000. Are physicians aware of which of their patients have indwelling urinary catheters? *The American Journal of Medicine*, 109, 476-480.

SCHWAPPACH, D. L. B. 2010. Engaging patients as vigilant partners in safety: a systematic review. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 67, 119-148.

SCHWAPPACH, D. L. B., FRANK, O. & DAVIS, R. E. 2013. A vignette study to examine health care professionals' attitudes towards patient involvement in error prevention. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 19, 840-848.

SCHWARZER, R. 2008. Modeling health behavior change: How to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. *Applied Psychology-an International Review-Psychologie Appliquee-Revue Internationale*, 57, 1-29.

SCHWARZER, R. & FUCHS, R. 1996. Self-efficacy and health behaviours. *Predicting Health Behaviour: Research and Practice with Social Cognition Models.* Buckingham: Open University Press.

SCHWARZER, R. & LEPPIN, A. 1991. Social support and health: A theoretical and empirical overview. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, **8**, 99-127.

SCHWENDICKE, F., FOSTER PAGE, L. A., SMITH, L. A., FONTANA, M., THOMSON, W. M. & BAKER, S. R. 2018. To fill or not to fill: a qualitative cross-country study on dentists' decisions in managing non-cavitated proximal caries lesions. *Implementation Science*, **13**, 54.

SEGUIN, P., LAVIOLLE, B., ISSLAME, S., COUE, A. & MALLEDANT, Y. 2010. Effectiveness of simple daily sensitization of physicians to the duration of central venous and urinary tract catheterization. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 36, 1202-6.

SEKHAVAT, L., FARAJKHODA, T. & DAVAR, R. 2008. The effect of early removal of indwelling urinary catheter on postoperative urinary complications in anterior colporrhaphy surgery (Sekhavat et al 2008). *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology,* 48, 348-52.

SERLE. 2019. Public Health England: Bacterial bloodstream infections. *Health Service Journal* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.hsj.co.uk/quality-and-performance/bacterial-bloodstream-infections-continue-to-rise-in-england/7025350.article</u>.

SHIELL, A., HAWE, P. & GOLD, L. 2008. Complex interventions or complex systems? Implications for health economic evaluation. *British Medical Journal*, 336, 1281-1283.

SHOJANIA, K. G., JENNINGS, A., MAYHEW, A., RAMSAY, C., ECCLES, M. & GRIMSHAW, J. 2010. Effect of point-of-care computer reminders on physician behaviour: a systematic review. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 182, E216-E225.

SKELLY, J. 2008. Automatic stop orders reduced duration of indwelling urinary catheterisation in hospital. *Evidence Based Nursing*, **11**, **119-119**.

SKINNER, B. F. 1953. *Science and Human Behavior,* New York, The Free Press.

SMITH, S. L. 2009. *Effects of an educational intervention on hospital acquired urinary tract infection rates.* Doctoral Thesis, Department of Nursing, University of North Florida.

SMYTH, E. Healthcare acquired infection prevalence survey. 6th international conference of the Hospital Infection Society, 2006 Amsterdam.

SOLLACI, L. B. & PEREIRA, M. G. 2004. The introduction, methods, results, and discussion (IMRAD) structure: a fifty-year survey. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 92, 364.

SOPIRALA, M. M., YAHLE-DUNBAR, L., SMYER, J., WELLINGTON, L., DICKMAN, J., ZIKRI, N., MARTIN, J., KULICH, P., TAYLOR, D. & MEKHJIAN, H. 2014. Infection control link nurse program: an interdisciplinary approach in targeting health care-acquired infection. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 42, 353-359.

SPECK, R. M., NEUMAN, M. D., RESNICK, K. S., MELLERS, B. A. & FLEISHER, L. A. 2016. Anticipated regret in shared decision-making: a randomized experimental study. *Perioperative Medicine*, **5**, **5**.

SPEIZER, J. J. 1981. Role models, mentors, and sponsors: The elusive concepts. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 6, 692-712.

STEINMO, S. H., MICHIE, S., FULLER, C., STANLEY, S., STAPLETON, C. & STONE, S. P. 2016. Bridging the gap between pragmatic intervention design and theory: using behavioural science tools to modify an existing quality improvement programme to implement "Sepsis Six". *Implementation Science*, 11, 1-12.

STUBBS, B. M., BADCOCK, K. J., HYAMS, C., RIZAL, F. E., WARREN, S. & FRANCIS, D. 2013. A prospective study of early removal of the urethral catheter after colorectal surgery in patients having epidural analgesia as part of the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery programme. *Colorectal Disease*, 15, 733-6.

SUNDARAM, K. R., NAIR, P., KUMAR, R. K., SINGH, S. & KANJILAL, B. 2012. Improving outcomes and reducing costs by modular training in infection control in a resource-limited setting. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 24, 641-648.

TALBOT, R. & BLEETMAN, A. 2007. Retention of information by emergency department staff at ambulance handover: do standardised approaches work? *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 24, 539-542.

TAVENDER, E. J., BOSCH, M., GRUEN, R. L., GREEN, S. E., KNOTT, J., FRANCIS, J. J., MICHIE, S. & O'CONNOR, D. A. 2014. Understanding practice: the factors that influence management of mild traumatic brain injury in the emergency department- a qualitative study using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Implementation Science*, 9.

TAYLOR, N., LAWTON, R., SLATER, B. & FOY, R. 2013. The demonstration of a theory-based approach to the design of localized patient safety interventions. *Implementation Science*, 8, 123.

TENKE, P., JOHANSEN, T. E. B., MATSUMOTO, T., TAMBYAH, P. A. & NABER, K. G. 2011. European and Asian guidelines on management and prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infection. *Urologiya*, 84-91.

THE NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST: NUTH. 2019. *About Us* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.newcastle-hospitals.org.uk/about-us/index.aspx</u> [Accessed 09/08/2019].

THEOBALD, C. N., DITTUS, R. S., ROUMIE, C. L., SPAIN, T. & RESNICK, M. J. 2017. A multifaceted quality improvement strategy reduces the risk of catheter-associated urinary tract infection. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 29, 564-570.

THOMPSON, D. L. & SMITH, D. A. 2002. Continence nursing: A whole person approach. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 16, 14-31.

THUNGJAROENKUL, P., CUMMINGS, G. G. & EMBLETON, A. 2007. The impact of nurse staffing on hospital costs and patient length of stay: a systematic review. *Nursing Economics*, 25, 255.

TITSWORTH, W. L., HESTER, J., CORREIA, T., REED, R., WILLIAMS, M., GUIN, P., LAYON, A. J., ARCHIBALD, L. K. & MOCCO, J. 2012. Reduction of catheter-associated urinary tract infections among patients in a neurological intensive care unit: A single institution's success: Clinical article. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 116, 911-920.

TONG, A., SAINSBURY, P. & CRAIG, J. 2007. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 19, 349-357.

TORJESEN, I. 2013. Antimicrobial resistance presents an "apocalyptic" threat similar to that of climate change, CMO warns. *British Medical Journal*, 346, f1597.

TRAUTNER, B. W. 2010. Management of catheter-associated urinary tract infection (CAUTI). *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*, 23, 76.

TRAUTNER, B. W. & DAROUICHE, R. O. 2004. Role of biofilm in catheter-associated urinary tract infection. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 32, 177-183.

TRAUTNER, B. W., HULL, R. A. & DAROUICHE, R. O. 2005. Prevention of catheter-associated urinary tract infection. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases*, 18, 37-41.

TROVILLION, E. S. J., HOPKINS-BROYLES D, RECKTENWALD A, FAULKNER K, ROGERS AD, BABCOCK H, WOELTJE KF. 2011. Development of a nurse-driven protocol to remove urinary catheters. *SHEA: Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America*.

TURNBULL, H., BURBOS, N., ABU-FREIJ, M., DUNCAN, T. J. & NIETO, J. J. 2012. A novel approach to postoperative bladder care in women after radical hysterectomy. *Archives of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 286, 1007-10.

TURNER, R., PEDEN, J. & O'BRIEN, K. 1994. Patient-carried card prompts vs computergenerated prompts to remind private practice physicians to perform health maintenance measures. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 154.

TWIGG, D., DUFFIELD, C., BREMNER, A., RAPLEY, P. & FINN, J. 2011. The impact of the nursing hours per patient day (NHPPD) staffing method on patient outcomes: a retrospective analysis of patient and staffing data. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 48, 540-548.

TZENG, H.-M. 2010. Perspectives of staff nurses of the reasons for and the nature of patientinitiated call lights: an exploratory survey study in four USA hospitals. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, 52.

UK AMR STRATEGY HIGH LEVEL STEERING GROUP. 2015. UK 5 year antimicrobial resistance (AMR) strategy 2013 to 2018: annual progress report [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/progress-report-on-the-uk-5-year-amrstrategy-2015 [Accessed 20/09/2016]. VAISMORADI, M., JORDAN, S. & KANGASNIEMI, M. 2015. Patient participation in patient safety and nursing input – a systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 24, 627-639.

VAISMORADI, M., TURUNEN, H. & BONDAS, T. 2013. Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15, 398-405.

VALLÉE, M., MOWBRAY, C., FISHER, H., TAN, A. M. Z., HARDING, C., HALL, J. & ALDRIDGE, P. 2019. Impact of a long-term antibiotic prophylaxis on the bladder colonisation by E. coli in clean intermittent self-catheterisation patients. *European Urology Supplements*, 18, e47-e48.

VARADHAN, K. K., NEAL, K. R., DEJONG, C. H. C., FEARON, K. C. H., LJUNGQVIST, O. & LOBO, D. N. 2010. The enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) pathway for patients undergoing major elective open colorectal surgery: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clinical Nutrition*, 29, 434-440.

VERGIDIS, P. & PATEL, R. 2012. Novel approaches to the diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of medical device-associated infections. *Infectious Disease Clinics*, 26, 173-186.

WACHTER, R. M. 2009. Patient safety at ten: unmistakable progress, troubling gaps. *Health Affairs*, 29, 165-173.

WALD, H. L., MA, A., BRATZLER, D. W. & KRAMER, A. M. 2008. Indwelling urinary catheter use in the postoperative period: analysis of the national surgical infection prevention project data. *JAMA Archives of Surgery*, 143, 551-7.

WALKER, B. F., MULLER, R. & GRANT, W. D. 2003. Low back pain in Australian adults: the economic burden. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 15, 79-87.

WALTER, S. R., LI, L., DUNSMUIR, W. T. M. & WESTBROOK, J. I. 2014. Managing competing demands through task-switching and multitasking: a multi-setting observational study of 200 clinicians over 1000 hours. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 23, 231-241.

WANG, P. T., LIN, H. Y., LIN, Y. T., SHIN, W. H., CHIEN, L. Y. & LIN, S. 2017. Using an Indicator-Based Reminder of Catheter Removal to Effectively Decrease Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infections in General Medical Patients. *Hu Li Za Zhi*, 64, 70-79.

WARD, J. K. & ARMITAGE, G. 2012. Can patients report patient safety incidents in a hospital setting? A systematic review. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 21, 685-699.

WARREN, J. W. 1997. Catheter-associated urinary tract infections. *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, 11, 609-622.

WEEMHOFF, M., WASSEN, M. M. L. H., KORSTEN, L., SERROYEN, J., KAMPSCHOER, P. H. N. M. & ROUMEN, F. J. M. E. 2011. Postoperative catheterization after anterior colporrhaphy: 2

versus 5 days. A multicentre randomized controlled trial. *International Urogynecology Journal and Pelvic Floor Dysfunction*, 22, 477-483.

WELLS, L. & LIPKIN, G. 2016. KQuIP: delivering excellence in the care of patients with kidney disease. *Journal of Kidney Care*, 1, 33-34.

WESTRA, B. L., BLISS, D. Z., SAVIK, K., HOU, Y. & BORCHERT, A. 2013. Effectiveness of wound, ostomy, and continence nurses on agency-level wound and incontinence outcomes in home care. *Journal of Wound Ostomy & Continence Nursing*, 40, 25-53.

WILDE, M., MCMAHON, J., TANG, W., MCDONALD, M., BRASCH, J., FAIRBANKS, E. & SHAH, S. 2013. A new urinary catheter self-management scale (C-SMG). *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 32, 584-585.

WILLSON, M., WILDE, M., WEBB, M., THOMPSON, D., PARKER, D., HARWOOD, J., CALLAN, L. & GRAY, M. 2009. Nursing interventions to reduce the risk of catheter-associated urinary tract infection: part 2: staff education, monitoring, and care techniques. *Journal of Wound, Ostomy & Continence Nursing*, 36, 137-154.

WILSON, A., RONNEKLEIV-KELLY, S. M. & PAWLIK, T. M. 2017. Regret in Surgical Decision Making: A Systematic Review of Patient and Physician Perspectives. *World Journal of Surgery*, 41, 1454-1465.

WISE, R. 2002. Antimicrobial resistance: priorities for action. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 49, 585-586.

WOOD, C., RICHARDSON, M., JOHNSTON, M., ABRAHAM, C., FRANCIS, J., HARDEMAN, W. & MICHIE, S. 2015. Applying the behaviour change technique (BCT) taxonomy v1: a study of coder training. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, **5**, 134-148.

WOOD, K. L. 2018. Do Nurse-Driven Protocols Have an Impact on the Prevention of Catheter-Associated Urinary Tract Infections? *American Journal of Infection Control*, 46, S83.

WRIGHT, J., LAWTON, R., O'HARA, J., ARMITAGE, G., SHEARD, L., MARSH, C., GRANGE, A., MCEACHAN, R. R. C., COCKS, K., HRISOS, S., THOMSON, R., JHA, V., THORP, L., CONWAY, M., GULAB, A., WALSH, P. & WATT, I. 2016. Improving patient safety through the involvement of patients: development and evaluation of novel interventions to engage patients in preventing patient safety incidents and protecting them against unintended harm. *In:* RESEARCH, P. G. F. A. (ed.). Southampton (UK): NIHR Journals Library.

WRIGHT, S., WONG, A. & NEWILL, C. 1997. The impact of role models on medical students. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, **12**, 53-56.

WYMAN, A. 1987. What time of day should a urethral catheter be removed? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 80, 755-756.

YATIM, J., WONG, K. S., LING, M. L., TAN, S. B., TAN, K. Y. & HOCKENBERRY, M. 2016. A nurse-driven process for timely removal of urinary catheters. *International Journal of Urological Nursing*.

YEATTS, D. E. & CREADY, C. M. 2007. Consequences of empowered CNA teams in nursing home settings: A longitudinal assessment. *The Gerontologist*, 47, 323-339.

YOKOE, D. S., ANDERSON, D. J., BERENHOLTZ, S. M., CALFEE, D. P., DUBBERKE, E. R., ELLINGSON, K., GERDING, D. N., HAAS, J., KAYE, K. S. & KLOMPAS, M. 2014. Introduction to "A compendium of strategies to prevent healthcare-associated infections in acute care hospitals: 2014 updates". *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 35, 455-459.

YOSHIKAWA, T. T. 1984. Unique Aspects of Urinary Tract Infection in the Geriatric Population. *Gerontology*, 30, 339-344.

YU, J.-J., LI, Q., ZHANG, P. & SHU, B. 2018. Early catheter removal adds no significant morbidity following transurethral resection of the prostate: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, **11**, 1448-1457.

ZAOUTER, C., KANEVA, P. & CARLI, F. 2009. Less urinary tract infection by earlier removal of bladder catheter in surgical patients receiving thoracic epidural analgesia. *BMJ Regional Anesthesia & Pain Medicine*, 34, 542-548.

ZARB, P., COIGNARD, B., GRISKEVICIENE, J., MULLER, A., VANKERCKHOVEN, V. & GOOSSENS, H. 2012. The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) pilot point prevalence survey of healthcare-associated infections and antimicrobial use. *EuroSurveillance Monthly*, 17, 20316.